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To be recognised as a world leader in the provision of a 
superior primary road network in southern Africa.

As the custodian of a public good, we are committed to  
the advancement of the southern African community through:
•	 A	highly	motivated	and	professional	team	
•	 State-of-the-art	technology	
•	 Proficient	service	providers	
•	 Promoting	the	“user-pay”	principle.	

E-xcellence	
P-roactiveness	
P-articipativeness	
I-ntegrity	
C-are	

The	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	SOC	Limited	 (SANRAL)	 is	an	 independent,	
statutory	 company	 registered	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act.	 The	 South	 African	
Government, represented by the Minister of Transport, is the sole shareholder and owner 
of	SANRAL.	

SANRAL	has	a	distinct	mandate	–	to	finance,	improve,	manage	and	maintain	the	national	
road	network	(the	‘economic	arteries’	of	South	Africa)	–	and	we	are	committed	to	carry	
out	our	mandate	by	protecting	and	preserving	the	environment	through	context-sensitive	
solutions.

The	South	African	national	 road	network	consists	of	19	704km	of	 roads.	This	network	
seamlessly connects major cities, towns and rural areas, supporting economic growth and 
social development and contributing to job creation in the country. 

SANRAL	has	 two	primary	sources	of	 income.	Non-toll	 roads	 (84.2	percent	of	 the	 total	
national	 road	 network)	 are	 funded	 from	allocations	made	by	 the	National	 Treasury.	 Toll	
roads	 (15.8	percent	of	 the	 total	national	 road	network)	are	 funded	 from	borrowings	on	
capital markets.

SANRAL	adds	value	to	all	the	developmental	initiatives	in	the	fields	of	transport,	education,	
health and development of communities. We revel in our role as partners in the development 
of	all	South	African	communities	and	see	this	as	closely	aligned	to	our	core	function.	

SANRAL	 makes	 a	 significant	 contribution	 towards	 road	 safety	 by	 maintaining	 and	
improving our road environment, and by identifying and addressing road safety concerns. 
We also align with local and international road safety authorities to learn more and improve 
the safety of the national road network for our road users. 

The	organisation	will	continue	to	actively	participate	in	communities	across	South	Africa	
and	support	the	development	of	South	Africa’s	human	capital	through	tertiary	institutions	
and cooperative governance. 

Vision

Mission

Core Values

EP2IC
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REPORT CHAIRPERSON

The	 SANRAL	 Board	 has	 taken	 a	 proactive	 stance	 with	 its	 oversight	 role	 and	 has	 had	
a productive and engaging year to ensure that the Agency carries out its mandate to the 
optimum,	using	the	available	resources	(staff	and	technology)	to	ensure	delivery	to	the	people	
of	South	Africa.	It	is	our	responsibility,	one	which	is	taken	seriously	by	every	Board	member,	to	
ensure that we run our business within the principles of good governance, ethical conduct and 
accountability,	risk	management	and	compliance	-	both	within	SANRAL	and	in	our	interaction	
with service providers. 

SANRAL	is	acknowledged	as	one	of	the	best-run	Government	agencies	in	South	Africa	and	
it	 continues	 to	 set	 the	 bar	 high	 for	 the	 achievement	 of	 financial	 and	 non-financial	 targets,	
technological solutions and innovations. 

We	are	fully	aware	that	even	a	well-run	home	has	to	be	continuously	maintained	and	will	face	
its	challenges.	That	is	where	we,	the	SANRAL	Board,	have	a	role	and	responsibility	to	provide	
leadership	and	ensure	that	the	Agency	remains	stable.	During	2012/13	our	CEO	resigned,	
but it was a truly gratifying moment when he chose to stay on and complete his tenure at 
SANRAL.

Part	of	 the	challenges	we	faced	was	the	change	 in	shareholder	representatives.	While	this	
process had a potential of being riddled with uncertainty, it was rewarding that the vision of 
the	shareholder	regarding	SANRAL	remained	the	same.	
 
On	behalf	of	the	Board,	I	would	like	to	thank	Minister	Sbusiso	Ndebele	for	the	warm	relations	
he maintained with the Board and his continued guidance.
 
The	Board	would	also	like	to	thank	Minister	Ben	Martins,	Deputy	Minister	Sinidisiwe	Chikunga	
and	his	vibrant	team	for	bringing	in	renewed	vigor,	energy	and	support	to	SANRAL	programmes,	
especially	at	one	of	the	most	challenging	times	of	defending	the	Government’s	vision	in	the	
Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	Project	(GFIP).	He	has	clearly	and	steadfastly	articulated	this	
vision.	We	 also	would	 like	 to	 thank	 the	Minister	 for	 ensuring	 that	SANRAL	 transformation	
policies	and	programmes	take	centre	stage	during	his	tenure.	We	promise	that	SANRAL	will	
continue to deliver towards these objectives.

During	the	year	under	review,	the	Social,	Ethics	and	Transformation	Committee	recommended	
that	 SANRAL	 appoints	 a	 Transformation	 Manager	 dedicated	 to	 empowerment	 and	
development,	both	internally	and	externally.	The	post	will	be	filled	in	the	2013/14	financial	year.	
The	process	of	Transformation	Management	is	an	in-depth	one	and	includes	a	new	awareness	
of leadership choices, thinking and decisions, altering the culture to sustain the approaches 
which	are	demanded	today	–	and	which	could	change	tomorrow.	It	 is	developing	a	level	of	
trust,	 then	 renewing	 it	on	a	 regular	basis.	Stemming	 from	 this	 idea	we	embarked	on	a	 full	
organisational	structure	review	as	the	extent	of	the	road	network	we	manage	has	grown,	but	
our staff complement has not kept pace.

The	Board	further	identified	the	need	for	SANRAL	to	positively	profile	itself	and	communicate	
more	 proactively	 to	 all	 its	 stakeholders.	We	 (Board	 and	 staff)	 are	 proud	 of	 the	 value	 we	
contribute to all communities that our roads traverse. It is a sad state of affairs that we do not 
take	credit	for,	nor	do	we	sufficiently	profile	our	great	work	done	in	South	Africa	and	across	
our borders. We have therefore encouraged the communications team to create momentum 
in	 profiling	 SANRAL’s	 efforts,	 contribution	 and	 successful	 delivery	 against	 Government’s	
development	 targets	 that	SANRAL	has	made	through	 its	engineering	prowess,	 road	safety	
projects, skills development initiatives and community development projects, amongst others. 

The Board acknowledges there is a dire need to drive communication efforts focusing on 
SANRAL’s	achievements	and	contribution	to	the	nation	through	the	Agency’s	small	contractor	
development	 and	 empowerment	 as	 a	 result	 of	 job	 creation,	 skills-transfer,	 training	 and	
awareness.

Chairperson’s Report
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With	regard	to	its	projects,	SANRAL	makes	every	effort	to	promote	transformation	by	ensuring	
that	small,	medium	and	micro-enterprises	(SMMEs)	are	exposed	to	work	experiences	that	would	
otherwise	not	have	been	possible.	In	the	year	under	review,	we	awarded	255	contracts	worth	
R11.6	billion	for	new	works,	rehabilitation	and	improvement,	periodic	and	special	maintenance,	
routine	road	maintenance	(RRM),	community	development,	professional	consulting	engineering	
and	other	activities.	Further,	SANRAL	spent	R2	billion	on	contracts	with	SMMEs,	of	which	
more	than	R1.2	billion	went	to	821	black-owned	firms.	In	addition,	through	SANRAL’s	projects,	 
18	161	people	were	trained	in	elements	of	road-building,	of	which	7	252	were	women.	In	terms	
of	job	creation,	110	401	job	opportunities	of	varying	durations	were	created,	at	a	total	cost	of	 
R2	billion.	

The	figures	reflected	are	a	combination	for	toll	and	non-toll	roads.	How	many	people	actually	
know	that	 toll	 roads	account	 for	only	15.8	percent	of	 the	national	 road	network?	We	have	
therefore	immersed	ourselves	into	understanding	the	financial	side	of	SANRAL	as	well	as	how	
National	Treasury	allocates	its	funds.	We	support	the	user-charge	principle	and	the	Gauteng	
Freeway	Improvement	Project	because	it	is	beneficial	to	the	nation	(20	000	jobs	were	created	
at	 the	 peak	 of	 construction	 on	 the	 project	 and	 currently	 almost	 1	 300	 staff	members	 are	
employed	at	 the	Electronic	Tolling	operations	 in	Midrand).	This	 funding	option	allows	us	 to	
bring projects to fruition that would otherwise not have been possible had we solely relied on 
money	from	the	fiscus.	

Decisions	 to	 toll	 are	made	after	careful	 thought	and	consideration.	We	carry	out	 feasibility	
studies,	traffic	studies,	socio-economic	benefit	analyses	and	environmental	impact	assessments	
(EIA).	The	EIA	includes	engagements	with	communities	prior	to	making	a	recommendation	on	
tolling. In fact, an EIA is carried out on every project that we undertake nationally. 

It	 should	 be	 noted	 that	 we	 have	 world-renowned	 staff	 and	 globally-recognised	 advanced	
projects	 like	 the	Open	Road	Tolling	 (ORT)	project.	SANRAL	 runs	one	of	 the	 largest	ORT	
systems	on	one	of	the	longest	networks	in	the	world.	We	are	also	one	of	the	first	countries	
internationally	 to	 introduce	 inter-operability	 of	 the	 electronic	 toll	 system.	 Since	 September	
2012,	the	Gauteng	e-tags	can	be	used	on	the	N1/N4	network	which	is	managed	by	SANRAL’s	
concessionaire,	Bakwena	Platinum	Corridor.	This	inter-operability,	with	electronic	tolling	as	a	
payment	method,	will	be	rolled	out	to	existing	toll	plazas	across	the	country.

However,	 in	 order	 to	 understand	 the	 overall	 role	 that	 SANRAL	 plays	 as	 a	 leader	 in	 road	
infrastructure	development	(both	toll	and	non-toll	roads),	we	need	to	look	back	to	September	
2011	when	the	Presidential	Infrastructure	Coordinating	Commission	(PICC)	was	inaugurated.	
For	the	first	time,	the	PICC	brought	key	ministers,	premiers	and	metro	mayors	into	a	joint	forum	
to	promote	infrastructure	coordination	and	decision-making,	spear-headed	by	the	President	
and	assisted	by	the	Deputy	President.	As	a	result	of	the	work	by	the	PICC,	there	are	now	17	
Strategic	Integrated	Projects	(SIPs).	Together,	these	SIPs	unlock	the	economic	development	
of	 South	 Africa	 and	 maximise	 the	 returns	 on	 our	 infrastructure	 investment	 in	 the	 form	 of	
increased	jobs,	growth	and	economic	potential.	We	are	proud	that	SANRAL	spearheads	the	
SIP-4	Project	in	the	North	West	province	and	is	a	participant	in	the	SIP-2	Durban-FreeState-
Gauteng	Corridor.	

We	are	optimistic	about	SANRAL’s	participation	in	the	creation	of	jobs	and	the	growth	of	our	
economy.	SANRAL	not	only	supports	the	empowerment	of	the	people	of	South	Africa	through	
its construction projects, but also from a human resource perspective. We are encouraged 
that	of	the	70	bursaries	that	were	allocated	in	this	financial	year,	49	went	to	black	students.	It	is	
also	with	great	pleasure	that	we	note	that	of	the	seven	students	who	graduated	with	their	first	
degrees,	five	were	permanently	employed	by	SANRAL	this	year.	It	is	a	proudly	South	African	
moment to support students through their education phase and into an engaging working 
environment where opportunities for further career growth abound.

Tembakazi Mnyaka
CHAIRPERSON
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REPORT CHAIRPERSON

Our	scholarship	programme	has	grown	 in	 leaps	and	bounds	since	2008	when	 it	was	first	
launched.	 We	 now	 have	 179	 learners	 in	 South	 Africa,	 of	 which	 136	 learners	 are	 black,	
benefiting	 from	 this	 great	 opportunity.	 Please	 read	 two	 insightful	 letters	 that	 appear	 in	 the	
scholarship section of this report from twin sisters about how the scholarship enriched 
their	 lives.	 This	 is	 tangible	 proof	 that	 SANRAL	 makes	 a	 difference	 in	 the	 lives	 of	 fellow	 
South	Africans.

Further,	we	have	a	number	of	educational	projects	that	are	funded	by	SANRAL	and	managed	
by	 our	 community	 development	 unit.	 SANRAL	 sponsors	 the	 University	 of	 Witwatersrand	
(WITS)	Targeting	Talent	Programme	(TTP),	Family	Math	and	Family	Science	programmes	in	
the	 Eastern	 and	Northern	Cape	 through	 the	 University	 of	 the	 Free	 State	 (UFS),	 the	 UFS	
Information	 and	 Communication	 Technology	 (ICT)	 Laboratory	 programme	 and	 the	 Nelson	
Mandela	Metropolitan	University	(NMMU)	Science	Technology	Engineering	and	Mathematics	
Pipeline	Project	(STEM	PP).	

The	 WITS	 TTP	 aims	 to	 increase	 the	 academic,	 social	 and	 psychological	 preparation	 of	
talented	 learners	 from	 socio-economically	 disadvantaged	 backgrounds	 for	 admission	 into	
South	African	universities.	It	is	heartening	to	see	that	this	year,	191	SANRAL-funded	learners	
graduated	from	the	programme.	Please	read	the	learners	quotations,	showcased	later	in	this	
report, about how the programme has added value to their education and their lives. 

The	UFS	Family	Math	and	Family	Science	programmes	aim	to	demystify	these	two	subjects	
for learners; raising their levels of understanding and changing their attitudes towards these 
important	gateway	subjects.	Comments	from	both	parents	and	learners	in	this	report	reflect	
the success of this initiative. 

The	 ICT	 laboratory	 programme	 at	 the	UFS	 aims	 to	 encourage	more	 learners	 to	 enter	 into	
science-related	 studies	 and	 careers.	 To	 achieve	 this,	 learners	with	 the	 necessary	 potential	
are	exposed	to	laboratory	sessions.	In	this	financial	year	a	total	of	325	Grade	10,	11	and	12	
learners	attended	these	sessions,	while	344	Free	State	University	students	participated	in	the	
ICT	laboratory	programme	as	part	of	their	four-year	BSc	course	requirement.	

The	NMMU	STEM	PP	aims	to	 increase	the	number	of	 learners	entering	careers	 in	science	
and	technology	by	presenting	ICT-centred	physical	science	experiments.	In	total,	1	081	Grade	
10,	11	and	12	and	first-year	university	students	were	exposed	to	this	project	–	of	which	983	
were black. 

SANRAL	is	an	efficient,	well-run	and	ethical	organisation	and	we	strive	to	achieve	even	greater	
heights by setting the benchmark internationally. 

And there are more great achievements to come. 

The	Board	would	like	to	convey	our	thanks	and	appreciation	to	the	CEO,	executives	and	staff	
members	of	SANRAL	for	their	hard	work	and	dedication	in	ensuring	successful	delivery	in	all	
their projects and activities.

 
Tembakazi Mnyaka
Chairperson	of	the	Board	of	Directors
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REPORT CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chief Executive Officer’s Report 

In	the	words	of	Charles	Dickens	the	year	under	review	has	certainly	“been	the	best	of	times	
and	the	worst	of	times”.	This	is	a	time	for	reflection	on	how	the	year	has	gone,	and	what	the	
new	year	will	bring:	opportunities,	personal	growth,	challenges	(there	will	always	be)	and	our	
commitment	to	South	Africa.

Our	 reflection	must	 extend	 to	 a	 self	 assessment	 of	 our	 strengths	 and	weaknesses	 as	 an	
agency.	In	the	year	under	review	we	have	experienced	highs	and	lows	but	have	stood	firm	in	
our resolve to deliver on our mandate.

SANRAL	 continued	 to	 deliver	 during	 2012/2013,	 notwithstanding	 a	 highly	 challenging	
environment. The projects that we are completing today and those in the pipeline will 
contribute to sustainable and shared economic growth over a long time. A well maintained 
road infrastructure contributes to employment, with its concomitant impact on reducing 
inequality	 and	 pushing	 back	 the	 frontiers	 of	 poverty,	 and	 responds	 to	 the	 challenges	 of	 a	
transforming society.

SANRAL	awarded	197	contracts	worth	approximately	R11	billion	–	of	which	about	40	percent	
was	 earned	by	Black	 empowered	 construction	 companies	 –	 for	 new	works,	 rehabilitation,	
maintenance	 and	 freeway	 management.	 We	 spent	 R1.22	 billion	 on	 contracts	 with	 small,	
medium	and	micro	enterprises	(SMMEs)	and	trained	18	161	people	in	road	building	projects,	
creating	some	26	946	jobs.

SANRAL	also	awarded	58	contracts	worth	R585	million	to	professional	consulting	engineering	
companies	for	the	design	and	supervision	of	the	road	and	bridge	works	–	of	which	about	41	
percent was performed by black professional companies.

Through	active	procurement	policies,	SANRAL	will	continue	to	promote	broad-based	black	
economic	empowerment.	We	will	also	maintain	our	strong	commitment	to	developing	SMMEs,	
which are essential to grow capacity in the construction industry.

Financing Road Infrastructure

There is no dispute that infrastructure industries and services are crucial for generating economic 
growth,	 alleviating	 poverty,	 reducing	 the	 scourge	 of	 inequality	 and	 increasing	 international	
competitiveness. Widely available well maintained roads foster grassroots entrepreneurship 
and are critical to generating employment and advancing economic development and social 
cohesion. 

We	are	aware	that	many	countries,	including	South	Africa,	have	long	used	indirect	highway	
user	fees	primarily	through	fuel	levies	as	the	main	source	of	revenue	for	roads	–	construction	
and	preservation.	 In	 recent	years,	 the	sustainability	of	 fuel	 levies	based	financing	has	been	
questioned	as	fuel	efficiencies	are	increasing	and	vehicles	with	alternative	energy	are	being	
encouraged. This is causing serious decline in road funding. In addition, fuel levies are often 
considered	as	too	low,	and	tax	structures	are	distorted,	economically	inefficient	and	inequitable.	
As	a	result,	this	leads	to	excessive	road	use,	particularly	in	urban	areas.

In addition to tolling, there are various other mechanisms of charging for road use that can be 
used	not	only	to	generate	revenue	but	also	to	satisfy	other	policy	goals	–	such	as	reducing	
congestion,	lowering	energy	consumption	and	reducing	carbon	footprint.	Direct	user	charges	
can also be used to encourage a shift in the distribution of travel modes including modifying the 
ratio	of	motorised	to	non-motorised	traffic	in	specific	geographic	locations.	All	this	depends	on	
policy	objectives.	Direct	user	charges	can	at	the	same	time	help	government	ensure	greater	
equity	 in	 road	 cost	 allocation,	 particularly	 internalising	 the	main	 externalities	 –	 congestion,	
pollution,	noise	of	private	cars	more	closely	than	they	are	by	the	typical	indirect	taxes	on	fuel	or	
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car	registrations.	However,	reaching	consensus	on	the	funding	model	remains	a	vexed	issue.	
We	acknowledge	that	there	is	no	universal	funding	model	–	it	 is	a	choice	among	imperfect	
systems.

South	 Africa’s	 institutional,	 economic	 and	 social	 characteristics,	 including	 the	 disparate	
demands	made	on	tax-based	revenues,	must	be	taken	into	account.

On	the	application	of	a	user-charge	(tolling)	the	matter	has	been	settled	by	the	Courts.	
Democracy	bestowed	upon	us	South	Africans	a	responsibility	to	shape	our	country	into	one	
which future generations can be proud of.

This is possible only if we observe the principle of separation of powers, respect the rule of law 
and	adhere	to	the	Constitution.	South	Africa	correctly	ditched	the	practice	of	parliamentary	
sovereignty and, in its place, introduced the doctrine of constitutional democracy. 

Therefore,	 it	would	be	 remiss	of	me	not	 to	express	our	disappointment	at	 the	strident	call	
being made for civil disobedience with respect to the judgments regarding the Gauteng 
Freeway	Improvement	Project	(GFIP).	In	particular,	the	threats	made	towards	the	courts	are	
undemocratic.	It	is	our	contention	that	once	a	court’s	integrity	is	placed	in	doubt,	we	open	the	
doors	to	anarchy.	Court	decisions,	at	various	times,	go	against	populist	opinion.	The	action	of	
those	calling	for	civil	disobedience	in	the	matter	of	the	GFIP	shows	how	contemptuous	they	
are of court decisions that go against their views.

Dear	 readers,	 allow	me	 through	 this	 report	 to	make	 an	 appeal	 to	 all,	 that	we	 respect	 the	
judiciary	–	a	very	important	pillar	of	democracy.	We	must	respect	the	courts	and	their	wisdom.	
A call to disregard a legal court order bodes ill for our collective future.

These	misguided	actions	have	delayed	 the	collection	of	 tolls	on	 the	GFIP	at	considerable	
cost	to	SANRAL.	To	meet	its	financial	obligations,	SANRAL	turned	to	the	National	Treasury	
for	assistance.	The	National	Treasury	gave	SANRAL	a	grant	of	R5,7	billion	from	the	national	
budget	to	reduce	the	toll	tariffs	to	30	cents	per	kilometer	for	light	motor	vehicles	with	an	e-tag	
and	introduced	a	monthly	cap	for	all	classes	of	vehicles.	This	enabled	SANRAL	to	meet	its	
financial	obligations	and	avoid	defaulting	on	its	loans.	We	take	this	opportunity	to	thank	the	
National	Treasury	and	our	investor	community	for	keeping	their	faith	in	SANRAL.

Subsequent	to	the	reporting	period,	the	necessary	legislation	has	been	passed	by	Parliament	
and	the	collection	of	tolls	on	the	GFIP	is	back	on	track.	The	proposed	tariffs	were	published	
for	public	comment	in	May	2013	and	are	lower	than	those	previously	proposed.	During	the	
period	of	non-collection	of	tolls	the	traffic	has	been	measured	and	it	has	been	established	that	
the	maximum	cost,	to	about	78%	of	the	motorists	using	the	Gauteng	freeway	network,	will	be	
about	R100	per	month.

Incorporation of provincial roads

The provincial and local road networks continue to deteriorate and the relevant authorities 
face	serious	capacity	constraints.	During	the	period	under	review	approximately	3	500km	of	
roads	were	incorporated	(Eastern	Cape	–	2	000km;	North	West	Province	–	1	400km)	into	the	
national	road	network	under	SANRAL’s	custodianship.	This	brings	the	total	of	the	proclaimed	
national	road	network	to	19	704km	of	which	3	120km	are	tolled.

Developing	new	infrastructure	remains	a	critical	task	of	Government	in	its	endeavour	to	redress	
the imbalances of the past. We are involved in various strategic infrastructure programmes that 
are	coordinated	by	 the	Presidential	 Infrastructure	Co-ordination	Commission.	SANRAL	has	
been	appointed	as	the	coordinator	for	the	Strategic	Infrastructure	Project	(SIP)	4	which	covers	

Nazir Alli
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the	North	West	Province.	 This	 programme	 aims	 to	 stimulate	 socio-economic	 development	
through	 the	 rollout	 of	 infrastructure	 programmes.	 SANRAL	 looks	 forward	 to	 assisting	 the	
Province	in	realizing	its	true	potential.

Innovation and research

On	a	previous	occasion,	we	reported	on	the	study	embarked	on	revising	the	South	African	
Pavement	Engineering	Manual	(SAPEM).	We	are	pleased	to	report	that	during	2012/13	the	
revision	of	the	SAPEM	has	been	completed.	This	is	the	culmination	of	many	hours	of	work	by	
dedicated	and	passionate	road	industry	professionals,	ably	led	by	SANRAL’s	chair	in	pavement	
engineering,	Professor	Kim	Jenkins,	at	Stellenbosch	University.

The manual comprises fourteen chapters covering a range of elements of pavement 
engineering. This is a comprehensive national guideline manual, not a policy manual. The 
manual incorporates the latest proven technologies and allows for the different needs of 
various road authorities for the design of road pavements. 

The	manual	will	assist	SANRAL	in	its	pursuit	of	excellence	in	the	design	and	constructability	
of	 roads,	 recycling	 of	 existing	materials	 and	 reduce	 overall	 spending	 in	 these	 challenging	
economic	 times,	 without	 compromising	 the	 standards,	 quality	 and	 service	 we	 deliver	 to	
motorists.

We encourage the reader, students, academics and practitioners to access the manual on our 
website for their use. 

In	addition	to	the	above	manual,	we	also	completed	under	the	auspices	of	the	Committee	of	
Transport	Officials	(COTO)	the	development	of	six	new	Technical	Recommendations/Methods	
for	Highways	 (TRH/TMH)	guideline	documents.	The	Technical	Recommendations/Methods	
for Highways consist of a series of publications that are used to either provide guidelines or 
to prescribe on various aspects related to highway engineering. The documents are primarily 
aimed	at	ensuring	the	use	of	uniform	methods	throughout	South	Africa	by	all	authorities.	

In	early	2013,	we	 took	delivery	of	a	one	of	a	kind	custom	manufactured	 road	survey	 truck	
that combines the latest state of the art laser and camera technologies to enable condition 
monitoring	of	our	roads	at	speeds	up	to	80	km/h.		The	impact	of	the	technology	incorporated	
into	this	survey	truck	is	such	that,	for	example,	for	a	deflection	survey	that	would	have	taken	us	
19	years	to	complete	using	current	technology,	we	will	now	be	able	to	complete	in	8	months	
without impacting road users or endangering the lives of the operators as with previous 
technology. 
 
During	the	reporting	period	we	kept	abreast	of	 international	developments,	maintaining	our	
high level representation on the boards and committees of local and international organisations 
such	 as	 the	World	Road	Association,	 the	 Engineering	Council	 of	 South	Africa,	 the	South	
African	 Road	 Federation,	 and	 the	 International	 Project	 Finance	 Association.	 SANRAL	
participated	 in	 several	 international	 conferences	 to	 share	 our	 experiences	 both	 nationally	
and	 internationally	on	 topics	such	as	 infrastructure	financing,	managing	mega-projects	and	
approaches to technology.

Sustainable Development

Sustainability	 is	 a	 central	 concern	 in	 all	 SANRAL	 activities.	We	 aim	 to	make	 constructive	
contribution	to	South	Africa’s	social	and	economic	development	and	to	protect	the	ecosystem.	
The annual report details our approach to sustainability. 
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SANRAL	is	privileged	to	have	a	dedicated	team	that	produces	work	of	a	high	standard.	We	
will	continue	 to	develop	 this	high-performance	structure	 through	providing	support	 to	each	
other,	 mentoring	 and	 training.	 In	 addition	 to	 our	 core	 values	 of	 excellence,	 proactiveness,	
participativeness, integrity and care, we will emphasise the behavioural dimensions of 
leadership, teamwork and cooperative governance. These contribute to our efforts to attract 
and retain talent. 

During	the	period	under	review,	we	continued	our	support	for	the	SANRAL	Chair	in	Pavement	
Engineering	at	Stellenbosch	University,	the	SANRAL	Chair	in	Transportation	at	the	University	
of	Cape	Town	and	sponsored	a	new	Chair	–	the	SANRAL	Chair	in	Mathematics	and	Science	
at	the	University	of	Free	State.	

The	expansion	of	our	support	in	the	field	of	mathematics	and	science	is	in	recognition	of	the	
long	term	need	to	nurture	and	develop	skills	in	the	fields	of	science	and	engineering.

The future

We cannot predict the future but can analyse the trends and guide the outcome as we go 
forward.	Our	challenge	is	to	remain	a	focused,	learning	organisation	that	nurtures	its	talent	and	
delivers	on	its	mandate	to	the	people	of	South	Africa.

We	 will	 work	 to	 improve	 the	 condition	 of	 the	 national	 road	 network	 despite	 the	 financial	
constraints that we face and assist our colleagues in the other spheres of Government in their 
endeavours as well. In the period under review, in the spirit of cooperative governance, we also 
extended	our	assistance	to	the	Metropolitan	Councils	of	Tshwane	and	Johannesburg	with	their	
build programme. 

We remain committed to promoting education and training in mathematics, science and 
technology and sponsoring research and development.

Notwithstanding	the	challenges	with	regard	to	the	‘user-pay’	principle,	SANRAL	will	continue	
to engage with its stakeholders to debate the merits of a direct user charge versus an indirect 
charge	such	as	 the	 fuel	 levy.	 It	 is	contended	that	 the	current	 fuel	 levies	are	 low,	distort	 tax	
structures,	 are	 economically	 inefficient	 and,	more	 significantly,	 inequitable,	 thus	 leading	 to	
excessive	road	use.

Relying	solely	on	the	fiscus	to	fund	the	maintenance	backlog,	the	upgrades	and	improvements	
to the road network is not sustainable. We have to use all available resources prudently to 
maintain the road network, and above all show respect for the rule of law and work together as 
a	nation	to	ensure	equity	in	the	development	of	our	roads.
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Our Principal Tasks

•		 Strategically	 plan,	 design,	 construct,	 operate,	 rehabilitate	 and	 maintain	 South	 Africa’s	 
	 national	roads	to	support	socio-economic	development.
•		 Generate	revenue	from	the	development	and	management	of	assets.
•		 Undertake	research	and	development	to	enhance	the	quality	of	life	of	all	South	Africans,	 
 with particular emphasis on their social and economic wellbeing.
•		 Advise	the	Minister	of	Transport	on	matters	relating	to	South	Africa’s	roads.
•		 Finance,	plan,	construct,	provide,	operate	and	maintain	roads	in	neighbouring	countries	at	 
	 the	request	of	the	Minister	of	Transport	and	those	countries.

Our Objectives

•		 Manage	South	Africa’s	national	road	network	effectively.
•		 Provide	safe	roads.
•		 Carry	out	Government’s	targeted	programmes.
•		 Maintain	cooperative	working	relationships	with	relevant	departments,	provinces,	local		
	 authorities	and	Southern	African	Development	Community	member	countries.
•		 Achieve	and	maintain	good	governance	practice.
•		 Promote	transformation.
•		 Achieve	financial	sustainability.
•		 Undertake	research,	embrace	innovation	and	pursue	best	practice.

Funding the Road Network 

As	per	the	SANRAL	Act	(1998),	the	Agency	is	responsible	for	two	separate	funding	portfolios:	
toll	and	non-toll	roads.	Each	of	these	operations	is	funded	separately,	as	there	is	no	cross-
subsidisation	of	funds	between	the	two	portfolios.	Non-toll	roads	are	funded	by	the	national	
fiscus	through	Government	allocations.	Toll	operations	can	be	divided	into	two	types:	those	
funded	by	SANRAL	and	operated	on	 its	behalf,	and	roads	concessioned	to	private	parties	
under	public-private	partnerships	(PPPs).

What SANRAL does
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In	the	Development	Bank	of	Southern	Africa’s	(DBSA)	State	of	South	Africa’s	Economic	
Infrastructure	report	of	2012,	this	statement	is	supported	with	the	notion	that	“infrastructure	
lies	at	the	heart	of	Government’s	stimulatory	fiscal	package	and	is	a	pivotal	component	of	
the	New	Growth	Path”	(Department	of	Economic	Development,	2010),	accounting	for	just	
less	than	eight	percent	of	GDP	in	the	2012/13	fiscal	year.

The	DBSA	report	further	indicates	the	following:
State	capacity	to	deliver	and	effectively	maintain	infrastructure	is	grounded	in	the	following	
functions	of	a	democratic,	market-based	economy	such	as	South	Africa’s:
•	 The	state’s	ability	to	collect	tax	and	user	charge	revenue,	as	this	determines	the	quantum	 
 of resources available for infrastructure investment.
•	 Allocative	efficiency,	which	in	turn	depends	on	the	state’s	capacity	for	integrated	planning	 
 across different infrastructure sectors.
•	 The	efficacy	with	which	programmes	are	implemented	and	delivered	to	the	targeted	 
	 beneficiaries	 (including	 the	management	of	public	 finance,	procurement	processes,	 
	 contract	management	and	effective	monitoring	of	state-owned	enterprises).
•	 Effective	oversight	and	regulation	of	public	and	private	entities	that	provide	infrastructure	 
 and associated services.

The	report	notes	that	 if	any	of	the	four	capacities	are	inadequate,	 infrastructure	delivery	
will be compromised. This also applies to the complete cycle of project development 
including inception, implementation, operation and management, maintenance, and the 
refurbishment and replacement of infrastructure assets.

SANRAL	effects	delivery	of	these	functions	by	fulfilling	its	mandate	to	manage	and	maintain	
19	704km	of	the	national	road	network.	This	network	is	expected	to	grow	to	35	000km.	
The Agency continues to work towards the following objectives: 
•	 Expand	the	national	road	network.	
•	 Maintain	existing	roads	in	a	safe	condition.
•	 Access	sources	other	than	tax-based	revenues	to	fund	road	development.	
•	 Promote	transformation.
•	 Use	new	technology	to	improve	the	travel	experience	of	road	users	and	protect	the		
 environment. 
 
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	SANRAL	made	 progress	 in	 all	 these	 areas.	However,	 the	
nature	of	work	nearly	always	involves	multi-year	projects.	Planning,	construction,	finishing	
work,	capital-raising	exercises	and	expenditure	typically	extend	beyond	the	limits	of	one	
reporting period. As a result, many of the projects mentioned in this report are only due to 
be	completed	during	2013/14	or	beyond.	
 
As	 far	 back	 as	 2000,	 the	Automobile	Association	 indicated	 that	 there	 are	 three	major	
consequences	of	the	deterioration	of	the	road	network:
•	 The	cost	to	repair	the	roads	is	said	to	be	seven	times	more	than	it	would	have	been	if
	 adequate	maintenance	had	been	done.
•	 The	backlog	in	funding	grows.	
•	 Road	user	costs	are	twice	as	high	on	a	road	in	poor	condition	as	compared	to	a	road 
 in good condition.

SANRAL	has	developed	an	asset	preservation	and	expansion	strategy	that	is	integral	to	
the	management	and	funding	of	the	country’s	national	roads	system	to	ensure	that	we	do	
not	reach	the	level	of	deterioration	and	associated	consequences	described	above.

The National Road Network

“Governments around the world rank infrastructure policy among 
their greatest concerns. The modernisation of infrastructure is seen 
as being critical to future economic competitiveness and crucial to 
accommodating expanding populations in urbanising environments.” 

Urban Land Institute and 
Ernst and Young, 2011
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Highlights for the reporting period include the following: 

•	 SANRAL’s	network	grew	to	19	704km.

•	 The	i-Traffic	website	(www.itraffic.co.za)	offered	by	SANRAL	provides	regional	specific	 
	 traffic	 conditions	 information	 including	 road	 works,	 congestion	 and	 traffic	 alert 
	 information	for	Gauteng,	KwaZulu-Natal	and	the	Western	Cape	road	users.	

•	 SANRAL’s	 i-Traffic	 Twitter	 accounts	 have	 seen	 a	 significant	 increase	 in	 followers, 
	 numbering	over	36	000.

•	 SANRAL	spent	R1.4	billion	on	operating	costs	for	toll	roads.	

•	 Capital	expenditure	on	toll	roads	amounted	to	R1.8	billion	to	strengthen	and	improve	 
 roads as well as to build new facilities. 

•	 The	 integration	 of	 the	 processing	 of	 electronic	 toll	 transactions	 at	 BAKWENA	 toll	 
	 plazas	 and	 the	 central	 Transaction	 Clearing	 House	 successfully	 took	 place	 in	 
	 September	2012	and	has	been	operational	since	then.	

•	 SANRAL	 awarded	255	contracts	worth	R11.6	billion	 for	 new	works,	 rehabilitation,	 
 improvement, professional consulting engineering, maintenance, community 
 development and other activities. 

•	 A	 total	 of	 R2	 billion	 was	 spent	 on	 contracts	 with	 SMMEs,	 of	 which	 more	 than	 
	 R1.2	billion	went	to	821	black	enterprises.	

•	 SANRAL’s	 skills	 development	 programme	 trained	 18	 161	 people	 in	 road-building	 
	 projects	 at	 a	 cost	 of	 about	R21	million,	 of	which	7	252	were	women	and	created	 
	 110	401	job	opportunities	of	varying	duration	at	a	total	cost	of	about	R2	billion.	

•	 SANRAL	 spent	 R3.6	 billion	 on	 maintaining	 non-toll	 roads	 and	 R5.9	 billion	 on 
 strengthening, improving and providing new facilities on these roads.

•	 SANRAL’s	 involvement	with	 road	 safety	 relates	 specifically	 to	 creating	 safer	 roads,	 
	 educating	road	users	and	improving	post-crash	response.

Reporting Period Highlights

255

18 161

SANRAL AWARDED

SANRAL TRAINED

R11.6 BILLION

R21
MILLION

SANRAL’S NETWORK GREW

I-TRAFFIC TWITTER ACCOUNT FOLLOWERS

36 000

NEW WORKS, REHABILITATION, IMPROVEMENT, 
PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING ENGINEERING, 
MAINTENANCE, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  
AND OTHER ACTIVITIES. 



26

SECTION 1 THE NATIONAL ROAD NETWORK01

1.1 Sustainability Reporting 

“In general, the function of the road network is to provide access 
and mobility to facilitate economic and social linkages and 
ultimately promote economic development and stimulate exports”. 

The idea of sustainability stems from the concept of sustainable development agreed to 
at	the	world’s	first	Earth	Summit	in	Rio	in	1992.	The	original	definition	was	considered	to	
be:	“Development	that	meets	the	needs	of	the	present	without	compromising	the	ability	of	
future	generations	to	meet	their	own	needs”.	(Bruntland	Report	for	the	World	Commission	
on	Environment	and	Development,	1992)	

While	the	definition	of	sustainable	development	has	been	updated	since	1992,	SANRAL	
is	committed	to	its	basic	principle	–	development	that	meets	current	and	future	demands.	
For	SANRAL	to	ensure	that	it	moves	towards	the	achievements	of	a	sustainable	future,	it	
implements a comprehensive assurance model that involves Agency staff and auditors 
(both	internal	and	external)	to	ensure	comprehensive	risk	management.	SANRAL’s	Audit	
and	Risk	Committee	monitors	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	assurance	model.	

1.2 Funding

It	has	been	predicted	that	the	roads	under	SANRAL’s	jurisdiction	will	eventually	grow	to	
35	000km.	During	the	year	under	review,	SANRAL’s	road	network	grew	to	19	704km.	The	
financial	implications	of	incorporating	roads	that	were	previously	maintained	by	provincial	
authorities	pose	a	challenge	that	SANRAL	will	meet	through	a	combination	of	the	following:
•	 Funding	from	the	national	fiscus.
•	 Funding	 from	 the	 collection	 of	 tolls,	 enabling	 the	development	 and	maintenance	of	 
	 roads	using	the	“user-pay”	principle.	
•	 Engaging	the	private	sector	to	finance	the	development	of	some	sections	of	tolled	road	 
	 over	a	fixed	period,	with	the	asset	reverting	to	SANRAL	at	no	charge	and	in	a	specified	 
 condition.

Since	2004,	 there	has	been	a	 steady	 increase	 in	 funding	allocations	 from	 the	national	
budget	 to	support	 the	non-toll	portion	of	 the	national	 road	network.	 Increased	 funding,	
however, has been offset by the higher costs of materials and the increase in network 
length	 under	SANRAL	 jurisdiction.	SANRAL’s	 costs	 are	 affected	by	 the	prices	 of	 fuel,	
plant, labour and civil engineering materials and the spiralling price of bitumen, a viscous 
by-product	 of	 oil	 used	 in	 road	 construction.	 These	 trends	 are	 captured	 in	 Figure	1	 on	 
page	27	which	shows	that	prices	for	road	construction,	as	expressed	by	the	construction	
price adjustment factor, rose more rapidly than consumer and producer prices. 

Non-toll	 roads	account	 for	about	84.2	percent	of	 the	national	 road	network.	Tax-based	
revenues	finance	the	expansion,	upgrading	and	maintenance	of	these	roads.	Government’s	
three-year	medium-term	expenditure	framework	sets	out	future	allocations.	

SANRAL	 also	 uses	 alternative	 sources	 of	 finance	 for	 road	 infrastructure	 to	 reduce	 its	
dependence	on	tax-based	revenues.

SANRAL’s Successful and World-renowned PPPs

Since	the	inception	of	SANRAL,	 it	has	been	the	pioneer	 in	pursuing	and	sustaining	successful	public-private	partnerships	(PPPs),	
which has rendered substantial dividends over the years. 

SANRAL	has	three	PPPs	with	its	concessionaires	–	the	N3	Toll	Concession	(Pty)	Ltd	(N3TC),	the	N1/N4	Bakwena	Platinum	Concession	
Consortium	(BAKWENA)	and	the	N4	Trans	African	Concession	(TRAC)	–	which	enables	SANRAL	to	reduce	the	cost	of	transport,	
provide	safer	and	more	reliable	road	infrastructure,	and	build	the	economy	of	South	Africa	and	its	neighbours.	

SANRAL’S SPEND ON OPERATING COST

R1.4 BILLION

SANRAL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

R1.8 BILLION

STRENGTHEN AND IMPROVE ROADS  
AS WELL AS TO BUILD NEW FACILITIES

DBSA State of South Africa’s 
Economic Infrastructure Report
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1.3  Technological Innovation 

SANRAL’s	 intelligent	 transport	system	 (ITS)	 is	operational	 in	Cape	Town,	Gauteng	and	
KwaZulu-Natal.	 The	 system	 provides	 real-time	 freeway	 traffic	 flow	 conditions,	 including	
details of any incidents, to local radio stations who inform hundreds of thousands of 
motorists each day. Accurate and comprehensive incident data has been analysed to 
highlight	accident	trends	and	high	risk	locations.	Detailed	information	over	the	reporting	
period in each region is provided below.

Gauteng Freeway Management System 

The	 Gauteng	 Freeway	 Management	 System	 (FMS)	 has	 been	 operational	 for	 the	 full	
reporting	period.	During	this	period,	the	Gauteng	Traffic	Management	Centre	(TMC)	was	
relocated	to	the	new	facility	at	the	Central	Operations	Centre	 in	Midrand.	The	Gauteng	
FMS	began	implementing	the	SANRAL	On-Road	services	in	a	phased	manner	from	May	
2012.	This	comprises	four	types	of	services,	operating	on	220	km	of	the	Gauteng	freeway	
network,	with	the	objectives	of	improving	the	safety	of	motorists	(particularly	in	the	event	
of	an	 incident)	and	 reducing	 the	 impact	of	 incidents	on	 the	flow	of	 traffic.	Services	are	
decentralised at strategic positions across the network to allow for rapid response to 
incidents.	Services	are	operated	24	hours	per	day,	seven	days	a	week.

Units	responsible	for	implementing	these	services	are	dispatched	from	the	SANRAL	TMC.	
Road	users	can	call	the	i-Traffic	call	centre	on	0800-itraffic	(387	2332)	or	011	312	1188	
to report crashes, stranded vehicles, a motorist needing assistance or any other incidents 
on	the	Gauteng	freeway.	Since	the	service	has	been	operational	on	the	Gauteng	e-roads,	
the	units	responded	to	a	cumulative	total	of	4	487	incidents.	The	light	towing	vehicle	unit	
responded	to	698	incidents	and	the	medical	response	units	responded	to	362	incidents	
during the review period.

SANRAL’s	On-Road	service	fleet	comprises	ten	light	motor	vehicle	towing	vehicles,	eight	
heavy vehicle towing vehicles, ten incident response vehicles for scene safety and control, 
and	an	additional	six	medical	response	vehicles	equipped	with	 intermediate	 life	support	
equipment	and	six	“medics	on	bikes”.	All	vehicles	are	staffed	by	personnel	experienced	in	
medical and incident management services. 

The	first	60	minutes	after	an	accident	is	called	the	“golden	hour”;	it	is	the	most	critical	time	
in which lives can be saved after a serious incident. The aim of the emergency services is 
to	provide	quick	response	for	the	first	line	of	medical	assistance	during	this	time.	These	
services	will	not	replace	existing	public	services,	but	will	complement	them	to	ensure	swift	
provision of emergency services to road users in need.
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KwaZulu-Natal Freeway Management System
 
The	KwaZulu-Natal	FMS	currently	covers	around	100km	of	the	busiest	sections	of	the	N2	
and	N3.	These	freeway	sections	have	118	cameras	and	18	variable	message	signs	(VMS)	
units	linked	via	a	high-speed	fibre	optic	communications	backbone	to	TMC	located	at	the	
SANRAL	offices	in	Pietermaritzburg.	Work	has	commenced	with	the	15km	first	phase	of	
the	45km	Greenfields	expansion	of	 the	network	on	 the	N3	between	Camperdown	and	
Cedara.

The	TMC	dealt	with	an	average	of	900	traffic-related	incidents	a	month.	Stationary	vehicles	
(mostly	 heavy	motor	 vehicles)	 accounted	 for	 around	 66	 percent	 of	 the	 total	 incidents,	
followed	by	traffic	congestion	incidents	(about	16	percent)	and	vehicle	accidents	(around	
nine	 percent).	 For	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 freeway	 sections	 around	 the	 EB	 Cloete	
systems	 interchange	on	the	N2	and	the	Hammarsdale	and	Shongweni	 interchanges	on	
the	N3	recorded	the	highest	number	of	traffic	incidents.	

The	FMS	also	 includes	overview	monitoring	of	 the	Tongaat	mainline,	King	Shaka	 ramp	
and	Mariannhill	mainline	 toll	plazas	on	the	current	network.	Toll	plaza	monitoring	will	be	
enhanced	in	the	next	reporting	period	to	include	surveillance	of	toll	plaza	operations	and	
toll lane area activity.

Cape Town Freeway Management System 

The	Cape	Town	FMS	has	been	operational	for	the	full	reporting	period	and	covers	major	
freeways	in	Cape	Town,	including	freeways	that	fall	under	the	jurisdiction	of	the	Provincial	
Government	of	the	Western	Cape	and	the	City	of	Cape	Town.	SANRAL	is	the	implementing	
agent	for	the	Cape	Town	FMS	and	has	entered	into	cooperative	and	funding	agreements	
with	both	authorities.	SANRAL	chairs	the	monthly	operations	stakeholder	meetings	and	
initiates	management	debriefing	sessions	after	major	incidents.	SANRAL	is	also	managing	
the	expansion	and	enhancement	of	the	Cape	Town	FMS.

During	the	reporting	period,	 the	Cape	Town	FMS	facilitated	a	coordinated	response	to	
more	 than	12	000	 incidents	 on	Cape	Town’s	 freeways.	 Primary	 successes	 have	been	
improved	 incident	 detection	 times	 and	 the	 reduction	 in	 accident	 clearance	 times.	 Of	
particular interest has been the reduction in clearance times for fatal accident scenes, 
primarily	due	to	improved	coordination	between	emergency	services,	including	the	South	
African	Police	Service.	
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During	the	reporting	period,	real	time	traffic	information	has	been	disseminated	to	motorists	
by	 more	 than	 20	 000	 VMS	 activations.	 The	 Cape	 Town	 FMS	 also	 provides	 real-time	
freeway	 traffic	flow	conditions,	 including	details	of	any	 incidents,	 to	 local	 radio	stations	
who inform hundreds of thousands of motorists each day.

Accurate and comprehensive incident data has been analysed to highlight accident 
trends	and	high-risk	locations.	This	has	facilitated	engineering	and	traffic	law	enforcement	
resource	allocations.	The	FMS	has	also	been	used	to	identify	areas	with	high	pedestrian	
activity and to coordinate law enforcement and educational activities. 

The	 system	has	230	closed-circuit	 television	 cameras	 (CCTV)	 and	50	VMSs	covering	
154km	of	the	busiest	freeways	in	Cape	Town.	These	field	devices	maintained	an	availability	
rate	of	above	95	percent	in	2012/13.	

Traveller Information 

Over	the	past	12	months,	SANRAL	has	been	engaged	in	refreshing	and	expanding	the	
functionality	 of	 ITS	 technology	 to	 deliver	 travel-time	 savings,	 travel-time	 reliability	 and	
safety	benefits	to	road	users	in	the	Gauteng,	KwaZulu-Natal	and	Western	Cape	regions.	

A key element of these improvements has been the deployment of new operations software 
and	the	release	of	a	new	and	improved	i-Traffic	website	(www.itraffic.co.za).	

The upgraded software boasts several new features that include:
•	 A	 web-browser-based	 interface	 to	 decrease	 maintenance	 costs	 and	 to	 allow	 an	 
 increased number of users at a lower marginal cost.
•	 Standardisation	across	a	common	software	platform	to	lower	training	and	maintenance 
 costs.
•	 Expansion	of	incident	reporting	in	the	KwaZulu-Natal	and	Western	Cape	regions.
•	 Transition	to	a	Google-style	map	that	boasts	improved	resolution	and	is	updated	more 
	 frequently.
•	 Improved	 notification	 of	 changed	 network	 conditions	 for	 more	 rapid	 clearance	 of	 
 incidents and reporting to the public. 

The website improvements include improved mapping, ability to personalise views and 
settings	and	improved	incident	report	detail.	While	representing	a	significant	advancement	
in	 functionality	 and	 benefits	 for	 users	 of	 the	 SANRAL	 network,	 additional	 features	 are	
currently	in	testing	and	are	planned	for	release	in	2013.

The	 i-Traffic	website	 is	 a	 national	 traveller	 information	 service	 offered	by	SANRAL	 that	
provides	regional	specific	traffic	conditions	information,	road	works,	congestion	and	traffic	
alert	 information	 for	Gauteng,	KwaZulu-Natal	and	 the	Western	Cape.	 In	addition	 to	 the	
i-Traffic	website,	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	the	number	of	Twitter	followers,	
which	currently	exceeds	30	000.	

SANRAL Twitter Handles

REGION TWITTER ACCOUNT

CAPE	TOWN	 @CapeTownFreeway

GAUTENG	 @itrafficgp

KWAZULU-NATAL	 @i_trafficKZN
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1.4  Engineering Overview 

Toll Road Network 

Currently,	 the	 toll	 road	 network	 accounts	 for	 about	 15.8	 percent	 (3	 120km)	 of	 South	
Africa’s	 national	 road	 network.	 SANRAL	 manages	 1	 832km	 of	 these	 toll	 roads	 and	
concessionaires	 are	 responsible	 for	 managing	 and	 funding	 the	 remaining	 1	 288km.	
SANRAL	will	continue	to	selectively	expand	toll	roads	to	maintain	and	grow	the	national	
road network in a sustainable manner. 
 
Toll	 roads	 respond	 to	South	Africa’s	 need	 for	 an	 improved	 road	 system	 to	expand	 the	
economy	 and	 to	 meet	 increased	 demands	 on	 existing	 infrastructure.	 SANRAL	 has	
developed	 innovations	 in	 this	area,	 including	South	Africa’s	first	multi-lane	 free-flow	 toll	
system,	which	collects	tolls	electronically	and	national	expansion	of	inter-operability	of	the	
toll collection system. 
 
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 SANRAL	 spent	 R1.4	 billion	 on	 operating	 costs	 for	 about	 
1	979km	of	toll	roads,	as	shown	in	Table	1	below.	Over	the	same	period,	capital	expenditure	
on	toll	roads	amounted	to	R1.8	billion	to	strengthen	and	improve	roads	and	to	build	new	
facilities. 

TABLE 1 Toll	roads	operational	expenditure	2012/13 

Description Number of projects   Length (km)  Cost R 000

Toll	operations	and	routine	maintenance	 52	 	 1	832	 	 R1	285	461

Periodic	maintenance	 	 5	 	 115	 	 R95	417

Special	maintenance	 	 5	 	 32	 	 R82	787

TOTAL  62  1 979  R1 463 665

Note:	 Operational	 expenditure	 excludes	 any	 accruals	 made	 at	 year-end	 and	 includes	
expenditure	related	to	contracts	awarded	in	previous	financial	years,	but	incurred	during	
2012/13.	Periodic	and	special	maintenance	is	in	addition	to	routine	maintenance	of	the	
road network.

TABLE 2 Toll	roads	capital	expenditure	2012/13

Description Number of projects Length (km)  Cost R 000

Strengthening	 3	 51	 R28	435

Improvements	 22	 314	 R1	098	096

New	facilities	 20	 206	 R695	984

TOTAL  45  571  R1 822 515
 
Note:	Capital	expenditure	excludes	any	accruals	made	at	year-end	and	includes	expenditure	
related	to	contracts	awarded	in	previous	financial	years,	but	incurred	during	2012/13.

Major Toll Road Projects 

SANRAL	 is	 committed	 to	 deliver	 on	 its	mandate	 of	 providing	 a	 good	 road	 network	 to	
its users. A great deal of preparatory work is done prior to a road being designed and 
built. This includes the incorporation of roads, planning, scoping, environmental impact 
assessments	(EIAs)	and	other	functions	that	contribute	to	long	project	gestation	periods.	
During	any	one	financial	reporting	period,	SANRAL	has	a	range	of	such	projects	under	
way. 

A	selection	of	major	toll	projects	managed	by	SANRAL	during	2012/13	is	profiled	below.	
During	 the	 implementation	 stage	 of	 each	 of	 these	 projects,	 SANRAL	 involves	 SMME	
contractors, employs local labour, provides training and works hard on each project to 
ensure	 skills	 transfer.	 Aggregate	 empowerment,	 training	 and	 job	 creation	 figures	 are	
provided in the section on training, empowerment and job creation.

SOUTH AFRICA’S NATIONAL 
TOLL ROAD NETWORK

SANRAL MANAGES

CONCESSIONAIRES MANAGE

3 120 km 
15.8%

1 832km
1 288km
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N1-N2 Winelands Toll Highway Project 

Upgrading for Safety 
SANRAL	views	this	project	as	a	step	towards	improving	the	network	for	the	safety	and	best	
interest	of	the	communities	that	the	road	traverses	and	those	that	use	the	network.	Studies	
have	found	that	many	of	the	relevant	road	sections	of	the	N1	and	N2	are	approaching	the	
end	of	their	design	life.	The	left-hand	lane	of	the	N1	and	parts	of	the	N2	are	showing	signs	
of	deterioration	with	uneven	surfaces	and	road	cracking.	This,	combined	with	current	traffic	
volumes, which are congesting certain sections of the roads, has led to slower travelling 
time and greater risk of accidents.

Safety	 challenges	 are	 further	 compounded	 as	 traffic	 growth	 forecasts	 indicate	 serious	
congestion	along	many	sections	of	 the	 roads.	This	 indicates	 that	 the	N1	and	N2	need	
rehabilitation and capacity upgrades in place within the near future.

Proposed Improvements 
The	project	will	improve	the	N1	and	N2	roads	through	the	following	actions:	
N1
•	 Widen	35km	of	road	and	upgrade	infrastructure.
•	 Construct/upgrade	six	interchanges.
•	 Rehabilitate	and	overlay	asphalt	on	91km	of	road.	
•	 Construct	approach	roads	and	complete	second	Huguenot	Tunnel.
•	 Extend	the	integrated	FMS.
•	 Install	VMSs.
N2
•	 Construct	13km	of	new	road.
•	 Widen	55km	of	road	and	upgrade	infrastructure.	
•	 Construct/upgrade	eight	interchanges.
•	 Rehabilitate	and	overlay	asphalt	on	22km	of	road.	
•	 Improve	capacity	at	Sir	Lowry’s	Pass	and	provide	an	arrestor	bed.
•	 Extend	the	integrated	FMS.
•	 Install	VMSs.

Job Creation 
One	of	the	most	important	aspects	of	this	project	is	its	economic	benefits.	The	proposed	
toll	 network	will	 create	 about	 5	 000	 jobs	 during	 the	 construction	 phase,	with	 at	 least	
72	percent	of	 the	 total	direct	 jobs	going	 to	 low-income	workers.	After	 the	construction	
stage,	about	600	direct	jobs	will	be	generated	every	year.	The	project	has	the	potential	
to	generate	between	1	300	and	2	100	indirect	jobs	during	the	initial	construction	period.	

Gauteng Open Road Tolling 

Legal Framework 
In	the	year	under	review,	the	Gauteng	Open	Road	Tolling	(ORT)	project	faced	legal	action	
and	the	collection	of	toll	fees	could	therefore	not	commence.	The	Gauteng	ORT	project	
was	set	to	go	live	on	30	April	2012.	However,	an	urgent	interdict	granted	by	the	North	
Gauteng	High	Court	stopped	the	project	from	being	implemented.	SANRAL,	together	with	
the	Department	of	Transport	and	National	Treasury,	successfully	appealed	the	ruling	in	the	
Constitutional	Court.	

ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF N1/N2 WINELANDS

CONSTRUCTION PHASE

AFTER CONSTRUCTION PHASE

LOW INCOME WORKERSJOBS

DIRECT JOBS GENERATED EACH YEAR

5 000

600

72%
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Gauteng Open Road Tolling (Continued)

Subsequently,	the	North	Gauteng	High	Court	ruled	in	favour	of	SANRAL,	the	Department	
of	 Transport	 and	 National	 Treasury	 in	 the	 case	 brought	 by	 the	 Opposition	 to	 Urban	
Tolling	Alliance	(OUTA).	 In	a	parallel	process,	an	 Inter-ministerial	Committee,	 led	by	 the	
Deputy	President	of	South	Africa,	Mr	Kgalema	Motlanthe,	was	established	to	meet	with	
stakeholders and ensure that concerns raised were evaluated and properly addressed 
during the development phase of the project.

The	proposed	 toll	 tariffs,	 regulations	and	exemption	notices	were	published	and	public	
sessions held, allowing for comments by the public and review by the Minister of Transport. 
The	Transport	and	Other	Related	Matters	Bill	that	will	assist	in	the	effective	collection	and	
enforcement	of	toll	was	presented	to	the	Portfolio	Committee	on	Transport	and	referred	to	
the	National	Assembly.	Following	the	approval	of	the	Bill	by	the	National	Assembly,	it	was	
referred	to	the	National	Council	of	Provinces.	

Toll Collection System 
The	toll	collection	system	for	the	Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	Project	has	been	running	
live, although road users are not being charged yet. Enhancements are being made and 
tested continuously to ensure the system functions optimally. 

The	Transaction	Clearing	House	has	been	successfully	 integrated	with	BAKWENA	 toll	
plazas,	since	September	2012.	The	Transaction	Clearing	House	processed	the	electronic	
toll	 transactions	 of	 35	 000	 e-tags	 which	 were	 used	 at	 the	 BAKWENA	 toll	 plazas	 in	
2012/13.

The	development,	testing	and	integration	by	key	account	holders	into	the	Gauteng	ORT	
toll collection system were done on a continuous basis as new key account holders signed 
agreements	with	SANRAL,	including	major	banks	and	vehicle	rental	companies.

Operations 
SANRAL’s	 e-toll	 Customer	 Service	 outlets	 have	 been	 operational	 on	 a	 scaled-down	
programme	because	the	registration	for	e-toll	figures	was	low	due	to	uncertainty	around	
the toll commencement date.

Discussions	with	public	 transport	operators,	 taxi	associations,	 the	South	African	Police	
Service,	Metro	Police,	 the	South	African	National	Defence	Force,	 as	well	 as	provincial	
and	local	emergency	services	took	place	to	discuss	exemption	and	free	passage	options	
available to these stakeholders. 
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Concessionaires 

SANRAL	 has	 entered	 into	 partnership	 with	 three	 private	 companies	 to	 develop,	 fund,	
operate and maintain three sections of the national road network. These tolled sections 
amount	 to	approximately	1	288km	of	 the	3	120km	of	 tolled	sections	of	South	Africa’s	
national roads. The three concessioned routes are outlined below.

BAKWENA 
Bakwena	Platinum	Corridor	Concessionaire	(Pty)	Ltd	(BAKWENA)	is	responsible	for	the	
design,	 finance,	construction	and	ongoing	operations	and	maintenance	of	 the	 toll	 road	
between	Pretoria	 (Gauteng)	and	Bela-Bela	 (Limpopo)	on	 the	N1	and	between	Pretoria	
(Gauteng)	and	the	Botswana	border	on	the	N4.	For	every	one	of	its	projects,	BAKWENA’s	
targeted	SMME	expenditure	is	15	percent	of	the	total	contract	value	and	the	contractor	
must	meet	this	requirement.	

BAKWENA	 is	working	on	 the	second	section	of	 the	additional	carriageway	on	 the	N4	
between	the	R512	West	and	Marikana	interchange.	The	contract	includes	the	building	of	
a	second	carriageway	with	associated	bridges.	The	project,	worth	R500	million,	started	in	
March	2011	and	will	be	completed	in	2014.	The	contractor	will	make	use	of	16	SMME/
BEE	sub-contractors.	

The	contract	for	the	rehabilitation	of	concrete	slabs	(road	surface),	at	every	BAKWENA	
toll	plaza,	commenced	in	June	2010.	It	is	set	to	be	completed	by	August	2014	at	a	cost	
of	R37.5	million.	

The	nine-month	rehabilitation	of	the	N4	from	the	Kameeldrift	interchange	to	the	Garankuwa	
interchange	commenced	in	March	2012.	Done	at	a	cost	of	R69.5	million,	this	was	a	surface	
rehabilitation	contract,	but	 included	 light,	medium	and	(over	a	small	distance)	 full-depth	
rehabilitation	of	the	road	layerworks.	Nine	SMME/BEE	sub-contractors	were	involved.	

The	 full	 rehabilitation	 project	 on	 the	 N1,	 between	 Hammanskraal	 and	 Pienaarsrivier,	
commenced	 in	 March	 2013.	 It	 is	 expected	 to	 be	 completed	 in	 February	 2014	 at	 an	
estimated	cost	of	R213	million,	and	will	deploy	at	least	10	SMME	sub-contractors.	

The	 bridge	 joint	 replacement	 phase	 2	 contract	 commenced	 in	 April	 2012	 and	 entails	
the	rehabilitation	of	N1	and	N4	bridge	joints	on	the	corridor	and	bridges.	Completion	is	
expected	in	June	2013	at	an	estimated	cost	of	R10.5	million.
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An	SMME	contractor	started	the	crack	sealing	contract	in	January	2013.	It	is	projected	for	
completion	in	June	2013	at	an	estimated	cost	of	R3.75	million.	

The	upgrading	of	 the	N1	between	 the	Proefplaas	and	Zambezi	 interchanges	 runs	 from	
September	2011	till	March	2013.	The	contract	entails	the	construction	of	an	additional	
median	lane	on	both	carriageways	at	an	estimated	cost	of	R239	million.	

The	 rehabilitation	 of	 the	 N4	 between	 Swartruggens	 and	 Rustenburg	 runs	 from	March	
2012	until	July	2013.	Phase	1	of	the	contract	entails	the	rehabilitation	of	22km	of	existing	
road	at	a	cost	of	R117	million.	

Approximately	 1	 058	 jobs	 were	 created	 during	 this	 reporting	 period,	 which	 includes	
management,	 supervisors	 and	 labour.	 BAKWENA	 has	 implemented	 the	 upgraded	 toll	
collection	system	so	it	is	fully	interoperable	with	SANRAL’s	Transaction	Clearing	House.	

N3TC 
The	N3	between	Heidelberg	in	Gauteng	and	Cedara	in	KwaZulu-Natal	is	operated	by	N3	
Toll	Concession	(N3TC).	During	the	reporting	period,	 the	concession	carried	out	 repair	
and	rehabilitation	of	the	highway	to	the	value	of	approximately	R209.5	million.

N3TC	awarded	additional	contracts	worth	approximately	R100	million	during	this	period.
The	contracts	that	focused	on	resealing	sections	of	the	N3	Toll	Route	between	Howick	
and	Nottingham	Road	and	between	Keeversfontein	and	Harrismith	have	been	completed.	
The	rehabilitation	and	resurfacing	of	the	section	between	Warden	and	Villiers	has	been	
completed,	as	was	the	R100	million	rehabilitation	project	between	Villiers	and	Heidelberg.

During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 approximately	 94	 percent	 of	 the	 value	 of	 work	 done	
under	 routine	maintenance	was	 carried	 out	 by	BBBEE	 contractors,	 and	 approximately	 
27	percent	of	the	value	of	work	done	under	repair	and	replacement	projects	was	carried	
out	by	BBBEE	sub-contractors.

TRAC 
Trans	African	Concessions	(TRAC)	manages	the	N4	East,	which	links	Gauteng	with	the	
Port	of	Maputo	in	Mozambique.	TRAC	commenced	with	the	construction	project	between	
Solomon	Mahlangu	interchange	to	Ekandustria	interchange.	The	contract	is	expected	to	
take	six	months	to	the	value	of	R90.7	million.	The	contract	will	ensure	the	application	of	
a thin asphalt surfacing and ramp cross seal on this section of road as well as carry out 
line	markings	 and	 traffic	 accommodation.	Work	 is	 also	 being	 done	 on	 a	 new	 two-lane	
carriageway	 (eastbound)	 and	 the	 rehabilitation	 of	 an	 existing	 carriageway	 (three	 lanes	
westbound)	

A	 dual	 road	 is	 being	 constructed	 between	 Middelburg	 and	 the	 Hendrina	 (N11)	
interchange.	The	project	commenced	in	January	2012	and	completion	is	expected	in	two	
years	at	a	value	of	approximately	R205	million.	New	bridges	will	be	constructed,	new	road	
signs	placed,	and	existing	asphalt	on	roads	and	ramps	rehabilitated.	There	are	currently	 
249	personnel	on-site,	including	18	women.	

The contract to rehabilitate surfacing and new works, such as widening bridges and 
lengthening	 underpasses	 between	 Schagen	 and	 Nelspruit	 Northern	 Ring	 Road,	 was	
awarded	in	September	2011.	It	is	expected	to	be	completed	in	20	months	at	a	value	of	
R171	million.	There	are	425	personnel	on-site,	of	whom	23	are	women.

A	 contract	 for	 the	 construction	 of	 a	 new	 asphalt	 overlay	 at	 Schoemanskloof	 between	
the	Lydenburg	 turn-off	 to	 the	Montrose	 intersection	was	awarded	 in	September	2012.	
The	construction	is	expected	to	be	completed	in	16	months	at	a	value	of	approximately	 
R202	million.	There	are	85	personnel	on-site,	including	nine	women.	
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Empowerment, Training and Job Creation

Contracts 
During	 the	year	under	 review,	SANRAL	awarded	255	contracts	worth	R11.6	billion	 for	
new	 works,	 rehabilitation	 and	 improvement,	 periodic	 and	 special	 maintenance,	 RRM, 
community	development,	professional	consulting	engineering	and	other	activities.	SANRAL
spent	a	total	of	R2	billion	on	contracts	with	SMMEs,	of	which	more	than	R1.2	billion	went	
to	821	black	enterprises.	SANRAL	skills	development	programmes	trained	18	161	people	
in	road-building	projects	at	a	cost	of	about	R21	million,	of	which	7	252	were	women	and	
created	110	401	jobs	of	varying	duration	at	a	total	cost	of	about	R2	billion.	

TABLE 3 Contracts	awarded	

Description  Amount (R) *

Non-toll	 	 9	174	716	172

Toll		 	 	 904	179	266

Other	 	 	 1	542	034	817

TOTAL   11 620 930 255

*All	amounts	exclude	construction	price	adjustment,	contingencies	and	VAT.

Socio-economic Development 
SANRAL	 is	 committed	 to	 promoting	 economic	 growth	 by	 training	 people	 to	 become	
economically active, reducing unemployment and stimulating small business activity. The 
tables	that	follow	provide	a	snapshot	of	our	contribution	to	South	Africa’s	socio-economic	
development,	reporting	on	the	value	of	contracts	awarded	to	small	and	black-owned	firms,	
the	extent	of	training	provided	and	the	number	of	jobs	created.	

TABLE 4 Empowerment,	value	of	work	performed	in	2012/13

Type of Projects SMME Utilisation Non-Black Enterprises SMME Utilisation Black Enterprises Total Rand Value
  Number Rand Value Number Rand Value  
     
Non-Toll and SANRAL Toll      

Operational	Expenditure	 203	 299	625	525	 400	 605	575	608	 905	201	132

Capital	Expenditure	 406	 502	381	885	 421	 614	457	807	 1	116	839	692	

TOTAL 609 802 007 410 821 1 220 033 415 2 022 040 824

Note:	Total	Rand	Value	relates	to	actual	expenditure	i.r.o.	empowerment	for	the	2012/13	
financial	year,	excluding	community	development	projects.	The	value	is	inclusive	of	work	
performed in terms of previously awarded contracts.
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TABLE 5 Training

Type of Project Male Female Total Total 
      Rand Value

Non-Toll Roads   

Maintenance	 3249	 1372	 4620	 5923953

Replacement	and	

Improvement	 3545	 1503	 5048	 10238737

SUB-TOTAL 6794 2875 9668 16162690

SANRAL Toll Roads    

Maintenance	 801	 191	 992	 395877

Toll	operations	 2724	 4026	 6750	 3060723

Improvements	 591	 160	 751	 1561104

SUB-TOTAL  4116 4377 8493 5017704

TOTAL  10910 7252 18161 21180394

TABLE 6 Job creation
       
    Average Number of Job
Type of Person   Equivalant Opportunities 
Project Hours   Full-Time Realised   Total Rand
 Male Female Total Jobs Male Female Total Value 

Non-Toll Roads        

Maintenance	 16	044	065	 3	189	364	 19	233	429	 9	617	 44	488	 4	173	 48	661	 585	967	601

Replacement	and	

Improvement	 19	554	003	 4	604	856	 24	158	859	 12	079	 33	250	 9	274	 42	524	 1	023	393	000

SUB-TOTAL 35 598 068 7 794 220 43 392 288 21 696 77 738 13 447 91 185 1 609 360 601

        

SANRAL Toll Roads        

Maintenance	 3	264	007	 1	538	894	 4	802	901	 2	401	 6	306	 1	863	 8	169	 110	240	623

Toll	operations	 769	034	 1	039	639	 1	808	673	 904	 1	415	 1	526	 2	941	 63	885	961

Improvements	 3	447	453	 441	630	 3	889	083	 1	945	 7	036	 1	070	 8	106	 233	707	185

SUB-TOTAL  7 480 494 3 020 163 10 500 657 5 250 14 757 4 459 19 216 407 833 769

TOTAL 43 078 562 10 814 383 53 892 945 26 946 92 495 17 906 110 401 2 017 194 370

Note:	Figures	in	the	Average	Equivalent	Full-time	Job	column	are	based	on	an	estimated	2000	person	hours	per	annum.	Number	of	Job	
Opportunities	Realised	is	inclusive	of	temporary	job	opportunities.
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Non-toll Network 

SANRAL	places	emphasis	on	managing	South	Africa’s	non-toll	road	network	effectively	
with	funds	received	from	the	national	fiscus.	About	16	584km	of	the	national	road	network	
is	 not	 tolled.	 National	 Treasury	 provides	 a	 variable	 allocation	 to	 SANRAL	 to	 finance	
these roads. The funds are used primarily for maintenance and improvements based on 
SANRAL’s	asset	management	systems.	
 
During	the	reporting	period,	SANRAL	spent	R3.7	billion	on	maintaining	non-toll	roads	and	
R5.9	billion	on	strengthening,	improving	and	providing	new	facilities	on	these	roads.	

TABLE 7 Non-toll roads, operational expenditure 2012/13

Description Number of projects Length (km) Cost R 000

Routine	maintenance	 68	 16	584	 R1	221	290

Periodic	maintenance	 51	 2	976	 R1	678	263

Special	maintenance	 20	 1	037	 R782	599

TOTAL  139 20 597 R3 682 152

Note:	 The	 Operational	 Expenditure	 excludes	 any	 accruals	 made	 at	 year-end	 and	 also	
includes	expenditure	related	to	contracts	awarded	in	previous	financial	years,	but	incurred	
during	2012/2013.	Periodic	and	special	maintenance	is	in	addition	to	routine	maintenance	
of the road network.

TABLE 8 Non-toll roads, capital expenditure 2012/13

Description Number of projects Length (km) Cost R 000

Strengthening	 48	 1	779	 R3	583	436

Improvements	 37	 728	 R1	687	233

New	facilities	 21	 208	 R642	593

TOTAL  106 2 715 R5 913 262

Note:	The	Capital	Expenditure	excludes	any	accruals	made	at	year-end	and	also	includes	
expenditure	related	to	contracts	awarded	in	previous	financial	years,	but	incurred	during	
2012/2013.

Major Non-toll Road Projects 

A	 large	part	 of	 the	work	 that	 is	 carried	 out	 by	SANRAL	 is	 done	 using	 funds	 from	 the	
national	 fiscus.	 SANRAL	 ensures	 that	 every	 kilometre	 of	 the	 network	 is	 reviewed	 and	
the	most	urgent	needs	addressed	prior	to	these	becoming	a	hazard	for	users.	Selected	
projects	carried	out	on	the	non-toll	network,	which	makes	up	about	84.2	percent	of	the	
national	road	network,	are	profiled	below.

Most of the projects share some vital elements and prioritise community engagement. 
They	provide	generic	skills	training	such	as	road	safety,	first	aid,	 lifeskills	and	HIV/AIDS	
education,	entrepreneurship,	flagman	duties,	use	of	tools	and	traffic	management.	Where	
possible,	projects	employ	engineering	students	and	maximise	the	use	of	local	labour	and	
particularly women to support contract delivery.
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N2: Ballito Interchange 

The	Ballito	interchange	cross	road	(MR445)	runs	from	east	to	west	and	links	the	village	of	
Umhlali	to	the	coastal	town	of	Ballito.	The	18	month	improvement	of	the	Ballito	interchange,	
which	started	in	January	2011,	will	adequately	provide	for	predicted	capacity	over	the	next	
15	to	20	years.

The aims of the new interchange upgrades are to provide a:
•	 bridge	over	the	N2	with	six	lanes.	
•	 double	lane	east	to	north	loop	ramp	in	the	south-west	quadrant.	
•	 double	lane	west	to	south	loop	ramp	in	the	north-east	quadrant.	
•	 double	lane,	continuous	flow,	east	to	south	on-ramp.
•	 double	lane,	continuous	flow	west	to	north	on-ramp.
The	 contract,	 was	 awarded	 in	 the	 latter	 part	 of	 2010	 for	 an	 amount	 of	 approximately	
R109.7	million.	

N2: Upgrade of the EB Cloete Interchange 

The	EB	Cloete	interchange	is	the	only	four-level	interchange	in	KwaZulu-Natal	that	provides	
access	in	all	four	directions	to	both	the	N2	and	N3.	It	is	commonly,	though	understandably,	
referred	to	as	the	“spaghetti	junction”	due	to	its	multi-level,	free-flow	layout.	The	existing	
layout	was	conceptualised	in	the	late	1960s	and	its	construction	completed	in	1974,	when	
it	was	open	to	traffic	using	the	N2	Durban	Outer	Ring	Road.	

Since	 opening,	 traffic	 volumes	 using	 the	 interchange	 have	 been	 steadily	 increasing,	
resulting	in	significant	volumes	on	the	N2	of	about	130	000	vehicles	and	on	the	N3	of	
about	110	000	vehicles	a	day.	Due	to	its	complexity	(including	a	large	three-legged	A-frame	
structure)	and	limited	capacity	to	upgrade,	a	tender	for	professional	services	called	for	a	
‘design	competition’	 to	show	how	the	 interchange	could	be	upgraded.	Various	creative	
solutions were proposed by consulting engineers. The chosen solution will remove the 
centre	leg	of	the	A-frame	structure	and	widen	the	ramps.	Other	ramps	will	be	widened	to	
two	lanes	and	the	N2	and	N3	carriageways	to	four	 lanes	in	each	direction,	allowing	for	
additional lanes at a later stage.

The	 design	 is	 currently	 being	 finalised,	 so	 that	 when	 funds	 do	 become	 available,	 the	
interchange can be upgraded. The estimated cost of the interchange upgrading is 
approximately	R1.4	billion.

N2: Improvements to the KwaMashu Interchange 

The KwaMashu interchange improvement project in eThekwini Municipality is located at the 
intersection	of	the	National	Route	2	with	the	R102	provincial	road.	The	new	interchange	
is	of	the	‘split	diverging	crossover’	type,	which	is	an	alternative	to	a	usual	interchange	that	
features bridges and directional ramps.

The	traffic	volume	on	this	section	of	the	N2	is	approximately	125	000	vehicles	daily,	with	
substantial	 traffic	 using	 the	 R102.	 There	 was	 major	 congestion	 during	 peak	 periods,	
resulting	in	delays	and	queuing	from	both	off-ramps	onto	the	N2,	making	it	unsafe

The	new	interchange,	due	for	completion	in	July	2013,	will	reduce	journey	time	and	improve	
safety	for	drivers,	passengers	and	pedestrians.	The	interchange	will	offer	several	benefits,	
which include:
•	 Reduction	 in	 journey	 times	 for	 commuters	 commuting	 through	 the	 KwaMashu	 
	 interchange	with	substantial	reduction	in	traffic	queues,	resulting	in	economic	benefit	 
 to all motorists.
•	 Reduction	 in	 traffic	congestion	on	 the	N2	and	R102	at	 the	KwaMashu	 interchange	 
 during peak hours.
•	 Improved	safety	for	pedestrians	and	motorists.
•	 Accident	reduction	particularly	at	the	interchange.
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N2: Mthatha Bridge Project 

The	project	consists	of	building	a	new	bridge	over	the	Mthatha	River	parallel	to	the	existing	
bridge	on	the	N2	and	converting	two	streets	through	Mthatha	as	one-way	streets	to	relieve	
the	 traffic	congestion	of	 the	N2	through	Mthatha.	Sprigg	Street	will	 run	south	 from	the	
Kokstad-side	over	the	new	bridge	and	Madeira	Street	(the	existing	N2	route)	will	run	north	
from	East	London	side	over	the	existing	bridge.	These	two	routes	will	meet	up	again	 in	
Nelson	Mandela	Drive.	

The	 cross	 streets	 between	 Sprigg	 and	 Madeira	 Streets	 will	 also	 be	 upgraded.	 As	 a	
community	project,	a	new	public	transport	interchange	was	built	to	relocate	the	taxis	that	
were	using	one	of	the	streets	earmarked	for	upgrade	as	a	taxi	rank.	

The	project	will	help	to	relieve	traffic	congestion	through	Mthatha,	especially	on	the	N2	
route.	Construction	started	in	March	2011	and	the	completion	date	is	May	2013.	

The	budget	for	the	project	is	approximately	R103	million.	It	will	improve	safety	and	save	
travel	time	to	the	benefit	of	Mthatha	residents	and	N2	road	users.	

N2: Improvements to the Umgeni Interchange 

The	 Umgeni	 Road	 interchange	 improvement	 project	 is	 located	 at	 its	 intersection	 with	 
the	 M19	 provincial	 road,	 located	 within	 the	 eThekwini	 Municipality	 in	 KwaZulu-Natal.	 
The	 new	 interchange	 forms	 part	 of	 the	 upgrade	 programme	 of	 the	 N2	 Durban	 Outer	 
Ring	 Road	 and	 could	 in	 future	 form	 part	 of	 a	 12-lane	 dual	 carriageway.	 The 
heavy	 traffic	 volume	 on	 this	 section	 of	 the	 N2	 and	 the	 M19	 result	 in	 major	 and	 
regular congestion. 

The	new	interchange,	due	for	completion	in	May	2014,	will	reduce	journey	times,	increase	
road	safety	and	contribute	positively	in	other	ways.	The	project	is	jointly	funded	by	SANRAL	
and	eThekwini	Metropolitan	Municipality,	which	is	contributing	35	percent.

N3: Improvements to the Chota Motala Road Interchange

The	 new	 Chota	 Motala	 Road	 interchange	 improvement	 project	 is	 located	 at	 the	 N3	
intersection	with	the	Chota	Motala	Road	(formerly	Old	Greytown	Road).	Affecting	about	
three	kilometres	of	 the	 road,	 the	new	 interchange	 forms	part	of	 the	upgrade	of	 the	N3	
corridor	 between	 Durban	 and	Gauteng	 and	 could	 in	 future	 form	 part	 of	 an	 eight-lane	
carriageway.	The	project	also	includes	the	upgrade	of	the	Chota	Motala	Road	that	crosses	
the	N3,	which	is	under	the	control	of	the	Msunduzi	Municipality.

The	 new	 interchange	 was	 completed	 in	 December	 2012,	 and	 offers	 several	 benefits,	
which	include	reduction	in	journey	times	and	traffic	congestion,	and	improved	safety.

Some	of	the	key	construction	works	include	the	following:
•	 Construction	of	a	new	seven-span,	incrementally	launched,	“free-flow”	directional	ramp	 
 bridge.
•	 Demolition	and	reconstruction	of	the	existing	four-lane	bridge	over	the	N3	due	to	its	 
	 current	limitations	for	clearance,	traffic	volumes	and	load	capacity.
•	 Construction	of	a	new	seven-lane	bridge	in	Chota	Motala	Road,	over	the	N3.
•	 Construction	of	two	additional	lanes	on	both	carriageways	of	the	N3	between	Chota	 
	 Motala	Road	interchange	and	the	adjacent	Sanctuary	Road	interchange.	This	section	 
	 is	an	eight-lane	facility.
•	 Widening	of	Chota	Motala	Road	between	the	interchange	and	Otto’s	Bluff	Road	in	the	 
	 east	(including	widening	of	the	road-over-rail	bridge)	and	also	the	widening	of	the	west- 
	 linking	Dorpspruit	River	crossing	into	the	Pietermaritzburg	CBD.
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The	 current	 traffic	 volume	 on	 the	 N3	 is	 approximately	 40	 400	 vehicles	 a	 day	 in	 both	
directions	with	about	8	200	heavy	vehicles	daily,	of	which	45	percent	are	long	(superlink)	
vehicles.	Increased	long-term	safety	features	of	the	project	include	reduction	of	accidents	
due	to	the	free-flow	design	of	the	interchange,	and	adequate	pedestrian	accommodation	
using protected sidewalks and signalised crossings where appropriate. 

N6: Labour Intensive Construction of Pedestrian Walkways 

This	 project	 is	 located	 approximately	 5km	 north-west	 of	 East	 London	 along	 the	N6.	 It	
consisted	 of	 the	 construction	 of	 a	 1,8m	 wide	 walkway	 from	 the	 N2/N6	 interchange	
towards	Ducats	North	village.	The	project	started	in	October	2011	and	was	completed	in	
May	2012.

The	walkway	was	required	due	to	constant	pedestrian	utilisation	of	the	surfaced	shoulder	
of	 the	 N6	 as	 a	 walkway.	 The	 project	 involved	 the	 on	 site	 design	 and	 construction	 of	
approximately	 5.5km	 of	 surfaced	 walkway.	 A	 double	 guardrail	 system	 was	 utilised	 in	
sections where the walkway is to be placed close to the edge of the surfaced road due to 
the local topography.

N7: Upgrade from Melkbosstrand Road Intersection to Malmesbury 

The	N7	 is	 a	 strategic	national	 route	 important	 to	 the	economy	of	South	Africa.	Shortly	
after	incorporating	the	N7	from	the	Western	Cape	Government,	SANRAL	initiated	a	study	
to	evaluate	 the	capacity	and	 future	planning	of	 the	N7.	 	The	study	projected	significant	
traffic	 growth	 on	 a	 portion	 of	 the	 N7	 between	 Melkbosstrand	 Road	 intersection	 and	
Malmesbury.	This	is	mainly	due	to	extensive	economic	development	in	the	nodes	north	of	
Cape	Town,	namely	Melkbosstrand,	Atlantis	and	Malmesbury.	The	study	revealed	that	a	
second	carriageway	on	this	portion	of	N7	would	be	warranted	in	the	short	to	medium	term.

Unfortunately	 the	 portion	 of	 N7	 between	 the	 Melkbosstrand	 Road	 intersection	 and	
Malmesbury	 has	 been	 the	 scene	 of	 frequent	 and	 horrific	 fatal	 vehicle	 accidents.	 It	 is	
hoped	that	the	planned	improvement	will	reduce	such	incidents.	SANRAL	has	therefore	
commenced	 the	 phased	 approach	 of	 upgrading	 the	N7	 between	Melkbosstrand	Road	
intersection	 and	 Malmesbury,	 with	 safety	 improvements	 planned	 for	 the	 Hopefield	
intersection. The planned upgrade will be done in three phases, namely:
•	 Phase	1:	N7	Melkbosstrand	Road	 intersection	 to	Atlantis	 intersection.	Construction	 
	 on	phase	1	has	commenced	and	entails	the	construction	of	a	second	carriageway	and	 
 two new interchanges at the Melkbos and Atlantis intersections. This phase is  
 discussed in detail below.
•	 Phase	2:	N7	New	Atlantis	interchange	to	farm	Leliefontein.	The	design	of	this	phase,	 
	 which	 includes	the	dualling	of	the	N7	from	the	new	Atlantis	 interchange	to	the	farm	 
	 Leliefontein	has	commenced.
•	 Phase	 3:	N7	 Leliefontein	 to	Malmesbury.	 The	 procurement	 of	 engineering	 services	 
	 for	 this	 phase	 of	 the	 dualling	 of	 the	N7	between	 Leliefontein	 and	Malmesbury	 and	 
	 safety	improvements	to	the	Hopefield	intersection,	has	also	commenced.

The	N7	will,	in	its	final	stage,	be	a	dual	carriageway	freeway	from	the	N1	to	Malmesbury,	
significantly	improving	capacity	and	safety	for	motorists.

Phase 1: 
N7 Melkbosstrand Road Intersection to Atlantis Intersection 
This	 improvement	project	extends	 from	the	existing	Melkbosstrand	Road	 intersection	at	
Main	Road	(MR)	199	to	the	Atlantis	intersection	at	the	MR217,	also	known	as	Route	304,	
for	a	distance	of	9.5km	(including	the	interchange	ramps).

The	 purpose	 of	 the	 proposed	 project	 is	 to	 upgrade	 this	 section	 of	 the	N7	 to	 freeway	
standards,	improve	traffic	movement	and	upgrade	safety	levels.	This	is	being	achieved	by	
replacing	 the	hazardous	 level	 intersections	with	 interchanges	and	closing	or	 limiting	all	
other accesses to the freeway. 

The	contract	period	is	30	months	and	the	expected	completion	date	is	November	2014.	
The	contract	value	for	this	first	phase	of	the	N7	upgrade	is	approximately	R350	million.
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N8: Construction of Interchange and Overpass at Thaba Nchu 

This	 project	 is	 located	 just	 south	 of	 Thaba	 Nchu	 and	 falls	 within	 the	 Motheo	 District	
Municipality	of	the	Free	State	province.	The	existing	intersection	was	found	to	be	unsafe	
for both pedestrians and motorists, which resulted in the need for upgrading the route into 
an	interchange	including	an	overpass.	Also,	there	are	approximately	388	school	children	
crossing this section of the road daily, which makes it unsafe. A pedestrian bridge across 
the	N8	therefore	forms	part	of	this	project.

Construction	 commenced	 at	 the	beginning	of	 January	2011	and	will	 be	 completed	by	
May	2013,	at	a	cost	of	approximately	R109.2	million	–	bringing	to	the	road	users	a	new	
interchange,	pedestrian	and	overpass	bridges,	bus	and	taxi	ranks	and	upgrading	of	some	
municipal roads, storm water pipes and drains.

N9/N7: Rehabilitation from Carlton Heights to Wolwefontein

This	route	bypasses	the	town	of	Noupoort	in	the	Northern	Cape	and	this	section	of	the	road	
has	a	two-lane	cross-section	with	3.3metre	traffic	 lanes	and	2.4metre	gravel	shoulders.	
The	construction	work	comprised	of	the	widening	of	the	existing	road	prism,	construction	
of	major	 earthworks	 at	 the	 realignment	 of	 the	 road	 at	Carlton	Heights,	 construction	 of	
climbing	lanes,	extension	of	culverts	and	construction	of	new	culverts	as	well	as	ancillary	
works	 such	 as	 the	 accommodation	 of	 traffic,	 road	marking,	 road	 signs,	 guardrails	 and	
erosion protection.

The	upgrading	of	three	river	bridges	and	widening	of	a	road-over-rail	bridge	was	part	of	
the	project.	The	road	was	widened	to	one	side	only	to	accommodate	traffic	in	half-widths	
under	traffic	light	control.

Construction	 commenced	 in	 April	 2010	 and	 was	 completed	 in	 November	 2012.	 A	
significant	milestone	was	the	opening	of	the	re-aligned	road	cutting	at	Carlton	Heights,	
which	eliminated	hazardous	curves	on	a	steep	downhill	portion	of	the	pass.

N9/7: Rehabilitation from Wolwefontein to Colesberg including New N1/N9 
Interchange at Colesberg

Rehabilitation of N9:
This	 project	 comprises	 of	 widening	 the	 existing	 road	 prism,	 construction	 of	 major	
earthworks	at	the	realignment	of	the	road	at	a	railway	crossing,	extension	of	culverts	and	
construction of new culverts as well as ancillary works such as the accommodation of 
traffic,	road	marking,	road	signs,	guardrails	and	erosion	protection.

The	existing	pavement	is	reconstructed	and	strengthened	by	in	situ	recycling	of	the	existing	
base	into	a	new	cement-stabilised	sub-base	with	addition	of	new	sub-base	material	and	
the construction of a new crushed stone base layer.

The	construction	works	also	include	the	upgrading	of	major	culverts	at	Poortjie	and	Uitspan	
Rivers.

Construction of a new N1/N9 Interchange: 
The	current	intersection	of	the	N1	and	N9	is	in	the	form	of	an	at-grade	intersection.	The	
construction	works	for	the	new	grade	separated	interchange	at	Colesberg	 includes	the	
rehabilitation	 and	widening	 of	 the	 current	 northbound	N1	 to	 provide	 a	 3.7	metre-wide	
lane	and	a	2.5	metre-wide	surfaced	shoulder	in	each	direction.	Five	new	eight	metre-wide	
ramps are to be constructed to provide access and mobility in the interchange while two 
new	12.4	metre-wide	two-lane	access	roads	are	to	be	constructed	over	two	new	bridges	
over	the	N1.

A	significant	milestone	will	be	reached	with	the	improved	safety	features	of	a	widened	N9	
and	the	completion	of	the	N1/N9	interchange	at	Colesberg.
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N14: Periodic Maintenance (Reseal) between Kathu and Kuruman 

This	 section	 of	 the	 N14	 starts	 just	 west	 of	 the	 main	 access	 to	 Kathu	 and	 ends	 on	
the	 eastern	 outskirts	 of	 Kuruman.	 The	 total	 length	 of	 road	 involved	 is	 49km.	 The	 
main	 economic	 activity	 in	 the	 greater	 project	 area	 is	 mining	 (predominantly	 iron	 
ore).	 Consequently,	 there	 is	 significant	 commuter	 traffic	 between	 Kathu	 and	 Kuruman	 
related	 to	 the	mining	 industry,	 resulting	 in	high	average	daily	 traffic,	of	which	15	 to	20	 
percent	 entails	 heavy	 vehicles.	 The	 construction	 contract	 commenced	 in	 September	 
2011	 and	 was	 completed	 in	 October	 2012.	 The	 final	 value	 of	 the	 project	 was	 
R108	million.	

This	 project	 was	 selected	 by	 SANRAL	 as	 one	 of	 three	 reseal	 contracts	 to	 
be	included	in	a	winter-seal	pilot	study.	This	effort	focused	on	testing	the	effect	of	the	cold	 
temperature on different components including binders and elastomers and whether  
winter conditions allowed for successful sealing of the road. From a technical  
perspective	 the	 trials	 with	 the	 winter-grade	 hot	 applied	 modified	 binders	 were	 
successful	 and	 identified	 the	 kinds	 of	 materials	 that	 should	 be	 favoured	 under	 such	 
conditions. Following the trial sections, the above winter seal option was used for production 
seal	construction	of	approximately	27km	during	the	months	of	June,	July	and	August	2012.	 
The contractor was cooperative in his approach to the winter seal trials and production. 

The necessary adjustments of the standard seal construction methodology to make it 
applicable for winter seal construction were also carried out with great care. These factors, 
amongst	others,	resulted	 in	the	successful	construction	of	a	significant	 length	of	winter	
seal,	which	proved	that	in	this	part	of	the	Northern	Cape,	it	is	technically	and	practically	
possible to carry out seal work during the winter seal embargo period. It should, however, 
be	noted	that	winter	seal	construction	on	this	project	was	approximately	15	to	20	percent	
more	expensive	compared	to	normal	summer	seal	construction	and	the	production	rates	
were	up	to	50	percent	lower.

N14: Innovation on Northern Cape Road Project 

At	 over	 1000km	 long,	 the	 N14	 connecting	 the	 remote	 west	 of	 the	 Northern	Cape	 to	
Gauteng	via	the	North	West	province	ranks	amongst	the	longest	and	the	busiest	of	South	
Africa’s	national	roads.	SANRAL	is	currently	upgrading	sections	of	the	road	as	part	of	a	
special	maintenance	project,	which	includes	a	53km	section	from	Kuruman	to	the	border	
of	the	Northern	Cape.		

The	contract,	which	is	worth	R240	million,	entails	efficient,	innovative	and	environmentally	
sound work with bitumen and water. The work comprises:
•	 Recycling	the	existing	road	to	a	depth	of	250mm.
•	 Widening	each	of	 the	single	 lanes	 to	3.7m	by	 reworking	 the	existing	shoulder	 to	a	 
	 minimum	road	width	of	9.4m.	
•	 Adding	a	metre-wide	gravel	shoulder	on	either	side.

R35: Rehabilitation from Amersfoort to Morgenzon 

This road is part of the Mpumalanga strategic road network for the transportation of coal 
to	the	Majuba	Power	Station,	with	the	average	daily	truck	traffic	on	this	road	estimated	at	
600	vehicles.	

As	 the	 construction	 duration	 was	 calculated	 at	 30	 months,	 it	 was	 deemed	 proper	 to	
accommodate	 traffic	 on	 two-way	 lanes	 instead	 of	 stop-go	 arrangements.	 New	 Jersey	
barriers	are	being	used	 to	separate	 the	 traffic	 from	 the	construction-site	 to	ensure	and	
improve safety on the project.

The	 project	 scope	 includes	 the	 addition	 of	 12km	of	 climbing	 lanes,	 rehabilitation	 from	
the	selected	layers	and	the	addition	of	a	G1	base	layer.	Proactive	planning	with	respect	
to sourcing of construction material was necessary due to the scarcity of road building 
materials in the vicinity of this road and relying on commercial sources would have escalated 
the project costs due to long haulage distances. As such, a crushing and screening 
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contract	was	awarded	to	source	road	building	material	from	two	hard	rock	quarries	located	
at	both	ends	of	the	project	–at	Amersfoort	and	Morgenzon.	In	addition,	eight	borrow	pits	
were	identified	and	acquired	for	the	provision	of	fill	and	selected	layers	material.	

Structural	work	on	the	widening	of	four	bridges	and	culverts	was	also	included	in	the	scope.	
One	of	the	bridges	required	strengthening	of	the	deck,	with	steel	plates	underneath	the	
deck, to increase its load bearing capacity. The bridges are to be widened to incorporate 
the	latest	SANRAL	specification	(12.4m	from	kerb	to	kerb)	and	to	accommodate	the	in	situ	
construction	of	New	Jersey	barriers	to	replace	existing	handrails.	

Environmental	authorisations	(Record	of	Decision	and	Mining	Permits)	and	a	Water	Use	
Authorisation	were	required	on	this	project.	Acquiring	these	proved	to	be	a	challenge	to	
the project as it delayed the start date by almost a year. 

The	project	commenced	in	January	2012	and	the	expected	completion	date	is	July	2014	
at	an	amount	of	R348.6	million.

R37: Partial Reconstruction West of Lydenburg 

This	project	involves	the	partial	reconstruction	of	the	R37	over	a	length	of	36	km	whereby	
the	top	300mm	of	the	layer	works	is	recycled	in	situ	and	stabilised	with	cement	to	provide	
the	road	with	a	further	expected	lifespan	of	some	8	–	10	years.	The	road	will	be	surfaced	
with	asphalt	in	the	pass	area	and	a	final	19,0mm	and	9,5mm	bitumen	rubber	seal	over	the	
total project.

The	reconstruction	is	situated	some	10km	west	of	Lydenburg	on	the	R37	to	Burgersfort	
and	further	on	to	Polokwane.	The	project,	which	started	in	January	2012,	is	expected	to	be	
completed	by	the	end	of	April	2014,	costing	R95	million.

R38: Repair and Reseal from Carolina to Barberton 

This	 road	carries	a	high	volume	of	heavy	 traffic	 for	 the	first	6km	(from	Carolina),	which	
transports	coal	from	mines	located	in	that	vicinity.	As	such,	the	first	6km	section	is	being	
rehabilitated	 to	sub-base	 level	and	 is	 receiving	an	 imported	G1	base	 layer.	The	 rest	of	
the project scope is localised repair, in situ recycling and the construction of a new seal 
(19.0/6.7mm)	over	the	whole	road.	

The	 construction	 commenced	 in	October	 2011	 and	 is	 due	 for	 completion	 in	October	
2013	at	an	estimated	cost	of	R142	million.	

R40: Reseal from White River to Hazyview and Construction of Roundabout 

This	 project	 commenced	 in	 October	 2011	 and	 was	 completed	 in	 March	 2013.	 The	
contract	amount	was	approximately	R74.5	million.	

The	project	was	initially	 identified	as	a	reseal	project,	however	during	the	design	stage,	
the	need	to	address	the	safety	of	the	R40	and	the	provincial	road	(R538)	intersection	was	
noted.	The	R538	is	a	gateway	to	the	Kruger	National	Park	and	there	is	a	lot	of	development	
on	the	south	of	the	intersection	on	both	sides	of	the	R40,	including	a	large	shopping	mall	
on the eastern side. 

A	five-legged	80	metre	diameter	roundabout	was	designed	and	approved	and	is	currently	
under	 construction.	 The	 major	 challenge	 to	 construction	 is	 to	 ensure	 continuous	 flow	
of	traffic	from	all	sides	away	from	the	area.	This	was	achieved	by	constructing	surfaced	
temporary	 loops	around	 the	construction	 area.	So	 far,	 the	 arrangement	 is	working	and	
there	have	been	no	traffic	incidents	reported	on	the	site.

The	average	daily	 truck	 traffic	 is	estimated	at	200	 loaded	 trucks	along	 the	R40	 in	one	
direction.	The	impact	of	the	trucks	are	so	high	that	the	community	of	the	R40	are	conducting	
regular meetings with all stakeholders to consider alternative plans to transport the iron ore 
in	order	to	preserve	the	structural	condition	of	the	R40	and	improve	the	safety	of	the	road.
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R40: Reseal from Hoedspruit to Mica 

This	project	(like	the	other	projects	along	the	R40)	was	also	affected	by	the	recent	increase	
in	heavy	traffic	(the	increase	of	which	is	beyond	the	projected	design	values)	due	to	trucks	
transporting	iron	ore	from	Phalaborwa	to	Maputo.	Average	daily	truck	traffic	is	estimated	at	
about	200	loaded	trucks	along	the	R40	heading	south.	This	effect	resulted	in	more	repair	
and recycling having to be done than was anticipated in the original scope.

The	project	scope	included	the	repair	of	localised	patches,	recycling	of	11km	of	road	base	
and	a	double	seal	(19.0/9.5mm)	over	the	whole	road.	The	project	was	completed	on	time	
and the increase in the contract amount was due to control price adjustment, rise and fall 
of	bitumen	materials	as	well	as	an	increase	in	potholes/patches	repair	and	recycling	work	
to	repair	damage	resulting	from	the	unanticipated	increase	in	heavy	traffic.

The	project	commenced	in	September	2011	and	was	completed	in	July	2012	at	a	contract	
amount	of	about	R60	million.

R61: Construction of Access Roads for Mpophomeni Village

This	project	is	located	in	the	OR	Tambo	District	in	the	Eastern	Cape	approximately	21km	
south-west	of	Lusikisiki	along	the	R61.	The	project	consists	of	two	components.	The	first	
can	be	accessed	from	the	R61	near	the	village	of	Ntafufu	on	District	Road	DR	08159	for	
approximately	2.4km.	The	second	portion	can	be	accessed	from	District	Road	DR	08158	
from the Bambisana Hospital. 
 
This	road	is	an	important	link	to	the	Bambisana	Hospital	and	was	identified	by	the	local	
municipality	 as	 a	 priority	 road	 in	 their	 Integrated	 Development	 Plan	 (IDP).	 The	 project	
involved	three	parts:	first,	the	on-site	design	and	construction	of	approximately	8.5km	of	
gravel	road	to	surfaced	standard	by	means	of	labour-intensive	construction.	Second,	the	
construction	of	approximately	700m	of	concrete	footpath	along	the	cliff	faces	adjoining	the	
villages	of	Ngcenge	and	Qolombo.	Finally,	the	construction	of	a	low-level	causeway	over	
the	Phalume	River,	which	included	constructing	an	emulsion-treated	base,	a	surfacing	cape	
seal	as	well	as	side	drains	and	concrete	lined	drifts.	On	average,	a	total	of	approximately	
180	people	were	employed	over	the	full	duration	of	the	contract.
 
Local	 suppliers	were	 given	 the	 opportunity	 to	 provide	 plants,	 equipment	 and	materials	
for	the	project.	The	project	started	in	October	2010	and	was	completed	in	late	2012.	In	
addition,	20	 learners	were	 trained	 in	NQF	 level	4	Supervision	of	Construction	Process	
learnership	and	60	youth	were	 trained	 in	NQF	 level	2	Construction	Road	worker	skills	
programme.	An	additional	177	local	people	were	trained	in	technical	and	business	skills.
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1.5  Road Network Management 

To	plan	 for	maintenance	 and	 rehabilitation,	SANRAL’s	 asset	management	 system	uses	
collected	pavement	and	bridge	condition	data	 to	predict	 future	performance	and	traffic	
data including future road usage. 

Routine Road Maintenance 

The entire proclaimed national road network is covered by routine maintenance contracts. 
Routine	road	maintenance	(RRM)	is	a	continuous	process	that	covers	crack	sealing	and	
patching,	repair	and	cleaning	of	existing	drainage	systems,	repair	and	renewal	of	fences,	
road	signs,	road	studs	and	guardrails,	burning	of	firebreaks,	protection	of	the	environment	
through maintenance of trees and shrubs, weed and litter control and emergency 
assistance. 

In	 line	with	SANRAL’s	socio-economic	development	goals,	a	minimum	of	80	percent	of	
this	work	is	allocated	to	SMMEs	–	of	which	at	least	90	percent	goes	to	black-owned	firms.	
The	RRM	contract	works	on	a	point-scoring	system	that	rewards	the	use	of	local	SMMEs	
and labour and prioritises skills development. 

Bridge Management 

SANRAL’s	bridge	management	system	aims	to	ensure	the	safety	of	the	public	crossing	
over	bridges	and	major	culverts	(spans	greater	than	2.1m	or	openings	greater	than	5m2).	
All	bridges	and	major	culverts	are	inspected	by	SANRAL-accredited	inspectors	every	five	
to	six	years	and	any	repair	work	is	prioritised	based	on	risk.	SANRAL	also	aims	to	ensure	
bridges	are	visually	pleasing.	In	addition,	SANRAL	(as	part	of	road	rehabilitation	projects)	
ensures that major culverts and river bridges are checked hydraulically to make sure they 
have	sufficient	flood	capacity	 in	 line	with	national	road	standards.	Where	structures	are	
proven to be too small, they are enlarged or replaced. This part of bridge management is 
essential	due	to	climate	changes	that	South	Africa	can	experience	in	the	future.

The	number	of	bridges	and	major	culverts	is	growing	as	the	national	network	is	expanding.	
There	are	8	246	bridges	and	major	culverts	on	national	routes,	including	440	bridges	on	
routes operated by the three concessionaires. The number of bridges changes constantly 
as new bridges and culverts are added and some old structures are demolished or 
abandoned	or	where	SANRAL	has	taken	routes	over	from	provinces.

A	bridge	and	culvert	inspection	was	conducted	on	the	majority	of	the	SANRAL	network	
in	 2011/12	 and	 inspections	 on	 the	 new	 routes	 taken	 over	 from	 the	 provinces	 were	
undertaken	in	2012/13.	The	verified	results	help	identify	the	bridges	and	culverts	that	need	
to	be	repaired	in	the	next	few	years.	SANRAL	uses	the	Overall	Condition	Index	(OCI)	to	
measure	the	risks	associated	with	bridges	in	need	of	repair.	As	shown	in	Table	9	below,	the	
bridge	condition	exposure	measurements	have	not	changed	significantly	from	2011/12.	
The	slight	deterioration	can	be	attributed	to	the	roads	that	SANRAL	incorporated	from	the	
Eastern	Cape	and	North	West	provinces.	The	OCI	will	differ	for	different	routes.	

TABLE 9 Bridge	Condition	Exposure	Measurements

Description Unit 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/13 
   Actual Actual Target Actual

Percentage	of	travel	over	or	
under bridges on national roads 
with	OCI	higher	than	80	 %	 95	 96	 90	 94

*	 OCI	 is	 a	 weighted	 defects	 index	 that	 gives	 an	 overall	 indication	 of	 the	 need	 for 
 maintenance for a bridge.

BRIDGES ON NATIONAL ROADS

8 246

YEARS5-6 
ALL BRIDGES ARE INSPECTED EVERY
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Pavement Management 

SANRAL’s	pavement	management	system	optimises	maintenance	and	funding	strategies	
through	 life-cycle	 cost	 analysis.	 It	 aims	 to	 preserve	 the	 national	 road	 network	 at	 an	
adequate	 level	 given	 available	 financial	 support.	 Detailed	 road	 data	 is	 obtained	 from	
surveys	performed	by	SANRAL’s	automated	road	survey	vehicle,	which	is	equipped	with	
laser,	video	and	computer-based	technologies.	The	vehicle	is	capable	of	measuring	and	
collecting	 data	 at	 traffic	 speeds.	 Visual	 inspections	 are	 also	 conducted	 to	 verify	 these	
assessments and review suggested solutions. 
 
To	ensure	the	efficient	and	safe	functioning	of	the	national	road	network,	SANRAL	allocates	
available funding for maintenance based on the following order of priority: 
•	 Optimised	preventative	asset	preservation	actions	(for	example,	cleaning	of	drainage	 
	 structures,	crack	sealing,	reseals	and	overlays).
•	 More	extensive	reconstruction	and	improvements	(for	example,	rehabilitation	and	lane	 
	 additions).
•	 New	construction.

2012/13 Outcomes 

The following outcomes were achieved during the reporting period. 

Smooth Travel Exposure 

Smooth	travel	exposure	measures	the	roughness	of	the	road.	The	very	slight	deterioration	
shown	in	the	table	below	can	be	attributed	to	the	roads	that	SANRAL	incorporated	from	
the	Eastern	Cape	and	North	West	provinces.	

TABLE 10 Smooth	travel	exposure	

Description Unit 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/13 
   Actual Actual Target Actual
Percentage	of	travel	undertaken	
each year on national roads with 
roughness	less	than	4.2	(m/km)	
according to international 
roughness	index	 %	 96	 96	 95	 95
 
*	 Roughness	refers	to	the	longitudinal	road	surface	undulations	affecting	the	wear	and	 
 operating costs of vehicles, road safety and the impact of the vehicle on the road  
	 through	excitation	of	vehicle	mass.	

Low Rut Exposure 

Low	rut	exposure	measures	surface	depressions	that	can	hold	water	and	cause	a	vehicle	
to	aquaplane.	Measurements	for	2012/13	show	a	similar	performance	to	the	previous	year,	
reflecting	SANRAL’s	focus	on	this	critical	safety	aspect	of	network	operation.	

Table 11 Low	rut	exposure	

Description Unit 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/13 
   Actual Actual Target Actual
Percentage	of	travel	undertaken	
each year on national roads with 
rut	depth	less	than	20mm		 %	 99	 99	 95	 99

*	 Rut	depth	refers	to	surface	depressions	that	can	hold	water	and	cause	a	vehicle	to	 
	 aquaplane.	
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High Texture Exposure 

High	texture	exposure	measures	the	surface	macro-texture,	which	affects	surface	friction	at	
high	speeds	(>60	km/h)	under	wet	conditions.	Measurements	for	2012/13	show	a	decline	
from	 the	previous	 year.	 This	 reflects	 the	 effects	 of	SANRAL’s	maintenance	 undertaken	
during	the	reporting	period	in	urban	environments	that	require	lower	noise	surfaces	and	
therefore	lower	macro-texture.

Table 12 High	texture	exposure

Description Unit 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/13 
   Actual Actual Target Actual
Percentage	of	travel	undertaken	
each year on national roads with 
macro-texture	higher	than	0.4	mm		 %	 99	 97	 95	 97

*		 Note:	Macro-texture	refers	to	visual	coarseness	of	the	road	surface	that	affects	surface	 
	 friction	at	high	speeds	(>60	km/h)	for	wet	conditions.	

Slope Management 

SANRAL	operates	a	slope	management	system	(SMS)	comprising	a	risk	rating	procedure,	
which aims to preserve assets optimally in a proactive way. It has become fully operational 
countrywide, including the continuous process of incorporating slope inventories for newly 
taken-over	routes.	The	management	of	risk	has	thus	far	rendered	a	satisfactory	degree	of	
confidence,	despite	the	shortcoming	of	not	being	able	to	always	timeously	predict	–	and	
avoid	–	unexpected	slope	failures.	These	are	normally	caused	by	inordinate	rains,	by	the	
absence of interceptor storm water drains above the crest of cutting slopes, or sometimes 
by	inadequate	original	designs.	

During	 the	year	under	 review,	a	number	of	contracts	were	awarded,	dealing	with	slope	
asset	preservation	–	either	in	a	proactive	or	reactive	way.	

In	2012,	all	the	cut	and	fill	slopes	higher	than	5m	in	height,	in	the	Southern	region	were	
inspected and rated for stability and severity of instability. This programme included all the 
cut	and	fill	slopes	on	the	2	075km	of	provincial	roads	taken	over	by	the	Southern	region	
in	April	2012.

As	part	of	the	proactive	slope	stability	approach,	contracts	were	awarded	in	the	Southern	
region to attend to the most unstable slopes. The following contracts were successfully 
completed in the region in the last year:
•	 Naudesberg	Pass	on	the	N9	between	Graaff-Reinet	and	Middelburg.
•	 Amandelhoogte	Pass	on	the	N9	between	Graaff-Reinet	and	Middelburg.
•	 Lootsberg	Pass	on	the	N9	between	Graaff-Reinet	and	Middelburg.
•	 Wapadsberg	Pass	on	the	R61	near	Graaff-Reinet.	
•	 Qamata	slope	stabilisation	on	the	R61	near	Cofimvaba.

The stabilisation methods included barring down of loose material, gabions, rock bolting 
and steel mesh drapery. 

High	 rainfall	 in	 the	 Southern	 region	 has	 resulted	 in	 the	 deterioration	 in	 the	 stability	 of	
a number of cut slopes. The following slopes are currently under design for future 
stabilisation contracts:
•	 A	large	slip	on	the	R75,	near	Uitenhage,	that	will	be	awarded	as	a	two	stage	contract.	 
 The initial stage will be to manage the slip and thereafter stabilise the slope.
•	 A	number	of	unstable	cut	slopes	on	the	R58	on	the	Lady	Grey	Pass.

In	the	Western	region,	rock	falls	triggered	by	heavy	rains	in	Sir	Lowry’s	Pass	(N2)	during	
July	2012	necessitated	barring	down	and	rock	bolting	as	well	as	a	system	of	cable	catch	
fences	presently	being	 installed	at	an	estimated	cost	of	R10.5	million.	Also	on	 the	N2,	
further	east	at	Houw	Hoek,	a	wedge	failure	occurred	in	the	west-bound	cutting	where	a	
gabion	wall	is	envisaged	to	solve	the	problem.	At	Langhoogte,	along	the	N2,	some	8km	
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east	 of	 Botrivier	 (where	 a	 fill	 embankment	 that	 has	 been	monitored	 for	 some	 years	 is	
now	showing	signs	of	growing	instability),	plans	are	underway	to	investigate	the	matter	in	
greater detail.

Various	 other	 cuttings	 along	 other	 routes	 in	 this	 Region	 are	 also	 being	 continuously	
monitored	by	RRM	teams	where	regular,	but	small	volumes	of	falling	rock	debris	need	to	
be cleared from side drains.

Regarding	proactive	asset	maintenance	 in	 the	Western	 region,	a	maintenance	contract	
was	awarded	last	year	to	monitor	the	quality	and	pre-stressed	levels	of	existing	permanent	
ground	anchors	 in	cuttings	at	Glentana/Groot	Brak	along	 the	N2,	along	 the	N1	at	 the	
western Huguenot Tunnel portal, as well as in cuttings in the Florence to Worcester and 
Hex	River	areas.	These	investigations	identified	the	need	for	additional	strengthening	on	
three of the sites. 

In	 the	 Eastern	 region,	 the	 Sibaya	 southern	 on-ramp	 fill	 onto	 the	 N2,	 near	 Tongaat	 in	
KwaZulu-Natal,	 is	 a	 fill	widening	 that	 started	 to	 settle	 differentially	 from	 the	 rest	 of	 the	
embankment	that	 it	was	benched	into	two	years	ago.	The	failure	was	repaired	in	2012,	
with Tongaat Hulett development company covering the costs. Another ramp embankment 
failure	 occurred	 in	 September	 2012	 after	 heavy	 rains	 on	 the	 N2	 south	 of	 Durban	 at	
the newly constructed Bonnyrig interchange. The cause of the failure has since been 
investigated and redesign and reconstruction are underway.

In	 the	Northern	 region,	 a	 fill	 failed	 on	 the	R37	 south	 of	Sabie,	 after	 the	 heavy	 rains	 in	
January	2012.	The	investigation	revealed	that	the	cause	of	the	failure	was	due	to	storm	
water	 drainage	 problems	 and	 an	 inadequate	 original	 design	 done	 under	 the	 provincial	
roads	 authority	 from	 which	 the	 road	 had	 been	 taken	 over.	 The	 fill	 was	 consequently	
reconstructed, including a redesigned storm water system.

Contact	was	maintained	during	the	past	financial	year	with	the	toll	road	concessionaires,	
BAKWENA,	 N3TC	 and	 TRAC,	 with	 satisfactory	 feedback	 received	 regarding	 slope	
stability	matters	along	their	routes.	For	example,	an	unstable	cut	slope	along	the	N4	in	the	
Schoemanskloof	area	received	timely	lateral	support	attention	from	TRAC.	

Pavement Condition 

The	 following	 map	 outlines	 the	 condition	 of	 national	 roads.	 Traffic	 volume	 data	 and	
projections	 are	 crucial	 factors	 in	 SANRAL’s	 revenue	 projections	 and	 funding	 strategy,	
maintenance and repair schedules.

FIGURE 2 Pavement	condition,	national	roads

SANRAL Proclaimed	Routes
Overall	Condition	Index
	 Very	Poor
	 Poor
 Fair
 Good
	 Very	Good
Note:		 Newly	incorporated	North	West	and	
Eastern	Cape	roads	are	reflected	as	poor
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Road Transport Management System 

SANRAL	continues	to	support	the	road	transport	management	system	(RTMS),	which	is	
a	Department	of	Transport	strategy	to	promote	self-regulation	in	the	road	freight	industry.

RTMS	accreditation	means	that	truck	fleet	owners	must	continually	demonstrate	that	they	
load their vehicles correctly and securely, ensure that their trucks are roadworthy and that 
their	drivers	are	healthy	and	well	rested.	The	benefits	of	RTMS	management	are	reduced	
road	damage,	promotion	of	road	safety	and	reduction	of	road	transport	costs.	SANRAL	
supports this initiative with data indicating that member organisations seldom overload 
and are involved in fewer accidents.

The	participants	in	RTMS	are	road	and	transport	authorities,	a	research	institution,	various	
associations	 involved	 in	 domestic	 and	 cross-border	 freight	 movement,	 the	 insurance	
industry,	vehicle	financing	 institutions	and	representatives	 from	the	 transport	 industry	 in	
the forestry, sugar and mineral sectors.

SANRAL	also	supports	the	“smart	trucks”	demonstration	project.	This	is	research	being	
conducted	 to	 ascertain	 the	 benefits	 of	 allowing	 vehicles	 that	 meet	 stringent	 dynamic	
design	criteria	to	carry	heavier	loads,	while	maintaining	all	loading	criteria	except	for	the	
maximum	legal	load	of	56	tonnes.

Overload Control 

As	per	 its	mandate,	SANRAL	continued	 to	address	 the	problem	of	vehicle	overloading	
in	2012/13.	Loads	that	do	not	comply	with	the	design	specifications	of	the	suspension,	
brakes,	 tyres	 and	 steering	of	 vehicles	 are	 a	 safety	 hazard	 to	 all	 road	users.	 The	 three-
way	partnership	 to	address	 road	overloading	 includes	SANRAL,	as	 the	provider	of	 the	
infrastructure, provinces that are responsible for law enforcement and private weighbridge 
operators. 

SANRAL	manages	and	operates	14	weighbridges	24	hours	a	day,	seven	days	a	week	and	
12	weighbridges	on	a	less	regular	basis	depending	on	monitored	overloading	in	the	area.	
As	part	of	its	commitment	to	overload	control,	SANRAL	will	be	building	eight	new	state-
of-the-art	traffic	control	centres	in	Gauteng	as	part	of	the	Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	
Project	(GFIP).	These	centres	will	be	the	most	technologically	advanced	centres	to	date.	
A	further	weighbridge	is	being	considered	on	the	N4	Platinum	highway	near	Zeerust.

In	2012/13,	 the	overload	control	project	continued	 to	help	protect	South	Africa’s	 road	
infrastructure	and	 improve	 road	safety.	Overloading	 requires	constant	policing	and	 law	
enforcement. Highlights during the reporting period are discussed below.

BAKWENA 

BAKWENA	currently	manages	three	weigh	bridges,	namely	Bapong	Traffic	Control	Centre	
on	the	N4	west	of	Pretoria,	Mantsole	Traffic	Control	Centre	on	the	N1	north	of	Pretoria	and	
the	Beitbridge	Traffic	Control	Centre	on	the	N1	in	Musina.

Mantsole	 has	 been	 operational	 since	 June	 1997	 and	 during	 the	 period	 under	 review,	 
256	 289	 vehicles	 were	 weighed	 and	 4	 261	 drivers	 charged	 for	 their	 vehicles	 being	
overloaded. 

Bapong	has	been	operational	since	2008	and	the	contract	is	ongoing.		During	the	period	
under	 review,	102	161	vehicles	were	weighed	and	2	699	drivers	were	prosecuted	 for	
overloading.

Beitbridge	has	been	operational	since	August	2010	and	has	weighed	152	795	vehicles	
resulting	in	2	406	drivers	being	prosecuted	for	overloading.	The	operators	at	this	centre	
also	cautioned	20	740	drivers	who	overloaded	vehicles	within	the	grace	provided	for	in	the	
National	Prosecutor’s	guidelines.	

SANRAL MANAGES AND OPERATES

SANRAL WILL BE BUILDING

TRAFFIC CONTROL
CENTRES

STATE-OF-THE-ART

IN GAUTENG

WEIGHBRIDGES14
8 GFIP

24/7
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N3TC 

Overloading	on	the	Gauteng	section	of	 the	N3	Toll	Route	 is	policed	by	the	Heidelberg	
Traffic	Control	Centre	(HTCC),	which	is	operated	by	N3TC	with	assistance	from	a	joint	
venture	between	TRAC	and	Zimele,	load	control	operations.	

In	 2012,	 the	 HTCC	 weighed	 134	 674	 heavy	 vehicles	 (including	 buses),	 which	 is	 
7.4	percent	more	than	in	2011.	For	the	same	period,	the	number	of	trucks	overloaded,	but	
within	the	tolerance	margin,	increased	from	27	904	to	30	301	(up	8.6	percent)	and	the	
number	of	trucks	charged	for	overloading	decreased	from	5	995	in	2011	to	5	177	in	2012	
(down	13.7	percent).	It	should	be	noted	that	the	heavy	vehicle	volumes	have	marginally	
increased	by	0.7	percent	in	2012	compared	to	2011.

TRAC 

TRAC	manages	the	traffic	control	centres	on	the	N4	between	Pretoria	and	the	Lebombo	
border	 with	 Mozambique.	 The	 N4	 load	 control	 project,	 which	 was	 launched	 in	 2002,	
contributes	positively	 towards	protecting	 infrastructure	 and	 enhancing	 safety	 on	South	
African roads. 

In	the	period	between	1	April	2012	and	31	January	2013,	seven	load	control	centres	and	
twelve	lay-byes	situated	on	the	N4	toll	route	weighed	more	than	605	000	heavy	vehicles.	
Of	 these,	 11	 340	 drivers	 were	 charged	 for	 overloading	 as	 1.87	 percent	 of	 vehicles	
weighed were overloaded. 

SANRAL	 re-affirmed	 its	 commitment	 to	 road	 safety	 and	 infrastructure	 protection	 with	
the	operation	of	 two	additional	weighing	facilities	 in	Limpopo	province.	TRAC	manages	
these	two	facilities	on	behalf	of	SANRAL	on	a	short-term	agreement	basis.	These	facilities	
are	based	at	Mokopane	and	on	the	R101	at	Polokwane.	The	two	facilities	have	weighed	 
161	000	vehicles	in	the	past	year	and	charged	2	460	drivers.	

Traffic Monitoring 

Traffic	data	is	fundamental	to	SANRAL’s	planning	and	design.	During	the	reporting	period,	
the	Agency	built	more	than	100	new	stations	on	alternative	routes	to	the	toll	highways	and	
re-established	92	of	the	traffic	counting	stations	that	had	to	be	removed	while	the	GFIP	
was under construction. 
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1.6 Road Safety Management 

Improved	 road	 safety	 for	 all	 road	 users	 is	 a	 key	 objective	 in	 realising	 SANRAL’s	 core	
business of providing a superior national road network that promotes mobility and 
economic development in the southern African region. 

SANRAL	therefore	fully	supports	and	is	committed	to	the	call	 for	the	Decade	of	Action	
for	Road	Safety	by	the	Commission	of	Global	Road	Safety,	which	is	endorsed	by	the	UN	
Road	Safety	Collaboration.	The	official	launch	of	this	initiative	was	in	May	2011	with	the	
primary	goal	of	halving	road	deaths	by	2020.

At	 national	 level,	 countries	 are	 encouraged	 to	 focus	 on	 five	 pillars,	 based	 on	 the	
recommendations	of	the	World	Report	on	Road	Traffic	Injury	Prevention,	proposed	by	the	
Global	Road	Safety	Commission:	(i)	 road	safety	management,	(ii)	safer	roads,	(iii)	safer	
vehicles,	(iv)	safer	road	users	and	(v)	post-crash	care.

SANRAL’s	involvement	relates	specifically	to	safer	roads,	safer	road	users	and	post-crash	
response. The Agency hopes to continue making a meaningful and positive contribution 
to improved road safety.

Safer Roads 

As	 a	 road	 authority,	 SANRAL	 will	 continue	 to	 focus	 on	 enhanced	 road	 safety	 in	 the	
field	of	road	infrastructure	by	providing	safer	roads.	Although	the	national	road	network	
is	 recognised	as	 a	world-class	network,	 the	continuous	expansion	of	 the	national	 road	
network footprint, changing land use patterns, as well as the need to provide a more 
forgiving roadway, implies that there will always be room for improved and innovative 
engineering solutions, which provide a safer road environment for all road users.

SANRAL’s	approach	to	safe	roads	will	continue	to	be	both	proactive	and	reactive.

Proactively,	SANRAL	continuously	evaluates	 the	national	 road	network	against	a	set	of	
standards	and	norms	during	project	design,	construction	and	RRM.

Reactively,	SANRAL	identifies	and	addresses	high-incident	areas.	In	many	cases,	solutions	
require	close	partnerships	with	education	and	traffic	law	enforcement	entities	to	achieve	
a safer road environment.

As	 part	 of	 its	 community	 development	 programme,	 SANRAL	 promotes	 pedestrian	
accessibility	and	mobility	by	providing	appropriate	infrastructure.	The	Agency’s	work	over	
the	next	five	years	will	focus	on:	
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•	 Constructing	pedestrian/bicycle	paths	to	safely	accommodate	non-motorised	modes		
 of transport.
•	 Effective	traffic-calming	messages	at	locations	with	pedestrian	activity.
•	 Building	strategically	located	pedestrian	bridges.
•	 Creating	safe	access	for	communities	living	next	to	the	SANRAL	network.

Safer Road Users 

It	is	a	well-known	and	researched	fact	that	road	user	behaviour	plays	a	major	role	in	the	
current	status	of	crash	rates	of	countries	and	South	Africa	is	no	exception,	with	the	vast	
majority of crashes attributed to poor road user behaviour. The ability to effectively change 
poor or bad road user behaviour for the better is therefore much desired. 

The reality is that many people are sceptical or even superstitious about certain safety 
measures, such as the wearing of seat belts. There are even attitudes that all accidents 
are	 “the	will	 of	God”	and	breaking	down	 these	barriers	and	convincing	 the	public	 that	
many	crashes	can,	and	have	been	prevented,	 is	a	 long	and	slow	process.	Road	safety	
education	and	awareness	programmes	have	 therefore	been	adopted	by	SANRAL	as	a	
key	commitment,	with	 the	 intention	of	 influencing	 road	user	behaviour	 in	a	positive	and	
sustained manner.

In	 South	 Africa,	 more	 than	 40	 percent	 of	 road	 deaths	 involve	 pedestrians.	 SANRAL’s	
road safety education programme provides holistic solutions, embracing enforcement, 
engineering, education and social approaches. Interventions include improving pedestrian 
routes,	speed-control	enforcement	and	community	involvement,	such	as	helping	children	
walk	to	school.	The	programme	also	provides	training	for	officials,	youth	and	community	
groups. 

Post-crash Response 

The entire national road network has incident management systems in place to ensure 
the optimal coordinated response to an incident. Initiatives are under way to legislate and 
roll	out	 incident	management	systems	on	all	major	 routes	 in	South	Africa,	 including	an	
expanded	network.	

Efficiently	responding	to	an	incident	is	of	vital	importance.	SANRAL	uses	ITS	to	manage	
freeway	 operations.	 The	 use	 of	 CCTV	 video	 surveillance	 on	 urban	 freeways	 to	 detect	
and notify the relevant emergency authorities of the occurrence of an incident ensures 
a	speedier	response.	FMSs	have	already	been	deployed	in	Gauteng,	KwaZulu-Natal	and	
Western	Cape	and	are	being	expanded	and	enhanced	to	ensure	an	even	more	efficient	
and coordinated response to incidents.
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Road Safety Education 

The	 road	 safety	 education	 (RSE)	 programme	 offered	 by	 SANRAL	 conforms	 to	 the	
Department	 of	 Education’s	 Curriculum	 and	 Assessment	 Policy	 Statement.	 During	
workshops in the different educational districts educators are given road safety manuals 
and classroom materials as well as information on the importance of road safety education 
and the link to the national curriculum. Educators also have an opportunity to discuss how 
to implement and use materials in the classroom. 

The	following	areas	of	road	safety	education	are	covered	in	the	RSE	materials:
•	 Pedestrian	Safety:
	 -	 Basic	road	signs.
	 -	 Crossing	roads	safely:	crossing	at	pedestrian	crossings	and	traffic	lights,	how	to	 
 cross roads where no infrastructure is available and planning safe routes to school.
•	 Passenger	safety,	especially	using	public	transport.
•	 Safe	cycling.
•	 Avoiding	crashes	by	standing	up	to	peer	pressure	and	making	responsible	choices.

The following table gives statistics of the workshops conducted with educators during 
April	and	July	2012.

TABLE 13	Impact	of	the	Road	Safety	Education	Workshops	conducted	with	educators	
in	April	and	July	2012	

April 2012 July 2012
 
13	sites	 12	sites
1	072	received	road	safety	manuals	 916	received	road	safety	manuals
113	368	learners	received	training	material	 78	666	learners	received	training	material
45	833	learners	in	Grade	R	-	3	 31	046	learners	in	Grade	R	-	3
34	981	learners	in	Grade	4	-	6	 	24	755	learners	in	Grade	4	-	6
32	554	learners	in	Grade	7	–	9	 	22	865	learners	in	Grade	7	–	9

Monitoring and Evaluation of the Road Safety Education Programme 

The	monitoring	and	evaluation	phase	of	 the	SANRAL	RSE	programme	was	conducted	
over	the	period	October	and	November	2012.	Road	safety	education	was	implemented	
at	403	schools	nationally.	Seven	of	the	nine	provinces	were	visited	during	the	period	of	
monitoring	and	evaluation	in	2012.	Of	these,	90,2	percent	of	the	schools	visited	actively	
implemented	 the	 SANRAL	 RSE	 programme.	 A	 total	 of	 82,5	 percent	 of	 the	 schools	
indicated	that	the	SANRAL	RSE	programme	raised	awareness	of	the	importance	of	road	
safety	in	their	respective	communities	and	in	South	Africa	at	large.

Safe Routes to School Programme 

Shortly	before	the	December	holidays	and	the	period	that	is	usually	marked	by	many	road	
fatalities	 and	 avoidable	 accidents,	 University	 of	Witwatersrand	 (WITS)	 hosted	 learners	
from	41	schools,	who	presented	road	safety	projects	to	SANRAL.

The	Safe	Routes	to	School	Project	is	hosted	by	the	Student	Equity	and	Talent	Management	
Unit.	Some	550	Grade	11	learners	from	schools	across	the	country,	who	are	all	part	of	
the	WITS	Targeting	Talent	programme,	were	asked	 to	construct	a	model	and	design	a	
presentation	on	their	road	safety	awareness	projects	to	a	panel	from	SANRAL	and	several	
adjudicators.	The	winners	were	announced	at	a	prize	giving	dinner	later	that	day.

The	top	ten	schools	were	Ndengeza	High	School,	Glencowie	Senior	Secondary	School,	
Mbwili	 High	 School,	 Giyani	 High	 School	 and	 Sebalamakgolo	 Secondary	 School	 in	
Limpopo;	Fred	Norman	Secondary	School,	Reitunetse	High	School	and	Marlboro	Gardens	
in	Gauteng;	and	Njeyeza	High	School	and	Highveld	Secondary	School	in	Mpumalanga.

ROAD SAFETY EDUCATION PROGRAMME (RSE) 

IMPLEMENTED IN

SCHOOLS

SANRAL RSE
RAISED AWARENESS 
OF IMPORTANCE OF 

ROAD SAFETY

403
82.5%
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Glencowie	 Senior	 Secondary	 School	 emerged	 as	 the	 overall	 winners,	 while	 Marlboro	
Gardens	 and	 Reitumetse	 High	 Schools	 won	 the	 coveted	 second	 and	 third	 prizes	
respectively. 

As	part	of	its	community	outreach	projects,	SANRAL	has	identified	areas	in	which	there	
were recurring pedestrian problems and tasked the learners with doing research on how 
to	improve	the	traffic	flow	to	ensure	better	safety	for	the	community.	Not	only	is	it	part	of	
their	Targeting	Talent	Programme,	but	 they	are	encouraged	to	be	 involved	and	become	
sensitised to good road usage, whether as a cyclist, pedestrian or driver. They maintained 
a very high standard in their models and presentations.

Each	of	the	winning	schools	was	awarded	R50	000	from	SANRAL	for	chemistry	laboratory	
consumables,	while	the	first	prize	winner,	Glencowie	Senior	Secondary	School,	also	won	a	
week	to	be	spent	in	Cape	Town	visiting	SANRAL	projects	and	Table	Mountain.

Road Safety Infrastructure Projects 
 
During	 the	 year,	 SANRAL	 implemented	 infrastructural	 changes	 and	 improvements	
to	 increase	 road	 safety	 for	 road	 users	 and	 pedestrians.	 All	 of	 these	 projects	 benefit	
businesses,	sub-contractors	and	labour	in	surrounding	communities,	including	training	and	
skills transfer. These projects are summarised below.

Pedestrian Hazardous Location Programme 

SANRAL	has	adopted	a	programme	for	identifying	and	cataloguing	pedestrian	hazardous	
locations.	For	the	year,	12	locations	were	identified	nationally.	These	locations	are	within	
uMgungundlovu	 District	 Municipality,	 Lejweleputswa	 District	 Municipality,	 Siyancuma	
Municipality,	Breede	Valley	Municipality,	Nyandeni	Local	Municipality,	Port	St	Johns	Local	
Municipality,	Tlokwe	Local	Municipality	and	Dr	Kenneth	Kaunda	District	Municipality.

The information contained within the programme indicates what pedestrian remedial action 
is	required	in	the	specific	areas,	the	budgets	needed	and	the	process	for	implementation	
if	 funding	 is	 secured.	 The	 type	of	 action	 required	 varies	 in	 the	different	 areas	 and	can	
be anything from building pedestrian bridges or sidewalks, road safety education and 
awareness	campaigns	or	traffic	calming	measures.

N3: Construction of Pedestrian Facilities on Westville Viaduct and Tshelimnyama 

The	project	is	located	on	the	N3	and	falls	within	the	eThekwini	Municipality	in	KwaZulu-
Natal.	 Concern	 was	 raised	 about	 the	 high	 number	 of	 pedestrians	 walking	 along	 and	
crossing this section of the national road so a pedestrian safety study was undertaken. It 
indicated the need for formalised pedestrian facilities to improve the safety of pedestrians 
and	motorists	 travelling	 this	 section	 of	 the	 road.	 Two	 sites	were	 identified	 as	 needing	
pedestrian facilities:

•	 N3	-	Bridge	B93A	Westville	viaduct.
•	 N3	-	south	of	the	Mariannhill	toll	plaza.	

Construction	commenced	in	February	2011	and	was	completed	in	May	2012,	at	a	cost	
of	approximately	R74.3	million.	Some	of	the	key	works	undertaken	for	this	project	were:
•	 Construction	of	a	pedestrian	steel	walkway	attached	to	the	Westville	viaduct	bridge	 
 deck on the north bound carriageway.
•	 Concrete	walkways	linking	the	bridge	to	the	Pavilion	shopping	centre	as	well	as	to	the	 
	 adjacent	cross-roads	leading	to	Chesterville	township.
•	 Palisade	fencing	along	the	existing	footpaths	towards	Chesterville	township.
•	 Construction	of	a	cable	stayed	pedestrian	bridge	with	associated	concrete	walkways	 
 linking the community of Tshelimnyama in the south to the Westmead industrial area in  
 the north.
•	 Retaining	structures	to	support	pedestrian	walkways,	which	run	parallel	to	the	N3.
•	 Pedestrian	walkways	attached	to	the	Mahogany	and	Stockville	Road	underpasses.
•	 A	median	barrier	with	an	anti-dazzle	screen	to	prevent	pedestrians	crossing	the	freeway	 
 in that vicinity.

SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL PROGRAMME 

SCHOOLS

GRADE 11 
LEARNERS550

R50 000
WINNING SCHOOLS

41

WITS TARGETING TALENT PROGRAMME

Students constructed a model and presented their road 
safety awareness projects to a panel from SANRAL 
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N11: Construction of Model Kloof Pedestrian Bridge and Walkways 

The Model Kloof pedestrian bridge and walkways are new facilities constructed over and 
adjacent	to	the	N11	in	Ladysmith,	within	the	Uthukela	District	Municipality	in	the	western	
part	of	KwaZulu-Natal.	

Pedestrians	regularly	walked	along	the	N11	from	the	Ladysmith	CBD	in	a	north-easterly	
direction	 towards	 the	 suburbs	 of	 Limit	 Hill	 and	 Model	 Kloof,	 while	 learners	 crossed	
over	the	N11,	in	the	vicinity	of	the	N2/P32	intersection,	to	go	to	school	and	home.	The	
pedestrian-vehicle	conflict	in	the	area	posed	a	threat	to	the	safety	of	road	users	and	was	
of	 serious	 concern	 to	 the	 surrounding	 community	 and	 SANRAL.	 This	 project	 entailed	
provision	of	safe	pedestrian	facilities,	connecting	Ladysmith’s	northern	commercial	centre	
to	residential	areas	along	the	N11.	

Exclusive	 pedestrian	 walkways	 were	 constructed	 to	 prevent	 pedestrians	 from	 walking	
along	the	N11	shoulder,	while	the	bridge	channels	pedestrians,	allowing	them	to	safely	
cross	the	road.	Safety	fences	on	both	sides	of	the	road	assist	with	channeling	pedestrians	
towards	the	bridge.	This	project	was	identified	by	SANRAL	as	a	community	development	
project to provide increased safety and access to all users of the national road and 
surrounding communities. 

The work carried out under the contract entailed the following:
•	 Construction	of	a	pedestrian	bridge	over	the	N11
•	 Building	4km	of	concrete	walkways.
•	 Erecting	 460	metres	 of	 safety	 fence	 adjacent	 to	 the	 pedestrian	 bridge	 to	 prevent	 
	 pedestrians	crossing	the	N11	anywhere	along	the	road.
•	 Installing	pier	column	protection	at	the	railway	bridge	with	a	matching	barrier	provided	 
 for pier column protection at the pedestrian bridge.

The	 contract	 period	 of	 11	 months	 was	 completed	 a	 month	 ahead	 of	 schedule.	 Four	
students	were	afforded	an	opportunity	to	conduct	their	compulsory	in-service	training	on	
this	project	to	assist	them	towards	obtaining	their	first	qualification.

R22: Construction of Pedestrian and Public Transport Facilities 

This	 community	 project	 is	 aimed	 at	 reducing	 the	 conflict	 between	 non-motorised	 and	
motorised	 traffic.	 The	project	 falls	within	 two	 local	municipalities,	Big	5	False	Bay	 and	
uMhlabuyalingana	 Local	 Municipality	 within	 the	 uMkhanyakude	 District	 Municipality	 in	
northern	KwaZulu-Natal.	

The	 area	 adjacent	 to	 the	 R22	 has	 become	 increasingly	 urbanised	 resulting	 in	 large	
numbers of pedestrians walking on the shoulders of the national road. In addition, there 
is	 an	 increase	of	 non-motorised	 traffic	due	 to	 a	 number	of	 rural	 schools	 sited	 in	 close	
vicinity	of	 the	national	 road	 resulting	 in	peak	pedestrian	 traffic	during	 the	early	morning	
and	just	after	mid-day.	The	terrain	adjacent	to	the	road	became	increasingly	unattractive	
to pedestrians during the summer months because of ponding and scouring from rainfall 
causing pedestrians to walk on the road, which has a hardened surface. 

The project entails constructing a variety of road safety infrastructures, including sidewalks, 
bus/taxi	 facilities	 and	 safe	 crossing	 points.	 It	 provides	 additional	 infrastructure	 to	 aid	
and	 promote	 the	Shova	Kalula	 Project,	 an	 initiative	 by	 the	Department	 of	 Transport	 to	
sponsor	needy	rural	school	children	with	bicycles.	Further,	the	area	identified	has	a	high	
unemployment rate with many of the local inhabitants surviving on subsistence farming. 
Besides the employment opportunities provided by the project, there was a high utilisation 
of	local	entrepreneurs	which	promotes	the	retention	of	the	profits	earned	within	the	local	
economy. 

The	project	addresses	pedestrian	safety	risks	by	separating	motorised	from	non-motorised	
traffic,	 providing	 safe	 pick-up/drop-off	 points	 for	 public	 transport	 and	 safe	 crossing	 of	
the	national	road	by	pedestrians.	The	specification	obligated	the	main	contractor	to	sub-
contract a portion of the work to small emerging black contractors for construction of this 

EMERGENCY SERVICE PERSONNEL TRAINED
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infrastructure.	Seven	of	the	11	small	contractors	and	suppliers	were	local.	The	contract	
period	was	12	months	at	a	cost	of	approximately	R21	million.	Local	sub-contractors	also	
received	training	in	computer	technology,	first	aid	and	risk	assessment.	The	site	office	used	
during the project was left behind to be used as a mobile clinic for the community.

Incident Management System 

Background 

Following	 a	 request	 from	 the	 Department	 of	 Transport	 in	 2012	 to	 coordinate	 the	
development of the national framework for incident management, a team which met during 
13	months	produced	the	following:
•	 Amendments	to	legislation	(National	Traffic	Act	1971,	Chapter	Ten	and	related	Acts)
•	 Operations	policy	for	road	incident	management	systems	(RIMS).
•	 National	framework	for	road	incident	management	systems.
•	 National	procedure	for	the	establishment,	implementation	and	monitoring	of	incidents.
•	 An	incident	management	programme	covering	the	entire	South	African	road	network.

The	above	aspects	were	endorsed	by	the	Committee	of	Transport	Officials	at	a	meeting	
on	30	March	2012	and	sent	to	Minister	and	Members	of	Executive	Council	of	Transport	
for approval.

Status Quo 

To	date	SANRAL	has	presided	on	the	following:
•	 Realignment	 of	 incident	 management	 systems	 (IMS)	 in	 line	 with	 district	 municipal	 
 boundaries as prescribed.
•	 Setting	up	of	structures	within	systems	and	appointment	of	systems	chairpersons	from	 
 participating services.
•	 Constitution	of	coordinating	advisory	committees	 in	each	province	as	prescribed	by	 
	 the	National	Framework.

Training and Capacity Building for Incident Management 

In	2005,	SANRAL	set	up	the	National	Working	Committee	to	develop	and	compile	the	
first	qualification	 for	 the	 incident	management	 training	programme.	This	was	 registered	
with	 SAQA	 (South	 African	 Qualifications	 Authority)	 in	 2006	 SAQA	 ID	 No:	 49398):	
Qualification	name:	National	Certificate	in	Incident	Management	NQF	level	5.	

This	qualification	or	its	components	are	to	be	offered	by	accredited	institutions	authorised	
to train law enforcement and emergency services personnel.

Subsequently,	 SANRAL	 developed	 training	 material	 aligned	 to	 the	 qualification	 and	
registered	 this	with	 the	 Transport	SETA	 (Sector	 Education	 and	 Training	Authority).	 For	
learners to receive career development points upon embarking on this programme, the 
Transport	SETA	requires	that	this	material	be	registered	against	a	Training	Service	Provider.

As	such,	SANRAL	is	working	with	PDNA	Academy	(which	provides	advanced	training	and	
skills	development)	to	conclude	an	agreement	for	this	material	to	be	housed	under	PDNA	
in	2013	so	that	colleges	using	it	can	offer	career	development	points	to	learners	pursuing	
this	field.

SANRAL	continues	to	hold	workshops	and	refresher	training	in	different	areas	in	line	with	
the	new	material.	To	date,	1	100	emergency	service	personnel	have	been	trained.
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Concessionaires

Each	 of	 SANRAL’s	 concessionaires	 is	 contractually	 required	 to	 undertake	 road	 safety	
initiatives	 with	 the	 communities	 in	 which	 they	 operate.	 During	 2012/13,	 the	 following	
activities were undertaken. 

BAKWENA 

BAKWENA’s	 24/7	 customer	 care	 centre	 managed	 17	 564	 calls	 in	 the	 year	 under	
review.	 It	 works	 closely	 with	 its	 road	 incident	 management	 system	 (RIMS)	 and	 its	
route	patrol	drivers	who	continuously	patrol	 the	 route.	BAKWENA’s	0800	BAKWENA/ 
0800	2259362	customer	care	number	plays	an	important	role	in	assisting	road	users.	It	
mobilises emergency services when needed and records various incidents that take place 
along	the	corridor.	During	the	reporting	period,	355	accidents	were	attended	to	and	438	
motorists were assisted. 

BAKWENA’s	Corporate	Social	 Investment	 (CSI)	 programme	 supports	 and	 contributes	
to	 the	 development	 of	 communities	 along	 the	 corridor.	 Projects	 focus	 on	 road	 safety,	
environmental	and	socio-economic	matters	and	occasionally	support	worthy	organisations.	
Some	of	these	projects	entail	partnership	with	Government	entities	and	departments.	

BAKWENA’s	own	road	safety	 initiatives	include	road	safety	education	workshops,	talks	
and	safety	debates,	and	the	creation	of	a	mini	traffic	centre,	while	the	company	provides	
support	and	encouragement	to	existing	road	safety	programmes.	
A	few	of	BAKWENA’s	projects	are	discussed	below.
•	 BAKWENA	is	refreshing	existing	scholar	patrol	pedestrian	crossings	and	signs	and	 
	 has	 also	 painted	 new	 crossings	 where	 necessary	 in	 Swartruggens	 and	 Bapong.	 
•	 Owners	of	animal	drawn	carts,	cattle	and	stray	animals	in	Dinokana	have	been	provided	 
	 with	4	200	reflective	belts	to	ensure	motorists	are	able	to	see	them	at	night.		
•	 Together	with	the	Department	of	Education	and	North	West	Road	Safety,	a	road	safety	 
	 training	programme	was	put	together	for	the	Rekgonne	Bapo	Special	School	for	350	 
	 special	needs	learners.	The	vision	of	this	project	is	that	the	mini	traffic	centre	will	be	 
 utilised in the future by other schools in the Bapong area for road safety training.
•	 During	December	2012	and	April	2013,	BAKWENA	partnered	with	Imperial	I-Pledge	 
	 by	 adding	an	 additional	 two	branded	 vehicles,	 provided	by	Europcar	 to	 its	 existing	 
	 route	patrol	teams	as	well	as	North	West	Traffic	to	assist	with	visible	law	enforcement	 
	 and	assistance	to	motorists	during	the	holiday	season	along	the	N1/N4	route.
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N3TC 

N3TC’s	Route	Control	Centre	 (RCC)	maintains	 a	popular	24-hour	Customer	Careline,	
0800	 N3	 HELP/0800	 63	 4357	 which	 receives	 positive	 feedback	 from	 customer	
satisfaction surveys. 

The	figures	show	a	notable	increase	in	the	number	of	calls	from	2011	to	2012,	and	plot	it	
against	major	weather	conditions	like	snow.	The	N3TC	incident	management	system	was	
consistently	operational	during	2012,	with	 its	primary	purpose	being	to	enhance	safety,	
convenience	 and	 mobility.	 As	 in	 the	 past,	 a	 significant	 amount	 of	 time	 and	 resources	
are employed towards improving road safety. The results of some of the initiatives are 
presented below.
•	 Statistics	for	road	blocks,	arranged	by	traffic	authorities,	show	increased	vigilance	in	 
	 respect	of	car,	truck	and	taxi	road	worthiness.
•	 During	2012,	1185	drivers	were	 tested	 for	 various	health	 issues.	Compared	 to	 the	 
	 2011	statistics,	the	medical	condition	of	truck	drivers	shows	an	improvement.
•	 Training	emergency	and	other	services	on	dangerous	goods	incident	command,	rescue	 
	 simulations,	crime	scene	management,	alcohol	and	drug	screening	and	IMS.
•	 Providing	psychological	support	and	medical	care	to	victims	of	accidents.
•	 Operating	six	patrol	and	four	special	incident	management	vehicles,	carrying	specialised	 
	 equipment.	When	 not	 specifically	 on	 patrol,	 the	 service	 is	 on	 standby	 at	 strategic	 
 locations.
•	 Building	 road	 safety	 awareness	 along	 the	 route,	 in	 collaboration	with	 a	 number	 of	 
	 partners	including	community	medical	services,	I-Pledge,	SA	Police	Service	and	Road	 
	 Safety	Foundation	teams	and	monitoring	and	distributing	information	about	the	weather	 
 conditions during holidays and other peak seasons.

Championing	 the	 safety	 of	 child	 passengers	 through	 education	 and	 raising	 awareness	
about	the	use	of	appropriate	child	transport	equipment.

TRAC 

TRAC’s	 helpdesk	 team	 has	 regular	 meetings	 with	 law	 enforcement	 and	 emergency	
services	along	the	route	in	Gauteng,	Mpumalanga	and	Mozambique	to	build	close	working	
relationships.	TRAC’s	road	safety	initiatives	receive	active	support	from	the	SAPS’s	flying	
squad	and	highway	patrol	teams,	traffic	police,	ambulance,	emergency	and	fire	services	as	
well	as	the	TRAC	patrol	and	accident	response	teams.

One	of	TRAC’s	largest	projects	is	its	Easter	rescue	project,	which	operates	with	emergency	
rescue services and law enforcement authorities. The team creates joint operation centres 
at	key	points	along	the	N4	toll	route	from	where	road	safety	initiatives	are	managed	and	
general public awareness promoted around peak travel conditions as well as safety and 
law	enforcement	 aspects.	On-going	media	 support	 and	 live	 radio	broadcasts	 assist	 to	
keep	road	safety	top	of	mind.	No	fatalities	as	a	result	of	road	crashes	were	reported	on	the	
N4	toll	route	during	the	Easter	of	2013.	

During	the	year	under	review,	TRAC	was	engaged	in	the	following	initiatives:
•	 A	pedestrian	 safety	pilot	 project	 (Asiphephe)	was	 launched	 in	 three	 schools	 in	 the	 
	 Elandshoek-Ngodwana	 area.	 Although	 primarily	 aimed	 at	 improving	 pedestrian	 and	 
 road safety, basic life skills were also taught. 
•	 Regular	road	safety	promotions	are	undertaken	at	toll	plazas	and	various	filling	stations	 
	 and	truck	stops	along	the	N4	toll	route	–	supported	during	December	peak	periods	by	 
	 broadcasts	 from	 LM	 Radio.	 These	 include	 Shell	 Ultra	 City,	 Alzu	 Petroport,	 Milly’s	 
	 Centre,	George’s	and	Viva	filling	station,	Lebombo	Village	and	truck	stop.	Awareness	 
	 raising	drives	are	 regularly	sponsored	on	Jacaranda	FM	and	Ligwalagwala	FM;	and	 
 daily on the social network Twitter.  
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1.7 Land Portfolio Management 

The comprehensive property services provision contract deals with all aspects of land 
procurement	and	management.	The	contract	enables	SANRAL	to	manage	all	responsibilities	
associated with the ownership of its immovable property. It is all inclusive and surveying, 
valuing and general property management services are all provided by a single contractor, 
who	is	able	to	programme,	execute	and	monitor	the	various	activities	required	to	manage	
SANRAL’s	 land	portfolio	 in	a	 focussed	way.	This	 is	a	national	contract	 that	 is	managed	
within	the	engineering	cluster,	supported	by	managers	in	each	regional	office.

A	three	year	contract	was	provided	for,	which	commenced	on	1	June	2010.	The	contractual	
option	 of	 extending	 the	 contract	 for	 two	 years	 was	 exercised	 in	 November	 2012	 and	
the	 termination	 date	 is	 31	 May	 2014.	 The	 budget	 for	 the	 contract	 is	 approximately	 
R717	489	740	excluding	VAT.

The	process	of	identifying	land	that	was	acquired	over	many	years	by	the	provinces	and	
the	former	Chief	Directorate:	Roads	of	 the	Department	of	Transport	 for	National	Roads	
commenced	on	1	April	1998,	under	a	previous	contract.		SANRAL	is	steadily	transferring	
this	land	to	its	name,	while	the	transfer	of	recently	acquired	land	is	undertaken	as	soon	
as	possible.	At	the	end	of	the	year,	there	were	25	377	properties	that	comprise	the	road	
reserve. Investment properties are reported on separately. As other roads are transferred 
to	SANRAL,	the	reserve	properties	will	also	be	transferred	to	SANRAL.

Acquisitions,	 leases	and	land	sales	are	governed	by	legislated	requirements	to	conduct	
these transactions at market value. 

SANRAL	acquires	land	through	deeds	of	sale,	or,	in	exceptional	cases,	by	expropriation.	

The service provider for land portfolio management makes scholarships, internships and 
bursaries	available	to	deserving	students.	A	minimum	of	two	percent	of	Manco-Aurecon	
JV’s	 (MAJV)	 turnover	must	be	allocated	 to	 training	and	developing	black	professionals.	
The	property	service	provider	had	six	bursars	in	the	past	financial	year	and	has	provided	
experiential	training	to	further	14	interns	at	a	total	cost	of	R317	000.

All	property	maintenance	sub-contractors	and	conveyancers	appointed	under	this	contract	
are	 required	 to	be	black-owned.	However	 it	 remains	difficult	 for	 the	service	provider	 to	
achieve black professional land surveyor and valuer employment targets as these skills are 
still scarce among previously disadvantaged individuals.

Although	 there	 is	 some	 overlap	 due	 to	 sub-contractors	 being	 able	 to	 offer	 more	
than	 one	 kind	 of	 service,	 the	 service	 provider	 sub-contracts	 to	 16	 valuing	 companies,	 
110	conveyancers,	165	maintenance	and	166	horticulture	contractors	and	87	security 
contractors.	Fifty	percent	of	the	value	of	the	work	undertaken	by	MAJV	has	been	undertaken 
by	its	sub-contractors,	resulting	in	a	cumulative	amount	of	R108	718	923.
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Developing Communities and Sustaining the Environment

Reporting Period Highlights

Highlights for the reporting period include the following: 

•	 All	191	SANRAL-funded	learners	who	participated	in	the	University	of	Witwatersrand’s	 
	 (WITS)	 Targeting	 Talent	 Programme	 (TTP),	 which	 supports	 learners	 from 
	 socio-economically	 disadvantaged	 backgrounds	 and	 help	 them	 gain	 admission	 to 
	 selected	 universities,	 completed	 their	 three-year	 participation	 in	 the	 programme	 in	 
	 June	2012.

•	 With	funding	assistance	by	SANRAL,	the	University	of	the	Free	State’s	(UFS)	School	 
	 of	 Open	 Learning	 (SOL)	 launched	 Family	 Math	 and	 Family	 Science	 programmes.	 
 These focus on raising the skills levels and understanding of maths and science  
	 concepts	for	Grade	10,	11	and	12	learners.	Similar	programmes	were	run	in	the	Northern	 
	 Cape,	Free	State	and	Eastern	Cape.

•	 The	 Nelson	 Mandela	 Metropolitan	 University’s	 (NMMU)	 Science	 Technology	 
	 Engineering	 and	 Mathematics	 Pipeline	 Project	 (STEM	 PP)	 aims	 to	 increase	 the	 
 number of learners entering studies for careers in science and technology. A total of  
	 1	081	 learners	participated	 in	 the	STEM	PP	 in	 the	year	under	 review,	so	exposing	 
	 them	to	ICTs	and	practical	science	to	develop	their	interest	and	knowledge	in	these	 
	 critical	areas	for	development	in	South	Africa.

•	 SANRAL’s	proactive	environmental	initiatives	undertaken	in	the	past	year	include	using	 
	 creative	designs	to	save	endangered	plant	species,	particularly	around	the	N7,	where	 
	 a	number	of	upgrades	have	been	planned.	Other	environmental	achievements	include	 
	 hosting	 a	 successful	 Talking	 Road	 Ecology	 workshop,	 effectively	 managing	 road	 
 reserves, and undertaking research to reduce the detrimental impact of road noise in  
	 built-up	areas.

SANRAL-FUNDED LEARNERS COMPLETED 
3 YEARS AT WITS TTP

UFS SOL LAUNCHED FAMILY MATH & SCIENCE

LEARNER’S PARTICIPATING IN STEM PP

SANRAL’S ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES

191

GR 10
11&12

1 081

RAISING THE SKILLS LEVELS

SAVE ENDANGERED PLANT SPECIES
TALKING ROAD ECOLOGY WORKSHOP

E = mc2
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2.1 Community Development 

Road	 infrastructure	 is	 the	key	 to	economic	growth.	South	Africa’s	economic	and	social	
wellbeing	 is	 influenced	 by	 the	 efficient	 and	 effective	movement	 of	 people,	 goods	 and	
services.	Well-planned	 road	 infrastructure	 promotes	 economic	 growth	 and	 sustainable	
development. 

SANRAL’s	national	projects	focus	on	providing	infrastructure	to	accommodate	pedestrians,	
non-motorised	 transport	 and	 long-distance	 mobility.	 Regional	 offices	 identify	 projects	
striving	to	support	Government	objectives,	including	the	development	of	SMMEs,	labour	
maximisation,	training	and	skills	transfer	and	improving	the	quality	of	life	for	all.	

The	main	focus	of	SANRAL’s	community	development	programme	is	to:
•	 Provide	pedestrian	facilities	and	safe	access	points	for	communities	living	next	to	the	 
 national network.
•	 Create	jobs	and	access	to	skills	training.
•	 Develop	SMMEs.
•	 Promote	community	participation.

Here	are	synopses	of	a	few	community	development	projects	initiated	by	SANRAL.	The	
majority of this work aims to empower local labour and develop and transfer skills through 
consultation with the communities concerned. 
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WITS Targeting Talent Programme (TTP)

The	 TTP	 aims	 to	 increase	 the	 academic,	 social	 and	 psychological	 preparation	 of	 200	
academically	 talented	 learners	 from	socio-economically	disadvantaged	backgrounds	so	
they	can	more	easily	gain	admission	to	selected	South	African	universities	and	succeed	in	
their tertiary studies. The project has four phases:
•	 Conceptualisation	of	the	programme	and	securing	the	necessary	funding.
•	 Identification	 of	 academically	 talented	 learners	 from	 Gauteng,	 Limpopo	 and	 
 Mpumalanga.
•	 Supporting	the	learners	through	their	Grades	10-12	to	ensure	high	matric	pass	rates.
•	 Monitoring	the	learners	for	the	duration	of	their	universities	studies	to	track	progress	 
 and career choices.

Table 14 Number	of	Schools	Participating	in	Wits	TTP	by	Province

Province Number of Participating Schools
Gauteng	 8
Limpopo	 14
Mpumalanga	 9
TOTAL  31

In	total,	191	SANRAL-funded	learners	participated	in	the	TTP	in	2012,	completing	their	
three-year	cycle	of	participation	in	the	programme	in	June.	For	these	Grade	12	learners,	the	
June	Residential	Academic	Enrichment	Curriculum	(RAEC)	was	the	last	contact	session	
at	TTP.	The	reduced	number	of	contact	sessions	for	Grade	12	learners	in	their	final	year	is	
intended	to	enable	these	learners	to	focus	on	preparing	for	their	Matriculation	examinations	
in	the	second	half	of	the	year,	which	often	coincides	with	the	final	TTP	contact	session.	In	
June	2012,	189	SANRAL-funded	learners	(who	attended	the	June	RAEC)	graduated	from	
the	TTP.	The	table	below	shows	the	number	of	learners	who	were	retained	during	the	three	
year cycle, per province: 

Table 15 Number	of	Learners	Retained	over	Three	Year	Cycle	(2010-2012)

Province Total beginning 2010 End of 2010 Total 2011 Total 2012
Gauteng	 49	 49	 48	 46
Limpopo		 102	 101	 98	 97
Mpumalanga	 49	 49	 49	 48
Total  200 199 195 191

At its conclusion, the programme was successful at retaining the majority of the learners 
(191	out	of	200	learners	or	95.5	percent)	in	the	programme.	

The	annual	educator	enrichment	programme	was	held	in	June	2012	at	the	University	of	the	
Witwatersrand’s	Education	Campus,	in	Johannesburg.	It	was	attended	by	78	educators,	
32	of	whom	were	funded	by	SANRAL.	Most	of	the	educators	(42)	were	participating	in	
the	programme	for	the	first	time.	

UFS School of Open Learning (SOL) 

With	funding	assistance	by	SANRAL,	the	UFS’s	SOL	launched	a	two-year	project	with	the	
intention to change attitudes towards maths and science and to raise the number of maths 
and	science	achievers	in	the	Free	State,	Northern	and	Eastern	Cape.	The	project	strategy	
comprises	of	two	main	components	i.e.	a	Family	Math	and	Family	Science	programme	to	
demystify maths and science for learners in the early school years and an Information and 
Communication	Technology	 (ICT)	Laboratory	programme,	which	 focuses	on	 raising	 the	
skills	levels	and	understanding	of	maths	and	science	concepts	by	grade	10,	11	and	12	
learners. 

It has benefitted me in so 
many ways. It has improved my 
knowledge and learning skills.

It has benefited me academically 
and personally, my school  
marks have improved and so  
has my communication and 
independence skills.

My marks at school are now 
at a higher level, I have grown 
as an individual, I know how 
to manage my time and I study 
very hard.

The programme helped me 
grow and be responsible for 
myself. It also taught me to be 
independent.

What Learners Said about Wits TTP
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ICT Laboratory 

The	UFS’s	ICT	Laboratory	mission	is	to	enable	and	encourage	more	learners	and	students	
to	enter	into	science-related	studies	and	careers.	To	accomplish	this,	learners	and	students	
with	the	necessary	potential	are	exposed	to	carefully	planned	ICT	Laboratory	sessions.	

In	2012,	325	Grade	10,	11	and	12	learners	from	21	different	schools	attended	sessions	
at	the	ICT	Laboratory.	The	learners	engaged	in	curriculum	related	activities	on	a	regular	
basis.	 The	 programme	 supports	 the	 needs	 of	 the	 so-called	 “Y-generation”	 or	 “techno	
clever	generation”	by	using	ICT	to	create	new,	non-traditional	learning	environments	that	
addresses	science	principles.	One	of	 the	 key	elements	of	 the	 success	of	 the	 schools’	
project	is	the	fact	that	every	individual	learner	is	exposed	to	at	least	30	sessions	over	a	
three-year	period	between	the	grades	of	10	to	12.	

Apart	from	conducting	experiments	and	other	hands-on	activities,	learners	were	exposed	to	
events	such	as	a	visit	to	Boyden	Observatory,	rocket-building	as	well	as	a	career	guidance	
session	where	an	official	link	was	established	between	the	learners	and	the	University’s	
Unit	for	Prospective	Students.	

The	 programme	 benefited	 aspiring	 university	 students.	 The	 ICT	 Laboratories	 on	 both	
campuses	 (Main	 and	Qwaqwa)	were	 responsible	 for	 teaching	 the	 physics	 component	
to	 344	BSc	 students	 (four	 year	 curriculum)	 as	well	 as	 running	 sessions	with	 physical	
sciences student educators from the Faculty of Education.

At	the	end	of	2012,	the	achievement	of	the	following	project	outcomes	as	well	as	spin-offs	
are a clear indication of the successes of the programme:
•	 A	 total	number	of	325	 learners	and	362	students	were	enrolled	 in	 the	programme.	 
 All the learners are achievers in mathematics and science and will probably soon  
	 pursue	science-oriented	tertiary	studies.	
•	 At	each	participating	school	a	physical	sciences	educator	acted	as	a	link	between	the	 
 school and the programme. In this regard valuable relationships and partnerships were  
	 established	between	the	UFS,	schools	and	SANRAL.

Due	to	the	impact	and	successes	and	contribution	of	the	ICT	Laboratory	at	UFS’s	Main	
campus, a centre for science and mathematics teaching and learning was established at 
the	Faculty	of	Education	during	the	latter	part	of	2012.

SESSIONS AT THE ICT LABORATORY
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Family Math and Family Science 

The	mission	 of	 the	UFS’s	 Family	Math	 and	Science	project	 is	 to	 demystify	maths	 and	
science for learners by raising their levels of understanding and changing their attitudes 
towards	mathematics	and	science.	This	is	done	by	exposing	learners	to	Family	Math	and	
Family	Science	activities	on	a	regular	basis	in	the	classroom	and	integrating	the	activities	
into the curriculum. 

A	total	number	of	14	088	learners	from	predominately	rural	communities	in	the	Free	State,	
Northern	Cape	and	Eastern	Cape	were	actively	involved	in	doing	Family	Math	and	Family	
Science	activities	during	2012	 (213	299	exposures).	To	achieve	 this,	 the	SOL	 trained	
16	 subject	 advisors	 to	 act	 as	 regional	 coordinators	 with	 the	 responsibility	 of	 training	
and	supporting	local	educators	in	the	implementation	of	the	programme.	One	of	the	key	
elements	of	 the	success	of	 the	project	 is	 the	 fact	 that	 the	SOL	also	manufactures	and	
issues	the	269	participating	educators	with	sufficient	training	material,	 like	manuals	and	
other activity material to be utilised in the classroom. 

The	 latter	was	made	possible	 through	 the	 financial	 support	 from	SANRAL,	ABSA	and	
OLD	MUTUAL.

A	 summary	 of	 the	 feedback	 from	 attendee’s	 of	 the	 Family	 Math	 and	 Family	 Science	
programmes	 held	 in	 the	 Free	 State,	 Northern	 Cape	 and	 Eastern	 Cape	 provinces	 are	
reflected	on	page	72.

UFS’S FAMILY MATH AND SCIENCE PROJECT

SOL TRAINED 
SUBJECT 
ADVISORS 

PARTICIPATING 
EDUCATORS

14 088
16

269

LEARNERS FROM RURAL COMMUNITIES

E = mc2
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Observing how learners 
that struggle a lot with  
mathematics understand and 
appreciate maths after taking 
part in activities.

It is essential for parents and 
guardians to be partners and 
supporters in math teaching  
and learning.

Learners enjoy being hands-
on rather than writing and 
theory.

The children’s expressions  
when they understood the 
games, especially slower 
learners’ happiness!

EDUCATORS AND LEARNERS REFLECTION

The most valuable or best experience for me  
as an educator

Educators reflection on Free State Family Math and Family Science Programme
The	most	valuable	or	best	experience	for	me	as	an	educator

•	 I	notice	that	my	learners	have	become	problem	solvers.
•	 Learners	enjoy	being	hands-on	rather	than	writing	and	theory.
•	 I	learned	with	the	learners.

Observations	regarding	learners’	attitudes	towards	mathematics	and	science

•	 Show	positive	attitudes	during	maths	and	science.
•	 Learners	enjoy	the	sessions.	
•	 This	encourages	learners	to	learn	and	know	more	about	science	because	they	become	 
	 excited	when	doing	it.

Educators and Learners reflection on Northern Cape Family Math and Family 
Science Programme
The	most	valuable	or	best	experience	for	me	as	an	educator

•	 Observing	how	learners	that	struggle	a	lot	with	mathematics	understand	and	appreciate	 
 maths after taking part in activities.
•	 The	 learners	 expressions	 when	 they	 understood	 the	 games,	 especially	 slower	 
	 learners’	happiness!
•	 One	is	never	too	old	to	learn.	You	realise	that	you	have	strengths	and	abilities	that	you	 
	 didn’t	know	you	have.	There	is	nothing	that	you	can	take	for	granted.	

Observation	regarding	learners’	understanding	of	concepts

•	 Some	concepts	were	difficult	for	them	–	after	a	while,	if	they	understood	it,	they	enjoyed	 
 it and wanted to play again. 
•	 All	 learners	 participating.	 Learners	 who	 are	 slow	 also	 participate	 freely	 when	 they	 
	 knew	exactly	what	to	do.	
•	 Learners	with	different	abilities	learn	at	a	different	pace,	but	all	enjoyed	the	activities.

Educators and Learners reflection on Eastern Cape Family Math Programme
The	most	valuable	or	best	experience	for	me	as	an	educator

•	 I	did	not	understand	why	 learners	are	not	eager	 to	 learn	mathematics.	Now	 I	know	 
 that mathematics needs lots of activities and creativity.
•	 It	is	essential	for	parents	and	guardians	to	be	partners	and	supporters	in	math	teaching	 
 and learning.
•	 It	is	encouraging	to	see	learners	using	the	apparatus	to	solve	problems	on	their	own.	 
 Having apparatus to actually do the sum is a great help to some learners.

Observations	regarding	learners’	attitudes	towards	mathematics	and	science

•	 Learners	 develop	 a	 love	 for	 mathematics;	 they	 are	 actively	 involved	 and	 fully	 
 participating.
•	 The	less	confident	mathematicians	enjoyed	having	something	concrete	to	work	with,	 
	 thus	boosting	their	confidence	to	attempt	the	problems	on	their	own.
•	 Maths	 made	 real,	 maths	 made	 interesting,	 maths	 made	 fun;	 gives	 rise	 to	 positive	 
	 attitudes	in	a	stress-free	environment.
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NMMU Science Technology Engineering and Mathematics Pipeline Project 
(STEM PP)

The	NMMU’s	STEM	PP	aims	to	increase	the	number	of	learners	entering	studies	for	careers	
in	 science	and	 technology.	This	 is	done	by	presenting	 Information	and	Communication	
Technologies	(ICT)	and	curriculum-based	physical	science	experiments	to	Grade	10	–	12	
learners from selected schools.

Two	distinct	groups	of	learners	were	targeted.	The	first	group	consisted	of	selected	Grade	
10	 -12	 learners	who	 received	 over	 60	 percent	 for	mathematics	 and	 physical	 science.	
These	 learners	were	predominantly	 from	quintile	five	schools	 (ex-Model	C	schools)	and	
were	accommodated	in	the	afternoons	for	a	two-hour	session	where	learners	did	a	variety	
of	experiments.

The second group occupied the laboratory in the mornings and involved Grade  
10	 -	 12	 learners.	 Schools	 within	 a	 3km	 radius	 of	 the	 Missionvale	 campus	 of	 NMMU	
were	 approached	 and	 invited	 to	 do	 experiments	 and	 investigations	 at	 the	 STEM	 PP	
laboratory.	This	involved	the	entire	Grade	10,	11	and	12	physical	science	classes	as	well	
as	 the	 accompanying	 physical	 science	 educator.	 Learners	 from	 these	 schools	 did	 ICT	
experiments	and	investigations.

In	order	to	honour	the	memorandum	of	agreement	with	SANRAL,	all	activities	undertaken	
by	STEM	PP	aim	to:
•	 Expose	learners	to	laboratory	activities.
•	 Present	curriculum	based	experiments	using	ICTs.
•	 Expose	learners	to	ICTs	in	preparation	for	tertiary	studies.
•	 Assist	learners	to	comprehend	the	theory	taught	in	class.

As	shown	in	Table	16	below,	a	total	of	1	081	learners	participated	in	the	STEM	PP,	thus	
exposing	them	to	ICTs	and	practical	science	to	develop	their	 interest	and	knowledge	in	
these	critical	areas	for	development	in	South	Africa.

TABLE 16 Number	of	Students	Participating	in	STEM	PP

       Race Group 

Grade   A C I W
10	 	 	 	 117	 83	 1	 42
11	 	 	 	 265	 105	 11	 33
12	 	 	 	 238	 126	 7	 17
First-year	university	
students	 	 18	 9	 3	 6
Total   638 323 22 98
Percent	 		 59%	 30%	 2%	 9%

SESSIONS AT THE ICT LABORATORY

LEARNERS & STUDENTS ACCORDING TO GRADE
AND STUDY LEVEL
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Concessionaires 

The following are project highlights of community development initiatives implemented by 
concessionaries in the period under review.

BAKWENA 

BAKWENA	continues	to	support	a	number	of	projects,	but	has	also	tackled	a	few	new	
initiatives, as summarised below:

•	 Supporting	the	Chaneng	Business	Centre	in	the	vicinity	of	Rustenburg,	North	West	 
	 Province,	so	helping	businesses	flourish	by	being	exposed	to	a	larger	market.	
•	 BAKWENA,	 together	 with	 Kgetlengrivier	 Municipality,	 signed	 a	 memorandum	 of	 
	 understanding	for	the	regeneration	of	Swartruggens.	This	project	involves	constructing	 
	 sidewalks	 on	 both	 sides	 of	 the	 N4,	 upgrading	 the	 existing	 stormwater	 system,	 
	 investigating	the	community	business	centre	for	support	opportunities	and	re-designing	 
 of off street parking areas. 
•	 As	 the	 social	 needs	 in	 the	 community	 increased,	 the	 Mohau	 Centre	 expanded	 its	 
 services by adding community based social services with a focus on strengthening  
	 and	 empowering	 families	 in	 the	 community.	 Mohau	 House	 in	 Kilner	 Park	 currently	 
	 provides	 residential	care	 for	eight	HIV	affected	children.	BAKWENA	contributed	 to	 
	 the	purchase	of	this	house	and	provides	on-going	support	annually	depending	on	the	 
 needs of the children.
•	 BAKWENA,	 as	 the	 main	 sponsor,	 provides	 an	 on-going	 contribution	 towards	 the	 
 renovation of the Thusanang house, a day care centre based in Groot Marico.  
•	 The	Groot	Marico	Bosveld	Myl	is	a	family	festival,	which	consists	of	three	categories	of	 
	 various	distances,	namely	swimming,	mountain	biking	and	running.	BAKWENA	is	the	 
	 main	sponsor	of	this	community	event.	During	2012	the	number	of	participants	as	well	 
 as festival goers doubled resulting in an enormous and very successful day.
•	 BAKWENA	has	been	supporting	the	Annual	Toy	Run	(in	which	motorcycle	enthusiasts	 
	 collect	and	distribute	toys	and	gifts	for	less	privileged	children)	for	the	last	six	years.	Its	 
	 contribution	is	approximately	R70	000	per	annum.
•	 BAKWENA	hosts	an	annual	Charity	Golf	Day	to	build	relationships	with	staff,	suppliers	 
	 and	clients.	BAKWENA	has	held	 four	 successful	Charity	Golf	Days.	 The	proceeds	 
 from these have assisted various charity organisations including Mohau House,  
	 Thusanang	Early	Learning	Centre,	Pink	Drive	and	CANSA.	
•	 Ad	hoc	assistance	has	been	provided	at	a	cost	of	 about	R53	000	 to	a	number	of	 
	 community	 projects	 like	Manger	Marine,	 Nappy	 Rally,	 Scooter	 Addicts,	 Pink	 Drive,	 
	 Department	of	Education,	RTMC,	SARF	and	Villieria	CPF.	
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N3TC 

N3TC’s	 Touching	 Lives	 Corporate	 Social	 Investment	 (CSI)	 programme	 spans	 four	
provinces:	Gauteng,	 Free	State,	Mpumalanga	 and	KwaZulu-Natal.	During	2012,	N3TC	
supported	43	community-based	projects	and	directly	touched	71	821	lives,	creating	359	
jobs	and	involving	260	volunteers.		

During	2012,	N3TC	 launched	 its	2029	Legacy	project,	with	 the	 intention	of	building	a	
legacy	 that	will	continue	beyond	 the	period	of	 the	concession	contract.	Four	 long-term	
projects	were	supported	under	this	banner:	Singakwenza	Early	Childhood	Development	
Programme,	Nelson	Mandela	Capture	Site,	the	Bearded	Vulture	Hide	Project	and	route	
development	sponsorship	associated	with	the	joBerg2C	MTB	(mountain	bike)	stage	race.	
N3TC	staff	members	and	contractors	are	encouraged,	 through	a	volunteer	programme,	
to	support	the	Legacy	project	and	many	employees	spend	hours	working	alongside	the	
projects to ensure their overall success.

Other	projects	supported	by	N3TC	include:
•	 Development	 and	 training	 of	 passionate	 and	 committed	 individuals.	N3TC	assisted	 
 over two hundred community members in a variety of training and development projects 
•	 Tourism	development	forms	a	major	part	of	N3TC’s	Touching	Lives	CSI	programme.	

TRAC 

TRAC	has	a	number	of	corporate	social	initiatives,	which	it	runs	along	the	N4	route	and	in	
Mozambique.	The	following	are	a	few	of	these	projects:
•	 TRAC	and	Tsb	Sugar	embarked	on	a	joint	initiative	to	develop	and	build	a	shelter	for	 
	 informal	traders	selling	their	goods	at	the	turn-off	towards	Malalane	Kruger	Park	Gate	 
	 (N4/R570	intersection).	
•	 WITS	Reproductive	Health	and	HIV	Research	Institute	(Wits	RHI)	is	working	towards	 
	 the	provision	of	primary	health	care	services	and	the	provision	of	HIV	and	other	chronic	 
	 diseases	health	services	in	the	Emakhazeni	region	(Belfast,	Dullstroom,	Machadodorp	 
	 and	Waterval	Boven).	
•	 TRAC	provided	 funding	and	project	managed	 the	building	of	 two	 foundation	phase	 
	 (Grade	R)	classrooms	at	the	Takheleni	Primary	School	in	Matsulu.	
•	 TRAC	 entered	 into	 a	 partnership	 with	 the	 Penreach	 Trust	 to	 support	 education	 
	 programmes	 in	 Mpumalanga.	 Penreach	 provides	 a	 wide	 range	 of	 educational	 
	 programmes	and	support	to	over	2	400	beneficiaries	from	more	than	900	schools	in	 
	 deserving	communities	spread	across	the	Mpumalanga	Lowveld	region	and	beyond.	 
	 An	estimated	400	000	learners	benefit	from	this	programme	annually.	
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2.2 Environmental Management 

Environmental	 management	 is	 an	 integral	 component	 of	 SANRAL’s	 road	 infrastructure	
development	 and	 road	 management.	 To	 meet	 the	 requirements	 of	 people	 and	 the	
environment	requires	planning	and	innovation	to	balance	the	interests	of	the	road	user	and	
authorities	on	the	one	hand,	and	environmental	and	socio-economic	interests	on	the	other.

Environmental Aspects and Impacts 

In the process of road construction and operation activities, land is transformed, water 
resources are affected and used, substances are emitted into the air, wastes are generated 
and	there	is	interaction	with	local	communities.	SANRAL	therefore	has	impacts	of	varying	
significance	–	whether	adversely	or	beneficially	–	on	the	physical	environment	and	on	the	
social and economic environments in the areas where it operates. 

Corporate Environmental Policy 

SANRAL’s	 approach	 to	managing	 the	 environmental	 impacts	 of	 road	 construction	 and	
operation activities is based on the sustainable development framework, as well as the 
ISO	140011 international environmental management standard. The basic tenet of this 
policy	is	continual	improvement,	underscored	by	SANRAL’s	core	values.	It	also	includes	a	
commitment	to	comply	with	relevant	legal	requirements.	SANRAL’s	environmental	policy	
addresses the environmental impacts and opportunities of the business and provides a 
framework for the setting and reviewing of environmental objectives and targets. 

To	give	effect	 to	 the	policy,	SANRAL	undertakes	project-specific	environmental	 impact	
assessments	(EIAs)	in	accordance	with	relevant	legislative	requirements	and	continues	to	
improve	on	existing	and	develops	new	internal	guidelines	for	environmental	management	
of	 its	 activities.	 A	 generic	 construction	 Environmental	Management	 Plan	 (EMP)	 is	 one	
such	guideline,	which	is	used	for	projects	that	do	not	require	authorisation	and	would	thus	
not	have	specific	EMPs.	It	is	also	used	to	augment	specific	EMPs,	as	it	addresses	road-
building activities in general, even those that would not have been the subject of project 
EIAs	and	is	therefore	updated	regularly;	the	most	recent	version	dates	to	early	2012.	

Liaison with Regulatory Authorities 

SANRAL	forges	and	maintains	mutually	beneficial	relationships	with	relevant	government	
departments,	particularly	the	Department	of	Environmental	Affairs	(DEA),	the	Department	
of	Mineral	Resources	(DMR)	and	more	recently	the	Department	of	Water	Affairs	(DWA).	
SANRAL	and	the	DEA	have	signed	a	Memorandum	of	Understanding	(MOU)	to	provide	
an administrative framework that ensures a coherent and consistent approach to road 
development and the EIA process. It also forms the basis of regular meetings and feedback 
mechanisms	 between	SANRAL	 and	 the	DEA	 to	 discuss	 strategic	 and	 project-specific 
issues	that	affect	areas	of	interaction	between	the	two	entities.	Some	of	SANRAL’s	larger	
projects,	 including	 those	 that	 fall	 within	 government’s	 Strategic	 Infrastructure	 Projects	
(SIPs)	benefit	from	liaison	with	regulatory	authorities.	It	ensures	early	warning	of	work	to	
be done and assists with planning. 

Monitoring and Evaluating Environmental Performance 

The level of environmental performance on a project is determined by feedback from 
regular site inspections by project teams, environmental authorities, and internal and 
external	audit	(environmental	management	inspectors)	teams	where	applicable.	Highlights	
of	project	performance	are	outlined	below,	highlighting	how	SANRAL	contributed	to	the	
preservation	of	South	Africa’s	unique	heritage	and	biodiversity.	

1	 The	 ISO	 14001	 standard	 is	 the	 most	
important	 standard	 within	 the	 ISO	 14000	
series.	ISO	14001	specifies	the	requirements	
of an environmental management system 
(EMS)	 for	 small	 to	 large	 organisations.	 An	
EMS	 is	 a	 systemic	 approach	 to	 handling	
environmental issues within an organisation. 
The	 ISO	 14001	 standard	 is	 based	 on	 the	
Plan-Check-Do-Review-Improve	cycle.
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N2: Improvements between Keiskamma River and Green River 

This	 project	 has	 been	 a	 fascinating	 mixture	 of	 historical	 and	 biodiversity	 discoveries.	
The scope entails improvements on the pavement and vertical alignment, as well as 
the	construction	of	a	new	bridge	over	the	Green	River	and	the	widening	of	the	existing	
Keiskamma	River	Bridge.	The	Keiskamma	Bridge	was	enlarged	using	suspended	cradles	
and no work in or access into the river bed was allowed. This met with favourable approval 
from	the	DWA	and	DEA.	

Preserving our Heritage 
The	 old	 stone-pitched	 stormwater	 channels	 were	 not	 destroyed,	 but	 were	 simply	
incorporated	into	the	new	design,	thus	retaining	the	look	and	feel	of	the	Keiskamma	River	
crossing. 

Preserving Biodiversity 
Of	interest	is	the	number	of	aloes	(Aloe	ferox)	on	this	project.	Aloe	ferox	is	listed	in	Appendix	
II	of	CITES2 endangered plants, which are species that are not necessarily threatened with 
extinction,	but	may	become	so	unless	trade	in	specimens	of	such	species	 is	subject	to	
strict	regulation.	The	aloe	is	also	of	significance	because	it	 is	the	provincial	plant	of	the	
Eastern	Cape.	It	is	found	in	abundance	along	the	Keiskamma	River.	At	the	beginning	of	the	
project,	a	nursery	for	the	aloes	was	prepared	at	the	site	office	and	the	aloes	were	relocated	
there.	These	will	be	transferred	back	to	the	Keiskamma	River	Pass	for	final	rehabilitation	
of the area.

Of	even	more	significance	is	the	discovery	of	Tulbaghia	cominsii,	a	rare	monocotyledonous	
plant	named	after	Ryk	Tulbagh,	the	Governor	of	the	Cape	Colony	from	1751	to	1771.	The	
contractor	protected	the	habitat	from	harm	of	his	own	accord.	Also	occurring	on-site	is	the	
indigenous	and	protected	Harebell	(Diorama).	One	thousand	plants	that	would	have	been	
affected by the construction were transplanted and the remainder were kept in situ while 
the	area	is	demarcated	as	no-go	to	prevent	any	destruction	of	their	habitat.	

Also	 found	 in	 the	 pass	 is	 an	 old	 quarry,	 which	 has	 now	 been	 rehabilitated.	 Growing	
in	 the	quarry	 and	 still	 thriving	 after	 the	 rehabilitation	works	 are	 two	Sneezewood	 trees	
(Ptaeroxylon	oblique).	

Alien Species Eradication 
Four	species	of	alien	vegetation	occur	on-site,	but	an	on-going	programme	is	in	place	to	
constantly	remove	them.	They	are	Grys	dissel,	Castor	oil	plant,	Black	wattle	and	Ollie	boll.

N7: Upgrade between Melkbosstrand Road and Atlantis Intersections 

The	upgrade	of	 the	N7	between	 the	Melkbosstrand	Road	and	Atlantis	 intersections	 in	
the	 Western	 Cape	 posed	 a	 number	 of	 environmental	 challenges,	 including	 weather,	
especially	 fog	 and	 the	 notorious	 south-easterly	wind.	However,	 the	most	 significant	 of	
environmental	challenges	was	conserving	the	Cape	Flats	Sand	Fynbos	and	the	Swartland	
Shale	Renosterveld,	which	were	affected	by	the	widening	of	the	road	and	construction	of	
new interchanges.

An	EIA	including	a	comprehensive	botanical	specialist	study	was	undertaken	in	2010/2011	
to	 identify	potential	 impacts	and	specific	mitigation	measures	arising	 from	 the	upgrade	
project.	This	 identified	an	area	consisting	of	Cape	Flats	Sand	Fynbos	near	the	planned	
Melkbosstrand	 Road	 interchange,	 which	 was	 also	 a	 transition	 to	 the	 Swartland	 Shale	
Renosterveld	variety.	The	assessment	warned	that	a	significant	portion	of	this	vegetation,	
which	included	six	Red	Data	species	(deemed	vulnerable	to	critically	endangered)	would	
be destroyed during the proposed upgrade. Further, the assessment found that no 
mitigation	measures	would	adequately	reduce	the	loss	of	these	highly	valued	conservation	
species given their current status and threats. 

Sneezewood
Sneezewood is a very hard and durable 
tree native to southern Africa. It is used for 
medicinal and ritual purposes. The bark can 
be used to repel moths or as snuff to relieve 
headaches, while the resin has been known 
to get rid of warts and cattle ticks.

2	CITES	 is	 the	 Convention	 on	 International	
Trade	in	Endangered	Species	of	Wild	Fauna	
and	 Flora.	 It	 is	 a	 multi-lateral	 treaty	 which	
entered	into	force	in	1975.



78

SECTION 2  DEVELOPING COMMUNITIES AND SUSTAINING THE ENVIRONMENT 02

Meeting the Challenges: By Design 
Due	to	the	presence	of	this	sensitive	vegetation	on	the	eastern	side	of	the	road	in	proximity	
of	the	Melkbosstrand	Road	interchange;	SANRAL	adopted,	despite	the	cost	implications,	
an	alternative	alignment	to	the	west	of	the	existing	road.	This	alternative	alignment	crossed	
over	 the	 existing	 road	 before	 looping	 back	 to	 reduce	 the	 direct	 impact	 on	 sensitive	
vegetation.	This	alternative	alignment	resulted	in	the	saving	of	approximately	25	000	m2	of 
highly sensitive vegetation. 

As	not	all	sensitive	vegetation	could	be	saved,	a	suitable	receptor	site	was	identified	in	
consultation	with	 the	City	of	Cape	Town	 to	which	all	 sensitive	plants	and	seeds	 in	 the	
footprint of the new road would be relocated. 

The	ramps	of	the	Atlantis	interchange	were	also	realigned	to	avoid	the	loss	of	Swartland	
Shale	 Renosterveld,	 particularly	 in	 the	 north	 eastern	 quadrant	 of	 the	 new	 interchange,	
where	a	number	of	Red	Data	species	were	identified.	The	loop	of	the	north	eastern	ramp	
was	re-configured	to	a	larger	radius	thus	maximising	the	area	to	be	conserved	within	the	
interchange	from	about	8	000m2	to	approximately	13	000m2	.	SANRAL	further	acquired	
an	additional	area	of	14	000m2	in	this	quadrant	 for	conservation	of	sensitive	vegetation	
in agreement with environmental authorities. As these areas are located in the new 
road	 reserve	 of	 the	 national	 road,	 SANRAL	 will	 take	 responsibility	 for	 their	 long-term	
conservation	 and	maintenance.	A	 search-and-rescue	 operation	was	 also	 undertaken	 at	
this interchange to further identify and relocate all other sensitive plants that would fall 
outside	the	conservation	radius.	Further,	all	sensitive	areas	were	fenced	off	in	September	
2012	and	designated	as	no-go	areas	during	the	construction	period,	which	will	continue	
until	December	2014.

Particular	attention	was	paid	to	drainage	mechanisms	to	ensure	that	the	hydrological	regime	
of	the	area	will	not	be	significantly	altered	by	the	road.	All	existing	drainage	structures	were	
either	retained	and	extended	or	replaced	in	their	existing	positions,	ensuring	that	drainage	
courses remained intact.

N18: Construction of a New Bridge across the Vaal River in Warrenton 

The	low-level	bridge	over	the	Vaal	River	at	Warrenton	in	the	Northern	Cape	was	frequently	
under	water	during	the	rainy	season,	posing	a	hazard	to	both	vehicular	and	pedestrian/
cyclist	crossings	and	resulting	in	a	costly	diversion	of	traffic.	The	new	bridge	and	associated	
re-alignment	of	the	N18	with	pedestrian	sidewalks	 is	designed	to	a	1:50	year	recurring	
flood	level	in	accordance	with	SANRAL	standards.	This	new	bridge	will	limit	the	probability	
of	a	road	closure	during	flooding	of	the	Vaal	River.

Challenges 
The	construction	of	a	large	bridge	over	this	massive	river	presented	some	unique	challenges.	
The	total	length	of	the	bridge	is	368m	and	consists	of	16m	by	23m	spans,	supported	on	
two	 abutments	 and	 15	 piers.	 The	maximum	 height	 of	 the	 new	 bridge	 deck	 above	 the	
riverbed	will	 be	 approximately	 9m.	Construction	 of	 the	 bridge	 necessitates	 temporarily	
diverting the water from the river for the bridge foundation to be laid in the riverbed. 

Environmental Concerns 
The area where the bridge is to be constructed is considered an important spawning 
area	 for	 fish	 species	within	 the	 region.	SANRAL	 had	 to	 ensure	 that	 the	 habitat	would	
not	 be	 significantly	 transformed	 by	 construction	 activities.	 Observations	 from	 general	
habitat descriptions and surveys indicated that although the riparian vegetation had been 
impacted by the old bridge, it still remained largely intact and the potential for soil erosion 
along the banks was low to medium.

Minimising Environmental Impacts 
Authorisation	was	obtained	from	the	DEA	and	DWA	in	terms	of	the	National	Environmental	
Management	Act,	1998	and	 the	National	Water	Act,	1998,	 respectively.	 In	 addition	 to	
the conditions of the authorisations, project detailed method statements were prepared 
for the river crossing, taking into consideration the actual construction activity and the 

Cape Flats Sand Fynbos
Cape Flats Sand Fynbos is a critically 
endangered vegetation type that occurs 
only around Cape Town. It is the richest and 
most diverse type of Fynbos (in terms of 
composition). Less than one percent of this 
unique lowland Fynbos vegetation is formally 
conserved. This low level of conservation is 
not adequate as this type of Fynbos has the 
highest number of threatened species and 
continues to be threatened by development 
and invasive alien plants.
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environmental risks it posed. The method statements outline mitigation measures to be 
taken	when	working	 inside	or	 in	 the	vicinity	of	 the	 river	and	 identify	 specific	actions	 to	
minimise environmental impacts. 

An	independent	Environmental	Control	Officer	(ECO)	was	employed	to	audit	compliance	
with the environmental authorisation conditions as well as the mitigation measures 
stipulated	 in	 the	 Environmental	Management	 Programme	drawn	 up	 specifically	 for	 this	
project.	 The	 ECO	 will	 facilitate	 rehabilitation	 and	 will	 remain	 on	 the	 project	 until	 all	
rehabilitation is complete.

Various	 measures	 to	 minimise/prevent	 any	 potential	 erosion	 are	 being	 implemented.	
Support	pillars	 for	 the	bridge	are	designed	such	that	the	potential	 for	floating	debris	to	
be snagged up is minimised. Energy dissipators and rock packed mattresses are used to 
minimise any possible erosion, while soil erosion on the riverbanks is prevented by using 
silt fences. 

The rocks that were removed to accommodate the construction will be retained and 
replaced with reference to the natural features during the site reinstatement and 
rehabilitation	phase.	The	aquatic	habitat	will	be	rehabilitated	to	the	state	prior	to	the	onset	
of	the	construction	phase	to	conserve	aquatic	fauna	and	flora.

Preserving Biodiversity 
Destruction	 of	 the	 riparian	 habitat	 through	 the	 unnecessary	 clearing	 of	 vegetation	 is	
avoided	 and	 fishing	 and	 hunting	 of	 local	 fauna	 is	 strictly	 prohibited.	 The	 species	 Aloe	
grandidentata,	which	was	discovered	on-site,	was	rescued	and	relocated	to	an	area	outside	
of	construction	activities.	Although	these	aloes	are	not	Red	Data	species	the	contractor	
transplanted	them	for	use	during	rehabilitation	so	that	the	ecosystem	that	existed	before	
construction can be restored as much as possible.

Exotic	 vegetation	 identified	 on-site	 is	 removed	 on	 an	 on-going	 basis	 throughout	 the	
construction	period.	An	example	is	the	Opuntia	aurantiaca	species,	which	was	found	on-
site	when	construction	commenced.	This	species	is	classified	as	a	Category	1	weed	under	
the	Conservation	of	Agricultural	Resources	Act,	of	1983.

Preserving our Heritage 
The	old	bridge	over	the	Vaal	River	in	Warrenton	was	opened	in	1931	and	has	thus	been	a	
prominent	feature	of	the	town	for	over	80	years.	The	bridge	could	only	be	demolished	with	
approval	from	the	South	African	Heritage	Resources	Agency,	but	during	the	assessment	
phase	the	community	expressed	a	desire	to	retain	the	bridge.	SANRAL’s	intention	is	thus	
to	preserve	it	and	to	work	in	partnership	with	the	Magareng	Local	Municipality	to	finalise	
the desired state of the landmark bridge. 

R71: Partial Reconstruction from Polokwane to Tzaneen 

The	project	activities	include	the	rehabilitation	and	upgrading	of	the	existing	road	pavement	
-	new	bridge	structures	to	replace	existing	structures	and	the	extension	of	existing	storm	
water	 culverts,	which	 necessitated	 an	 EIA.	 The	 assessment	 identified	 the	 presence	 of	
the	critically	endangered	Swartbos	Grassland	adjacent	to	particular	sections	of	the	road.	
A portion of this grassland inadvertently damaged during construction was successfully 
rehabilitated. Indigenous vegetation is now in bloom in the patch of grassland. 

On-going Environmental Impact Assessment Processes 

N2 Idutywa and Butterworth Ring Roads 

The	N2	currently	runs	through	the	centres	of	both	Idutywa	and	Butterworth	and	also	acts	
as	the	main	road	for	each	town,	which	results	in	traffic	congestion	and	significant	delays	to	
through	traffic.	This	has	necessitated	the	provision	of	ring	roads	past	the	two	towns.	EIAs	
have commenced for both projects and stakeholder engagement processes and drafting 
of the scoping reports are underway.
     

Discovery of Unidentified Euphorbia 
Species 
Although other Euphorbia species were 
identified during the assessment phase, 
routine environmental monitoring of the 
construction works project found an 
unknown species of Euphorbia. Euphorbia 
is a highly diverse plant genus, comprising 
in excess of 5,000 taxa. The specimen of the 
‘new’ plant was taken by a botanist to the 
University of Limpopo for identification. 



80

SECTION 2  DEVELOPING COMMUNITIES AND SUSTAINING THE ENVIRONMENT 02

N2 Wild Coast Toll Highway 

Following	the	decision	of	the	DEA	to	grant	environmental	authorisation,	as	provided	for	in	
the EIA regulations, appeals were lodged with the Minister of Water and Environmental 
Affairs against the environmental authorisation. The Minister decided to set aside the 
appeals,	 thereby	 upholding	 the	 decision	 of	 the	 Department	 in	 July	 2011.	 The	 appeal	
decision of the Minister of Water and Environmental Affairs is being challenged and is 
subject	to	judicial	review	by	the	High	Court.	

Research and Development

Some	of	SANRAL’s	 proactive	 environmental	 initiatives	 undertaken	 in	 the	 past	 year	 are	
outlined below.

Talking Road Ecology 

SANRAL	 hosted	 an	 extremely	 successful,	 interactive	 workshop	 on	 25	 February	 2013	
at	 its	 head	 office	 in	 Pretoria.	 Dr	 Victor	 Loehr	 –	 a	 researcher	 and	 Eco-Engineer	 from	
Rijkswaterstaat,	 the	Netherlands	Roads	Agency	–	proposed	 to	meet	with	his	SANRAL	
counterparts,	to	share	experiences	in	the	management	of	environmental	impacts	of	roads.	
SANRAL	took	 the	opportunity	 to	bring	together	other	 institutions	 in	 the	ecological	field	
for	 an	 information	 exchange	 session	 with	 the	 Dutch	 guest,	 focusing	 on	 road	 ecology.	
In	 attendance	 were	 SANRAL’s	 Environmental	 Focus	 Group	 members,	 officials	 from	
the	 national	 DEA’s	 Biodiversity	 section;	Gauteng	Department	 of	 Agriculture	 and	 Rural	
Development’s	conservation	section	and	the	Endangered	Wildlife	Trust	(EWT).	

As	a	result	of	the	workshop,	SANRAL	will	be	collaborating	with	 interested	parties	such	
as EWT to develop an action plan that guides efforts to address fragmentation at a road 
planning level.

Management of Road Reserves – Fynbos Focus 

Road	 reserves	 represent	 a	 range	 of	 natural	 resources	 embodying	 cultural	 heritage,	
recreation	and	economic	value.	SANRAL	appreciates	that	road	reserves	contain	valuable	
remnants	 of	 biodiversity	 that	 can	 enhance	 ecotourism.	Of	 particular	 importance	 is	 the	
control	of	alien	vegetation	and	retention	and	the	management	of	existing	bio-diversity.	The	
ongoing	Fynbos	Project	will	 culminate	 in	 a	guideline	document	 for	 the	management	of	
this	important	plant	kingdom,	and	a	PhD	qualification	for	a	Nelson	Mandela	Metropolitan	
University student. Through work to date, the student has recorded four threatened 
species	 of	 Fynbos,	 namely	 Agathosma	 gonaquensis	 (Gonaqua	 Buchu);	 Brunsvigia	
littoralis	 (candelabra	flower);	Corpus	 lehmannii	 (type	of	vygie)	and	Cyclopia	pubescens	
(fluffy	honeybush	tea).	It	is	expected	that	more	species	of	very	high	conservation	value	will	
be found as the study progresses.     

Understanding and Reducing the Footprint of our Roads 

SANRAL	recognises	the	importance	of	a	low-carbon	economy	in	the	fight	against	climate	
change,	and	has	undertaken	projects	such	as	recycling	of	existing	asphalt	on	road	surfaces,	
and	the	use	of	renewable	energy	forms	in	operating	freeway	management	systems	(FMS).	
 
Greenroads: Setting Standards for Sustainability 

Building	on	the	success	of	these	projects	SANRAL	and	other	key	industry	stakeholders	
investigated options for a system or standard to use as an indicator for sustainable 
practices	 in	 road	 systems	 in	South	Africa.	Greenroads,	 a	 rating	 tool	 developed	by	 the	
University of Washington, was eventually found to be most appropriate and is currently 
being	 investigated	 further	 for	 adaption	 for	 South	 Africa	 to	 adequately	 reflect	 national	
sustainability priorities and values in roadway design and construction. It will also assist in 
improving	SANRAL’s	sustainability	reporting.	

Dr. Victor Loehr

Dr.	Victor	 Loehr	 is	 a	Dutch	 researcher	who	
has been conducting research on tortoises 
in	 South	 Africa	 since	 2000.	 He	 does	 this	
research on a voluntary basis alongside his 
formal	 position	 as	 an	 Eco-Engineer	 at	 the	
Dutch	national	roads	agency	-Rijkswaterstaat,	
which is part of the Ministry of Infrastructure 
and the Environment. His responsibility is 
to ensure that project planning approvals 
comply with nature legislation, to draw 
up	 contract	 specifications	 for	 mitigation	
measures	 such	 as	 ‘green’	 bridges,	 smaller	
underpasses and overpasses, fences, and 
to	 ensure	 ecological	 quality	 during	 the	
construction and maintenance phases.
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Greenroads Pilot: Model Kloof 
Model	Kloof	pedestrian	bridge	 in	Ladysmith	became	the	first	“Greenroads	South	Africa	
pilot	project”	to	assist	with	the	review	and	adaptation	of	the	Greenroads	rating	system	to	
the	South	African	situation.	

Prior	to	the	construction	of	the	bridge,	more	than	a	hundred	young	students	in	the	Model	
Kloof	area	had	to	cross	the	busy	N11	to	reach	their	school	in	Limit	Hill.	Now	Model	Kloof	
is	connected	to	Limit	Hill	via	an	attractive	spiral	ramp	bridge.	The	bridge	also	serves	as	a	
new	gateway	to	the	city	of	Ladysmith.	A	four	kilometre	barrier-protected	walkway	improves	
road	safety	for	pedestrians	and	vehicle	users	along	the	N11.

Formal	 assessment	 of	 the	 pilot	 project	 against	 requirements	 of	 Greenroads	 and	
SANRAL’s	practices	will	highlight	parallels	and	gaps	between	existing	practices	and	the	
sustainable	best	practices	proposed	within	the	Greenroads	SA	rating	system.	The	pilot	
will also highlight areas where road infrastructure implementation processes can be more 
environmentally	efficient.

SANRAL	 and	 the	 pilot	 project	 team,	 comprising	 of	 Royal	 Haskoning	 DHV	 (SA)	 and	
Afrostructure,	identified	current	local	best	practices	suited	for	South	African	road	projects	
that	could	be	‘beta	tested’	on	the	pilot	project.	Some	of	these	best	practices	incorporated	
into the project include monitoring of construction noise to ensure compliance with local 
by-laws,	use	of	low	maintenance	indigenous	aloes	which	require	no	irrigation	to	establish,	
tracking	and	 re-use	of	 construction	material	 in	 the	project	 area,	 and	artistic	expression	
through	a	road-safety	themed	park	constructed	at	the	bridge	site	to	encourage	use	of	the	
bridge and improve awareness of road safety.  

The	 bridge	 itself	 was	 constructed	 using	 SANRAL-specified	 high	 durability	 concrete,	
and has been included in the inventory and inspection Integrated Transport Information 
System	database.	 It	was	 completed	 on	 time	 and	within	 budget.	With	 these	 and	many	
other attributes, this project will highlight the Greenroads sustainability principles of a 
low carbon footprint, environmental and natural resource management, and other national 
socio-economic	priorities.	

The pilot project will lay the foundation for improved sustainability reporting systems and 
identify	other	existing	gaps	in	information	and	practice.	

Road Noise 

Recognising	the	detrimental	impact	of	road	noise	in	built-up	areas	and	in	pursuit	of	continual	
improvement,	SANRAL	undertook	an	investigation	into	seal	types	that	could	potentially	be	
used to reduce noise. The investigation was aimed at gathering more information on how 
noise levels differ between the different types of seals that are used on roads. Information 
obtained from these tests will be used to develop a guideline for selecting the type of seal 
that should be used in built up areas to reduce the amount of noise generated from roads. 

The	tests	were	carried	out	on	two	sections	of	road	in	Cape	Town.	For	the	first	section,	
four different types of seals were selected for testing. The second set of tests was carried 
out	 on	 existing	 roads	 with	 different	 surfaces.	 In	 addition	 to	 noise	 measurements,	 skid	
resistance evaluations were done on all surface types.  

The investigation has led to the conclusion that there is no standard surfacing applied 
on	 South	 Africa’s	 roads	 that	 can	 provide,	 by	 itself,	 a	 noise	 level	 low	 enough	 to	 meet	
national	specifications	and	new	international	guidelines.	Additional	measures	would	still	be	
required	to	satisfy	these	requirements,	especially	on	high	speed	inter-urban	roads.	It	was	
recommended that further investigations be carried out into the development of a standard 
paved surfacing as well as the cost of different mitigation measures, such as barrier types. 
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Concessionaires 

Concessionaires	are	involved	in	a	number	of	environmental	projects.	Highlights	during	the	
reporting period are summarised below. 

BAKWENA 

Up	to	52	percent	of	the	new	education	curriculum	(which	is	being	implemented	between	
2012	and	2014)	incorporates	environmental	components.	BAKWENA	in	partnership	with	
the	DoE	initiated	a	project	in	Swartruggens,	which	has	benefitted	about	11	000	learners.	
Training workshops and sessions have been conducted by the Endangered Wildlife Trust 
(EWT)	to	empower	teachers	to	teach	environmental	education	at	their	schools	–	in	addition	
to	mobilising	children	from	the	area	to	assist	with	refuse	and	environmental	clean-ups.	The	
DoE	has	requested	that	more	training	takes	place	after	teachers	indicated	that	they	had	
become	more	 competent	 and	 confident	 in	 teaching	 environment-related	 topics.	 Initially	
the	 training	was	generic,	but	progressed	 to	become	grade,	 subject	and	 topic	specific.	
BAKWENA	has	renewed	its	contract	with	EWT	until	the	end	of	2013.	

The	Leseding	food	garden,	sponsored	by	BAKWENA,	is	situated	in	Hammanskraal	on	the	
N1.	The	Leseding	Care	Centre	provides	day	care	to	approximately	500	children	and	health	
care	support	and	self-sufficiency	training.	The	objective	of	the	food	garden	is	to	provide	
fresh vegetables and nutrition for the children in its care.
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N3TC 

The	N3TC’s	Touching	Lives	corporate	social	investment	programme	as	well	as	its	2029	
Legacy	project	include	a	focus	on	the	environment	and	tourism.	In	particular,	N3TC	has	
supported:
•	 The	Bearded	Vulture	Hide	Project	in	partnership	with	the	Wildlands	Conservation	Trust	 
	 and	Ezemvelo	KZN	Wildlife.	
•	 Corporate	membership	and	various	support	for	Birdlife	South	Africa	including	nature- 
	 based	education	and	outings	run	by	a	local	bird	guide,	Bonginkosi	Ndaba,	in	the	area	 
	 of	Van	Reenen.
•	 The	Midlands	Conservancy	Forum.
•	 The	KwaZulu-Natal	Crane	Foundation.
•	 Wild	Series	Big	Day	environmental	education	events	for	Grades	6	and	7.
•	 The	Midlands	Meander	Education	Project	as	part	of	the	national	WESSA	Eco	Schools	 
	 Programme.
•	 Educator	 Development	 in	 Environmental	 Education	 across	 under-resourced	 
	 communities	in	KwaZulu-Natal.

TRAC 

TRAC	 has	 an	 on-going	 programme	 of	 environmental	 monitoring	 and	 rehabilitation	 of	
environmentally	sensitive	areas	in	construction	sections	along	the	N4	toll	route.	It	runs	a	
number of projects, some of which are listed below: 
•	 Weekly	water	quality	tests,	bio-monitoring	and	hydro-seeding	projects	are	underway	at	 
	 Vaalbankspruit.
•	 Protection	of	wetlands	and	relocation	and	rehabilitation	of	a	protected	species,	swamp	 
	 orchids,	is	done	in	partnership	with	a	TRAC	contractor,	WBHO.	
•	 Ongoing	eradication	of	alien	vegetation	and	removal	of	weeds	along	the	N4	corridor,	 
	 with	community	and	SMME	involvement.	This	assists	in	reducing	veld	fire	hazards.
•	 The	indigenous	tree	project	at	Thembalethu	Community	Care	Village	near	Jeppes	Reef	 
	 was	started	in	2012.	The	aim	is	to	grow	trees	which	can	be	used	for	greening	projects	 
	 along	the	N4	toll	route	and	to	provide	a	much	needed	income	stream	to	Thembalethu	 
	 Village.	
•	 TRAC	is	a	corporate	member	of	BirdLife	SA	and	has	helped	to	develop	environmental	 
 protection and sustainable tourism interventions for some of the most sensitive  
 biospheres in Mpumalanga. 
•	 TRAC,	together	with	local	farmers	and	businesses,	supports	a	community-based	anti- 
	 poaching	 initiative	 operating	 in	 environmentally	 sensitive	 areas	 close	 to	 the	N4	 toll	 
	 route.	 Four	 full-time	 rangers	 undertake	 anti-poaching	 activities	 in	 the	 Houtbosloop,	 
	 Stadsrivier,	Schoemanskloof	valleys	and	the	Sudwala	caves	region.
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Corporate Overview, Performance and Governance Information 

Reporting Period Highlights

Highlights for the reporting period include the following: 

•	 SANRAL	supported	staff,	contractors	and	communities	through	bursaries,	scholarships,	 
	 internships	and	a	variety	of	training	programmes	during	2012/13.

•	 126	 SANRAL	 staff	 received	 training	 at	 a	 cost	 of	 R1.2	 million	 for	 a	 range	 of	 
	 courses	including	certificates,	diplomas,	first	and	postgraduate	degrees.	

•	 Internal	bursaries	were	awarded	to	19	staff	members.

•	 Seventy	external	bursaries	were	awarded	at	a	cost	of	about	R5.9	million.

•	 179	learners	in	Grade	10,	11	and	12	are	benefiting	from	SANRAL’s	scholarship		
 programme.

•	 SANRAL	 continues	 to	 sponsor	 two	 chairs;	 the	 chair	 in	 pavement	 engineering	 
	 at	the	University	of	Stellenbosch	and	the	chair	of	transport	planning	at	the	University	of	 
	 Cape	Town	to	promote	human	capital	development	and	capacity	building.

•	 The	Agency	 is	establishing	a	chair	 in	Mathematics	and	Science	at	 the	University	of	 
	 Free	State.

•	 SANRAL	conducted	its	yearly	communications	survey	and	found	that	there	is	a	positive	 
	 improvement	on	the	perception	of	national	roads	as	compared	to	2010/11.

•	 IT	achieved	an	average	availability	of	98	percent	for	key	systems	and	services.

•	 SANRAL’s	 Corporate	 Governance	 report	 attests	 to	 the	 Agency’s	 commitment	 to	 
 transparency and accountability. 

SANRAL STAFF TRAINED

SANRAL SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMME

STAFF

MILLION

LEARNERS

126

179

R1.2
INTERNAL BURSARIES AWARDED 

STAFF19
EXTERNAL BURSARIES AWARDED 

MILLION

70
R5.9
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3.1 Corporate Overview

SANRAL’s Staff Composition 

This	section	describes	SANRAL’s	staff		composition	in	more	detail,	including	employment	
equity	and	transformation	processes,	training	and	development	initiatives	and	health	and	
wellness programmes.

Employment Equity and Transformation 

SANRAL	pursues	 the	attainment	of	 an	equitable	and	diverse	workforce	 that	 is	broadly	
representative	of	our	South	African	population	and	contributes	to	maximising	this	human	
resource	potential	through	mentorship	and	training.	SANRAL’s	recruitment	policy	is	aimed	
at	 accelerating	 the	 appointment	 of	 suitably	 qualified,	 skilled	 and	 passionate	 staff	 and	
achieving	planned	employment	equity	targets.

The	Agency	is	committed	to	the	achievement	of	its	annual	employment	equity	plans	in	line	
with	its	employment	policy.	Set	targets	are	monitored	quarterly	and	adjustments	are	made	
to	ensure	that	the	best	staff	possessing	the	required	skill	and	experience	for	the	position	
are	employed.	The	SANRAL	Equity	Plan	is	driven	by	the	CEO	supported	by	all	executive	
and	regional	managers	and	approved	by	the	Board.	The	Plan	is	filtered	down	to	all	staff	to	
ensure commitment throughout the organisation.

Figures	 3	 and	 4	 on	 the	 left	 summarise	 SANRAL’s	 population	 demographics	 during	
2012/13	by	race	and	gender.	

Talent Management 

SANRAL	 remains	 committed	 to	 the	 practice	 of	 skills	 transfer	 at	 every	 level	 of	 the	
organisation. For the Agency to continue effectively, it is paramount that skilled and 
experienced	 specialists	 are	 assigned	 mentorship	 and	 coaching	 roles.	 SANRAL	 has	
appointed dedicated mentors to guide candidate engineers through professional 
development.	This	is	an	on-going	process	which	is	monitored	to	ensure	that	training	and	
development advances the professionalism of our workforce. Further, talent management 
and	succession	planning	within	SANRAL	form	an	integral	part	of	retention	and	attraction	
of talented human capital.

Training and Development 

SANRAL	is	a	knowledge	agency	which	strives	to	harness	not	only	technical	skills,	but	also	
professional capabilities which contribute to the attainment of its business objectives. To 
meet the demands of our shareholder, being the Minister of Transport, and respond to 
the	needs	of	our	customers	(the	public),	our	human	resource	must	possess	the	requisite	
know-how	to	meet	those	demands.	

SANRAL	 staff	 have	 participated	 in	 a	 range	 of	 programmes	 in	 the	 following	 fields:	
engineering,	 finance,	 people	 management,	 administration	 and	 occupational	 health	 and	
safety.	In	total,	126	staff	received	training	at	a	cost	of	R1.2	million	during	the	year	under	
review.

Internal Bursaries 

The	 table	 on	 the	 left	 depicts	 the	 19	 bursaries	 allocated	 to	 staff	 at	 an	 investment	 of	 
R477	075	in	the	2012/13	financial	year.	

Seventy	 nine	 percent	 of	 these	 staff	 are	 black	 and	 21	 percent	 are	 white	 as	 shown	 in	 
Figure	5	on	page	89.	Of	these	staff	53	percent	are	female.

Bursaries for External Students 

The	SANRAL	bursary	scheme	for	external	students	was	implemented	at	the	beginning	of	
2007	and	is	aimed	at	sponsoring	students	interested	in	studying	towards	civil	engineering	
and related studies in the built environment.

TABLE 17 SANRAL	Staff	Bursaries

Course Numbers
Certificates		 1
First	Degrees	 3
Diplomas	 3
Post	Graduate	Degrees	 12
Total  19
Total Investment R 477 075.00

FIGURE 4 
Staff	Demographics:	Gender

	50%	 Male	
50%	 Female

Total	Employees	238

FIGURE 3 
Staff	Demographics:	Race

Total	Employees	238

	42%	 African
	34%	 White
	11%	 Indian
	13%	 Coloured

Black:	66%
White:	34%
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FIGURE 5 
Staff	Bursary	Recipients:	Race

	79%	 Black
	21%	 White

FIGURE 6 
External	Bursary	Recipients:	Race

	32	 African
	21	 White
	12	 Indian
	 5	 Coloured

SANRAL’s	 bursary	 programme	 is	 a	 tangible	 contribution	 to	 closing	 South	 Africa’s	
skills	 gap,	 particularly	 in	 the	 engineering	 fields.	 SANRAL	 granted	 70	 bursaries	 for	 the 
2012/2013	academic	year,	amounting	 to	R5.9	million.	Thirty	percent	of	 these	students	
are female.

Students	from	needy	families,	who	were	previously	supported	by	study	loans	from	other	
institutions,	continued	to	be	supported	by	SANRAL.	These	students,	who	are	currently	in	
fourth	year	degree	studies,	but	will	soon	be	employed	by	SANRAL,	are	mentored	to	grow	
the	 professional	 core	 skills	 urgently	 required	 by	 the	 organisation.	 All	 SANRAL	bursary	
students	are	therefore	offered	vacation	jobs	to	expose	them	to	the	work	environment	of	
the company whilst still studying. The Agency also assists students with their projects, 
when	required.	

In	the	year	under	review,	a	total	of	seven	students	graduated	in	their	first	degrees,	of	which	
five	were	employed	permanently	by	SANRAL	and	one	was	added	 to	 the	 five	 students	
further supported to study for their second degrees for Masters in engineering sciences.

Scholarships 

SANRAL	has	supported	a	national	scholarship	programme	since	2008.	The	programme	
seeks to develop core mathematics and science talent to feed into engineering skills that 
SANRAL	and	South	Africa	need	to	achieve	our	strategic	goals.	

2012 Academic Year

At	 the	 end	 of	 the	 2012	 academic	 year,	 17	 grade	 12	 learners	 achieved	 distinctions	 in	
mathematics	and	physical	science	–	four	of	 them	in	additional	mathematics.	Five	grade	
12	learners	from	the	scholarship	programme	were	awarded	bursaries	to	pursue	a	tertiary	
qualification.	Table	18	below	summarises	the	mathematics	and	physical	science	results	of	
our	17	grade	12	learners	at	the	end	of	the	2012	academic	year,	including	the	province	in	
which they studied.

TABLE 18 Mathematics	and	Science	results	for	scholarship	students	by	province

 Mathematics  Physical Science  Province 
1		 94%	 89%	 Limpopo
2		 90%	 80%	 KwaZulu-Natal
3	 95%	 85%	 Western	Cape
4	 83%	 84%	 Eastern	Cape
5		 79%	 77%	 Free	State
6	 84%	 84%	 Free	State
7		 88%	 94%	 Free	State
8		 86%	 82%	 Limpopo
9		 87%	 82%	 KwaZulu-Natal
10		 85%	 75%	 Free	State
11		 99%	 98%	 Free	State
12		 98%	 91%	 Eastern	Cape
13		 77%	 83%	 Free	State
14		 84%	 92%	 Gauteng
15		 81%	 94%	 Eastern	Cape
16	 87%	 99%	 Free	State
17	 82%	 87%	 KwaZulu-Natal

2013 Academic Year 
As	 of	 2013,	 there	 are	 179	 learners	 across	 the	 country	 benefitting	 from	 SANRAL’s	
scholarship	programme,	57percentage	of	these	learners	are	female	and	136	learners	are	
black.

The	investment	made	by	SANRAL’s	scholarship	programme	for	2012/13	was	R1.5	million	
for	learners’	tuition	fees,	boarding	fees,	stationery,	school	and	sports	uniforms.

FIGURE 7 
Scholarship:	Race

111	 African
	43	 White
	18	 Indian
	 7	 Coloured
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Story from Learners 

Twin	 sisters,	Mukeliwe	 and	Sabeliwe	Msomi	 are	 two	 students	who	have	benefited	
from	SANRAL’s	scholarship	programme.	 In	these	 letters	below,	they	reflect	on	how	
SANRAL	helped	them	grow,	empowering	them	to	in	turn	contribute	to	South	Africa’s	
future growth. 

Dear SANRAL
I am writing this letter to thank you for awarding me with such an opportunity, being 
part	of	the	SANRAL	family.

This	scholarship	has	not	only	aided	me	financially	in	school,	but	it	also	gave	me	hope	
and encouraged me to work to the best of my ability and to always stay optimistic. I 
truly	thank	God	for	allowing	me	and	my	twin	sister	to	be	part	of	such	an	amazing	team.

SANRAL	has	given	me	a	way	forward	and	has	allowed	me	to	start	thinking	about	the	
future;	my	future,	and	the	future	of	my	country	and	the	amazing	work	that	I	would	be	a	
part	of	(engineering)	to	better	my	country.	SANRAL	has	given	me	the	edge	of	applying	
all my knowledge to real life situations, and coming up with life changing engineering 
techniques.	To	use	my	talent	intelligently	and	to	help	others	once	I	have	achieved	all	
my goals in life.

With this scholarship, I have become a different person. I am more focussed and 
passionate. I am truly blessed to have applied to this programme. I promise to always 
work	hard,	even	harder	next	year.

I	appreciate	you	helping	me	and	 I	pray	 that	God	enables	SANRAL	to	grow	and	 to	
continue helping others. I promise never to disappoint you.

Mukeliwe Msomi

Dear SANRAL
I	wrote	this	letter	to	pass	my	gratitude	towards	the	SANRAL	scholarship	for	assisting	
me	financially	throughout	the	past	academic	year.

Being	awarded	with	the	SANRAL	scholarship	is	a	true	blessing	to	me	and	my	family.	It	
gave	me	so	much	hope	and	joy	because	I	knew	that	my	future	was	financially	secured.	
It	 hasn’t	 only	 assisted	 me	 financially;	 it	 has	 also	 brought	 a	 smile	 on	 every	 family	
member’s	face.	It	has	taken	all	of	the	frustration	and	stress	in	my	family	and	turned	it	
into	tranquillity	and	happiness.

I	seriously	don’t	know	how	my	family	would	have	got	through	this	year;	if	it	weren’t	for	
your	assistance,	 I	wouldn’t	have	achieved	all	 the	outstanding	merits	 that	 I	 received	
this	year.	This	scholarship	has	filled	me	with	so	much	hope	for	a	bright	and	successful	
future.	 It	 has	 filled	me	with	 so	much	 passion	 and	 enthusiasm	 to	 achieve	 the	 best	
results	possible.	 I	will	 surely	make	 the	SANRAL	 team	proud	by	achieving	 the	best	
results throughout my high school years and portraying a goal driven and enthusiastic 
character.	I	will	surely	fly	the	SANRAL	flag	high	so	that	I	may	achieve	all	my	dreams	
then look back and assist those who will be in the same position as me.

The best gift to give a person who has assisted you is gratitude. I will do this by being 
the	best	I	can	be.	Thank	you	SANRAL.

Sabeliwe Msomi
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Internships 

SANRAL	 provides	 internships,	 as	 required	 by	 the	 curriculum,	 to	 engineering	 students	
to	 facilitate	 the	attainment	of	 their	degrees	and	 to	provide	 them	with	work	experience.	
This	is	done	in	cooperation	with	contractors	and	consultants	working	with	SANRAL.	The	
number	of	internships	to	be	facilitated	should	be	equal	to	10	percent	of	SANRAL’s	staff	
compliment	as	per	SANRAL’s	performance	agreement	with	the	Minister	of	Transport.	

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 due	 to	 the	 high	 demand	 for	 practical	 experience	 in	 the	
engineering	field	required	by	Universities	and	Universities	of	Technology	for	the	completion	
of	 the	Engineering	degrees,	SANRAL	gave	 the	opportunity	 to	155	students	equivalent	
to	65%	of	SANRAL’s	 staff	 compliment	 to	 participate	 in	 the	 internship	programme	and	
vacation jobs. 

Higher Education 

SANRAL	 will	 continue	 to	 sponsor	 the	 chair	 at	 two	 university;	 the	 chair	 of	 pavement	
engineering	at	 the	University	of	Stellenbosch	and	 the	chair	of	 transport	planning	at	 the	
University	of	Cape	Town.	The	aim	of	this	sponsorship	is	to	promote	the	development	of	
human capital and capacity building by empowering students and practitioners through 
high-quality	education,	 training	and	research,	and	through	partnerships	with	recognised	
international	institutions	in	the	field	of	pavement	engineering	and	transportation	planning.	
SANRAL	is	currently	finalising	the	establishment	of	a	chair	in	mathematics	and	science	at	
University	of	Free	State.

Employee Wellness and Living Positively Programme 

SANRAL	 continues	 to	 implement	 comprehensive	 HIV/AIDS	 and	 employee	 wellness	
policies	covering	all	of	SANRAL’s	workforce	and	their	immediate	families.	These	policies	
offer comprehensive wellness and living positively programmes, which are important to 
ensure	that	staff	members	are	able	to	work	in	a	productive	and	effective	way.	SANRAL	
provides staff with support and treatment advice for all life threatening illnesses and 
employees	can	choose	to	have	their	treatment	managed	in	a	highly	confidential	manner.	

SANRAL	also	provides	a	professional	specialised	support	service,	where	employees	can	
get advice for both professional and personal challenges they may be facing. This is in 
recognition	that	human	resources	are	an	organisation’s	most	valued	asset;	that	employees	
are	unique	individuals	needing	support,	not	isolation,	when	facing	difficulties.	During	the	
period under review, the most commonly utilised service was professional counselling, 
which	constituted	55,6	percent	of	total	engagement.

Occupational Health and Safety 

SANRAL	has	50	voluntary	officers	who	monitor	and	implement	health	and	safety	issues	
to ensure optimal safety conditions for all employees and service providers. Health and 
safety standards are continuously improving and the occupational health and safety cluster 
meets	 every	 quarter	 and	works	 closely	with	SANRAL’s	 risk	 cluster	 to	 ensure	 new	and	
improved standards are implemented.

The	officers	perform	all	 duties	 in	 terms	of	 the	Occupational	Health	 and	Safety	Act	85	
of	1993	and	occupational	 health	 and	 safety	 training	 is	prioritised	 for	 all	 safety	officers	
at	SANRAL	as	well	as	 for	all	other	employees.	Emergency	evacuations	are	carried	out	
regularly to raise awareness to staff and visitors.

Diversity Management 

Diversity	management	is	on	ongoing	change	management	imperative.	Valuing	our	diverse	
differences in the workplace and fostering a culture of inclusivity forms part of our core 
values. The purpose of creating an inclusive workplace is to promote an atmosphere that 
encourages employee development, skills transfer, mentorship and coaching. 

SANRAL HIV/AIDS Programme

The construction industry is increasingly 
afflicted by the depletion of skills caused 
by HIV/Aids infections. The workers in 
the industry are most at risk given their 
work circumstance such as solitary work 
environments, extended periods away from 
home and inadequate health care service.

In the light of this, the South African National 
Roads Agency SOC Ltd (SANRAL), 
Western region office launched an HIV/Aids 
Awareness programme for road construction 
workers, and their immediate families, 
employed on its Routine Road Maintenance 
(RRM) projects in the Western and Northern 
Cape on 8 August 2012.

Eighteen Wellness Champions were 
appointed and 36 people (18 Wellness 
champions plus 18 back-up contractor staff) 
received SETA accredited peer educator 
training. The Wellness Champions are 
responsible to provide assistance to all 
workers, do awareness of various health 
related topics and that the HIV negative 
employee acquire adequate knowledge 
to maintain their status.   Careworks HIV 
Management was appointed to assist and 
guide Wellness Champions, ensure training 
outcomes of the programme  as well as 
keep a record of statistics and programme 
outcomes.

During the initial testing phase 85% of all 
workers were tested  for HIV/Aids of which 
7%  tested positive for HIV.  

SANRAL believes this initiative will deliver 
the desired results through the combined 
approach of those in the construction 
industry and extended prevention and 
treatment to the benefit of all families.

“Healthy workplaces shaping 
healthy communities”
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Marketing and Communications 

Know your Market 

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 SANRAL	 conducted	 its	 annual	 national	 survey	 to	 test	
awareness	and	sentiment	towards	SANRAL,	general	attitudes	and	perceptions	towards	
the	national	road	network,	measurement	and	impact	of	the	e-tolling	advertising	campaign	
and	its	linkages	to	SANRAL	as	well	as	awareness,	understanding	and	attitudes	towards	
e-tolling.	The	following	are	highlights	from	the	survey:

•	 Improvements	in	perceptions	of	national	road	conditions	in	2012:	
	 -	 More	 people	 think	 national	 roads	 are	 in	 a	 good	 condition	 and	 that	 cracks	 and	 
	 	 potholes	are	fixed	quickly.	
	 -		 Fewer	believe	there	is	too	much	congestion	on	these	roads.	
•	 An	increased	proportion	does	see	some	of	the	benefits	of	e-tolling	(although	this	is	still	 
	 relatively	low).	
•	 Recall	of	SANRAL	newspaper	and	radio	communication	is	good	and	appears	to	have	 
	 had	a	positive	impact	on	awareness,	understanding	and	attitudes	towards	e-tolling.	

Campaigns 

SANRAL,	using	the	feedback	from	the	survey,	developed	its	overall	integrated	and	project	
specific	strategies	and	implementation	plans,	which	will	come	into	fruition	in	the	2013/14	
financial	year.	One	such	project	strategy	is	the	Chek-iCoast	Campaign,	SANRAL’s	road	
safety campaign targeted at young drivers, students and learners. The campaign will 
be	 launched	at	 tertiary	 institutions	 in	South	Africa	 in	April	 2013	and	 in	 schools	during	 
August	2013.	

Stemming	 from	 aspects	 that	 need	 to	 be	worked	 on	 from	 the	 survey	 results,	 SANRAL	
developed	 a	 stakeholder	 relations	 strategy,	 which	 was	 approved	 by	 SANRAL’s	 Social	
Ethic	and	Transformation	Committee.	The	implementation	plan	is	currently	being	finalised	
for rollout nationally.

Service Providers
 
SANRAL’s	contract	with	its	Above	and	Below	the	line	Agencies	came	to	an	end	in	December	
2012.	Prior	 to	 this,	 a	detailed	 request	 for	 proposals	was	drawn	up	 for	 the	 services	of	
marketing,	public	relations,	communications,	advertising	and	digital	marketing.	An	in-depth	
assessment process of proposals followed, leading to the successful appointment of a 
Through-the-line	Agency	in	mid-December	2012.	
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Open Road Tolling 

SANRAL’s	 marketing	 and	 communication	 strategy	 for	 the	 past	 year	 focused	 on	 the	
implementation	 of	 e-tolling	 on	 the	 Gauteng	 Freeway	 Improvement	 Project,	 particularly	
maximising	e-tag	registrations.

The	campaign	involved	core	messaging	to	encourage	road	users	to	obtain	an	e-tag	and	
register.	An	additional	layer	of	educational	aspects	around	the	Open	Road	Tolling	project	
was also communicated, to enhance public understanding of the project.

A variety of communication channels were used in public awareness campaigns, including 
television, radio, as well as community, national, regional and trade print. Additional 
activations	included	participation	in	exhibitions	and	presentation	opportunities.

However,	SANRAL’s	marketing	and	communication	strategy	on	e-tolling	was	only	rolled	
out	for	a	short	period	in	the	beginning	of	2012.	This	followed	legal	process,	 in	which	a	
directive	from	the	Inter-ministerial	Committee	led	by	Deputy	President,	Kgalema	Motlanthe,	
stipulated	that	e-tolling	communication	be	driven	by	GCIS.	

Although	 communication	 on	 e-tolling	 was	 led	 by	 GCIS,	 SANRAL’s	 marketing	 and	
communications	 team	worked	 hard	 to	 showcase	 the	 efficacy	 of	 e-tolling	 in	 general.	 In	
November	 2012	 the	 team	 successfully	 hosted	 a	 media	 tour	 of	 the	 Central	 Operation	
Centre	 to	 showcase	SANRAL’s	 e-toll	 system.	 The	 event	 resulted	 in	 positive	 coverage,	
showing that the system is technically ready and operational. 

A	number	of	adverts,	press	releases	and	pamphlets	were	produced	during	2012/13	to	
educate	road	users	as	well	as	inform	users	of	road	works	in	and	around	South	Africa	so	
that	they	could	safely	plan	road	trips.	SANRAL	also	responded	to	all	enquiries	posed	by	
the media within designated time frames.

SANRAL’s	marketing	and	communication	team	continues	to	work	with	its	Concessionaires,	
the	 Department	 of	 Transport,	 Government	 Communication	 and	 Information	 System,	
provincial	roads	departments	and	state-owned	companies	to	deliver	on	its	mandate	and	
ensure that road users are constantly aware of what is happening in and around the areas 
they travel for work and pleasure on the national network.
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Information Technology 

Information	 technology	 (IT)	 department	 is	 responsible	 for	 providing	 all	 computing	 and	
telecommunications infrastructure for the Agency. 

The IT division strives to be: 
•	 Service Oriented	 -	 Partnering	with	 our	 users	 to	 deploy	 information	 technology	 to	 
 achieve their business goals. 
•	 Technology Leaders	-	Exploring	emerging	technologies	and	setting	policies,	standards	 
 and guidelines for their use. 
•	 Facilitators	-	Communicating	effectively	with	users,	on	both	an	executive	and	technical	 
	 level,	to	identify	potential	opportunities	for	information	technology	in	SANRAL.
•	 Resource Providers	-	Providing	the	infrastructure	resources	to	support	information	 
 technology. 

Core Beliefs 

•	 Developing	collaborative	partnerships	with	users	and	vendors	to	continuously	improve	 
	 SANRAL’s	IT	services.	
•	 Communicating	openly	and	honestly	with	our	users,	vendors,	and	stakeholders.	
•	 Understanding	and	contributing	to	the	achievement	of	the	Agency’s	vision.	
•	 Providing	a	high-quality	service	that	meets	or	exceeds	the	Agency’s	expectations.

Year in Review

Over	the	past	year,	the	IT	department	set	its	goals	(and	standards)	high	and	attained	great	
success. A few highlights include:
•	 Full	implementation	and	integration	of	Avaya	voice	over	IP	service,	which	means	that:
•	 VoIP	—voice	over	internet	protocol	–	is	a	technology	that	improves	the	way	SANRAL 
	 communicates	and	enhances	operational	productivity.	VoIP	means	voice	transmitted	 
 over a digital network and is an alternative that greatly reduces or eliminates plain old  
	 telephone	system	(POTS)	related	costs.	VoIP	technology	enables	traditional	telephony	 
	 services	 to	operate	over	computer	networks	using	packet-switched	protocols.	With	 
	 VoIP,	 voice	 signals	 can	 travel	 on	 the	 same	 network	 infrastructure	 already	 used	 for	 
	 computer	data.	This	means	that	the	cost	of	an	internal	telephone	call	between	SANRAL	 
	 regional	offices	 in	Gauteng,	Western	Cape,	Pietermaritzburg	and	Port	Elizabeth	are	 
	 zero.

•	 IT	achieved	an	average	availability	of	98	percent	for	key	systems	and	services,	including:	
	 -	 Email	services.
	 -	 Financial	systems.
	 -	 Servers	(Citrix	XenApp).
	 -	 SANRAL’s	document	management	system	(Hummingbird).
	 -	 Telephony	services	(Avaya).
	 -	 Printing	resources.
	 -	 Blackberry	services.

IT ACHIEVED AVERAGE AVAILABILITY 
FOR KEY SYSTEMS AND SERVICES

98%
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Concessionaires

The following are the concessionaires training initiatives.

BAKWENA 

Staff Support 
BAKWENA	provided	funds	for	school	fees	to	18	children	of	staff	employed	at	BAKWENA	
head	 office,	 Mantsole	 and	 Bapong	 Traffic	 Control	 Centres	 during	 2012.	 In	 2013,	 11	
children are being supported through this programme. This support contributes to the 
levels of education and skills for the children of employees earning less than a certain 
amount per month. 

BAKWENA	supports	a	large	number	of	employees	who	have	enrolled	and	completed	core	
educational courses and diplomas in careers such as public relations, marketing, and law.

Community Education 
BAKWENA	has	become	 the	sole	sponsor	 for	 the	My	Choice	Camp	workshops,	which	
are	facilitated	by	Mission	of	African	Young	Adults	and	Teenagers	(MAYFAT).	About	100	
learners	from	Saint	Ann‘s	Reformatory	School	in	Bapong,	North	West	province	participated	
in the workshops. The aim of the workshops is to motivate individual learners to overcome 
challenges and teach ways of approaching and balancing life holistically.

Further Education 
BAKWENA	also	provides	opportunities	for	previously	disadvantaged	individuals	to	access	
tertiary training opportunities through bursary schemes. A minimum of two bursaries is 
made available in any one year for the duration of the concession contract.

N3TC 

Supporting the Contractors 
•	 Development	 of	 N3TC’s	 routine	 route	 maintenance	 contractors	 is	 a	 long-term	 
	 commitment.	 The	 local	 contractors	 have	 multi-year	 contracts	 to	 conduct	 route	 
 maintenance. The contractors have all undergone training, development and mentoring  
 covering various technical courses on materials, setting out, concrete testing,  
	 health	safety	and	the	environment,	quality	and	specifications,	management,	supervisory	 
 development and a host of other relevant courses as the need dictates. The focus in  
	 2012	was	on	development	of	concrete-related	skills.
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Education for All 
In	2012,	N3TC	granted	university-level	bursaries	to	a	student	doing	her	Masters	degree	in	
tourism,	a	student	completing	her	environmental	education	degree	at	Rhodes	University	
(which	she	achieved	cum	laude),	a	civil	engineering	student	and	a	student	doing	a	diploma	
in	metropolitan	and	traffic	policing.	

Scholarships	 were	 awarded	 to	 24	 learners	 attending	 centres	 of	 academic	 excellence	
along	the	corridor,	including	two	students	at	the	world-renowned	Drakensberg	Boys	Choir	
School.	

It	 is	 equally	 important	 to	N3TC	 that	 its	 employees	 are	 offered	opportunities	 for	 further	
development	 and	 training.	 No	 less	 than	 eight	 employees,	 almost	 a	 third	 of	 the	 staff	
component, either completed or embarked on various university degrees or diplomas 
in	 the	fields	of	 transportation	management,	civil	engineering,	construction	management,	
information	 technology	 and	 project	 management.	 One	 member	 of	 staff	 undertook	 the	
International	 Bridge,	 Tunnel	 and	 Turnpike	 Association	 (IBTTA)	 executive	 development	
leadership	academy	in	the	USA.	

N3TC	had	four	interns	employed	in	2012	in	the	fields	of	civil	engineering,	marketing	and	
tourism.	In	addition,	two	N3TC	employees,	both	graduates	of	N3TC’s	bursary	programme,	
are engaged in programmes that will culminate in their registration as a professional 
engineer and a professional technologist respectively.

TRAC 

Socio-economic Development
TRAC	has	 invested	more	 than	R3	million	 in	 socio-economic	development	 and	 training.	
The	company	offers	bursaries	to	two	final-year	engineering	students	and	two	second-year	
engineering	students	from	Mozambique.	Tertiary	study	assistance	is	also	given	to	seven	
full-time	TRAC	employees.	

TRAC’s	full	workforce	(consisting	of	440	personnel)	receives	ongoing	training	in	various	
disciplines	as	part	of	TRAC’s	career	development	programme.	Permanent	staff	variances	
are	 very	 stable	and	 four	new	positions	were	created,	one	 in	Mozambique	and	 three	 in	
South	Africa.
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3.2 Corporate Performance Information 2012 - 2013

Strategic Objective 1: Manage the national road network effectively

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance

1.1		 Smooth	Travel		 Quarterly	 95.67%	 ≥	95%	 95.19%	of	travel	on	the		 Additional	3534km	of	roads
	 	 Exposure	(STE)	 	 	 	 national	road	network	was		 in	the	Eastern	Cape	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 on	less	than	4.2m/km		 North	West	provinces	were
       roughness incorporated  
 
1.2		 Bridge	Condition	
	 	 Exposure	(BCE)	 Quarterly	 95.77%	 ≥	90%	 93.57%	of	travel	over	or		 Additional	3534km	of	roads
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 under	bridges	with	overall		 in	the	Eastern	Cape	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 condition	index	of	80	or		 North	West	provinces	were
       higher on the national road  incorporated
       network
 
1.3		 Low	Rut	Exposure	
	 	 (LRE)	 Quarterly	 99.27%	 ≥	95%	 98.70%	of	travel	on	the		 Additional	3534km	of	roads
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 national	road	network	was		 in	the	Eastern	Cape	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 on	less	than	20mm		 North	West	provinces	were		
       rut depth incorporated

1.4		 High	Texture		 Quarterly	 98.07%	 ≥	95%	 97.28%	of	travel	on	the		 Additional	3534km	of	roads
	 	 Exposure	(HTE)	 	 	 	 national	road	network	had		 in	the	Eastern	Cape	and
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 higher	than	0.4mm	texture	 North	West	provinces
         were incorporated
   
1.5		 Routine		 Quarterly	 13050	 13050	 16584	 Additional	3534km	of		 	
	 	 Maintenance	km	 	 	 	 	 roads	in	the	Eastern	Cape		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 and	North	West	provinces		
        were incorporated

1.6		 Periodic		 Annual	 750	 900	 1370	 Delayed	completion	of	prior		
	 	 Maintenance	km	 	 	 	 	 year’s	works	due	to	some		
        contractors going bankrupt  
        and due to unavailability of 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 materials	(bitumen	and		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 aggregates)

1.7		 Strengthening	km	 Annual	 300	 450	 460

Note:	1.5,	1.6,	1.7:	Under	Construction
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Strategic Objective 2: Provide safe roads

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12  2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance

2.1		 Percentage	of		 Quarterly	 100%	 100	%	 100%	
  network with active 
	 	 Routine	Road	
  Maintenance 
	 	 (RRM)	Contracts

2.2		 Identify,	investigate		 Quarterly	 100%	 100%	of		 Identified: 100% 12  Projects	in	the	Eastern	 	
	 	 and	propose	remedial		 	 identification	 identification,	 of	12	(3	for	each	of	4	 Region	and	Northern	
  measures at three   and investigation regions  Region:	remedial	
	 	 pedestrian	hazardous		 	 investigation	 and	proposal	 Investigated: 100% measures under
	 	 locations	per	region		 	 of	three	 of	remedial	 Completed consideration
	 	 per	year	 	 hazardous	 measures	at	 Proposal of
     locations per three pedestrian Remedial Measures: This is an annual  
	 	 	 	 	 region.	92%	 hazardous	 92.5%	Completed	 rolling	programme.
     proposal of locations per  The cumulative projects
     remedial region per year  are therefore in different
     measures   stages of implementation

Strategic Objective 3: Carry out Government’s Targeted Programmes: Included with Strategic Objective 6 - Transformation

Strategic Objective 4: Co-operative working relationships with relevant Departments, Provinces, Local Authorities and 
SADC member countries

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance

4.1		 MOU	with		 Quarterly	 DWA	(Water		 MoU	with	DWA	to	 MoU	with	DMR	being	 The	relationship	with	DWA
	 	 Departments	 	 Affairs)	MoU		 be	signed.	MoU	 implemented	without	 was		difficult,	with	slow	 	
	 	 	 	 	 drafted	and	to		 with	DMR	and	 problems.	MoU	with	 progress	on	action	
	 	 	 	 	 be	sent	to		 DEA	to	be	 DEA	in	place	and	 requests
	 	 	 	 	 DWA	for	input.		 maintained	and/or	 meeting	planned
	 	 	 	 	 Updated	DEA		 updated	 with	DEA	at	end	of		 		 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 (Environmental		 	 April	2013	to	discuss	
	 	 	 	 	 Affairs)	MoU		 	 MoU	update.	
	 	 	 	 	 draft	sent	to		 	 Second	DWA	MoU	
	 	 	 	 	 the	DEA	for		 	 draft	to	be	sent	to
	 	 	 	 	 review.	DMR		 	 DMR	shortly
	 	 	 	 	 (Mineral	
	 	 	 	 	 Resources)	
     MoU in place     
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Strategic Objective 5: Achieve and Maintain Good Governance Practice

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance
    
5.1		 PFMA	compliance	 Quarterly	 >90	%	 >90	%	 >90%	

5.2		 Credit	Rating		 Quarterly	 Aa3.za/P-1.za	 Aa2.za/P-1.za	and	 A2.za/P-2.za	and	 SANRAL’s	credit	ratings	
	 	 (subject	to	 		 and	Baa1/P-2	 A3/P-2	–	Equivalent		 Baa2/P-3	 were	downgraded	due	to
	 	 SANRAL’s		 	 	 to	sovereign	ratings	 	 the	uncertainty	and	
  projects progressing     resistance surrounding the
	 	 as	scheduled)	 	 	 	 	 implementation	of	tolling
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 on	the	GFIP

5.3		 Risk	Management	 Quarterly	 Active	Risk		 Active	Risk	Register	 Active	Risk	Register	 The	ratings	of	some	risks	
	 	 	 	 	 Register		 and	reduction	of	 maintained.	Average	 have	reduced	significantly
     maintained average risk rating  risk rating reduced by due to the approval of the
	 	 	 	 	 	 of	previous	year’s	 14.1%	 Amendment	Bill	by
	 	 	 	 	 	 primary	risks	by	5%		 	 Parliament	and	the	NCOP	
        and the appointment of a
        considerable number of new 
        employees during the year.
        Moreover, some risks in the
        primary risk register were
        moved into the secondary
        risk register  
        

Strategic Objective 6: Transformation

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance
    
6.1		 Percentage	of	RRM		 Quarterly	 84%	 >60	%	 85%	 BBBEE	credentials	of	
  project spend      contractors better
  contracted to      than estimated
	 	 SMMEs	and	Black	
	 	 owned	Companies
  
6.2		 Percentage	of	other		 Quarterly	 38%	 >35	%	 35%
	 	 than	RRM	project	
  spend contracted to 
	 	 SMMEs	and	Black	
	 	 owned	Companies	 	

6.3		 Jobs	created	on		 Quarterly	 27,063	 21,200	 26,947	 Estimates	based	on
	 	 project	(Full-	time)	 	 	 	 	 minimum	targets,	but		 	
        contractors employed more  
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 labourers/staff	than	
        minimum targets

6.4		 Internships	 Quarterly	 38	 53	 88	 More	students	than		 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 expected	applied	for	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 internships	and	SANRAL		
        could place them

6.5		 External	Bursaries	 Quarterly	 57	 60	 70	 More	students	than		 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 expected	qualified	
        for bursaries 
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Strategic Objective 6: Transformation (continued)

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance
    
6.6		 Scholarships	 Quarterly	 100	 150	 179	 More	learners	than	expected		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 qualified	for	scholarships.
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 In	addition,	SANRAL	has		
        supported the following  
        learnership initiatives   
        through universities:
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Nelson	Mandela		 	
        Metropolitan University: 
        477 Grade 10 – 12   
        learners: ICT	programme
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 University	of	the	Free	State:		
        808 Grade 10 – 12 
        learners:	ICT	programme
        10,000 learners	(Free		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 State	and	Northern	Cape):	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Family	Maths	and	Science,		
        Grades 1 - 3
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Wits	University:	191	Grade  
        10 – 12 learners (Limpopo,		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Mpumalanga	and	Gauteng)

6.7		 EE	Plan	 Annual	 	 Achieve	targets	as		 On	track	 The	2014	EE	Plan	guides
      per Board approved  the appointment of staff. 
	 	 	 	 	 	 EE	Plan	 	 SANRAL	is	working	towards	 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 the	targets	set	in	the	Plan

6.8		 Community		 Semi-annual	 Community	 Three	projects	per	 Three	projects	per
	 	 Development		 	 Development	 region	to	be	registered		 region	have	been
	 	 Projects	(CDP)	 	 Projects	(CDP)		 with	approved	budget		 registered	and	have
	 	 	 	 	 delivered	as		 per	financial	year	 been	included	in	the
	 	 	 	 	 per	budget	 	 approved	2014
       budget

Strategic Objective 7: Achieve Financial Sustainability

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12  2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator  Baseline    Variance
    
7.1		 Private	Sector		 	 	 	 	 	 GFIP	tolling	project	delays
	 	 Investment	Index		 	 	 	 	 	 have	affected	the	toll	road
	 	 (PSII)	 34.5%	 Quarterly	 >30	%	 26.23%	 programme	 	 	
         
7.2		 Expenditure	 	<10%	 Quarterly	 <	10%	variance	 Non-Toll:	R10	601m	
	 	 Variance	%	 variance	 		 Non-toll:	R11	132m	 Toll:	R3	671m
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Toll:	4	659m	 Total	variance:	9%	
        underspent

7.3		 Expenditure	 <7.5%	 Quarterly	 <	7.5%	 	3.08%	 SANRAL	overheads	are
	 	 Efficiency	Index		 	 	 	 	 	 below	industry	levels
	 	 (EEI)	
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Strategic Objective 8: Pursue research, innovation and best practice

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance
    
8.1		 SA	Pavement	 Quarterly	 88	research	 60%	 60.04	%	complete	 	 	 	
	 	 Design	Method:		 	 reports	issued
  Budget spend
      

Strategic Objective 9: Safeguard SANRAL’s reputation: stakeholder communication

Programme Reporting Actual  Annual Target Achieved Comments / 
Performance Period 2011/12 2012/13  Reasons for
Indicator   Baseline   Variance
    
9.1		 Communication	 Quarterly	 Messages	as		 At	least	one	 At	least	one	positive	
	 	 	 	 	 required	were		 positive	message	 message	was
     published per month published per month 
       in both regional and 
       national press by means 
       of issuing press releases, 
       advertorials, opinion 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 editorials,	adverts	(print	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 and	broadcast)
 
9.2		 Stakeholder		 Annual	 Spontaneous	 Spontaneous	 Research	conducted	during	 Increase	of
	 	 awareness		 	 awareness	of	 awareness	of	 Quarter	1	for	the	financial	 awareness	primarily
	 	 measurement		 	 SANRAL		 SANRAL	 year.	Spontaneous		 due	to	interest	in
	 	 	 	 	 among	adults		 among	adults	 awareness	has	been		 Gauteng	e-tolling
	 	 	 	 	 across	the	 across	the	 increased	by	5%	to	21%
	 	 	 	 	 country:	16%	 country	to	be
      increased by
	 	 	 	 	 	 2%	to	18%
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3.3  Corporate Governance

Civil	society	demands	transparency	and	accountability	within	all	 the	processes	involved	
in	 service	 delivery.	 SANRAL	 operates	 within	 the	 public	 contracting	 arena,	 where	 it	 is	
essential to lead numerous role players and stakeholders with a shared philosophy of 
good	values	and	ethics.	Corporate	governance	is	a	key	element	in	achieving	this.	It	defines	
and	directs	the	responsibilities	of	SANRAL’s	Board	and	Management	towards	improving	
corporate	and	economic	efficiency	and	enhancing	credibility.	With	core	objectives	such	as	
the	management	of	SANRAL’s	primary	road	network,	ensuring	best	value	for	money	and	
the	preservation	of	financial	market	confidence,	SANRAL’s	Board	and	staff	recognise	that	
it	is	vital	that	the	organisation	functions	as	a	credible	custodian	of	taxpayer	and	investor	
funds. 

Corporate	governance	and	the	management	of	risk,	including	the	prevention	of	fraud	and	
corruption,	lie	at	the	heart	of	SANRAL’s	conduct	of	its	business.	The	Agency	has	a	track	
record of willingly embracing a culture of the visible practice of good governance in the 
achievement of its economic, environmental, and social objectives. This acceptance has 
been well entrenched at Board level, which encourages the virtuous cycle of candour and 
trust,	and	has	filtered	through	all	levels	within	the	Agency.	

The	Board	formally	acknowledges	that	the	values	of	integrity	and	service	excellence	must	
be pursued in all its decisions and activities. It sets objectives and strategy and oversees 
procedures for effective implementation.

Sustainability 

SANRAL	aims	to	create	public	wealth	through	the	national	road	infrastructure	it	provides	
and manages. It strives to ensure that all its projects are implemented and managed in 
a	socio-economically	and	environmentally	responsible	and	sustainable	manner.	SANRAL	
is	 keenly	 aware	 of	 the	 unique	 opportunities	 it	 has	 and	 the	 national	 resources	 placed	
in	 its	 trust	 to	create	 lasting	 returns	and	developmental	 impact	 for	 the	nation.	SANRAL	
also acknowledges its responsibility of being a catalyst in the development of a vibrant 
economy,	an	empowered	society	and	a	protected	environment,	as	driven	by	the	National	
Development	Plan.

In	 addition	 to	 financial	 reporting,	 this	 Annual	 Report	 provides	 details	 of	 SANRAL’s	
efforts towards sustainable development in the areas of transformation of the road 
construction industry, skills development, community development and careful spend of 
natural	 resources.	The	Annual	Report	 therefore	 includes	SANRAL’s	sustainability	 report	
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and	serves	as	SANRAL’s	Integrated	Report	as	required	by	the	King	III	Code.	The	report	
provides evidence of economic, social and environmental returns delivered through 
SANRAL’s	activities	during	the	year.	

The	economic	returns	include	a	national	road	network	of	good	quality	providing	access	and	
mobility	to	citizens	and	freight.	The	road	construction	industry	is	being	steadily	transformed	
and	 empowered	 through	 opportunities	 for	 small	 and	 medium-sized	 contracting	 and	
engineering	firms.	The	social	value	created	includes	the	fact	that	South	Africa	can	claim	
ownership	to	SANRAL,	a	state-owned	company,	one	of	the	best	managed	and	one	which	
fulfills	its	mandate	year	after	year.	SANRAL	is	run	on	the	principles	of	good	governance	and	
ethical	values,	with	zero-tolerance	of	corrupt	practice.	SANRAL	is	aware	of	its	responsibility	
of	 trust	as	 it	manages	and	spends	public	and	 investor	 funds.	Community	development	
projects	and	road	safety	projects	ensure	rural	development	and	benefits	to	disadvantaged	
communities.	Work-life	 balance	 and	 staff	 wellness	 are	 critical.	 Opportunities	 for	 skills	
development	 for	staff	and	 learning	 initiatives	 for	external	beneficiaries	such	as	scholars,	
bursars	and	 interns	are	many.	SANRAL	supports	 tertiary	education	 through	sponsoring	
Chairs	 at	 universities	 which	 aids	 post-graduate	 studies	 in	 pavement	 engineering,	 and	
transportation planning.

From	 an	 environmental	 perspective,	 SANRAL	 uses	 natural	 and	 scarce	 resources	
responsibly with the aim of recycling and reusing where possible. It rehabilitates land 
resources after projects are completed and uses natural resources responsibly, so as to 
disturb	the	sensitive	environmental	and	ecological	balance	to	the	minimum	extent	possible.
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Board of Directors 

The Board is appointed by the Minister of Transport, as the representative of the sole 
shareholder,	the	State,	for	a	term	of	three	years,	ensuring	adequate	continuity	of	serving	
members.	 This	 is	 confirmed	 annually	 at	 the	 Shareholder	Meeting	 which	 serves	 as	 the	
Annual General Meeting. 

The	SANRAL	Act	stipulates	that	the	Board	must	comprise	of	a	maximum	of	eight	members,	
including	one	member	representing	the	Department	of	Transport,	who	the	Minister	may	
choose	to	appoint.	One	Board	member	resigned	in	February	2013,	resulting	in	a	seven-
member	Board	as	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year.	The	majority	of	the	Directors	are	non-
executive	and	 independent,	and	provide	an	array	of	skills	 including	engineering,	human	
resources	and	accounting.	The	CEO	 is	 the	only	executive	Board	member.	The	serving	
Board members for the year were:
•	 Ms	Tembakazi	Mnyaka,	Chairperson
•	 Mr	Nazir	Alli,	CEO
•	 Mr	Peter	Derman
•	 Mr	Anthony	Julies
•	 Ms	Lungile	Madlala	(resigned	on	15	February	2013)
•	 Mr	Sipho	Madonsela
•	 Mr	Roshan	Morar
•	 Ms	Duduzile	Nyamane

The	Board’s	responsibilities	and	conduct	are	guided	by	the	Board	Charter	and	a	Code	
of	 Conduct	 which	 are	 reviewed	 annually.	 The	 Board’s	 primary	 responsibilities	 include	
ultimate	accountability	for	SANRAL’s	performance	and	delivery	against	mandate,	providing	
effective, ethical leadership, ensuring good governance practice, providing strategic 
direction and ensuring appropriate reporting.

The	Chairperson	of	the	Board	is	an	independent	non-executive	Director.	She	is	primarily	
responsible for providing overall leadership and ensuring the orderly conduct of the Board 
and	its	meetings.	The	Chairperson’s	and	CEO’s	roles	are	separate.	

The	 non-executive	 directors	 are	 largely	 independent	 and	 are	 free	 from	 any	 business	
relationships	or	conflicts	of	interest	which	could	hamper	their	independence	or	objective	
judgement	 in	 terms	 of	 their	 decisions	 with	 regard	 to	 SANRAL.	 They	 have	 access	 to	
information	and	property	of	SANRAL	in	the	course	of	fulfilling	their	responsibilities.	They	
have	direct	access	to	the	external	and	internal	auditors	and	professional	advisors.

Schedule of Attendance of Board Meetings during the Year 

Six	meetings	of	the	Board,	including	one	special	meeting	and	one	electronic	meeting,	
were	held	during	the	year.	All	of	them	had	the	required	quorum.	

Director Position  May  July Aug Nov Jan Feb
   2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013

Ms	T	Mnyaka	 Chairperson	

	 	 Non-executive	 	      

Mr	P	Derman	 Non-executive	 	      

Mr	A	Julies	 Non-executive	 	      

Ms	L	Madlala*	 Non-executive	 	 A  A A A 

Mr	S	Madonsela	Non-executive	 	     A 

Mr	R	Morar	 Non-executive	 	  A A   

Ms	D	Nyamane	 Non-executive	 	      

Mr	N	Alli	 CEO	-	Executive		      
 
*	Resigned	15	February	2013	 Present

A Absent 
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Disclosure of Interests 

SANRAL	 considers	 it	 vital	 that	 the	 Board	 makes	 all	 decisions	 independently	 and	
transparently,	without	any	conflict	of	interests	which	could	affect	judgement	or	decisions.	
SANRAL	maintains	and	monitors	a	formal	register	of	 interests	for	the	Board,	the	senior	
management	 team	 and	 staff	 involved	 in	 procurement.	 Disclosure	 of	 interests	 is	 also	 a	
standard	agenda	item	at	every	Board	and	Contracts	Committee	meeting.	Should	there	be	
a	conflict	of	interest	the	Director	is	required	to	recuse	himself	or	herself	from	the	pertinent	
deliberations and decisions.

All	gifts	worth	R200	or	more,	received	by	employees	as	a	result	of	them	being	an	employee	
of	SANRAL	have	to	be	declared	in	the	Register	of	Gifts	which	is	maintained	at	SANRAL	
offices.

Code of Conduct 

SANRAL	 acknowledges	 that	 the	 values	 of	 integrity	 and	 service	 excellence	 must	 be	
pursued in its decisions and activities. A culture of ethical behaviour based on sound 
values such as respect, integrity and trust, is promoted at every level, right throughout the 
organisation.	A	Code	of	Conduct	directs	employee	behaviour	and	all	employee	contracts	
make	reference	to	it.	The	Board	Code	of	Conduct	directs	and	guides	Board	behaviour.	
All service providers and contractors are contractually bound to fair and ethical practice.

Board Remuneration 

Board	 remuneration	 is	 determined	 annually	 by	 the	 Executive	 Authority,	 the	Minister	 of	
Transport.	Remuneration	is	governed	by	Section	13	(3)	and	(4)	of	the	SANRAL	Act.

Board Evaluation 

A	 Board	 Evaluation	 exercise	 was	 conducted	 during	 March	 2013	 by	 an	 independent	
service	provider.	The	evaluation	report	is	expected	shortly.	

Company Secretariat Function 

The	Company	Secretary	and	Risk	Officer	is	responsible	for	providing	support	to	the	Board	
and	for	developing	systems	and	processes	to	enable	the	Board	to	function	effectively.	She	
provides guidance and support with regard to the powers, roles and responsibilities of the 
Board	and	its	Committees,	as	a	collective	and	to	individual	members.	She	develops	the	
annual workplans for the Board and the agenda for Board meetings in discussion with the 
Chairperson.	She	guides	the	Board	on	corporate	governance	matters,	the	Companies	Act	
and	other	governance-related	legislation.

The	Company	Secretary	is	considered	by	the	Board	to	be	fit	and	proper	for	the	position	
and	is	qualified	to	perform	the	duties	which	are	required	of	the	role.	

Board Committees 

The Board has established four committees to assist it to ensure the integrity of functions 
and	oversight	responsibilities	as	stated	in	the	respective	Committee	charters.	Committee	
meetings	have	been	held	regularly	as	per	a	Board-approved	schedule	of	meetings.	The	
four committees are:
•	 Contracts	Committee.
•	 Audit	and	Risk	Committee	(required	by	the	PFMA	and	the	Companies	Act).
•	 Social,	Ethics	and	Transformation	Committee	(required	by	the	Companies	Act).
•	 Assets	and	Liabilities	Committee.
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Contracts Committee 

This	Committee	consisted	of	three	members	until	15	February	2012,	when	Ms	Madlala	
resigned.	 Ms	 Nyamane	 was	 appointed	 as	 a	 member	 of	 the	 Committee.	 Another	
independent,	external	member	was	appointed	to	serve	on	the	Committee,	effective	1	April	
2013.	The	Committee	meets	almost	every	month.	Quorum	requirements	were	met	for	all	
meetings	during	the	year.	The	Committee	is	guided	by	its	Charter	and	the	Board	Code	of	
Conduct.	

The skills of the members are predominantly in the engineering, contracting and 
management areas. It is responsible for ensuring that all tenders are adjudicated fairly and 
in accordance with the tender rules. It considers the submissions made by management 
and awards the tenders in compliance with a strictly applied tender process. It ensures that 
contract	expenditure	is	properly	authorised	in	accordance	with	the	established,	delegated	
powers approved by the Board. It also monitors the progress in the transformation and 
empowerment	aspects	brought	about	in	the	construction	industry	as	a	result	of	SANRAL’s	
projects.

Disclosure	of	Interests	is	a	standard	agenda	item	at	every	meeting	to	ensure	that	there	are	
no	conflicts	of	interests	and	the	Committee	makes	its	decisions	with	regard	to	the	award	
of contracts, independently and fairly.

Schedule of Meetings and Attendance

Director- Position Apr May Jun Jul Sep Oct  Nov Dec
Member    2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012  2012 2012

Mr	S	Madonsela	 Non-

	 	 	 executive	

	 	 	 Chairperson	         

Mr	P	Derman	 	Non-executive	         

Ms	L	Madlala*	 Non-executive	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Ms	D	Nyamane	#	 Non-executive	         

Director- Position Feb Mrch 
Member    2013 2013 

Mr	S	Madonsela	 Non-executive	  

Mr	P	Derman	 Non-executive	  

Ms	L	Madlala*	 Non-executive	  

Ms	D	Nyamane	#	 Non-executive	  

*	Resigned	15	February	2013
#	Appointed	1	March	2013

Audit and Risk Committee 

This	Committee	had	three	independent,	non-executive	Board	members	and	an	observer,	
who	was	also	a	non-executive	Board	member	during	the	year.	The	Committee	met	four	
times	during	the	year.	Quorum	requirements	were	met	for	all	meetings.	

The skills of the members are predominantly in the accounting and engineering areas. It 
is responsible for ensuring the integrity of the accounting, audit and risk functions of the 
company	and	manages	the	relationship	with	the	internal	and	external	auditors.	It	is	guided	
by	 the	Audit	 and	Risk	Committee	Charter/Terms	of	Reference	and	 the	Board	Code	of	
Conduct.	Further	details	are	provided	in	the	‘Report	of	the	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	on	
page	114.

		Present
A  Absent
		 Not	a	member
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Schedule of Meetings and Attendance 

Director -  Position  May Jul Oct Jan
Member   2012 2012 2012 2013
Mr	R	Morar	 Non-executive,	
 independent 
	 Chairperson	    

Ms	L	Madlala*	 Non-executive 

   independent  A A      
Mr	S	Madonsela	 Non-executive,	
 independent    

Mr	A	Julies		 Non-executive	 A  A 
(Observer)

*	Resigned	15	February	2013

The Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee 

The	 Companies	 Act,	 No	 71	 of	 2008,	 required	 SANRAL	 to	 establish	 a	 Social	 and	
Ethics	Committee	 (SETC)	 before	 30	April	 2012.	 The	Board	 instituted	 this	Committee	
in	August	2011	and	 increased	 its	 functions	 (previously	done	by	 the	Human	Resources	
and	Remuneration	Committee)	 to	cover	all	 the	 responsibilities	of	 the	Social	and	Ethics	
Committee	as	legislated.	It	held	six	meetings	during	the	year,	with	all	quorum	requirements	
met.	The	SETC	has	three	non-executive	Directors	as	members.	They	have	human	resources	
and	management	skills.	The	Committee	is	guided	by	its	charter	and	the	Board	Code	of	
Conduct.

The	Committee	monitors	the	activities	of	SANRAL	particularly	in	relation	to	the	following	
social and ethical areas, with emphasis on transformation:
•	 Social	 and	 economic	 development	 including	 areas	 of	 good	 governance	 and	 anti- 
 corruption.
•	 Good	corporate	citizenship.
•	 The	environment,	health	and	safety	including	impact	of	SANRAL’s	activities
•	 Consumer	relationships.
•	 Labour	relations	and	employment	including	remuneration,	conditions	of	service,	service	 
	 benefits	practice,	human	resource	planning	and	skills	development.	
•	 Compliance	with	legislation.	

Schedule of Meetings and Attendance 

Director -  Position May Jul Sep Nov Jan Mar 
Member   2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013

Ms	D	Nyamane		 	Non-executive,

  independent 

	 	Chairperson	

	 	from	Jan	2012	      

Ms	T	Mnyaka	 	Non-executive,	

  independent       

Mr	P	Derman	 	Non-executive,	

  independent       
 

		Present
A  Absent
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Assets and Liabilities Committee 

This	Committee	has	three	non-executive	Directors	as	members.	It	meets	regularly,	
generally	every	month	and	is	supported	by	SANRAL’s	Treasury.	All	meetings	held	during	
the	year	had	the	required	quorum.

It	is	the	Committee’s	task	to	formulate	policies	and	controls	governing	SANRAL’s	
financial	risk	management	activities	with	respect	to	liquidity,	investments,	interest	rates,	
and	credit.	The	Committee	sets	risk	management	parameters	for	each	risk	category	and	
reviews the performance of the treasury function. The provisions found in the Treasury 
Policy	and	Control	Manual	regulate	the	activities	of	the	treasury	function.	The	Committee	
periodically reviews the relevance and validity of these controls. Any proposed 
amendments are subject to approval by the Board.

Schedule of Meetings and Attendance 

Director -  Position 3 12 13 29 22 13 
Member   May Jul Sep Nov Jan Mar 
   2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013

Mr	A	Julies	 	Non-executive	      

Ms	T	Mnyaka	 	Non-executive	 A     

Mr	R	Morar		 	Non-executive	  A    

Delegation of Authority 

SANRAL	 has	 a	 Board	 approved	Delegation	 of	 Authority	 framework.	 The	 framework	 is	
guided	primarily	by	the	requirements	of	the	SANRAL	Act	and	the	PFMA.	 It	records	the	
nature	and	extent	of	the	authority	delegated	to	the	Board	Committees	and	management.	
It also ensures that no one acts beyond the scope of the authorised delegations. It is 
currently	under	review	in	preparation	for	the	next	approval	by	the	Board.

Compliance 

The	PFMA,	No.	1	of	1999,	the	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	Limited	and	National	
Roads	Act,	No.	7	of	1998	and	the	Companies	Act,	No.	71	of	2008	are	key	legislation	for	
SANRAL,	 in	addition	 to	which	are	many	other	pieces	of	 legislation	affecting	SANRAL’s	
activities.	These	pieces	of	legislation	require	that	the	Board	and	staff	of	SANRAL	act	with	
integrity,	transparency	and	in	the	best	interests	of	SANRAL,	which	are	goals	that	SANRAL	
continually strives towards.

Compliance	 is	 accepted	 as	 a	 management	 competency	 and	 as	 vital	 to	 ensure	 good	
reputation and seamless delivery. The Board acknowledges that compliance with 
applicable laws and standards is an ethical imperative, and monitors compliance through 
the	Social,	Ethics	and	Transformation	Committee.	SANRAL	commits	to	complying	with	all	
applicable	legislation	and	also	with	non-binding	codes	and	standards	such	as	the	King	III	
Code,	to	the	extent	possible	by	a	state-owned	company,	and	the	Protocol	on	Corporate	
Governance	in	the	Public	Sector.	The	United	Nations	Global	Compact	Principles	and	the	
OECD	(Organisation	for	Economic	Cooperation)	recommendations	regarding	corruption	
are	standards	which	SANRAL	adheres	to	on	a	voluntary	basis.	Management	ensures	that	
SANRAL’s	compliance	universe	is	monitored	on	a	weekly	basis	and	the	responsibility	for	
ensuring compliance lies with the manager or cluster concerned. In addition to complying 
with	its	core	function-related	legislation	and	standards	as	applicable	to	the	construction	
industry,	SANRAL	has	always	endeavoured	to	comply	with	governance	relevant	legislation	
including	the	SANRAL	Act,	the	PFMA,	the	Treasury	Regulations	and	the	Companies	Act.	
In	case	of	any	inconsistency	between	the	PFMA	and	other	legislation,	the	PFMA	prevails.

SANRAL	has	embarked	on	and	is	close	to	concluding	a	formal	process	of	establishing	a	
compliance framework which will enable better monitoring of key compliance areas.

		Present
A  Absent
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Stakeholder Relationships 

Stakeholder	relationships	and	concerns	are	managed	generally	on	a	project	by	project	basis	
or as particular circumstances dictate. The essential liaison with affected stakeholders is 
guided	by	the	SANRAL	Act,	No.	7	of	1998.	SANRAL’s	good	reputation	is	of	paramount	
importance and is guarded jealously by the Board and Management. The uncertainty 
surrounding	the	implementation	of	Open	Road	Tolling	in	Gauteng	and	other	key	projects	
in	 the	country	has	 forced	SANRAL	 to	 re-examine	 its	stakeholder	 liaison	 responsibilities	
and	 strategies.	 SANRAL	 acknowledges	 the	 importance	 of	 maintaining	 communication	
and relationships with a wide range of stakeholders, as these are important factors which 
influence	delivery	on	mandate.	

It	evokes	confidence	among	the	affected	stakeholders	that	SANRAL	operates	with	integrity	
and	transparency	and	that	socio-economic	and	environmental	value	is	created	for	affected	
communities and other stakeholders.

An	annual	Shareholder	Compact	(performance	agreement)	is	concluded	with	the	Minister	
of	Transport,	which	regulates	the	relationships	between	the	Shareholder	and	SANRAL	and	
enables performance monitoring and oversight by the Minister of Transport. 

Engagement	 with	 employees	 is	 continual	 –	 with	 skills	 development,	 career	 growth	
opportunities	and	work-life	balance	initiatives	being	prioritised.	

Public	 participation	 sessions	 as	 relevant	 are	 conducted	 with	 stakeholders	 affected	 by	
SANRAL’s	projects.	These	may	be	extensive	and	intense	as	in	the	case	of	the	Gauteng	
Freeway	e-tolling	project,	or	may	be	specific	to	a	particular	community	affected	by	a	small,	
but critical development project.

SANRAL’s	stakeholders	are	wide-ranging	and	wide-spread	geographically,	but	SANRAL	
will monitor feedback from all engagement efforts to ensure appropriate responses and 
actions. 

Credit Ratings 

As	a	testament	to	its	commitment	to	maintaining	investor	confidence	and	financial	market	
credibility,	SANRAL’s	credit	worthiness	is	rated	and	published	by	Moody’s	Investor	Service.	

The	ratings	were	downgraded	in	May	2012:	
•	 The	global	scale	issuer	ratings	of	A3	(long-term)	and	P-2	(short-term)	were	downgraded	 
	 to	Baa2	and	P-3	respectively	with	negative	outlook.	
•	 The	national	scale	 issuer	 ratings	of	Aa3.za	 (long-term)	and	P-1.za	 (short-term)	were	 
	 downgraded	to	A2.za	and	P-2.za	respectively,	also	with	negative	outlook.	

The uncertainty and delays with regard to the commencement of electronic tolling on 
the Gauteng network and the accompanying political and public resistance led to the 
downgrade	 of	 the	 credit	 ratings.	 The	medium	 term	 fiscal	 tensions	 associated	with	 the	
lower	 than	 anticipated	 toll	 income,	 coupled	 with	 the	 higher	 operational	 risks	 of	 e-toll	
revenue	collection	and	 the	uncertainty	with	 regard	 to	SANRAL’s	 future	business	model	
were additional factors which led to this downgrade. 

Strategic Plan and Performance Information 

A	five-year	strategic	plan	was	drawn	up,	in	line	with	the	National	Treasury	Framework	for	
Strategic	Plans	and	Annual	Performance	Plans	for	 the	period	2012/13	–	2016/17.	The	
plan	was	approved	by	 the	Minister	 last	year.	An	Annual	Performance	Plan	 for	2013/14	
–	2015/16,	also	in	line	with	the	Framework	was	drawn	up	and	approved	by	the	Minister	
in	March	2013.	Performance	management	 and	 reporting	at	 an	organisational	 level	 is	 a	
key	facet	of	SANRAL’s	governance	responsibility.	Key	performance	areas	were	identified	
against	 each	 of	 SANRAL’s	 strategic	 objectives	 and	 performance	 against	 relevant	 and	
measurable targets was monitored regularly, approved by the Board and reported to the 
Minister	of	Transport	on	a	quarterly	basis.	The	annual	performance	 information	report	 is	
published	in	the	Annual	Report,	thus	making	this	information	available	to	all	stakeholders	to	
facilitate	the	evaluation	of	SANRAL’s	ability	and	success	to	deliver	in	terms	of	its	mandate.
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Risk Management 

Enterprise-wide	risk	management	is	an	integral	part	of	SANRAL’s	fulfilment	of	its	mandate.	
The Board has accepted responsibility for risk management within the organisation. 
SANRAL	 has	 developed	 a	 Risk	 Register,	 a	 product	 of	 the	 continuous	 assessment	 of	
current	risks	and	the	identification	of	new	risks.	All	employees	are	encouraged	to	be	alert	
to	risk	exposures	in	their	area	of	contribution,	and	to	express	their	concerns	relating	to	the	
strategic	and	operational	risks	faced	by	the	company.	The	Risk	Cluster	then	analyses	each	
risk and initiates appropriate mitigating action and treatment. All risks are documented 
in	the	Risk	Register	and	are	communicated	to	the	Board	of	Directors	and	to	employees	
as	appropriate.	The	Internal	Audit	Coverage	Plan	is	risk-based	and	risk	management	is	a	
standing	item	on	all	Board	and	Committee	meetings,	with	ongoing	oversight	by	SANRAL’s	
Audit	and	Risk	Committee.

SANRAL’s	Risk	Cluster	meets	at	least	four	times	a	year,	one	of	which	is	with	the	Board	-	
the	Board	Risk	and	Strategy	Session.	The	Board	discusses	SANRAL’s	risks	and	mitigation	
measures	 and	 ratifies	 the	 risk	 tolerance	 and	 appetite	 levels.	 SANRAL’s	 risk	 appetite	
and	 tolerance	 is	 acknowledged	 at	 100	 percent	 as	 it	 does	 not	 have	 the	 choice	 of	 not	
undertaking an activity which may arise within the course of delivery of mandate, or that 
which	may	be	required	of	it	within	the	limits	set	by	legislation.	The	Board	has	determined	
that	all	risks	with	a	risk	value	(product	of	impact	and	likelihood	on	a	scale	of	1	to	10)	of	30	
or	more,	must	be	brought	to	its	attention	as	a	standing	agenda	item	for	all	Audit	and	Risk	
Committee	and	Board	meetings.	There	have	been	no	deviations	in	SANRAL’s	risk	appetite	
levels	during	2012/13.	

The	 major	 risks	 in	 the	 Primary	 Risk	 Register	 include	 the	 uncertainty	 relating	 to	 the	
commencement	of	electronic	 tolling	on	 the	Gauteng	network,	 the	delay	 in	 the	 required	
amendment legislation relating to electronic tolling, the need for continual and targeted 
stakeholder communication, the delays in obtaining approvals and permits such as water 
permits, mining rights and environmental approvals from the relevant departments and the 
poor	safety	record	on	South	African	roads,	primarily	 influenced	by	road	user	behaviour.	
These risks will continue to be monitored and mitigated actively.

Prevention and Response to Fraud and Corruption 

SANRAL’s	core	activities	are	in	the	public	works,	construction,	and	maintenance	industry.	
This is an industry which is particularly vulnerable to malpractice, primarily due to the 
involvement of many role players and the magnitude of funds involved. The Agency is keenly 
aware	of	its	exposure	to	and	the	dangers	of	fraudulent	and	corrupt	activities	affecting	its	
business,	particularly	within	the	transforming	South	African	economy.	Problems	emanating	
from	collusion	and	 fronting	are	challenges	on	project	sites.	Vigilance	 in	monitoring	and	
the education of newer entrants are seen to be critical in the management of the conduct, 
relationships, and activities of the role players in any project: consultants, main contractors, 
and	sub-contractors.	

As	an	aid	to	its	objective	of	spreading	the	message	of	zero	tolerance	to	all	malpractice	
that	 affects	 efficient	 delivery	 on	 SANRAL’s	 mandate,	 SANRAL	 subscribes	 to	 a	 fraud	
hotline	service	which	is	operated	by	Tip-Offs	Anonymous , a service provider independent 
of	SANRAL.	This	whistle-blowing	service	 is	available	 to	anyone,	within	 the	organisation	
or	 externally,	 to	 anonymously	 and	 without	 fear	 of	 victimisation,	 report	 on	 suspected	
wrongdoing, unethical behaviour, theft, corruption, fraud or other incidents that could harm 
SANRAL’s	 operations,	 sustainability	 and	 reputation.	 The	 fraud	 hotline	 has	 served	 as	 a	
useful	mechanism	to	expose	maladministration	and	fraudulent	activity.

All	 substantive	 allegations	 undergo	 a	 thorough	 investigation	 process	 for	 which	 expert,	
external	investigators	may	be	engaged.	All	investigations	are	conducted	in	a	transparent,	
fair, and objective manner respecting the rights of the individuals implicated. The intention 
is	 that	 the	 message	 of	 SANRAL’s	 intolerance	 to	 malpractice	 be	 communicated	 in	 no	
uncertain terms within the construction community.
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During	 the	 year,	 SANRAL	 has	 had	 to	 conduct/conclude	 four	 forensic	 investigations.	
These included collusion to falsify laboratory results and anonymous attempts to obtain 
funds transfers into fraudulent bank accounts or promises of tender awards for bribes. It 
is	with	pride	that	we	state	that	none	of	SANRAL’s	employees	were	involved	in	any	such	
allegations	and	we	had	a	clean	internal	record	for	the	year.	SANRAL	remains	vigilant	to	any	
exposure	to	possible	fraud	and	corruption	and	pursues	all	instances	with	vigour	to	drive	
home	the	message	of	zero	tolerance	and	to	reduce	this	scourge	in	the	industry.	

An	 annual	 governance	 and	 risk	 road-show	 is	 held	 for	 the	 benefit	 of	 all	 employees	 at	
the	 corporate	 and	 regional	 offices.	 This	 enhances	 awareness	 and	 ownership	 relating	
to	 governance	 and	 risk	 management.	 This	 ownership	 is	 definitely	 influenced	 by	 the	
relationships	between	and	the	knowledge	base	of	all	participants	within	SANRAL.	Areas	
such as governance principles, learning opportunities learnt from forensic investigations 
and the risk register are discussed in detail with opportunity for wide discussion, 
contribution, and sharing of concerns by all colleagues.

Assurance 

SANRAL’s	Board	 and	Management	 acknowledge	 the	 value	 of	 combined	 assurance	 to	
ensure effective controls in performance, subscribing to good governance and managing 
risks and thus ensuring optimal delivery.
The components within the assurance model include:
•	 Risk	management	and	reporting.
•	 Performance	management	and	reporting.
•	 Compliance	as	a	non-negotiable,	essential	component.
•	 Internal	control	(financial	and	operational).
•	 Anti-fraud	and	corruption	measures.
•	 Internal	and	external	audit.
•	 External,	independent	review	in	certain	areas	(financial	and	technical).
•	 Continual	monitoring	and	oversight	by	senior	management	and	the	Board.

In the Final Analysis 

Given	 all	 of	 the	 above	 measures	 to	 ensure	 that	 SANRAL	 achieves	 its	 objectives,	 the	
fact is that there can be no law or preventative measure to cover every possible incident 
or	 opportunity	 for	 wrongdoing.	 It	 is	 therefore	 important	 that	 quality	 governance	 and	
responsible	risk	management	continue	to	be	integral	to	SANRAL’s	organisational	culture	–	
with	every	employee	and	director	being	a	custodian	of	the	core	values	of	service	excellence	
and	integrity.	These	are	the	values	that	SANRAL	strives	to	nurture	and	uphold	for	all	 its	
stakeholders. Board Members and management are committed to the achievement of high 
standards,	and	SANRAL’s	corporate	governance	structures	and	practices	will	continue	to	
evolve and improve. 

SANRAL	endeavours	to	create	an	environment	of	trust	and	openness	and	encourages	a	
culture	of	individual	accountability.	In	the	final	analysis,	SANRAL	accepts	that	it	is	the	people,	
especially those who wield power, that make or break the practice of good governance. 
It also believes that sound governance and individual and corporate accountability are 
inextricably	linked	to	the	efficient	and	effective	delivery	of	its	mandate	to	South	Africa,	and	
therefore accepts the responsibility to remain true to these values.
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

In	 terms	 of	 Treasury	 Regulation	 27(1)	 of	 the	 Public	 Finance	Management	 Act	 (1999)	
(PFMA),	as	amended,	the	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	report	as	follows	for	the	financial	year	
ended	31	March	2013.

1. Audit and Risk Committee Members and Meetings

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	consists	of	the	members	listed	hereunder	and	meets	
at	least	four	times	per	annum	as	per	its	approved	Charter.	During	the	current	year	
four meetings were held. 

The committee members were as follows:

Mr	Roshan	Morar	 	Chairperson	(Independent	Non-executive	Board	member)
Mr	Sipho	Madonsela	 Member	(Independent	Non-executive	Board	member)
Ms	Lungile	Madlala	 Member	(Independent	Non-executive	Board	member)
Mr	Anthony	Julies	 	National	Treasury	(Board	member)

Ms	Madlala	resigned	on	15	February	2013.	Mr	Peter	Derman	has	been	appointed	on	
13	May	2013.

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

The	Audit	 and	Risk	Committee	 (ARC)	 has	 adopted	 the	Audit	 and	Risk	Committee	
Charter,	which	has	been	confirmed	by	the	Board.

The	ARC	reports	that	it	has	discharged	its	responsibilities	as	contained	in	the	Audit	
and	Risk	Committee	Charter.

In	executing	its	duties	during	the	reporting	period,	the	Committee	has:

	 2.1 Reviewed	and	considered	the	Annual	Integrated	Report	and	Financial
	 	 	Statements
	 2.2	 Monitored	and	supervised	the	effective	operation	of	 the	 Internal	Control	and 
  Internal Audit function
	 2.3	 Oversee	the	external	audit	process	and	the	review	of	the	report	of	the	Auditor	 
  General
	 2.4	 Ensure	that	an	effective,	efficient	and	transparent	system	of	risk	management	is	 
  maintained
	 2.5	 Assist	the	Board	in	carrying	out	its	IT	Governance	responsibilities
	 2.6	 The	Committee	will	assist	the	Board	with	the	following:
	 	 	 a.	 The	 review	 of	 the	 Strategic	 Plan	 and	 Annual	 Performance	 Plan	 prior	 to	 
    Board approval;
   b. The review of the annual budget prior to Board approval;
   c. The summary of public liability claims and other legal actions prior to Board  
    approval; and
   d. To perform such other oversight functions as may be determined by the  
    Board.

 3. Adequacy Of Internal Controls

SANRAL’s	system	of	internal	control	is	designed	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	
assets	are	safeguarded	and	that	liabilities	and	working	capital	are	efficiently	managed.	
The	Committee	is	pleased	to	report	that	nothing	came	to	its	attention	suggesting	that	
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any material breakdown had occurred in the functioning of the systems, procedures 
and controls that could lead to material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that 
would	require	disclosure	in	the	financial	statements.	Any	control	deficiencies	identified	
by	the	 internal	and	external	auditors	were	brought	to	the	attention	of	the	committee	
and corrective action was implemented by management. Where internal controls did 
not operate effectively throughout the year, compensating controls or corrective action 
or both were used to eliminate or reduce risks. This ensured that the assets were 
safeguarded and proper accounting records maintained.

The	committee’s	assessment	is	that	the	overall	control	environment	is	effective.	This	
assessment is supported by a written report from the internal audit function.

4. Internal Audit

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 Internal	 Audit	 function	 was	 outsourced	 to	
PricewaterhouseCoopers	and	Business	Innovations	Group	Consortium	up	to	30	June	
2012.	The	Contracts	Committee	approved	the	appointment	of	Ernst	&	Young	and	A2A	
Kopano	Consortium	for	the	period	1	July	2012	to	30	June	2015.

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	approved	an	 Internal	Audit	Charter,	which	stipulates	
the terms of reference for the Internal Audit. The Internal Audit annual operational as 
well	 as	 the	 three-year-plans	were	 considered	 and	 approved	 by	 the	Audit	 and	Risk	
Committee.	All	 Internal	Audit	work	 performed	 as	well	 as	 Internal	Audit	 reports	 and	
progress	reports	were	reviewed	by	the	Audit	and	Risk	Committee.	

Internal	 Audit	 also	 actively	 participates	 in	 SANRAL’s	 Risk	 Cluster,	 identifying	 and	
assessing risks. 

5. Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	has:
•	 reviewed	and	discussed	with	the	Auditor-General	and	the	Board	of	Directors	the	 
	 audited	financial	statements	to	be	included	in	the	report;
•	 reviewed	the	Auditor-General’s	management	and	audit	reports;
•	 reviewed	changes	in	accounting	policies	and	practices;	
•	 reviewed	significant	adjustments	resulting	from	the	audit;	and
•	 reviewed	the	annual	integrated	report	and	recommended	it	for	Board	approval.

The	 Audit	 and	 Risk	 Committee	 concurs	 and	 accepts	 the	 conclusions	 of	 the	 Auditor-
General	on	the	annual	financial	statements	and	is	of	the	opinion	that	the	audited	financial	
statements	be	accepted	and	read	together	with	the	report	of	the	Auditor-General.

Roshan Morar
23	May	2013
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Report of the Auditor-General
to Parliament on the South African National Road Agency (SOC) Limited

Introduction  
1.	 I	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	the	South	African	National	Road	Agency	SOC	Limited	set	out	on	pages	128	to	174,	which comprise the statement  
	 of	financial	position	as	at	31	March	2013,	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	the	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	 
	 year	then	ended,	and	the	notes,	comprising	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.	

Accounting authority s responsibility for the financial statements

2.	 The	board	of	directors	which	constitutes	the	accounting	authority	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	financial	statements	in	 
	 accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	and	the	requirements	of	the	Public	Finance	Management	Act	of	South	Africa	1999	(Act	 
	 No.1	of	1999)	(PFMA),	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa,	2008	(Act	No.71	of	2008)(Companies	Act)	and	the	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	Limited	 
	 and	National	Roads	Act,	 1998	 (Act	No.	 7	 of	 1998),	 and	 for	 such	 internal	 control	 as	 the	 accounting	 authority	 determines	 is	 necessary	 to	 enable	 the	 
	 preparation	of	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility 

3.	 My	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	financial	statements	based	on	my	audit.	I	conducted	my	audit	in	accordance	with	the	Public	Audit	Act	of	 
	 South	Africa,	2004	(Act	No.	25	of	2004)	(PAA),	the	General	Notice	issued	in	terms	thereof	and	International	Standards	on	Auditing.	Those	standards	require	 
	 that	I	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	are	free	from	 
 material misstatement.
4.	 An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	 
	 depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgement,	including	the	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.		 
	 In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	entity’s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	statements	in	 
	 order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	 
	 entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	 
	 made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.	
5.	 I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	my	audit	opinion.

Opinion

6.	 In	my	opinion,	the	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of	the	South	African	National	Road	Agency	SOC	Limited	 
	 as	 at	 31	March	2013,	 and	 its	 financial	 performance	 and	 cash	 flows	 for	 the	 year	 then	 ended	 in	 accordance	with	 the	 International	 Financial	Reporting	 
	 Standards	and	the	requirements	of	the	PFMA	and	the	Companies	Act.

Emphasis of matters

7.	 I	draw	attention	to	the	matters	below.	My	opinion	is	not	modified	in	respect	of	these	matters.

Going concern

8.	 The	accounting	authority’s	report	on	page	125	indicates	that	the	delay	in	the	commencement	of	tolling	for	the	Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	Project	(GFIP)	 
	 has	not	affected	the	going	concern	of	SANRAL.	SANRAL	has	the	support	from	the	government	and	the	extraordinary	grant	of	R5.75	billion	received	in	March	 
	 2012	 has	 enabled	SANRAL	 to	meet	 all	 its	 obligations	 in	 the	 current	 year.	Government	 has	 committed	 to	 enable	SANRAL	 to	meet	 its	 obligations	 by	 
	 supporting	the	short	term	borrowings	to	ensure	a	stable	cash	flow	until	toll	commencement	on	GFIP.	Short	term	borrowings	totalling	R5	billion,	are	being	 
	 sourced	from	several	financial	institutions	with	the	contracts	still	to	be	finalised.

Prior year restatements

9.	 As	disclosed	 in	note	38	and	39	 to	 the	financial	 statements,	 the	corresponding	figures	 for	31	March	2012	have	been	 restated	as	a	 result	 of	 an	error	 
	 discovered	during	the	current	financial	year	ending	31	March	2013	in	the	financial	statements	of	SANRAL.

Additional matters 
10.	 I	draw	attention	to	the	matters	below.	My	opinion	is	not	modified	in	respect	of	these	matters.	Unaudited	supplementary	information	
11.	 The	supplementary	information	set	out	on	pages	5	to	97	and	104	to	115	does	not	form	part	of	the	financial	statements	and	is	presented	as	additional	information.	 
	 I	have	not	audited	this	schedule	and,	accordingly,	I	do	not	express	an	opinion	thereon.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

12.	 As	part	of	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2013,	I	have	read	the	Directors’	Report,	the	Audit	Committee’s	Report	and	 
	 the	Company	Secretary’s	Certificate	for	the	purpose	of	identifying	whether	there	are	material	inconsistencies	between	these	reports	and	the	audited	financial	 
	 statements.	These	reports	are	the	responsibility	of	the	respective	preparers.	Based	on	reading	these	reports	I	have	not	identified	material	inconsistencies	 
	 between	 the	 reports	 and	 the	 audited	 financial	 statements	 in	 respect	 of	 which	 I	 have	 expressed	 an	 audit	 opinion.	 I	 have	 not	 audited	 the	 reports	 and	 
	 accordingly	do	not	express	an	opinion	on	them.

13.	 In	accordance	with	the	PAA	and	the	General	Notice	issued	in	terms	thereof,	I	report	the	following	findings	relevant	to	performance	against	predetermined	 
	 objectives,	compliance	with	laws	and	regulations	and	internal	control,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion.

 REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
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Predetermined objectives 

14.	 I	performed	procedures	to	obtain	evidence	about	the	usefulness	and	reliability	of	the	information	in	the	annual	performance	report	as	set	out	on	pages	98	to	 
	 102	of	the	annual	report.	
15.	 The	 reported	 performance	 against	 predetermined	 objectives	 was	 evaluated	 against	 the	 overall	 criteria	 of	 usefulness	 and	 reliability.	 The	 usefulness	 of	 
	 information	in	the	annual	performance	report	relates	to	whether	it	is	presented	in	accordance	with	the	National	Treasury’s	annual	reporting	principles	and	 
 whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to whether indicators and targets  
	 are	measurable	(i.e.	well	defined,	verifiable,	specific,	measurable	and	time	bound)	and	relevant	as	required	by	the	National	Treasury	Framework	for	managing	 
 programme performance information. 
16.	 The	reliability	of	the	information	in	respect	of	the	selected	objectives	is	assessed	to	determine	whether	it	adequately	reflects	the	facts	(i.e.	whether	it	is	valid,	 
	 accurate	and	complete).	
17.	 There	were	no	material	findings	on	the	annual	performance	report	concerning	the	usefulness	and	reliability	of	the	information.

Compliance with laws and regulations

18.	 I	performed	procedures	to	obtain	evidence	that	the	entity	has	complied	with	applicable	laws	and	regulations	regarding	financial	matters,	financial	management	 
	 and	other	related	matters.	My	findings	on	material	non-compliance	with	specific	matters	in	key	applicable	laws	and	regulations	as	set	out	in	the	General	 
	 Notice	issued	in	terms	of	the	PAA	are	as	follows:

Irregular expenditure

19.	 R3	305	711	000	of	irregular	expenditure	incurred	in	the	current	financial	year	was	as	a	result	of	the	deviations	from	SCM	legislated	processes	in	the	PFMA	 
	 and	Treasury	Regulations.	This	included	R2	441	283	000	that	was	awarded	using	a	benchmarking	instrument	to	determine	most	realistic	lowest	acceptable	 
	 price.	Even	though	the	intention	is	within	the	Preferential	Procurement	Policy	Framework	Act	(PPPFA)	objectives,	it	is	not	compliant	with	the	letter	of	the	law.	 
	 A	further	R2	099	702	000	that	was	incurred	in	prior	year	was	also	identified.

Procurement process

20.	Contracts	awarded	to	bidders	were	not	allocated	and	calculated	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	PPPFA	and	its	regulations.	The	price	points	 
	 were	allocated	using	the	benchmarking	instrument	whose	exemption	was	not	obtained	from	the	Minister	of	Finance.

Annual financial statements, performance and annual report

21.	The	financial	statements	submitted	for	auditing	were	not	prepared	in	all	material	respects	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	section	55(2)(a)	of	the	 
	 PFMA	due	to	misstatements	in	the	disclosure	notes.	These	were	subsequently	corrected	in	the	financial	statements.

Internal control 

22.	 I	considered	internal	control	relevant	to	my	audit	of	the	financial	statements	and	compliance	with	laws	and	regulations.	The	matters	reported	below	under	the	 
	 fundamentals	of	internal	control	are	limited	to	the	deficiencies	that	resulted	in	the	findings	on	compliance	with	laws	and	regulations	included	in	this	report.

Leadership

23.	Management	did	not	in	some	instances	effectively	exercise	oversight	responsibilities	to	ensure	compliance	with	SANRAL’s	policies,	laws	and	regulations 
 with regards to supply chain management.

Financial and performance management

24.	 Internal	 controls	 implemented	were	 not	 effective	 in	 ensuring	 that	 the	 financial	 statements	 submitted	 for	 auditing	were	 free	 from	misstatements	 in	 the	 
 disclosure notes.

OTHER REPORTS

Special audit

25.	System	development	life	cycle	audit	of	the	Open	Road	Tolling	System	project	was	undertaken	during	the	year.	This	audit	was	still	in	progress	at	the	date	of	 
 this report.

 
Pretoria
31	July	2013
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Introduction

The	directors	present	their	annual	report	as	part	of	the	audited	annual	financial	statements	of	SANRAL	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2013.

SANRAL	is	incorporated	as	a	state-owned	company	in	South	Africa	in	terms	of	the	Companies	Act	(No.	71	of	2008),	and	is	listed	as	a	national	public	entity	in	
schedule	3A	of	the	Public	Finance	Management	Act	(No.	1	of	1999)	(PFMA),	as	amended.	

The	Board	of	Directors	acts	as	the	accounting	authority	in	terms	of	the	PFMA,	section	49(2)(a).

Principal activities 

The	principal	activities	of	SANRAL	are	the	financing,	management,	control,	planning,	development,	maintenance	and	rehabilitation	of	South	Africa’s	proclaimed	
national	road	network,	as	prescribed	by	the	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	Limited	and	National	Roads	Act	(No.	7	of	1998).

The	GFIP	–	the	largest	project	of	its	kind	in	South	Africa	in	two	decades	–	heralds	the	introduction	of	the	multi-lane	free	flow	electronic	toll	collection	system,	
also	known	as	an	open	road	tolling	system,	which	does	away	with	the	need	for	physical	toll	plazas.	SANRAL	has	been	successful	in	the	Constitutional	Court	as	
well	as	in	the	High	Court,	which	ruled	in	favour	of	SANRAL.	The	Inter-Ministerial	Committee	on	GFIP,	chaired	by	the	Deputy	President,	decided	to	wait	for	the	
imminent	Amendment	Bill	before	commencing	with	tolling	in	Gauteng.	The	Amendment	Bill	clarifies	the	presumption	of	the	responsibility	for	payment	of	toll	to	be	
the	owner	of	the	vehicle,	and	correlates	with	Traffic	Law.	The	Bill	has	been	approved	in	Parliament	and	the	National	Council	of	Provinces.	The	tariffs	have	been	
advertised	on	24	May	2013	for	30	days	under	the	new	regulations,	for	public	comment.	The	final	tariffs	will	be	gazetted	for	14	days	before	toll	commencement.	
Even	though	the	legal	process	has	taken	longer	than	necessary,	the	Board	is	confident	that	tolling	is	imminent	with	the	support	of	Parliament,	the	IMC	and	the	
Minister of Transport.

Even	though	the	preferred	bidder	for	the	N1/N2	Winelands	concession	was	announced	during	the	previous	year,	the	project	has	been	suspended	due	to	an	
interim	interdict	granted	in	May	2013	by	the	Western	Cape	High	Court,	pending	a	review.	

The	declared	national	road	network	on	31	March	2013	was	19	704km.	Of	this,	84	percent	are	non-toll	roads	and	16	percent	are	toll	roads.		During	the	current	
year	2113km	of	non-toll	roads	were	incorporated	from	Eastern	Cape	and	a	further	1421km	from	the	North	West	Province,	in	the	national	road	network.	
 
Although	the	national	roads	account	for	2.6	percent	of	the	total	road	network	in	South	Africa,	about	23	percent	of	the	total	vehicle	kilometres	travelled	is	on	
national	roads.	Vehicle	kilometre	travel	density	is	currently	increasing	by	3.4	percent	per	year,	which	reflects	the	increase	of	traffic	on	national	roads.

During	2012/13,	R3	290.1	million	(2012:	R4	570.4	million)	was	spent	directly	on	toll	roads,	comprising	R1	821.1	million	for	capital	and	R1	468.9	million	on	
maintenance.	During	the	same	period,	R9	489.7	million	(2012:	R7	940.6	million)	was	spent	directly	on	non-toll	roads,	split	between	capital	works	(R5	810	
million)	and	maintenance	(R3	679.7	million).

Directors and secretary

The	Board,	as	appointed	by	the	Minister	from	1	December	2011,	consisted	of	the	following	people:

•	 Executive	Director
	 N	Alli	(Chief	Executive	Officer)

•	 Non-executive	Directors
	 T	Mnyaka	(Chairperson)
	 P	Derman
	 A	Julies	(Public	official)*
	 S	Madonsela	 	 	
	 L	Madlala	(Public	official)**
	 R	Morar
	 D	Nyamane	 	

*	Mr	Julies	is	the	appointed	representative	of	the	Minister	of	Finance	and	is	an	employee	of	National	Treasury.
**	Ms	Madlala	is	an	employee	of	the	City	of	Tshwane	(Local	government).	Ms	Madlala	resigned	on	15	February	2013.

For the year under review A A Mathew was the company secretary and her business and postal addresses are: 

Business address: Postal address: 
48	Tambotie	Avenue	 P.O.	Box	415
Val	de	Grace	 Pretoria
Pretoria		 0001
0184

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
31 March 2013
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Organisational structure 

SANRAL	is	managed	in	three	clusters:	finance,	engineering	and	corporate	services.	Inge	Mulder,	Koos	Smit	and	Heidi	Harper	headed	these	clusters,	respectively,	
for the year under review. 

SANRAL	is	further	divided	into	four	regional	offices	and	a	corporate	office.	The	regional	managers	are	Ismail	Essa	(Northern	Region	–	Menlyn,	Pretoria),	Kobus	
van	der	Walt	(Western	Region	–	Bellville),	Mbulelo	Peterson	(Southern	Region	–	Port	Elizabeth)	and	Logashri	Sewnarain	(Eastern	Region	–	Pietermaritzburg).	

For	reporting	purposes,	SANRAL	separates	its	business	activities	and	accounting	records	into	toll	and	non-toll	operations.	Toll	roads	are	deemed	to	be	self-
funding,	and	for	the	purposes	of	financial	analysis	are	assumed	to	amortise	debt	over	a	period	of	30	years.	SANRAL’s	toll	road	business	is	funded	through	
borrowings on the capital markets and has traditionally been underwritten by the national government through a guarantee for the issuance of bonds. The historical 
guarantee	is	R6	billion.	The	quantum	of	this	guarantee	is	fixed	but	the	term	is	perpetual.		SANRAL,	with	the	support	of	the	National	Treasury	consolidated	its	bond	
issues	(except	the	historical	SZ	bonds)	under	a	domestic	medium-	term	note	programme	in	two	parts	–	for	bonds	that	are	underwritten	by	a	sovereign	guarantee	
and	those	that	are	non-guaranteed.		The	programme	provides	flexibility	for	SANRAL	to	fund	its	toll	road	programme	in	a	structured	manner.	All	the	bonds	issued	
are	listed	and	traded	on	the	JSE	Limited.

The	guaranteed	bonds	are	identified	by	the	prefix	SZ	and	HWAY,	and	the	non-guaranteed	by	the	prefix	NRA.

The	borrowing	limit	approved	by	National	Treasury	 is	R47.91	billion	of	which	up	to	R37.91	billion	will	be	guaranteed.	The	non-guaranteed	domestic	medium-	
term	note	programme	totals	R15	billion.	Monthly	auctions	are	used	to	issue	both	NRA	and	HWAY	bonds,	following	feedback	received	from	investors	to	ensure	
optimum	cost	of	borrowing	against	investor	demand.	However,	after	a	failed	auction	in	September	2011,	further	auctions	were	postponed	and	none	has	been	
held	since	then.	There	is	also	an	additional	guarantee	for	a	Rand	Merchant	Bank	loan	of	R529	million	for	the	initial	construction	phase	of	the	N1	Great	North	Road	
and	R170	million	for	ongoing	maintenance.	This	guarantee	also	covers	consumer	price	index	(CPI)	adjustments	provided	for	in	the	loan	agreement.	

The	European	Investment	Bank	showed	its	confidence	in	SANRAL	through	a	loan	of	R1.1	billion,	received	in	2010/11.

The	Austrian	governments’	export	credit	agency,	OeKB,	 issued	a	guarantee	to	SANRAL,	which	was	used	to	borrow	from	a	 local	financial	 institution	at	very	
favourable	rates.	This	ECA	facility	of	R550	million	has	been	only	partially	drawn	down,	with	a	further	draw	down	in	June	2013	and	the	remaining	tranche	was	
expected	to	be	drawn	by	end	of	August	2013.

At	31	March	2013,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	held	were	R4.4	billion	(2012:	R9.2	billion).	The	significant	reduction	is	as	a	result	of	the	lack	of	toll	income	and	
the	limited	ability	to	borrow,	therefore	cash	reserves	have	been	utilised	to	service	and	repay	debt.	The	2012	cash	balance	also	reflected	the	R5.75	billion	grant	
received	for	toll	at	the	end	of	that	financial	year.	In	the	normal	course	of	business,	SANRAL	maintains	a	healthy	liquidity	buffer	to	ensure	the	following:
•	 To	limit	liquidity	risk,	SANRAL	has	maintained	a	three-month	liquidity	buffer	(3x	monthly	estimated	expenditure).
•	 	The	crisis	in	the	financial	markets	caused	a	high	degree	of	uncertainty	with	regard	to	the	timing	of	“entering”	the	markets.	The	timing	of	raising	the	finance	

was		a	function	of	the	number	of	projects	under	construction.	Notwithstanding	the	volatility	of	the	financial	markets,	SANRAL	tapped	the	capital	markets,	
supported by the government guarantee, under relatively favourable conditions to ensure timely payment for the works under construction.
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This	prudent	policy	has	allowed	Sanral	 to	honour	 its	debt	obligations	under	extremely	difficult	circumstances.	The	weighted	 investment	 rate	 for	 the	current	
financial	year	was	5.48	percent	(2012:	5.65	percent).	

Non-toll	roads	are	financed	through	parliamentary	appropriations	on	the	vote	of	the	National	Department	of	Transport.

Taxation

SANRAL	has	been	exempted	from	income	tax	in	the	Government	Gazette	of	22	December	2003	(Revenue	Laws	Amendment	Act,	2003	section	1(l)	and	2(d)).	
This	exemption	was	backdated	to	the	inception	of	the	entity,	and	therefore	no	provision	has	been	made	for	income	tax	or	deferred	tax.

Operating results 

The	net	operating	profit	before	finance	cost	for	the	year	was	R5	130.3	million	(2012:		R950.0	million).	The	profit	after	deducting	finance	cost	is	R1		388.8	million	
(2012:	Loss	of	R2	470.4	million).	

The	financial	statements	on	pages	128	to	174	set	out	fully	the	financial	position,	results	of	operations,	changes	in	equity	and	cash	flows	of	SANRAL	for	the	
financial	year	ended	31	March	2013.	

Review of operations 

•		 	Property,	plant	and	equipment
	 	Road	assets	are	valued	on	a	depreciated	replacement	cost	basis.	The	revaluation	of	the	road	network	and	structures	were	reviewed	at	year-end	and	adjusted	

upward	with	R7	085.3	million.	The	increase	in	revaluation	of	road	assets	is	primarily	caused	by	the	increase	in	network	length	under	SANRAL	jurisdiction	by	
3534	km,	an	increase	of	21.9%	in	length	during	the	financial	year.	For	the	existing	network	the	replacement	cost	of	road	assets	decreased	slightly,	due	to	
lower	costs	(-2.9%),	which	is	a	direct	result	of	reduced	margins	due	to	decrease	in	construction	demand.	The	remaining	life	of	these	assets	is	considered	
when	determining	 their	depreciated	 replacement	cost,	 taking	 the	condition	of	 the	pavement	 into	account.	 In	 the	financial	year	 the	average	condition	of	
national	roads	improved	due	to	the	capital	projects	(strengthening)	that	were	completed	as	well	as	lower	rainfall	overall.	Further	information	is	available	in	
note	5	and	6	of	the	financial	statements.

•	 Revenue
	 o	 	Revenue	from	non-toll	operations	was	R4	863.5	million	for	the	year,	which	is	a	8.4	percent	increase	from	the	previous	year.	This	represents	the	grant	

received	from	government	of	R9	728.1	million,	less	R5	850.4	million	capitalised	and	deferred	for	the	year,	plus	R985.8	million	realised	from	government	
grants received and capitalised in previous years. 

	 	 	Included	in	other	income	are	contributions	from	other	spheres	of	government	and	the	private	sector	of	R401.3	million.	The	monies	received	from	other	
entities	(to	the	extent	that	it	has	already	been	expensed)	relate	to	projects	managed	by	SANRAL,	including	assets	owned	by	the	other	entities,	and	they	
contribute	their	proportionate	share	to	the	projects.	The	expenditure	is	included	in	the	total	expenditure	reported	in	the	financial	results.

 
	 o	 	The	toll	 revenue	from	normal	operations	was	R2	101.4	million	for	 the	year,	which	 is	a	10.63	percent	 increase	from	the	previous	year.	The	 increase	

in	revenue	is	as	a	result	of	a	modest	average	traffic	increase	of	3.2	percent.	The	adjustment	of	toll	tariffs	was	in	line	with	CPI.	 It	 is	notable	that	the	
traffic	volume	of	class	4	(Articulated	trucks)	vehicles	declined	by	0.5	percent,	due	to	the	the	current	economic	environment	and	increasing	fuel	prices.	
Additionally,	R4	892.8	million	was	included	in	overall	revenue	for	toll,	which	represents	the	remainder	of	the	extraordinary	grant	received	from	government	
in	March	2012	of	R5	043.9	million	(excl	VAT)	to	fund	the	toll	portfolio.

 o  The comprehensive toll road operations and maintenance contract model consolidates the responsibility for the various activities and risks associated 
with the operations of the toll route. Under this arrangement, the main contractor is responsible for the total operation of the toll route. The operator 
under	this	model	pays	the	actual	gross	income	(tariff	x	vehicle)	to	SANRAL	and	then	claims	discounts,	concessions	and	violations	as	a	cost,	based	on	
an	agreed	cost	matrix.

•	 Profit	before	taxation
	 o	 	The	non-toll	operating	profit	after	finance	charges,	 for	 the	year	ended	31	March	2013	was	R98.4	million	 (2012:	R189.5	million).	Although	 income	

has	 increased	 by	 15	 percent,	 expenditure,	mainly	 operational	 expenditure	 on	 roads,	 increased	 by	 10.6	 percent.	Operational	 expenditure	 includes	
routine, ad hoc, special and periodic maintenance on roads, which increased due to the additional roads incorporated from the two provinces. The 
increase	in	revenue	and	other	income,	available	for	operating	expenditure,	of	R692.5	million	is	due	to	the	increased	allocation	received	from	government	
appropriated	to	operating	expenditure	as	well	as	contributions	from	developers	and	other	roads	authorities.	The	increase	in	income	was	used	to	increase	
expenditure	on	repairs	and	maintenance	of	roads	by	R421.8	million	(12	percent)	and	on	fees	for	services,	other	expenditure	and	lease	payments	by	
R20.3	million	(3.4	percent).	Normal	depreciation	increased	by	R80.8	million	(16.5	percent),	but	was	offset	by	the	increase	in	the	value	of	investment	
property	by	R69	million.	Due	to	the	improvement	on	the	overall	condition	of	non-toll	roads	no	depreciation	for	condition	was	made.

	 o	 	The	toll	operating	profit	after	finance	charges	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2013	was	R1	290.4	million,	which	is	mainly	as	a	result	of	the	extraordinary			
grant	received.	The	toll	business	segment	would	otherwise	have	increased	its	loss	from	the	previous	year.	Finance	costs	increased	by	R321	million	
(9.4	percent),	due	to	the	effect	of	compounded	interest	where	expected	revenue	did	not	materialise.	Additionally	the	operational	expenditure	increased	
by	R587.2	million,	which	includes	routine,	ad	hoc,	special	and	periodic	maintenance	on	these	roads	which	continues	regardless	of	revenue	not	being	
earned.	Finance	income	increased	by	R151.9	million	(44.4	percent)	due	to	the	initial	investment	of	the	extraordinary	grant	in	money	market	instruments,	
with		favourable	returns,	as	well	as	the	slow	down	in	capital	spending.	There	was	an	increase	in	toll	income,	excluding	the	grant,	of	R201.9	million	(10.
percent).		The	 increase	 in	 repairs	and	maintenance	of	R463.1	million	 (48.2	percent)	and	 the	 increase	 in	normal	depreciation	 (including	concession	
assets)	of	R358.0	million	(36.5	percent),	due	to	the	significant	increase	in	completed	capital	works,	increased	the	overall	loss.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
31 March 2013
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	 o	 	SANRAL	currently	applies	the	benchmark	treatment	of	International	Accounting	Standard	(IAS)	16	“property,	plant	and	equipment”,	which	allows	for		 	
the	valuation	of	assets	at	fair	value.		SANRAL	has	adopted	this	principle	as	opposed	to	depreciated	cost.	Fair	value	in	this	instance	represents	the	
depreciated replacement cost, due to the specialised nature of these assets. This methodology takes the unit cost for road bed, layers and structures 
into account, as well as the condition or remaining life of the road asset. 

	 	In	terms	of	IAS	36,	assets	must	be	assessed	annually	and	impairments	recorded	if	their	income	generating	potential	is	estimated	to	be	less	than	the	carrying	
value.	Non-toll	 assets	have	been	 identified	as	a	non-cash	generating	unit.	The	 International	Financial	Reporting	standards	 (IFRS)	do	not	prescribe	 the	
impairment	of	non-cash	generating	units	and	allow	other	standards	to	apply	in	such	instances.	SANRAL	has	elected	to	apply	the	International	Public	Sector	
Accounting	Standard	21	to	determine	the	carrying	amount	of	a	non-cash	generating	unit.		

•	 Finance	charges
	 Net	finance	charges	(finance	costs	less	investment	income)	in	2013	were	R260	million	higher	than	in	the	previous	year.	

 Investment income
	 	Due	to	slightly	higher	yields	during	the	year	the	gains	on	financial	assets	and	liabilities	increased	by	R69.1	million.	Lower	cash	holding	reduced	the	interest	

received	on	bank	deposits	by	R40	million	(13.6	percent).	A	total	of	R146.2	million	(2012:	R91.1	million)	was	received	from	repurchase	agreements	during	
the year. 

 Finance costs
	 	Interest	expenses	increased	by	R321	million	(9.4	percent),	resulting	in	the	overall	net	increase	of	finance	charges.	This	is	mainly	as	a	result	of	the	compounding	

effect	of	interest	on	existing	borrowings.	Of	these	finance	costs,	R133.6	million	was	capitalised	to	assets	under	construction.	Further	details	of	finance	costs	
(encompassing	both	interest	and	held-for-trading	gains	and	losses)	are	included	in	note	27	to	the	financial	statements.

Review of financial position

•	 Share	capital
	 The	shareholding	for	the	current	year	has	remained	unchanged.	The	Minister	of	Transport	holds	all	shares	issued	by	SANRAL.	

•	 Land
	 	SANRAL’s	property	management	 is	undertaken	by	a	service	provider	 that	has	 the	skills	and	resources	required	 to	manage	and	maintain	our	 large	 land	

portfolio consisting of road reserve and adjacent severed properties.  The service provider is a single entity that delivers all aspects of land surveying, valuing, 
property	maintenance	and	management	services.	The	service	provider	is	managed	by	a	team	of	SANRAL	staff	located	in	all	our	Regional	and	Head	offices.	

  
	 	The	contractual	targets	include	a	requirement	that	fifty	percent	of	all	work	be	subcontracted.		This	provides	opportunities	for	small	and	previously	disadvantaged	
firms	to	obtain	property	work	from	SANRAL.		However,	it	remains	difficult	to	engage	professional	black	owned	firms	in	sufficient	numbers.	The	contractual	
requirement	to	offer	training	and	promote	economic	development	by	addressing	skills	shortages	and	making	work	available	to	targeted	groups	has	been	
complied with.

	 	We	comply	with	company	law	and	IFRS	by	ensuring	that	all	land	acquired	by	our	predecessors,	whether	inside	or	outside	of	the	road	reserve	is	identified	
and	transferred	into	SANRAL’s	name.		Land	outside	of	road	reserves	is	categorised	as	investment	property	or	“other”	land	if	it	has	no	investment	value	due	
to	its	small	size	and/or	nominal	value.			The	land	identification	process	and	the	transfer	of	land	to	SANRAL	will	expand	as	further	provincial	roads	are	added	
to	our	network.			All	land	acquired	by	SANRAL	since	our	inception	date	has	always	been	transferred	to	us.

	 Our	road	reserves	consist	of	25	377	properties,	while	we	have	a	total	of	2	249	investment	properties.

	 A	complete	register	of	all	land	registered	in	SANRAL’s	name	may	be	inspected	at	the	SANRAL	head	office.

	 More	details	on	the	value	and	identification	of	land	are	disclosed	in	note	5	and	6	to	the	financial	statements.

	 	A	prior	year	error	was	identified	after	the	financial	statements	were	concluded	on	31	May	2013.	This	error	was	due	to	the	original	cost	of	land,	R557.5	million,	
which	was	not	excluded	from	the	revaluation	amount	and	therefore	duplicated.	The	error	was	corrected	and	the	prior	year	restated.	More	detail	is	disclosed	
under	note	37.5	of	the	financial	statements.

•	 		Investments
	 	SANRAL’s	non-current	investments	are	set	out	in	note	9	to	the	financial	statements.	No	significant	acquisitions	or	disposals	occurred	in	the	period	under	

review.

	 	Financial	instruments,	in	the	market	making	portfolio,	are	used	to	manage	risks	that	SANRAL	is	exposed	to	in	the	capital	markets.	Details	of	the	various	risks	
and	SANRAL’s	policy	to	manage	these	risks	are	set	out	in	note	34	to	the	financial	statements.

Materiality framework 

A	materiality	 framework	has	been	developed	 for	 reporting	 losses	 through	criminal	conduct	and	 irregular	 fruitless	and	wasteful	expenditure	or	 for	significant	
transactions	that	require	ministerial	approval,	as	envisaged	 in	section	54(2)	of	 the	PFMA.		The	framework	was	finalised	by	SANRAL	after	consultation	with	
external	and	internal	auditors,	and	formal	approval	was	given	by	the	Board	on	25	May	2004.	The	framework	was	updated	in	January	2013	to	incorporate	the	
latest	approved	budget,	resulting	in	a	materiality	value	of	R38	million.
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Contingent liabilities

Details	of	claims	and	contingencies	are	provided	in	note	31	to	the	financial	statements.

Subsequent events 

The	Inter-ministerial	Committee	on	GFIP	decided	in	January	2013	to	wait	for	the	Amendment	Bill	to	be	passed	before	commencing	with	the	tolling	of	GFIP.	
This	was	subsequent	to	the	favourable	ruling	by	the	North	Gauteng	High	Court	and	the	Constitutional	Court.	The	Amendment	Bill	has	since	been	approved	by	
Parliament	and	the	National	Council	of	Provinces,	and	the	tariffs	and	regulations	have	been	published	for	public	comment	up	to	24	June	2013.	The	President	has	
to	sign	the	Amendment	Bill	into	law	whereafter	the	final	tariffs	will	be	gazetted	at	least	14	days	before	toll	commencement	on	GFIP.	

The	Western	Cape	High	Court	has	granted	an	interim	interdict	on	21	May	2013,	on	the	start	of	construction	of	the	N1/N2	Winelands	project,	pending	a	review	
by	this	High	Court.

With	another	adjustment	in	toll	tariffs	in	April	2013	and	the	weakening	of	the	Rand	against	the	Meticais	(linked	to	US	Dollar),	the	toll	tariffs	in	Mozambique	are	
currently	on	par	or	slightly	higher	than	the	contractual	tariffs.	The	Mozambican	Government	made	no	attempt	to	continue	to	repay	the	outstanding	debt	(around	
R110	million)	during	the	first	6	months	of	2013.	They,	however,	have	made	a	payment	of	R25	million	in	July	this	year,	reducing	the	SANRAL contingent liability.

Public-private partnerships 

In	addition	to	its	parliamentary	appropriation,	SANRAL	seeks	other	sources	of	finance	to	enhance	the	national	road	network	that	can	reasonably	be	recovered	
through	user	charges.	PPP’s	allow	SANRAL	to	negotiate	investments	through	the	diverse	sources	of	funding	available	from	the	private	sector	to	meet	identified	
infrastructure	and	service	delivery	needs,	in	a	manner	that	is	cost-effective	and	appropriately	adapted	to	each	particular	project.		Furthermore,	this	enables	finance	
to	be	secured	for	the	improvement	and	preservation	of	the	country’s	road	infrastructure	assets	for	periods	well	beyond	government’s	three-year	expenditure	
horizon.

As	a	secondary	benefit	of	PPPs,	such	as	concession	agreements,	SANRAL	has	succeeded	in	attracting	foreign	direct	investment	into	several	projects,	bringing	
both	 additional	 capacity	 and	 finance	 to	 promote	 economic	 development	 and	 stimulate	 growth.	 The	multiplier	 effects	 of	 expenditure	 on	 road	 infrastructure	
contribute to economic growth and social development through job creation and economic independence.  

The	agreement	with	Trans	African	Concessions	(Pty)	Ltd	is	effective	from	6	February	1998	and	terminates	on	5	February	2028.	This	includes	the	extension	of	
the	N4	as	agreed	during	the	2005	financial	year.

The	agreement	with	N3	Toll	Concessions	(Pty)	Ltd	is	effective	from	2	November	1999	and	terminates	on	1	November	2029.

The	agreement	with	Bakwena	Platinum	Concession	Consortium	(Pty)	Ltd	is	effective	from	27	August	2001	and	terminates	on	26	August	2031.

See	note	35	in	the	financial	statements	for	further	information.

SANRAL	has	considered	the	implications	of	International	Financial	Reporting	Interpretation	Code	12	and	the	Accounting	Standards	Board’s	guideline	in	terms	
of	accounting	for	assets	under	concessions,	and	has	decided	to	account	for	these	assets	by	recording	these	as	property,	plant	and	equipment.	In	the	absence	
of	clear	accounting	guidance	from	these	guidelines,	SANRAL	has	set	out	its	interpretation	in	note	6.

Credit rating

To	strengthen	SANRAL’s	ability	to	attract	funds	for	its	toll	portfolio	and	instil	confidence	in	the	investor	community,	SANRAL	has	obtained	credit	ratings,	from	
Moody’s,	an	independent	international	rating	agency	since	March	2007.	

The	credit	rating	enables	SANRAL	to	raise	non-guaranteed	and	guaranteed	debt	competitively,	thus	further	releasing	tax-based	revenues	to	meet	other	pressing	
demands.

The rating is currently as follows:

National	Scale	Issuer	Ratings:		 	 Global	Scale	Issuer	Ratings:
Long-Term:		 A2.za	 	 	 Long-Term:	 Baa2
Short-Term:		 P-2.za	 	 	 Short-Term:	 P-3

Corporate social investment 

SANRAL	believes	that	communities	should	receive	lifelong	benefits	that	help	people	become	economically	independent.	We	continue	to	insistently	pursue
a	number	of	projects	that	support	the	development	of	human	capital	 in	South	Africa.	Apart	from	the	provision	of	training	programmes	in	construction	works,	
SANRAL	also	focuses	on	developing	human	capital	 through	educational	programmes	at	tertiary	 institutions,	providing	 internships	for	trainees	and	awarding	
bursaries and scholarships to university students and high school learners.  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
31 March 2013
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Auditors

The	Auditor-General	(AGSA)	is	the	external	auditor	of	SANRAL,	as	prescribed	in	the	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	Limited	and	Roads	Act	–	section	
36	(3)(a).

Dividends

No	dividends	have	been	declared	by	SANRAL.

Going concern

The	going	concern	basis	has	been	adopted	in	preparing	the	financial	statements.	The	directors	recognise	the	threat	to	this	basis	of	preparing	as	a	result	of	the	
further	delay	in	the	start	of	tolling	on	GFIP.	

Even	though	toll	commencement	is	delayed,	SANRAL,	with	the	support	from	government,	has	publicly	committed	to	ensure	that	it	meets	all	its	obligations.	The	
extraordinary	grant	received	in	March	2012	of	R5.75	billion	(incl	VAT),	has	enabled	SANRAL	to	meet	all	its	obligations	in	the	current	financial	year.	Additionally,	
government,	through	National	Treasury	has	committed	to	enable	SANRAL	to	meet	its	obligations	and	has	approved	the	required	level	of	short	term	borrowings	
to	ensure	a	stable	cash	flow	until	toll	commencement	on	GFIP.	Cabinet	has	also	confirmed	that	the	user-pay	principle	is	still	the	policy	of	government,	and	has	
through	the	IMC	ensured	that	all	stakeholders	have	been	informed.	It	is	therefore	only	a	matter	of	weeks	before	the	commencing	of	tolling	on	GFIP.	This	has	also	
been	publicly	confirmed	by	the	Minister	of	Transport.	

Therefore,	the	directors	are	confident	that	this	is	an	interim	phase	on	a	portion	(201km)	of	the	SANRAL	business,	and	not	a	material	uncertainty.	SANRAL,	as	an	
entity	comprising	more	than	19	000km,	will	continue	as	a	going	concern.		

As	required	by	our	act,	the	non-toll	and	toll	operations	are	run	as	two	separate	entities,	which	includes	the	financing	thereof.	The	non-toll	operations	are	not	
allowed	to	borrow	money	for	any	part	of	 the	operations	and	are	also	not	allowed	to	budget	for	a	cash	deficit.	Thus	non-toll	operations	are	totally	reliant	on	
government	allocations		-	a	cash	operation.

The	 toll	operation	finances	 itself	and	 is	not	allowed	 to	be	subsidised	by	 the	non-toll	operations.	To	 this	effect,	 the	 loan	supportable	by	 revenue	calculation	
completed	biannually	to	determine	the	ability	of	the	portfolio	and	its	revenue	flows	to	repay	its	debt.	The	debt	service	cover	ratio	(greater	than	1)	and	the	traffic	
volumes of a road are considered before conducting feasibility studies to ascertain the viability of the road to operate as a toll road. If the loan supported by 
revenue value is positive, the declaration will be considered.

The	toll	operations’	model	is	commonly	known	as	the	J-curve	model.	Because	it	may	not	collect	toll	revenue	until	the	improvements	or	additions	have	been	made	
to	a	declared	toll	road,	SANRAL	continues	to	borrow	funds,	reflecting	losses,	until	such	time	as	revenue	is	collected.	The	strength	of	a	toll	road	will	determine	
how	long	it	takes	to	turn	positive	after	the	initial	construction	period	is	completed.	Normally,	this	could	be	between	12	and	20	years	–	well	within	the	expected	
life of the road. 

The	model	also	takes	future	capital	and	operating	expenditure	into	account.

Furthermore,	SANRAL	may	not	be	placed	under	judicial	management	or	in	liquidation	except	by	an	act	of	Parliament	(Section	10	of	the	South	African	National	
Roads	Agency	and	National	Roads	Act	No	7	of	1998.)	This	is	an	implied	guarantee	from	the	republic.

Directors’ interests in contracts 

The	directors’	interests	in	contracts	and	other	related	party	transactions	that	were	entered	into	in	the	year	under	review	are	detailed	in	note	32	to	the	annual	
financial	statements.

Addresses
SANRAL’s	business,	postal	and	registered	addresses	are	as	follows:	

Business address Postal address Registered address                   
48	Tambotie	Avenue	 P.O.	Box	415	 	48	Tambotie	Avenue
Val	de	Grace	 Pretoria	 	Val	de	Grace
Pretoria		 0001	 	Pretoria	
0184	 	 	 	0184

Tembakazi Mnyaka
Chairperson	of	the	Board	of	Directors
28	May	2013
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The	directors	are	responsible	for	the	preparation,	integrity	and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	statements	of	The	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	SOC	
Limited.	The	financial	statements	presented	on	pages	128	to	174	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS),	
and	include	amounts	based	on	judgments	and	estimates	made	by	management.		The	directors	also	prepared	the	other	information	included	in	the	Annual	Report	
and	are	responsible	for	both	its	accuracy	and	its	consistency	with	the	financial	statements.

The	going	concern	basis	has	been	adopted	in	preparing	the	financial	statements.		The	directors	believe	that	based	on	the	projected	Medium	Term	Expenditure	
Framework	(MTEF)	allocations	and	the	policy	of	adjusting	the	toll	tariffs	in	line	with	the	Consumer	Price	Index	(CPI),	SANRAL	will	be	a	going	concern	in	the	
foreseeable	future.		These	financial	statements	support	the	viability	of	SANRAL.

The	financial	statements	have	been	audited	by	independent	auditors,	who	were	given	unrestricted	access	to	all	financial	records	and	related	data,	 including	
minutes	of	all	meetings	of	the	Board	of	Directors	and	Committees	of	the	Board.

The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The	Audit	report	of	the	Office	of	the	Auditor	–	General	is	presented	on	pages	118	to	119.

The	financial	statements	were	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	on	28	May	2013	and	are	signed	on	its	behalf.

Tembakazi Mnyaka
Chairperson	of	the	Board	of	Directors
28	May	2013

Statement of Responsibility
by the Board of Directors
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Certificate
by the Company Secretary

I	hereby	confirm	in	terms	of	Companies	Act	(Act	No.	71	of	2008),	as	amended,	that	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2013,	The	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	
SOC	Limited	has	lodged	with	the	Companies	and	Intellectual	Property	Commission,	all	returns	as	are	required	in	terms	of	this	Act,	and	that	all	such	returns	are	
true, correct and up to date.

Alice Mathew
Company	Secretary
30	April	2013
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 March 2013

   Restated Restated
  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
 Note(s)  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000
Assets

Non-current assets

Property,	plant	and	equipment	under	concession	 5,	35		 30	233	733		 32	760	889 	 26	855	270

Property,	plant	and	equipment		 6		 239	022	718		 222	795	616		 186	276	236

Investment	property		 7		 1	320	350		 1	311	918 	 1	014	686

Intangible	assets		 8		 28	627		 24	692		 12	222

Investments		 9,	38		 249	303	 	-		 197	510

  270 854 731  256 893 115  214 355 924

Current assets

Investments		 9,	38		 324	305		 2	342	143 	 3	013	730

Trade	and	other	receivables		 10		 564	858		 246	501 	 332	731

Non-current	assets	held	for	sale		 11		 132	928		 -		 339

Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 12		 4	419	333		 9	231	932 	 2	788	079

  5 441 424  11 820 576  6 134 879 

Total assets   276 296 155  268 713 691  220 490 803 

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share	capital	and	premium		 13		 1	091	044	 	1	091	044	 	1	091	044

Revaluation	reserve		 14		 210	590	326		 203	504	989 	 168	665	773

Accumulated	loss		 14		 (4	725	430)		 (6	114	273) 	 (3	643	862)

  206 955 940  198 481 760  166 112 955

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Other	financial	liabilities		 15,	38		 28	190	900		 29	828	526	 	27	871	031

Equalisation	of	operating	lease	payments		 16,	38		 114		 552 	 731

Employee	benefits		 17		 11	564	 	9	975		 9	196

Deferred	income		 18		 23	070	464		 22	681	463 	 13	953	991

Provision	for	rehabilitation	costs		 21		 13	283		 9	803 	 17	721

Deferred	exchange	consideration		 19,	38	 5	478	096		 5	092	019		 4	631	511

  56 764 421  57 622 338  46 484 181

Current liabilities

Other	financial	liabilities		 15,	38		 8	006	645		 7	668	950 	 4	723	801

Operating	lease	liability		 16,	38		 438		 394		 -

Deferred	income		 18		 1	056	221		 1	531	747		 1	261	781

Trade	and	other	payables		 20		 2	611	466		 2	806	898		 1	307	340

Deferred	exchange	consideration		 19,	38		 348	682		 336	741	 284	744

Third	party	funding		 22		 552	342		 264	863		 316	001

  12 575 794  12 609 593  7 893 667

Total liabilities   69 340 215  70 231 931  54 377 848 

Total equity and liabilities   276 296 155  268 713 691  220 490 803
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

   Restated Restated
   31 March 2013 31 March 2012  
  Note(s)  R ‘000  R ‘000
Revenue		 	 23		 11	857	728 	 6	539	246

Other	income		 	 24		 840	180 	 504	608

Operating	expenses		 	 25		 (8	269	732) 	 (6	843	399)

Operating profit    4 428 176  200 455

Investment	income		 	 26		 504	744 	 443	741

Change	in	fair	value	of	investment	property		 	 7		 197	370		 305	829

Finance	costs		 	 27		 (3	741	447)		 (3	420	436)

Profit / (loss) for the year    1 388 843  (2 470 411)

Other comprehensive income:

Gains	on	road	network	assets	revaluation		 	 14		 5	023	039 	 33	037	289

Gains	on	land	revaluation		 	 14		 2	062	298		 1	801	927

Other comprehensive income for the year    7 085 337  34 839 216

Total comprehensive income for the year    8 474 180  32 368 805
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Statement of Changes in Equity

 Share capital Share premium Revaluation reserve Accumulated loss Total equity
 R ‘000 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000 R ‘000
Opening	balance	at	1	April	2011	

as	previously	reported	 4	 1	091	040	 168	665	404	 (3	665	314)	 166	091	134

Prior	period	error	*	 	-		 -		 369		 21	452		 21	821

Restated balance at 1 April 2011 4 1 091 040 168 665 773 (3 643 862)  166 112 955

Changes in equity
Loss	for	the	year	as	previously	reported	 -		 -		 -		 (2	482	377)		 (2	482	377)

Prior	period	error	*	 	-		 -		 (551	697)		 11	966		 (539	731)

Revaluation	of	road	network	assets	 -		 -		 33	037	289		 -		 33	037	289

as previously reported

Revaluation	of	land	as	previously	reported	 -		 -		 2	353	624		 -		 2	353	624

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year		 -		 -		 34	839	216		 (2	470	411)		 32	368	805

Restated balance at 1 April 2012 4 1 091 040 203 504 989 (6 114 273)  198 481 760

Changes in equity
Profit	for	the	year		 -		 -		 -		 1	388	843		 1	388	843

Revaluation	of	road	network	assets		 -		 -		 5	023	039		 -		 5	023	039

Revaluation	of	land		 -		 -		 2	062	298		 -		 2	062	298

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year		 -		 -		 7	085	337		 1	388	843		 8	474	180

Balance at 31 March 2013  4  1 091 040  210 590 326  (4 725 430)  206 955 940

Note(s)		 13		 13		 14

*	Refer	to	note	37
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Statement of Cash Flow

    31 March 2013 31 March 2012  
   Note(s)  R ‘000  R ‘000
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash	receipts	from	customers		 	 	 29.2		 6	134	182 	 6	258	719

Cash	paid	to	suppliers	and	employees		 	 	 29.1		 (6	859	781) 	 (4	304	807)

Cash	(utilised	in)	/	generated	from	operations		 	 	 29  (725	599) 	 1	953	912

Investment	income		 	 	 	 489	298 	 470	339

Finance	costs		 	 	 	 (2	583	786)		 (2	626	500)

Net cash utilised in operating activities     (2 820 087)  (202 249)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 6		 (7	898	367) 	 (8	290	579)

Proceeds	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 6		 62	850 	 12	232

Purchase	of	intangible	assets		 	 	 8		 (6	584) 	 (15	171)

Decrease	/	(increase)	in	investments		 	 	 	 1	768	535 	 (638	636)

Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	under	concession		 	 5		 (734	758)		 (797	249)

Net cash utilised in investing activities     (6 808 324)  (9 729 403)

Cash flows from financing activities

(Payments	of)	/	proceeds	raised	from	borrowing	activities			 	  (1	783	530) 	 4	481	518

Receipts	on	repurchase	agreements		 	 	 	 - 	 1	507	733

Exchange	consideration	on	concession	assets	less	disposals		 	  734	759 	 797	249

Proceeds	/	(payments)	on	debt	management		 	 	  14	223 	 (2	288)

Capital	portion	of	government	grant	received		 	 	 29.3	 5	850	360 	 9	591	293

Net cash from financing activities     4 815 812  16 375 505

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents for the period    (4 812 599)  6 443 853

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	period			 	  9	231	932		 2	788	079

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the period   12  4 419 333  9 231 932
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Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of financial statements

	 The	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	
International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	the	Companies	Act	71	
of	2008.	The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	historical	
cost	basis,	except	for	the	following:

	 •	 Held-for-trading	 financial	 instruments	 within	 the	 toll	 segment	 
	 (measured	at	fair	value)

	 •	 Land	(measured	at	revalued	amount)
	 •	 Road	network	assets	(measured	at	revalued	amount)
	 •	 Investment	property	(measured	at	fair	value)
	 •	 Available	for	sale	instruments	(measured	at	fair	value)

 and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They 
are	presented	in	South	African	Rands,	which	is	the	functional	currency	
of the company and are rounded to the nearest thousand.

 These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, 
except	as	disclosed	in	note	2.

1.1  Statement of compliance

 Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”)

	 The	 PFMA	 requires	 the	 South	 African	 National	 Roads	 Agency	
SOC	 Limited	 (“SANRAL”)	 to	 report	 in	 terms	 of	 generally	 recognised	
accounting	practice	(“GRAP”),	(PFMA	chapter	6	para	55	(1)(b)).

	 The	 nature	 of	 SANRAL’s	 operations	 are	 such	 that	 we	 require	 large	
amounts	of	 finance	 from	 time	 to	 time.	 This	 finance	 is	 currently	 raised	
through debt that is publicly traded.

	 Approval	was	 therefore	 granted	 by	National	 Treasury	 for	 SANRAL	 to	
prepare	its	annual	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	
Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	from	the	2006	/	2007	financial	
year onwards.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	requires	
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
may affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities,	 income	 and	 expenses.	 The	 estimates	 and	 associated	
assumptions	 are	 based	 on	 historical	 experience	 and	 various	 other	
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	recognised	in	the	period	in	
which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period, or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

	 The	estimates	and	assumptions	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the	next	financial	year	are	discussed	below.

 Useful lives and residual values

 The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually 
taking cognisance of the forecasted commercial and economic realities 
and	 through	 benchmarking	 of	 accounting	 treatments	 in	 the	 specific	
industries where these assets are used.

	 Refer	to	note	1.4	for	the	estimated	useful	 lives	for	property,	plant	and	
equipment	and	note	1.5	for	intangible	assets.

 Provisions

	 Provisions	were	raised	and	management	determined	an	estimate	based	
on the information available. Additional disclosure of these estimates are 
included	in	note	21	-	Provisions.

 Impairment of assets

	 Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 assessed	 annually	 for	 impairment. 

	 Refer	to	note	6	for	estimates	and	assumptions	made	for	impairment	of 
assets.

 The impairment of trade receivables are based on the values per the age 
analysis.	These	figures	are	calculated	by	the	property	administrators.

 Contingent liabilities

 Management applies its judgement to the facts, patterns and advice it 
receives from its attorneys, advocates and other advisors in assessing if 
an obligation is probable or remote. This judgement application is used 

 to  determine if the obligation is   recognised as a liability or disclosed as 
a contingent liability.

 Post employment benefit obligations

	 In	 applying	 its	 judgement	 to	 defined	 benefit	 plans,	 management	
consulted	 with	 external	 expert	 advisors	 in	 the	 accounting	 and	 post	
employment	benefit	obligation	industry.	The	critical	estimates	as	used	in	
each	benefit	plan	are	detailed	in	note	17	to	the	financial	statements.

 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment and  
investment property 

	 Refer	to	note	5,	6	and	14	for	revaluation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	
and	note	7	for	revaluation	on	investment	property.

1.3 Investment property

 Investment properties are held either to earn rental income or held for 
capital appreciation or for both purposes.

 Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it 
is	probable	that	the	future	economic	benefits	that	are	associated	with	
the	investment	property	will	flow	to	the	enterprise,	and	the	cost	of	the	
investment property can be measured reliably.

	 Investment	property	 is	 initially	 recognised	at	cost.	Directly	attributable	
costs are included in the initial measurement.

	 Subsequent	to	initial	measurement	investment	property	is	measured	at	
fair value.

	 A	gain	or	loss	arising	from	a	change	in	fair	value	is	included	in	profit	or	
loss for the period in which it arises.

	 When	the	use	of	investment	property	changes	such	that	it	is	reclassified	
as	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment,	 its	 carrying	 value	 at	 the	 date	 of	
reclassification	becomes	its	cost	for	subsequent	accounting.
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Accounting Policies

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

	 The	policies	for	property,	plant	and	equipment	also	applies	to	property,	
plant	and	equipment	under	concession.	

	 Refer	 to	 note	 35	 for	 a	 detailed	 description	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	
equipment	under	concession.

	 The	cost	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	recognised	as	an	
asset when:

	 •	 It	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	 
	 will	flow	to	the	company

	 •	 The	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	is	initially	measured	at	cost.	Cost	includes	
costs	incurred	initially	to	acquire	or	construct	an	item	of	property,	plant	
and	equipment	and	costs	incurred	subsequently	to	add	to	or	replace	part	
of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item 
of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	the	carrying	amount	of	the	replaced	
part is derecognised.

 The company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant	and	equipment	the	cost	of	replacing	part	of	such	an	item	when	the	
cost	is	incurred,	if	it	is	probable	that	additional	future	economic	benefits	
embodied	within	the	part	will	flow	to	the	company	and	the	cost	of	such	
item can be measured reliably.

	 The	cost	of	self-constructed	assets	includes	the	costs	of	materials,	direct	
labour, capitalised borrowing cost, any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use and the 
initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located.

	 Purchased	 software	 that	 is	 integral	 to	 the	 functionality	 of	 related	
equipment	is	included	in	the	cost	of	the	related	equipment.

	 Where	parts	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	have	different	
useful	lives,	they	are	accounted	for	as	separate	items	(major	components)	
of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	depreciated	separately.	

	 Items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	under	construction	are	measured	
at	 cost	 less	 impairment	 losses.	 Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 under	
construction	 is	ready	for	 its	 intended	use	once	a	hand-over	certificate	
is	 issued,	 and	 at	 this	 point,	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 under	
construction	is	recognised	as	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.

	 Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	the	following	items	of	property,	plant	
and	equipment	are	carried	at	cost	 less	accumulated	depreciation	and	
any impairment losses:

	 •	 Buildings
	 •	 Equipment,	vehicles	and	furniture

	 Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	the	following	items	of	property,	plant	
and	 equipment	 are	 carried	 at	 the	 revalued	 amount,	 being	 their	 fair	
value	at	 the	date	of	 the	 revaluation	 less	any	subsequent	accumulated	
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses:

	 •	 Land
	 •	 Road	networks
	 •	 Road	structures

	 Any	increase	in	an	asset’s	carrying	amount,	as	a	result	of	a	revaluation,	
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
revaluation	surplus	in	equity.	The	increase	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	
to	the	extent	that	it	reverses	a	revaluation	decrease	of	the	same	asset	
previously	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

	 Any	decrease	in	an	asset’s	carrying	amount,	as	a	result	of	a	revaluation,	is	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	However	the	decrease	is	recognised	in	other	
comprehensive	income	to	the	extent	of	any	credit	balance	existing	in	the	
revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. The decrease recognised in 
other comprehensive income reduces the amount accumulated in the 
revaluation	surplus	in	equity.

	 When	 an	 item	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	 revalued,	 any	
accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change 
in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of 
the	asset	after	revaluation	equals	its	revalued	amount.

	 Costs	of	the	day	to	day	servicing	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	an	expense	when	incurred.

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	are	depreciated	on	the	straight-line	basis	
over	their	expected	useful	lives	to	their	estimated	residual	value.

 The initial assessment of the useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment	have	been	assessed	as	follows	for	the	current	and	prior	year:

 Item  Average useful life
	 Buildings		 50	years
	 Equipment,	vehicles	and	furniture		 15	years
	 Road	network	-	road	beds		 50	years
	 Road	network	-	pavement	layers		 20	years
	 Road	structures		 50	years

	 Road	beds	are	initially	assumed	to	have	a	useful	life	of	50	years,	and	for 
road layers and structures the associated depreciation rate is related to 
condition	indexes	calculated	from	detailed	condition	assessments.	The 
frequency	of	these	condition	assessments	are	related	to	the	deterioration 
trend	of	the	asset	component,	and	range	from	1	to	5	years.

	 Land	is	not	depreciated.	Leasehold	improvements	on	premises	occupied	
under	operating	leases	are	written	off	over	their	expected	useful	lives	or,	
where shorter, the term of the lease.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset is 
reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period.	If	the	expectations	differ 
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

	 Gains	/	losses	on	disposal	or	retirement	of	items	of	property,	plant	and	
equipment	 are	 determined	 as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 net	 sales	
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in 
profit	or	loss.

1.5 Intangible assets

 An intangible asset is recognised when:
	 •	 It	is	probable	that	the	expected	future	economic	benefits	that	are		

	 attributable	to	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	company
	 •	 The	cost	of	the	asset	can	be	measured	reliably

 Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost together with directly  
attributable costs.

 
Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	intangible	assets	are	carried	at	cost	less 
any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

	 Subsequent	expenditure	on	capitalised	intangible		assets	is	capitalised
	 only	when	it	is	probable	that	additional	future	economic	benefits	embodied
	 within	the	asset	will	flow	to	the	company	and	the	cost	of	such		item	can	

be	measured	reliably.	All	other	expenditure	is	expensed	as	incurred.
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	 Amortisation	of	intangible	assets	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	on	a	
straight-line	basis	over	the	assets	estimated	useful	lives.	Intangible	
assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The 
amortisation period, the amortisation method and residual values 
(if	any)	for	intangible	assets	are	reviewed	every	period-end.

 Way leave agreements relate to agreements with landowners. The 
landowners	 	 make	 the	 required	 part	 of	 their	 premises	 available	 to	
SANRAL	 in	 return	 for	an	agreed	upon	amount	paid	by	SANRAL.	The	
contract	signed	between	SANRAL	and	the	landowner	also	indicates	the	
start and termination dates of the agreement. The contract amount is 
amortised over the contract period.

 Item  Useful life
	 Computer	software		 8	years
	 Wayleave	agreements		 Contract	period

1.6 Financial instruments

 Classification

	 The	company	classifies	financial	assets	and	financial	 liabilities	 into	the	
following categories:

	 •	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	-	designated
	 •	 Held-to-maturity	investment
	 •	 Loans	and	receivables
	 •	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets
	 •	 Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	-	designated
	 •	 Financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost

	 Classification	depends	on	the	purpose	for	which	the	financial	instruments	
were	 obtained	 /	 incurred	 and	 takes	 place	 at	 initial	 recognition.	
Classification	is	re-assessed	on	an	annual	basis,	except	for	derivatives	
(held-for-trading	financial	liabilities)	and	financial	instruments	designated	
as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	which	are	not	to	be	reclassified	out	
of	the	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	category.

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
Regular	way	purchases	and	sales	of	financial	assets	are	accounted	for	
at trade date i.e. the date that the company commits itself to purchase or 
sell the asset.

	 All	 financial	 assets	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 fair	 value,	 in	 the	 case	
of	 instruments	 not	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss,	 less	 directly	
attributable transaction costs.

	 All	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	and	in	the	case	
of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

	 Transaction	costs	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	
loss	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

 Subsequent measurement

 Held-to-maturity instruments

	 Held-to-maturity	 investments	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	
cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment 
losses.

 The amortised cost is the amount at which the instrument is measured 
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 

cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and 
minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility.

 Available-for-sale instruments

	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	subsequently	measured	at	fair	value.	
This	excludes	equity	investments	for	which	a	fair	value	is	not	determinable,	
which are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

 Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive	 income	 and	 accumulated	 in	 equity	 until	 the	 asset	 is 
disposed	of	or	determined	to	be	impaired.	Interest	on	available-for-sale 
debt	financial	assets	calculated	using	 the	effective	 interest	method	 is	
recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	 as	 part	 of	 investment	 income.	 Dividends	
received	on	available-for-sale	equity	instruments	are	recognised	in	profit	
or	 loss	 as	 part	 of	 other	 income	when	 the	 company’s	 right	 to	 receive	
payment is established.

	 Changes	 in	 fair	 value	 of	 available-for-sale	 debt	 financial	 assets	
denominated in a foreign currency are analysed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost and other changes 
in the carrying amount. Translation differences on monetary items 
are	 recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss,	 while	 translation	 differences	 on	 non-
monetary items are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated	in	equity.

 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

	 An	 instrument	 is	classified	as	at	 fair	value	through	profit	or	 loss	 if	 it	 is	
held-for-trading	or	is	designated	as	such	upon	initial	recognition.

	 Financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	subsequently	
measured	at	fair	value	and	changes	therein	are	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss.

	 The	company	has	classified	the	following	financial	assets	as	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss	financial	assets,	as	they	are	held-for-trading:

	 •	 Market-making	investments	(consists	of	approved	listed	non-SANRAL	 
	 bonds	to	create	a	market	in	order	to	reduce	the	cost	of	funding)

 Loans and receivables

	 Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	
determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market.

	 Such	 financial	 assets	 are	 subsequently	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost	
using	the	effective	interest	method	(“EIM”),	less	impairment.	Amortised	
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition	and	fees	or	costs	that	are	an	 integral	part	of	the	EIM.	The	
EIM	amortisation		is	included	in	investment	income	in	profit	or	loss.	The	
losses	arising	from	impairment	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	finance	
costs.

	 The	company	has	classified	the	following	as	loans	and	receivables:
	 •	 Money	market	instruments	(callable	loan,	cash	deposits,	cash	on	hand	 

	 and	current	bank	accounts)
	 •	 Receivables	(trade	and	other	receivables	as	well	as	accrued	income)

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand	and	demand	deposits,	
and	other	short-term	highly	liquid	investments	that	are	readily	convertible	
to	a	known	amount	of	cash	and	are	subject	 to	an	 insignificant	 risk	of	
changes	in	value.	Subsequently	to	initial	measurement,	it	is	measured	at 
amortised	cost	which	approximates	fair	value.
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 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

	 Financial	 liabilities	not	classified	as	at	 fair	 value	 through	profit	or	 loss,	
are	 classified	 at	 amortised	 cost.	 Financial	 liabilities	 are	 measured	 at	
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 The	company	has	classified	the	following	financial	liabilities	as	financial	
liabilities at amortised cost:

	 •	 SANRAL	bonds	included	in	the	funding	portfolio
	 •	 CPI	Linked	Loan
	 •	 Repurchase	transactions	where	SANRAL	is	the	initial	seller	of	assets
	 •	 Interest-bearing	 loans	 and	 borrowings	 (such	 as	 the	 European	 

	 Investment	Bank	(“EIB”)	loan)
	 •	 Trade	and	other	payables

 Third party funding
 
	 Third	party	funds	are	moneys	received	in	advance	from	other	entities	(to	

the	extent	 that	 it	has	already	been	expensed)	which	relate	 to	projects	
managed	by	SANRAL,	including	assets	owned	by	the	other	entities,	and	
they contribute their proportionate share to the projects.

 Third party funding is measured at cost as these liabilities do not have 
fixed	 maturity	 dates.	 The	 fair	 value	 of	 these	 items	 approximates	 their	
carrying value.

 Gains and losses

	 Gains	 and	 losses	 (realised	 and	 unrealised)	 resulting	 from	 changes	
in	 market	 yields	 and	 realisation	 on	 financial	 instruments	 at	 fair	 value	
through	profit	or	loss	are	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	period	in	which	
they	arise.	Unrealised	gains	/	losses	equate	to	the	difference	between	
the	fair	value	(clean	price)	at	the	previous	valuation	period	and	the	fair	
value	(clean	price)	at	valuation	date.	Realised	gains	/	 losses	comprise	
proceeds to the carrying amount.

 Gains and losses due to impairment are recognised as stated in the 
paragraph dealing with impairment.

 Derecognition

	 Financial	assets	(or,	where	applicable,	a	part	of	a	financial	asset	or	part	
of	a	group	of	similar	financial	assets)	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	
to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	been	
transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership.

	 When	the	company	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	
an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent	of	the	company’s	continuing	involvement	in	the	asset.

 In that case, the company also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that	reflects	the	rights	and	obligations	that	the	company	has	retained.

	 Continuing	 involvement	 that	 takes	 the	 form	 of	 a	 guarantee	 over	 the	
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount	of	the	asset	and	the	maximum	amount	of	consideration	that	the	
company	could	be	required	to	repay.

	 On	derecognition,	 the	difference	between	 the	carrying	amount	of	 the	
financial	asset,	proceeds	receivable	and	any	prior	adjustment	to	reflect	
the fair value which has been reported in other comprehensive income 

and	accumulated	in	equity,	are	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	period.

	 Financial	 liabilities	 (or	 portions	 thereof)	 are	 derecognised	 when	 the	
obligation	specified	in	the	contract	is	discharged,	cancelled	or	expired.	
On	derecognition,	 the	difference	between	 the	carrying	amount	of	 the	
financial	 liability,	 including	 related	unamortised	costs,	 and	 the	amount	
paid	for	it,	are	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	period.

 Impairment of financial instruments

	 The	company	assesses	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	carried	at	
amortised cost at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication	of	impairment.	A	financial	asset	or	a	group	of	financial	assets	
is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial	 recognition	of	 the	asset	 (an	 incurred	 ‘loss	event’)	 and	 that	 loss	
event	has	an	impact	on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	
asset	 or	 the	 group	 of	 financial	 assets	 that	 can	 be	 reliably	 estimated.	
A	 financial	 asset	 is	 impaired	 if	 its	 carrying	 amount	 is	 greater	 than	 its	
estimated recoverable amount.

	 An	impairment	loss	in	respect	of	a	financial	asset	measured	at	amortised	
cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and 
the	present	value	of	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	
original effective interest rate.

	 Significant	 individual	 financial	 assets	 are	 tested	 for	 impairment	 on	 an	
individual	basis.	The	remaining	financial	assets	are	assessed	collectively	
in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

 Impairment of trade receivables is recognised when there is objective 
evidence	 that	 SANRAL	 will	 not	 be	 able	 to	 collect	 all	 amounts	 due	
according	 to	 the	 original	 terms	 of	 receivables.	 Significant	 financial	
difficulties	 of	 the	 debtor	 and	 default	 or	 delinquency	 in	 payments	 are	
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

	 Impairment	losses	are	reversed	when	an	increase	in	the	financial	asset’s	
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised.

	 For	 financial	 assets	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost,	 the	 reversal	 is	
recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss.	 Impairment	 charges	 /	 reversals	 are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

	 Impairment	losses	on	available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	recognised	
by	reclassifying	the	losses	accumulated	in	the	fair	value	reserve	in	equity	
to	profit	or	 loss.	The	cumulative	 loss	that	 is	reclassified	from	equity	to	
profitt	or	loss	is	the	difference	between	the	acquisition	cost,	net	of	any	
principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less 
any	impairment	loss	recognised	previously	in	profit	or	loss.	Changes	in	
cumulative impairment losses attributable to application of the effective 
interest	method	are	reflected	as	a	component	of	interest	income.	If,	 in	
a	 subsequent	 period,	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 an	 impaired	 available	 for-sale	
debt security increases, and the increase can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the 
impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised 
in	profit	or	loss.

 Derivatives

	 Derivative	financial	instruments	are	initially	recognised	at	fair	value	with	
transaction	 costs	 being	 accounted	 for	 in	 profit	 or	 loss,	 on	 the	 date	
on	 which	 a	 derivative	 contract	 is	 entered	 into.	 Subsequent	 to	 initial	
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and the changes in 
the	fair	value	of	the	derivatives	are	recognised	 immediately	 in	profit	or	
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loss.	Derivatives	are	carried	as	financial	 assets	when	 the	 fair	 value	 is	
positive	and	as	financial	liabilities	when	the	fair	value	is	negative.

 Sale and repurchase agreements

	 A	 repurchase	agreement	 is	an	agreement	 to	 transfer	a	financial	asset	
to	 another	 party	 in	 exchange	 for	 cash	 or	 other	 consideration	 and	 a	
concurrent	obligation	 to	 reacquire	 the	financial	 asset	 at	 a	 future	date	
for	an	amount	equal	to	the	cash	or	other	consideration	exchanged	plus	
interest,	effectively	providing	the	transferee	with	a	lender’s	rate	of	return.
Repurchase	agreements	are	utilised	to	place	or	borrow	short-term	cash	
with different institutions. The difference between the amount paid 
for purchase of stock and the amount received for the sale of stock 
represents interest.

	 SANRAL	 entered	 into	 repurchase	 agreements	 as	 part	 of	 its	 trading	
activities.	 During	 the	 2013	 financial	 year	 SANRAL	 has	 repurchased	
all the agreements. The fair value of the collateral held in respect of 
repurchase	agreements	amounted	to	zero	(2012:	R0).

	 When	entering	a	repo	transaction,	SANRAL	either	becomes	the	outright	
owner	 (borrowing	 stock,	 investing	 cash),	 or	 transfers	 ownership	 fully	
(lending	stock,	borrowing	cash)	of	the	bonds	to	the	counterparty.	There	
are no restrictions on the bonds during the period of the repo transaction 
for either party, other than that the second leg of the repo transaction 
has to be honoured by both parties.

	 Securities	purchased	under	agreements	to	resell	are	recognised	under	
“receivables”	 as	 “repurchase	 agreements”.	 The	 underlying	 securities	
purchased under repurchase agreements are not recognised by the 
company.	 Likewise,	 underlying	 securities	 sold	 under	 repurchase	
agreements	 are	 not	 de-recognised	 by	 the	 company.	 A	 payable	
is recognised for the repurchase transaction, and recognised as 
“Repurchase	obligations”	under	“Payables”.

 When entering a repo transaction, the company either becomes 
the	 outright	 owner	 (borrowing	 stock,	 borrowing	 cash),	 or	 transfers	
ownership	 fully	 (lending	 stock,	 investing	 cash)	 of	 the	 bonds	 to	 the	
counterparty. There are no restrictions on the bonds during the period of 
the repo transaction for either party, other than the obvious one that the 
second leg of the repo transaction has to be honoured by both parties.

	 The	risk	that	the	company	is	exposed	to	is	discussed	in	note	34.

 The differences between the purchase and sale prices are treated as 
interest and are accrued using the effective interest method.

 Offset

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in	the	statement	of	financial	position	when,	and	only	when,	the	company	
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 
net  basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.7 Tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities

	 SANRAL	has	been	exempt	from	Income	Tax	in	the	Government	Gazette	
of	22	December	2002,	in	terms	of	S10(1)(t)(iii)	of	the	Income	Tax	Act,	
1962.	This	exemption	was	backdated	to	the	inception	of	the	company.

1.8 Leases

	 A	lease	is	classified	as	a	finance	lease	if	it	transfers	substantially	all	the	
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee.

	 Upon	initial	recognition	the	leased	asset	is	measured	at	an	amount	equal	
to	 the	 lower	of	 it’s	 fair	 value	and	 the	present	 value	of	minimum	 lease	
payments.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	the	asset	is	accounted	for	
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

 Operating leases - lessor

	 Operating	 lease	 income	is	recognised	as	an	 income	on	a	straight-line	
basis over the lease term.

 Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as 
an	expense	over	the	lease	term	on	the	same	basis	as	the	lease	income.

	 Income	from	operating	leases	is	disclosed	under	other	income	in	profit	
or loss.

1.9 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

	 Non-current	assets	(or	disposal	groups	comprising	assets	and	liabilities)	
are	classified	as	held	for	sale	if	their	carrying	amount	will	be	recovered	
principally through a sale transaction and not through continuing use. 
The condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable 
and	the	asset	(or	disposal	group)	is	available	for	immediate	sale	in	its	
present condition. These assets may be a component of the company, a 
disposal	group	or	an	individual	non-current	asset.

	 Immediately	 before	 classification	 as	 held	 for	 sale,	 the	 assets	 (or	
components	of	a	disposal	group)	are	 remeasured	 in	accordance	with	
the	company’s	accounting	policies.	Thereafter	generally	the	assets	(or	
disposal	group)	are	measured	at	the	lower	of	their	carrying	amount	and	
fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.	Impairment	losses	on	initial	classification	as	
held	 for	 sale	 and	 subsequent	 gains	 or	 losses	 on	 remeasurement	 are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	Gains	are	not	recognised	in	excess	of	any	
cumulative impairment loss.

	 A	discontinued	operation	 is	 a	 component	 of	 the	company’s	business	
that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations	that	has	been	disposed	of	or	is	held	for	sale.	Classification	as	
a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets	the	criteria	to	be	classified	as	held	for	sale,	if	earlier.	A	disposal	
group	 that	 is	 to	 be	 abandoned	 may	 also	 qualify	 as	 a	 discontinued	
operation, but not as assets held for sale.

	 Discontinued	 operations	 are	 separately	 presented	 in	 the	 financial	
statements once management has made a commitment to discontinue 
the operation without a realistic possibility of withdrawal which should 
be	expected	to	qualify	 for	recognition	as	a	completed	sale	within	one	
year	from	date	of	classification.

	 When	 an	 operation	 is	 classified	 as	 a	 discontinued	 operation,	 the	
comparative comprehensive income is restated as if the operation had 
been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

1.10 Impairment of assets

 Impairment of toll assets (Road construction 
assets self-funded through toll fees)

 At each reporting date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its 
toll assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
may	be	impaired.	If	any	such	indication	exists,	the	recoverable	amount	of

	 the	asset	is	estimated	in	order	to	determine	the	extent	of	the	impairment	
loss	(if	any).	Where	it	is	not	possible	to	estimate	the	recoverable	amount	
for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
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cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.

	 The	 recoverable	amount	of	 toll	 assets	 is	 the	greater	of	an	asset’s	 fair	
value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	 
pre-tax	 discount	 rate	 that	 reflects	 current	market	 assessments	 of	 the	
time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	asset.	For	an	asset	that	
does	not	generate	cash	inflows	largely	independent	of	those	from	other	
assets,	 the	 recoverable	amount	 is	determined	 for	 the	cash-generating	
unit to which the asset belongs.

 Impairment of non-toll assets 
 (State-funded through government grants) 

	 The	recoverable	amount	of	non-toll	assets	 is	 the	greater	of	an	asset’s	
fair	 value	 less	 cost	 to	 sell	 and	 value	 in	 use.	 Non-toll	 assets	 are	 non-
cash	generating	assets.	Non-toll	assets	do	not	create	cash	flows	from	
their	 use,	 and	 a	market	 for	 non-toll	 roads	 does	 not	 exist.	 IFRS	 does	
not	 specifically	 cover	 the	 impairment	 of	 non-cash	 generating	 assets,	
and in such cases allows other sources such as pronouncements of 
other standard setting bodies to be considered. The determination of 
the carrying amount of non cash generating assets are discussed in 
International	 Public	 Sector	 Accounting	 Standard	 21	 (IPSAS	 21).	 In	
accordance	with	IPSAS	21	value	in	use	of	a	non-cash-generating	asset	is	
the	present	value	of	the	asset’s	remaining	service	potential.	The	present	
value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined using 
depreciated	 replacement	 cost.	 The	 company	 measures	 their	 non-toll	
assets on the revaluation model, based on depreciated replacement 
cost.	Therefore	 the	company’s	valuation	already	 takes	any	 impairment	
effect	 into	 consideration,	 and	 no	 further	 specific	 impairment	 test	 is	
performed	on	non-toll	assets.

 Impairment loss

 An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of 
an	 asset	 or	 its	 cash	 generating	 unit	 exceeds	 its	 recoverable	 amount.
Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

 An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the 
impairment	 loss	may	no	 longer	exist	 and	 there	has	been	a	change	 in	
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Where an 
impairment	 loss	 subsequently	 reverses,	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	
asset	(cash-generating	unit)	 is	 increased	to	the	revised	estimate	of	 its	
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed	the	carrying	amount	that	would	have	been	determined	had	no	
impairment	 loss	 been	 recognised	 for	 the	 asset	 (cash-generating	 unit)	
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately	in	profit	or	loss.

 Revalued assets

 Impairment loss on revalued assets are recognised as a decrease in 
the revaluation reserve in other comprehensive income. A reversal of 
impairment loss is recognised as an increase in the revaluation reserve 
in	other	comprehensive	income,	limited	to	the	assets’	revalued	amount.

1.11 Share capital and equity

	 An	equity	instrument	is	any	contract	that	evidences	a	residual	interest	in	
the assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities.

	 Currently	 the	 company	 has	 normal	 issued	 share	 capital	 and	 share	
premium	accounted	for	as	equity	instruments.	Directly	attributable	costs	
with	issuing	of	equity	instruments	are	deducted	against	equity.

1.12 Employee benefits

 Defined contribution plans

	 The	 company	 operates	 a	 defined	 contribution	 plan,	 the	 assets	 of	
which are held in a separate trusteeadministered fund. The provident 
fund is funded by payments from the company, taking into account the 
recommendations	 of	 independent	 qualified	 actuaries.	 The	 company’s	
contributions	to	the	defined	contribution	plans	are	charged	to	the	profit	
or	loss	as	an	employee	benefit	expense	in	the	year	to	which	they	relate.

 The company also has employees who are members of the Government 
Employee	 Pension	 Fund	 (“GEPF”).	 Contributions	 to	 the	 GEPF	 are	
charged	to	profit	or	loss	in	the	year	to	which	they	relate	as	part	of	cost	of

 employment. The company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further	contributions	if	the	GEPF	does	not	hold	sufficient	assets	to	pay	
all	employees	 their	benefit	 relating	 to	employee	service	 in	 the	current	
and prior periods.

 Post-retirement obligations

	 The	company	provides	post-retirement	healthcare	benefits	 to	some	of	
its	employees.	The	entitlement	to	postretirement	healthcare	benefits	is	
based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age. This 
constitutes	a	defined	contribution	plan.	Valuations	of	these	obligations	
are carried out by independent actuaries.

 The company recognises the estimated liability on an accrual basis over 
the	working	 life	of	 the	eligible	employees.	Actuarial	gains	/	 losses	are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	they	occur.

1.13 Provisions

	 Provisions	are	recognised	when:
	 •	 The	company	has	a	present	obligation	as	a	result	of	a	past	event
	 •	 It	 is	 probable	 that	 an	 outflow	 of	 resources	 embodying	 economic	 

	 benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation
	 •	 A	reliable	estimate	can	be	made	of	the	obligation

	 The	 amount	 of	 a	 provision	 is	 the	 best	 estimate	 of	 the	 expenditure	
expected	 to	 be	 required	 to	 settle	 the	 obligation.	Where	 the	 effect	 of	
discounting to present values is material, provisions are adjusted to 
reflect	the	time	value	of	money,	and	where	appropriate,	the	risk	specific	
to	the	liability.	The	unwinding	of	discount	is	recognised	as	finance	cost.

	 Rehabilitation	 costs	 are	 provided	 for,	 based	 on	 the	 contractual	
agreement signed with the contractors maintaining or constructing the 
road	networks	and	increased	over	the	life	span	of	the	project.	Once	the	
project is complete, the provision for rehabilitation costs is reversed as 
the actual cost has been incurred and paid for.

	 Rehabilitation	costs	provided	for	projects	that	are	capital	in	nature	are	
capitalised	 to	 the	 respective	 asset.	 Rehabilitation	 costs	 provided	 for	
projects	that	are	operational	in	nature	are	expensed	in	profit	or	loss.

	 Provisions	are	not	recognised	for	future	operating	losses.

1.14 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance 
that:

	 •	 The	company	will	comply	with	the	conditions	attaching	to	them
	 •	 The	grants	will	be	received

 Government grants received that compensate the company for capital 
expenditure	(the	cost	of	an	asset)	are	included	in	non-current	liabilities	
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as deferred income and are released to income on a systematic basis 
in	 subsequent	 years	 over	 the	 estimated	 life	 of	 the	 related	 assets.	
Government	grants	received	as	compensation	for	acquisition	of	land	are	
recognised as income when received, because land is not depreciated.

	 Government	grants	that	compensate	the	company	for	expenses	incurred	
are	 recognised	 in	profit	or	 loss	 immediately.	The	unspent	portion	of	a	
grant	is	included	in	non-current	liabilities	as	deferred	income.

1.15 Revenue

	 Revenue	is	measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received	or	
receivable.	Revenue	is	reduced	for	rebates	and	similar	allowances.

	 Revenue	 from	 services	 rendered	 is	 recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	 in	
proportion	 to	 the	 stage	 of	 completion	 of	 the	 transaction	 at	 financial	
position date. 

	 Revenue	from	contracts	is	recognised	on	the	accrual	basis	in	accordance
 with the substance of the relevant agreements.

 Toll income

 Toll income comprises the value of toll tariffs charged in respect of the 
toll	operations,	net	of	value	added	tax.	Toll	income	is	recognised	when	
toll fees are received.

 Concession income

	 Concession	income	is	recognised	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	
of the concession contract.

1.16 Other income

	 Other	income	includes	contributions	from	other	spheres	of	government	
and the private sector. For managing projects this includes assets 
owned by other entities and they contribute their proportionate share to 
the	projects	for	SANRAL’s	management.

	 Rental	income	from	investment	property	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	on	
a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	lease.

1.17 Investment income and finance cost

 Investment income comprises interest income on funds invested 
and	 changes	 in	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 assets	 held-for-trading.	 Finance	
expenses	comprise	interest	expenses	on	funds	borrowed	and	changes	
in	fair	value	of	held-	for-trading	financial	liabilities.

	 Interest	income	and	expenses	are	recognised	on	a	time	proportion	basis,	
taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate 
over	the	period	to	maturity.	Interest	income	and	expenses	are	recognised	
in	profit	or	loss	for	all	interest	bearing	instruments	on	an	accrual	basis	
using	the	effective	 interest	method,	except	for	market-making	financial	
assets and liabilities.

	 The	coupon	interest	of	bonds	included	in	market-making	financial	assets	
and	liabilities	is	included	under	interest	income	and	expense	respectively.	
The remaining difference between interest calculated on amortised cost 
based on the effective interest and coupon interest is disclosed as part 
of	held-for-trading	gains	and	losses.	Where	financial	assets	have	been	
impaired, interest income continues to be recognised on the impaired 
value, based on the original effective interest rate.

	 Interest	income	and	expense	include	the	amortisation	of	any	discount	or	
premium or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an 
interest-bearing	instrument	and	its	amount	at	maturity	calculated	on	an	
effective interest method basis.

1.18 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs comprises interest and other costs that the company 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

	 A	qualifying	asset	comprises	an	asset	that	necessarily	takes	a	substantial	
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

	 Borrowing	 costs	 that	 are	 directly	 attributable	 to	 the	 acquisition,	
construction	or	production	of	a	qualifying	asset	are	capitalised	as	part	
of	the	cost	of	that	asset.	Other	borrowing	costs	are	recognised	as	an	
expense	in	the	period	in	which	they	have	been	incurred.

1.19 Public Private Partnerships (“PPP’s”)

	 PPP’s	 entail	 that	 private	 entities	 take	 substantial	 risk	 for	 financing	 a	
project’s	capital	and	operating	costs,	designing	and	building	a	 facility,	
and	 managing	 its	 operations	 to	 specified	 standards,	 normally	 over	 a	
significant	 period	 of	 time.	 In	 a	 PPP,	 the	 land	 typically	 belongs	 to	 the	
public institution, not to the private party, and the property, plant and 
equipment	developed	in	terms	of	the	PPP	are	thus	state	property.

 Concession revenues

 Where concessionaires have the right to charge and collect tolls, the 
company does not recognise any revenue. In circumstances where the 
concessionaire	is	required	to	pay	a	fee	to	the	company,	this	amount	is	
recognised as concession income and included in revenue.

 Assets and depreciation

 Toll concessions give the concessionaire the right to use the toll assets, 
while the company retains the title and ownership of the assets. Items 
of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 under	 concession	 agreements	 are	
recognised and measured in accordance with policies for property, plant 
and	equipment.

 Guarantees

	 Concessionaires	 are	 required	 to	 obtain	 guarantees	 in	 the	 form	 of	
performance bonds in favour of the company, relating to construction 
work, operation and maintenance activities of the concessionaire.

1.20 Irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure

	 Irregular	expenditure	means	expenditure	incurred	in	contravention	of,	or	
not	in	accordance	with,	a	requirement	of	the	Public	Finance	Management	
Act.	 Fruitless	 and	 wasteful	 expenditure	 means	 expenditure	 that	 was	
made  in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised.	 All	 irregular,	 fruitless	 and	 wasteful	 expenditure	 is	 charged	
against income in the period it was incurred and a corresponding liability 
is raised.

Accounting Policies
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2. Changes in accounting policy

The	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	
International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 on	 a	 basis	 consistent	 with	
the	 prior	 year	 except	 for	 the	 adoption	 of	 the	 following	 new	 or	 revised	
standards.

3.  New Standards and Interpretations

3.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in 
 the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and 
interpretations	that	are	effective	for	the	current	financial	year	and	that	are	
relevant to its operations:

 Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets

This	 amended	 the	 required	 disclosures	 to	 help	 users	 of	 financial	
statements	 evaluate	 the	 risk	 exposures	 relating	 to	 transfers	 of	 financial	
assets	and	the	effect	of	those	risks	on	the	company’s	financial	position.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 
1	July	2011.

3.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and 
interpretations, which impacts the company:

 IAS 19 Employee Benefits Revised

•	 Require	 recognition	 of	 changes	 in	 the	 net	 defined	 benefit	 liability	 
	 (asset)	 including	 immediate	 recognition	 of	 defined	 benefit	 cost, 
	 disaggregation	of	defined	benefit	cost	into	components,	recognition 
 of remeasurements in other comprehensive income, plan amendments, 
 curtailments and settlements
•	 Introduce	enhanced	disclosures	about	defined	benefit	plans
•	 Modify	 accounting	 for	 termination	 benefits,	 including	 distinguishing 
	 benefits	 provided	 in	 exchange	 for	 service	 and	 benefits	 provided	 in 
	 exchange	for	the	termination	of	employment	and	affect	the	recognition 
	 and	measurement	of	termination	benefits
•	 Clarification	 of	miscellaneous	 issues,	 including	 the	 classification	 of	 
	 employee	 benefits,	 current	 estimates	 of	 mortality	 rates,	 tax	 and 
	 administration	 costs	 and	 risk-sharing	 and	 conditional	 indexation 
 features

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after  
01	January	2013.

The	company	expects	 to	 adopt	 the	amendment	 for	 the	 first	 time	 in	 the	 
2014	financial	statements.
 
It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the  
company’s	financial	statements.

 Government Loans (Amendment to IFRS 1)
 
The	amendment	allows	first	 time	adopters	 the	option	 to	measure	 loans	 
from	 government	 at	 below	 market	 interest	 rates,	 which	 existed	 at	 
transition date, at the amounts measured in accordance with their 
previous	GAAP.	The	provisions	of	par	10A	of	 IAS	20	will	only	apply	 to	 
subsequent	loans.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after  
01	January	2013.

The	company	expects	 to	 adopt	 the	amendment	 for	 the	 first	 time	 in	 the	
2014	financial	statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the 
company’s	financial	statements.

Amendments of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - 
Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

The company will present those items of other comprehensive income that 
may	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	in	the	future	separately	from	those	that	
would	never	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss.	The	related	tax	effects	for	the	
two	sub-categories	will	be	shown	separately.

This is a change in presentation and will have no impact on the recognition 
or	measurement	of	items	in	the	financial	statements.

The	effective	date	of	the	amendment	is	for	years	beginning	on	or	after	1	
July	2012.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS	13	introduces	a	single	source	of	guidance	on	fair	value	measurement	
for	both	 financial	 and	non-financial	 assets	 and	 liabilities	by	defining	 fair	
value, establishing a framework for measuring fair value and setting out 
disclosures	requirements	for	fair	value	measurements.	The	key	principles	
in	IFRS	13	are	as	follows:
•	 Fair	value	is	an	exit	price
•	 Measurement	 considers	 characteristics	 of	 the	 asset	 or	 liability	 that	 
	 market	participants	would	consider	 in	measurement	 and	not	 entity- 
	 specific	characteristics
•	 Measurement	assumes	a	transaction	in	the	entity’s	principal	(or	most	 
	 advantageous)	market	between	market	participants
•	 Price	is	not	adjusted	for	transaction	costs
•	 Measurement	maximises	 the	 use	 of	 relevant	 observable	 inputs	 and	 
 minimises the use of unobservable inputs
•	 The	 three-level	 fair	 value	 hierarchy	 is	 extended	 to	 all	 fair	 value	 
 measurements and disclosures

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after  
1	January	2013.

The	company	expects	to	adopt	the	standard	for	the	first	time	in	the	2014	
annual	financial	statements.

The	impact	on	the	financial	statements	for	SANRAL	cannot	be	reasonably	
estimated	as	at	31	March	2013.

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 (2009) Financial Instruments

IFRS	9	 (2009)	 addresses	 the	 initial	measurement	 and	 classification	 of	
financial	assets	and	will	replace	the	relevant	sections	of	IAS	39.

Under	IFRS	9	there	are	two	options	in	respect	of	classification	of	financial	
assets,	 namely,	 financial	 assets	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost	 or	 at	 fair	
value. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business
model	 is	 to	 hold	 assets	 in	 order	 to	 collect	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 and	
when	 they	give	 rise	 to	cash	flows	 that	 are	 solely	payments	of	principal	
and	 interest	 on	 the	 principal	 outstanding.	 All	 other	 financial	 assets	 are	

Notes to the Financial Statements
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measured at fair value. Embedded derivatives are no longer separated 
from	hybrid	contracts	that	have	a	financial	asset	host.

IFRS 9 (2010) Financial Instruments

IFRS	9	(2010)	addresses	the	measurement	and	classification	of	financial	
liabilities	and	will	replace	the	relevant	sections	of	IAS	39.

Under	IFRS	9	(2010),	the	classification	and	measurement	requirements	
of	financial	liabilities	are	the	same	as	per	IAS	39,	except	for	the	following	
two aspects:

•	 Fair	 value	 changes	 for	 financial	 liabilities	 (other	 than	 financial 
	 guarantees	and	loan	commitments)	designated	at	fair	value	through	 
	 profit	or	loss,	that	are	attributable	to	the	changes	in	the	credit	risk	of	 
	 the	liability,	will	be	presented	in	other	comprehensive	income	(OCI).	 
	 The	remaining	amount	of	the	fair	value	change	is	recognised	in	profit 
	 or	loss.	However,	if	this	requirement	creates	or	enlarges	an	accounting 
	 mismatch	in	profit	or	loss,	then	the	whole	fair	value	change	is	presented	 
	 in	profit	or	 loss.	The	determination	as	to	whether	such	presentation	 
 would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch is made on initial  
	 recognition	and	is	not	subsequently	reassessed.
•	 Under	IFRS	9	(2010)	derivative	liabilities	that	are	linked	to	and	must	 
	 be	 settled	by	 delivery	 of	 an	 unquoted	 equity	 instrument	whose	 fair 
 value cannot be reliably measured, are measured at fair value.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after  
1	January	2015.

The	company	expects	to	adopt	the	standard	for	the	first	time	in	the	2016	
annual	financial	statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the 
company’s	annual	financial	statements.

4.  Fair value

A	number	of	the	SANRAL’s	accounting	policies	and	disclosures	require	
the	determination	of	fair	value,	for	both	financial	and	non-financial	assets	
and liabilities. Fair values have been determined based on the following 
methods:	 (Where	applicable,	 further	 information	about	 the	assumptions	
made	in	determining	fair	values	is	disclosed	in	the	notes	specific	to	that	
asset	or	liability.)

Investments in debt securities / Bonds

The	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 instruments	 traded	 in	 an	 organised	 financial	
market	is	measured	at	the	applicable	quoted	prices.
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based	on	 the	present	 value	of	 future	principal	 and	 interest	 cash	 flows,	
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Consumer price index (“CPI”) linked loan

The	fair	value	of	the	CPI-linked	loan	is	determined	using	an	appropriate	
loan	model	(discounted	cash	flow	analysis)	to	adjust	the	outstanding	loan	
capital	amount	for	changes	in	CPI	rates.	The	CPI-linked	feature	in	the	CPI-
linked	 loan	 is	an	embedded	derivative	 that	does	not	 require	separating	
from the host contract.

The	South	African	Reserve	Bank	upper	 target	 limit	 for	CPI	of	6%	was	
used.

Short term financial Instruments

At	 year	 end,	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 of	 cash	 and	 short-term	 deposits,	
trade	receivables,	trade	payables,	accrued	expenses,	third	party	funding	
and	 borrowings	 (capital	 market	 loan	 -	 held-for-trading	 and	 repurchase	
agreements)	approximated	their	fair	values	due	to	the	short-term	maturities	
of these assets and liabilities.

5.  Property, plant and equipment under concession 

Useful lives

The	estimated	useful	lives	are	reflected	in	note	1.4

Property, plant and equipment under construction

Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 under	 construction	 refer	 to	 capital	
expenditure	on	roads	such	as	strengthening,	 improvements,	new	roads,	
buildings	and	highway	monitoring	equipment.

Revaluation of road network and structures

Management reviewed the disclosure per the prior year revaluation and a 
reclassification	between	the	cost	and	the	accumulated	depreciation	was	
made	 to	 agree	 to	 the	 valuation	 report.	 The	 financial	 impact	 due	 to	 the	
reclassification	is	zero.

Management reviewed the valuations, done by an independent valuer, of 
the	 road	network	and	structures	as	at	31	March	2013	and	assessed	 it	
as being overstated due to decreases in material unit rates and property 
prices.

Due	 to	 the	 unique	 nature	 of	 the	 assets,	 and	 the	 extensive	 detailed	
condition	data	required	of	the	road	network,	structures	and	material	unit	
costs,	SANRAL	performed	the	 revaluation	 internally	utilising	 information	
supplied	by	external	industry	experts.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5.  Property, plant and equipment under concession

  31 March 2013   31 March 2012 
 Cost/ Accumulated Carrying Cost/ Accumulated Carrying
 Valuation depreciation value Valuation depreciation value
 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Buildings		 729	703		 (98	801)		 630	902		 696	351		 (84	772)		 611	579

Road	structures		 4	099	314		 (3	619	221)		 480	093		 2	314	344		 (193	361)		 2	120	983

Equipment		 507	302		 (191	599)		 315	703		 482	196		 (159	599)		 322	597

Property,	plant	and	

equipment	under	construction		 759	296		 -		 759	296		 358	357		 -		 358	357

Road	network		 36	609	689		 (8	561	950)		 28	047	739		 38	221	518		 (8	874	145)		 29	347	373

Total  42 705 304  (12 471 571)  30 233 733  42 072 766  (9 311 877)  32 760 889

 Opening Additions Transfers Reclassification Reversal of Depreciation Total 
 balance    revaluation
 R ‘000 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000
Buildings		 611	579		 20	027		 13	325		 -		 -	 	(14	029)		 630	902

Road	structures	 2	120	983	 26	087		 -		 -		 (1	658	952)		 (8	025)		 480	093

Equipment		 322	597		 17	056		 8	050		 -		 -		 (32	000)		 315	703

Property,	plant	and	

equipment	under	construction		 358	357	 445	212		 (44	273)		 -		 -		 -		 759	296

Road	network		 29	347	373		 226	376		 22	898		 -		 (1	304	193)		 (244	715)		 28	047	739

 32 760 889  734 758  -  -  (2 963 145)  (298 769)  30 233 733

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment under concession - 31 March 2013

 Opening Additions Transfers Reclassification Reversal of Depreciation Total 
 balance    revaluation
 R ‘000 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000
Buildings		 341	004		 -		 282	512		 (924)		 -		 (11	013)		 611	579

Road	structures		 1	845	527		 -		 12	236		 (461)		 271	911		 (8	230)		 2	120	983

Equipment		 313	266		 -		 38	797		 6	106		 -		 (35	572)		 322	597

Property,	plant	and	

equipment	under	construction		 491	682		 797	249		 (930	574)		 -		 -		 -		 358	357

Road	network		 23	863	791		 -		 597	029		 (4	721)		 5	108	662		 (217	388)		29	347	373

 26 855 270  797 249  -  -  5 380 573  (272 203)  32 760 889

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment under concession - 31 March 2012

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012

 R ‘000  R ‘000 

Buildings		 630	902		 611	580

Road	structures		 331	279		 313	215

Equipment		 315	702		 322	596

Property,	plant	and	equipment	under	construction		 759	296		 353	636

Road	network		 3	816	049		 3	816	215

 5 853 228  5 417 242

Carrying values

Carrying	value	of	assets	if	all	accounted	for	under	the	cost	model:
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6.  Property, plant and equipment
  31 March 2013   31 March 2012 
 Cost/ Accumulated Carrying Cost/ Accumulated Carrying
 Valuation depreciation and value Valuation depreciation and value
  impairment losses   impairment losses
 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Land		 15	446	076		 -		 15	446	076		 13	323	022		 -		 13	323	023

Buildings		 1	415	906		 (113	416)		 1	302	490		 1	403	884		 (103	704)		 1	300	180

Equipment,	vehicles	and	furniture		 862	891		 (404	534)		 458	357		 870	482		 (317	264)		 553	218

Road	network		 240	168	374		 (75	207	306)		 164	961	068		 218	538	659		 (66	086	558)		 152	452	101

Property,	plant	and	equipment	under	construction		 16	134	844		 -		 16	134	844		 16	901	039		 -		 16	901	039

Road	structures		 43	773	065		 (3	053	182)		 40	719	883		 40	420	745		 (2	154	689)		 38	266	056

Total		 317	801	156		 (78	778	438)		 239	022	718		 291	457	831		 (68	662	215)		 222	795	616

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2013

 Opening Additions Disposals  Transfers Revaluations Depreciation Impairment  Total
 balance       reversal
 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000   R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000
Land	 13	323	022	 60	758		 -			 -		 2	062	296		 -		 -		 15	446	076

Buildings		 1	300	180		 143	317		 (114	263)			 -		 -		 (30	595)		 3	851		 1	302	490

Equipment,	vehicles	

and	furniture		 553	265		 41	975		 (16	129)			 -		 -		 (120	751)	 44		 458	357

Road	network		 152	452	101		 989	712		 -			 7	428	135		 5	532	357		 (1	458	531)		 17	294		 164	961	068

Property,	plant	

and	equipment

under	construction		 16	901	039		 6	661	940		 -			 (7	428	135)		 -		 -		 -		 16	134	844

Road	structures		 38	266	056		 -		 -			 -		 2	453	827		 -		 -		 40	719	883

 222 795 616  7 897 702  (130 392)   -  10 048 480  (1 609 877)  21 189  239 022 718

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2012 (Restated)

 Opening Additions Disposals  Transfers Revaluations Borrowing Restoration Depreciation Impairment  Total
 balance     costs costs  loss
      capitalised capitalised
 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000
Land		 11	474	997		 46	099		 -		 -		 1	801	926		 -		 -		 -		 -	 13	323	022

Buildings		 550	491		 724	568		 -		 46	502		 -		 -		 -		 (21	381)		 -	 1	300	180

Equipment,	

vehicles 

and	furniture		 258	161		 399	040			 (78)		 -		 -		 -		 -		 (103	905)		 -	 553	218

Road	network		 124	381	905		 6	964	897	 	-		 1	304	082		 20	906	450		 -		 (2	275)		 (1	102	958)		 	 152	452	101

Property,	plant	

and	equipment	

under	construction		18	092	840		 86	287		 -		(1	350	584)		 -		 77	184		 (4	688)		 -		 -	 16	901	039

Road	structures		 31	517	841		 -		 -		 -		 6	750	267		 -		 -		 -	 (2	052)	 38	266	056

 186 276 235  8 220 891  (78)  -  29 458 643  77 184  (6 963)  (1 228 244)  (2 052) 222 795 616

None	of	SANRAL’s	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	pledged	as	security	for	liabilities.

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012

 R ‘000  R ‘000 

Land		 612	084		 551	328

Buildings		 1	298	639		 1	300	180

Equipment,vehicles	and	furniture		 458	312		 553	265

Road	network		 31	861	918		 24	574	114

Property,	plant	and	equipment	under	construction		 16	134	844		 16	901	039

Road	structures		 2	454	441		 2	454	441

 52 820 328  46 334 367

Carrying values
The carrying value of assets if all accounted for under the cost model would have been:
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6.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

A	register	containing	the	information	required	by	Regulation	25(3)	of	the	
Companies	Regulations,	is	available	for	inspection	at	the	registered	office	
of the company.

Useful lives

The	estimated	useful	lives	are	reflected	in	note	1.4.

Property, plant and equipment under construction

Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 under	 construction	 refer	 to	 capital	
expenditure	on	roads	such	as	strengthening,	 improvements,	new	roads,	
building	and	highway	monitoring	equipment.

Land identification process

In	terms	of	the	land	identification	process,	which	was	initiated	on	1	April	
1998,	SANRAL	has	identified	25	377	(2012:	24	540)	properties	falling	
within	the	road	reserves	and	2	249	(2012:	2	108)	investment	properties	
which	fall	outside	of	the	road	reserve.	The	values	are	shown	in	the	financial	
statements.	For	investment	property	values	refer	to	note	7.

Revaluation of land

The land component of the road reserve valuation was valued in terms 
of the depreciated replacement cost approach. The replacement cost 
of land was determined based on recent selling prices of vacant land 
with comparable location and, where applicable, adjusted in respect 
of	 engineering	 services’	 status	 and	 development	 rights	 on	 the	 road	
reserves.	Applying	the	Across-The-Fence	valuation	model,	a	valuation	was	
performed	on	the	land	component	as	at	31	March	2013	by	an	independent	
professional valuer.

Revaluation of road network and structures

Road	 network	 and	 structures	 are	 valued	 at	 depreciated	 replacement	
cost	 based	 on	 the	 estimated	 present	 cost	 of	 constructing	 the	 existing	
assets by the most appropriate current method of construction, reduced 
by factors for the age and condition of the asset. The estimated present 
material	unit	costs	are	assumed	to	be	uniform	across	the	country.	Road	
beds	are	assumed	to	have	a	useful	life	of	50	years,	and	for	road	layers	and	
structures	the	associated	depreciation	rate	is	related	to	condition	indexes	
calculated	from	detailed	condition	assessments.	The	frequency	of	these	
condition assessments are related to the deterioration trend of the asset 
component	and	range	from	1	to	5	years.

Management reviewed the valuations of the road network and structures 
as	at	31	March	2013	due	to	increases	in	material	unit	rates.	Due	to	the	
unique	 nature	 of	 the	 assets,	 and	 the	 extensive	 detailed	 condition	 data	
required	of	the	road	network,	structures	and	material	unit	costs,	SANRAL	
performed the revaluation internally on road assets utilising information 
supplied	by	external	industry	experts.

Impairment

The	carrying	value	of	the	impaired	asset	was	zero	in	the	prior	year.	In	the	
current	financial	year,	the	cash	flow	predictions	for	the	future	showed	an	
inflow	of	R21	189	000.	The	value	in	use	is	therefore	R21	189	000	and	the
fair	 value	 less	 cost	 to	 sell	 is	 zero	 as	 the	 asset	 cannot	 be	 sold.	 The	
impairment is reversed, limited to the highest of recoverable amount or 
the carrying value.

The carrying value of the impaired asset was:

At 31 March 2013 Land and Road Road Equipment, vehicles Total

 buildings network  structures and furniture

 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000

Historical	cost	-	N4	Magalies		 9	550		 42	364		 12	246		 1	627		 65	787

Accumulated	depreciation		 (1	633)		 (14	421)		 (4	169)		 (1	168)		 (21	391)

Revaluation		 -		 585	458		 169	232		 -		 754	690

Accumulated	impairment	charge		 (7	917)		 (613	401)		 (177	309)		 (459)		 (799	086)

Reversal	of	impairment	charged		 3	851	 17	294	 -		 44		 21	189

 3 851  17 294  -  44  21 189

At 31 March 2012 Land and Road Road Equipment, vehicles Total

 buildings network  structures and furniture

 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000 R ’000

Historical	cost	-	N4	Magalies		 9	550		 42	364		 12	246		 1	627		 65	787

Accumulated	depreciation		 (1	633)		 (14	421)		 (4	169)		 (1	168)		 (21	391)

Revaluation		 -		 585	458		 169	232		 -		 754	690

Accumulated	impairment	charge		 (7	917)		 (636	891)		 (177	309)		 (459)		 (822	576)

Reversal	of	impairment	charged		 -		 23	490		 -		 -		 23	490

  - - - - -



144

THE SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL ROADS AGENCY SOC LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements

7.  Investment property

    31 March 2013                31 March 2012
   Valuation  Carrying Valuation Carrying
    value  value
   R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000

	 Investment	property		 	 1	320	350		 1	320	350		 1	311	918		 1	311	918

 Reconciliation of investment property - 31 March 2013

  Opening Disposals Classified as Fair value Total
  balance  held for sale adjustments
  R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

	 Investment	property		 1	311	918		 (56	010)		 (132	928)		 197	370		 1	320	350

 
 Reconciliation of investment property - 31 March 2012

  Opening Disposals Classified as Fair value Total
  balance  held for sale adjustments
  R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

	 Investment	property		 1	014	686		 (8	597)		 -		 305	829		 1	311	918

A	register	containing	the	information	required	by	Regulation	25(3)	of	the	
Companies	Regulations,	is	available	for	inspection	at	the	registered	office	
of the company.

Additional information

Investment	property	comprises	of	a	number	of	freehold	properties	(surplus	
or	severed	 land)	 kept	 for	appreciation	 in	 their	 value	and	 for	purpose	of	
rental	income.	SANRAL’s	primary	responsibility	relates	to	the
construction	and	maintenance	of	national	roads,	but	during	the	execution	
of	 its	 normal	 responsibilities	 SANRAL	may	 also	 become	 the	 owner	 of	
surplus	 land.	Although	such	 land	 is	often	alienated,	SANRAL	does	not,	
per se, hold it for sale as part of its ordinary course of business. All surplus 
land	that	is	not	“owner	occupied”	is	considered	to	be	Investment	Property.

The fair value of investment property is based on a valuation using the 
widely	accepted	“Across-The-Fence”	model,	taking	into	consideration	the	
size,	shape,	accessibility	and	existing	rights	of	the	property.

The	valuation	was	done	by	an	independent	valuer	during	the	financial	year	
ending	31	March	2013	who	holds	a	recognised	and	relevant	professional	
qualification	and	has	recent	experience	in	the	location	and	category	of	the
investment	property	being	valued.	Valuation	of	investment	property	is	done	
on an annual basis. There is currently no restrictions on the realisability of 
investment property.



145

04SECTION 4  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements

8. Intangible assets
    31 March 2013                          Restated 31 March 2012
  Cost Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Carrying
   amortisation value  amortisation value
  R ‘000 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000 R ‘000

 Computer	software		 30	668		 (11	355)		 19	313		 27	869		 (9	326)		 18	543

	 Way	leave	agreements		 10	615		 (1	301)		 9	314		 6	828		 (679)		 6	149

 Total  41 283  (12 656)  28 627  34 697  (10 005)  24 692

 
 Reconciliation of intangible assets - 31 March 2013

  Opening Additions Work in Amortisation Total
  balance  progress  
    
  R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

 Computer	software		 18	543		 7		 	2	790		 (2	027)		 19	313

	 Way	leave	agreements		 6	149		 3	787		 -		 (622)		 9	314

  24 692  3 794  2 790  (2 649)  28 627
 
 Reconciliation of intangible assets - 31 March 2012

   Opening Additions Work in Amortisation Total
   balance  progress 
   R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

	 Computer	software		 	 11	874		 -		 8	796		 (2	127)		 18	543

	 Way	leave	agreements		 	 349		 6	375		 -		 (575)		 6	149

  12 223  6 375  8 796  (2 702)  24 692

9.  Investments

At fair value through profit or loss - held-for-trading

Market-making	investments

Market-making investments consist of Bonds. These Bonds have interest 
rates of 7.73% to 7.96% (31 March 2012: 6.09% to 8.74%). Marketmaking
investments are held to manage liquidity and to reduce the cost of borrowing.

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Capped	insurance	receivable

In September 2012 SANRAL signed a three-year insurance agreement 
with Santam Insurance. SANRAL made an upfront deposit, and all claims 
up to the balance of the deposit are recovered from the funds deposited. 
Claims in excess of this deposit are paid by the insurer. The agreement 
provides for the repayment of the balance of the deposit at the end of 
the agreement period. The amount of R249.3 million (31 March 2012: 
R226.8 million) represents the balance for the period ending 31 March 
2013. These funds earn interest at the three month Jibar-based deposit 
rate, resetting three-monthly, term twelve months, net of asset management 
fee currently 4.75%. The policy was renewed in March 2013 for a further 
period of one year and matures on 30 September 2015.

Total investments 

Non-current assets
Loans	and	receivables	(capped	insurance	receivable)	

Current assets
At	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	-	held	for	trading	(repurchase	agreements)
Loans	and	receivables	(capped	insurance	receivable)

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

  324	305	 2	115	335

  249	303	 226	808

  249	303	 -

  573 608 2 342 143

	 	 324	305	 2	115	335

	 	 -	 226	808

  324 305 2 342 143

  573 608 2 342 143
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Trade	receivables	(Toll)		

Other	receivables	

Accrued interest  

Other	receivables	due	from	related	parties		

Impairment	losses	-	other	receivables		

Other	receivables	mainly	comprises	of	share	joint	project	costs	from	other	spheres	of	government	and	private	sector.

11. Assets classified as held for sale

Non current assets held for sale

Opening	balance	

Assets	disposed	of	during	the	year	-	Furniture		 	

Investment	property	classified	as	held	for	sale	

 
Investment	property	held	for	sale	comprises	of	excess	land	which	was	acquired	for	future	roads	construction.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of:

Cash	on	hand		

Bank balances  

Call	accounts		

The	effective	interest	rates	on	Bank	balances	was	2.11%	and	5.38%	on	Call	accounts	(2012:	3.12%	and	5.65%),	and	the	deposits	have	an	average	maturity	
of	20	days	(2012:	20	days).

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

  133	175	 106	253

	 	 352	071	 53	110

	 	 52	643	 65	581

	 	 27	605	 26	857

	 	 (636)	 (5	300)

  564 858 246 501

  

  13	 13

	 	 52	718	 33	926

	 	 4	366	602	 9	197	993 

  4 419 333 9 231 932

  

  -	 339

	 	 -	 (339)

	 	 132	928	 - 

  132 928 -

Authorised

4	000	Ordinary	shares	of	R1	each

Issued

4	000	Ordinary	shares	of	R1	each	

Share	premium	(4	000	Ordinary	shares	issued	at	a	premium	of	R272	760	per	share)

Shares	are	held	by	the	Minister	of	Transport.

	 	 4	 4

	 	 4	 4

  

	 	 1	091	040	 1	091	040

  1 091 044 1 091 044 

13. Share capital and premium

10. Trade and other receivables
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14. Reserves

Accumulated loss

Accumulated losses are not distributable

Revaluation reserve

The	revaluation	reserve	relates	to	the	revaluation	of	the	following	property,	plant	and	equipment	components:

Land	

Road	network	assets

(comprising	of	road	layers,	road	beds	and	road	structures)

A	breakdown	of	 the	 revaluation	movement	 for	 the	period	affecting	 the	state-ment	of	profit	or	 loss	and	other	comprehensive	 income	 is	 reflected	below: 

Increase in revaluation amount for land 

Increase in revaluation amount for road network assets

(comprising	of	road	layers,	road	beds	and	road	structures)	

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

  
	 	 (4	725	430)	 (6	114	273)

	 	 14	883	992	 12	771	695

	 	 195	756	334	 190	733	294

  210 590 326 203 504 989

	 	 2	062	298	 1	801	927

  

	 	 5	023	039	 33	037	289

  7 085 337 34 839 216

15. Other financial liabilities

At fair value through profit or loss - held-for-trading
Borrowings	-	Capital	market	loan

Held at amortised cost
Borrowings	-	Capital	market	loan	(Long	term)
Borrowings	-	Capital	market	loan	(Short	term)

Borrowings	-	CPI-linked	loan
The CPI-linked loan is repayable in monthly CPI-linked installments 
at a real interest rate of 3.9% per annum (31 March 2012: 3.9%) until  
31 October 2018. This loan is guaranteed by government equal to the 
original loan value.

Borrowings	-	EIB	loan
SANRAL has entered into a loan agreement with the European Investment 
Bank (EIB). The loan was drawn in two tranches of R572 784 000 and 
R573 918 000 respectively during 2011 financial year. The tranches bear 
interest at a fixed rate of 8.315% and 9.227% respectively. The loan is 
repayable over 20 years in semi-annual installments. Repayments are made 
in South African Rands and only commence in 2014/15 financial year. This 
loan is guaranteed by government equal to the original value of the loan.

Borrowings	-	ECA	supported	loan
SANRAL has entered into a loan facility with the ABSA Bank amounting 
to R523 102 562, for the purchase of goods or services to support the 
open road tolling system of GFIP. The first tranche of R182 184 245 
was withdrawn during the 2012 financial year. The tranche bears interest 
at a rate of 3 months JIBAR plus 1.75%. The loan is repayable over 10 
years commencing in June 2012. The loan is supported by the Republic 
of Austria through Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft, an 
export credit agency (ECA).

Borrowings	-	Repurchase	agreements	

Non-current liabilities

At amortised cost 

Current liabilities

Fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	

At amortised cost 

  26	137	189	 28	432	840

	 	 1	917	103	 -

	 	 5	866	218	 6	059	229

	 	 777	135	 867	342

	 	 1	146	702	 1	146	702

	 	 129	874	 182	184

	 	 28	190	900	 29	828	526

	 	 223	324	 809	179	

  30 331 327 31 438 247 

  36 197 545 37 497 476

	 	 5	866	218	 6	059	229		

	 	 2	140	427	 1	609	721 

  8 006 645 7 668 950

  36 197 545 37 497 476
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15. Other financial liabilities  (continued)

Capital market loans

In	 July	 2009	 the	 South	 African	 Government	 issued	 guarantees	 for	
borrowings	by	SANRAL	up	to	a	nominal	value	of	R18.62	billion	for	2013	
(2012:	 R19.12	 billion).	 SANRAL	 has	 issued	 a	 nominal	 of	 R11.02	 billion	
asat	 31	March	 2013	 (2012:	 R11.43	 billion)	 under	 a	 guaranteed	 DMTN	
programme	(HWAY	bonds).	The	funds	raised	through	these	borrowings	can	
only	be	used	for	Toll	Operations.

On	16	November	1999,	the	South	African	Government	issued	guarantees	
for	borrowings	(SZ	Bonds)	by	SANRAL	up	to	a	nominal	value	of	R6	billion. 
SANRAL	 has	 issued	 a	 nominal	 of	 R5.68	 billion	 as	 at	 31	 March	 2013		 
(2012:	R5.68	billion)	under	this	guaranteed	programme.	The	funds	raised	
through	these	borrowings	can	only	be	used	for	Toll	Operations.

The	South	African	Government	also	approved	an	unguaranteed	borrowing	
capacity	of	up	to	a	nominal	value	of	R15	billion	as	at	31	March	2013	(R15	
billion	as	at	31	March	2012).	SANRAL	issued	a	nominal	of	R13.54	billion	
as	 at	 31	March	 2013	 (R14.52	 billion	 as	 at	 31	March	 2012)	 under	 non-
guaranteed	 DMTN	 programme	 (NRA	 bonds).	 The	 funds	 raised	 through	
these	borrowings	can	only	be	used	 for	Toll	Operations.	For	 further	 terms	
and	conditions,	including	risk	management	information,	refer	to	note	34.

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

16. Equalisation of operating lease payments

Non-current	liabilities		 114			 552

Current	liabilities		 438			 394

  552   946

Balance	brought	forward		 946			 731

Amount	realised	in	profit	and	loss		 (394	)		 215

  552  946

Equalisation	of	operating	lease	-	straight	lining	of	lease	payments	over	the	period	of	the	contract.	Various	lease	contracts	run	over	a	period	of	time,	of	which	
the	last	contracts	end	in	2015.
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The	entitlement	of	these	benefits	is	dependent	upon	the	employee	remaining	
in service until retirement age and completing a minimum service period, 
and	is	subject	to	periodic	review.	SANRAL	recognises	the	estimated	liability	
on an accrued basis over the working life of the eligible employees. The 
accrued	liability	of	R11.6	million	is	a	provision	for	period	ending	31	March	
2013	(2012:	R10.0	million).

The	 last	valuation	of	 the	obligation	was	performed	by	PONESO	Actuarial	
Consultants	as	at	31	March	2013	using	the	Projected	Unit	Credit	Method.	
The	next	valuation	of	the	employer’s	liability	will	be	in	March	2014.	No	plan	
assets	are	recognised,	therefore	the	value	of	the	unfunded	liability	is	equal	
to the accrued liability.

The	expense	is	recognised	in	the	operating	expenses	line	item	in	profit	or	
loss.

17.  Employee benefits

Post-retirement health-care benefits

Movement in liability for obligation:

Accrued	liability	at	beginning	of	the	year	 9	975			 9	196

Benefits	paid	out		 (205	)			 (193	)

Current	service	cost,	interest	and	actuarial	gains	and	losses		 1	794			 972

  11 564   9 975

Net expense recognised in profit or loss

Current	service	cost		 323			 326

Interest	cost		 838			 814

Actuarial	losses	/	(gains)	recognised		 634			 (168	)

Less	employer	benefit	payments		 (205	)		 (194	)

  1 590   778

Key assumptions used

Assumptions	used	on	last	valuation	on	31	March	2012.

Average	retirement	age		 	 	 	 65	years		 65	years

Membership	discontinued	at	retirement		 	 	 	 0		 0

Discount	rates	used		 	 	 	 7.45	%		 8.40	%

Healthcare	cost	inflation		 	 	 	 5.95	%		 6.84	%

Historical information  2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
  R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Accrued	liability	at	year	end		 11	564		 9	975		 9	196		 8	702		 6	854

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

  

Provident and Pension fund

The	 Alexander	 Forbes	 Retirement	 Fund	 :	 South	 African	 National	 Roads	
Agency	 Limited	 Provident	 Fund	 is	 a	 defined	 contribution	 plan	 and	 is	
registered	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 Pension	 Funds	 Act	 24	 of	 1956,	 as	 amended.	
Contributions	comprise	20.5%	of	pensionable	emoluments	of	which	SANRAL 
contributes	 20.5%	 of	 which	 administration	 and	 insurance	 amounts	 to	
3.59%.	The	Fund	is	administered	by	Alexander	Forbes	and	224	of	the	226 

permanent	 employees	 (2012:	 214	 and	 216	 respectively)	 are	 currently 
members of the Fund. Two employees are members of the Government 
Employees’	 Pension	 Fund.	 Contributions	 to	 the	 Government	 Employees’ 
Pension	 Fund	 comprise	 20.5%	 of	 pensionable	 emoluments	 of	 which 
members	 pay	 7.5%	 and	 SANRAL	 contributes	 13%.	 Contributions	 are 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	the	contributions	are	made.
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Non-current	liabilities		 23	070	464		 22	681	463

Current	liabilities		 1	056	221		 1	531	747

 24 126 685  24 213 210

Concession contracts

N3 extension

Non-current

Balance	brought	forward		 791	337		 839	056

Amount	transferred	to	current		 (47	719)		 (47	719)

Balance	at	end	of	the	period	-	non-current		 743	618		 791	337

Current

Balance	brought	forward		 47	719		 47	719

Amount	realised	in	profit	or	loss		 24		 (47	719)		 (47	719)

Amount	transferred	from	non-current		 47	719		 47	719

Balance	at	end	of	the	period	-	current		 47	719		 47	719

Total balance for N3  791 337  839 056

The	amount	realised	in	profit	or	loss	is	calculated	as	the	total	amount	received	from	the	N3	Concessionaire					(R	1	431	561)	divided	by	the	concession	

contract	period	of	30	years.	This	result	in	a	realisation	of	R47	719	000	per	annum.

TRAC-N4

Non-current 

Balance	brought	forward		 157	084		 167	660

Amount	transferred	to	current		 (10	576)		 (10	576)

Balance	at	end	of	the	period	-	non-current		 146	508		 157	084

Current

Balance	brought	forward		 10	576		 10	576

Amount	realised	in	profit	or	loss		 24	 (10	576)		 (10	576)

Amount	transferred	from	non-current		 10	576		 10	576

Balance	at	end	of	period	-	current		 10	576		 10	576

Total balance for TRAC  157 084  167 660

  Note 31 March 31 March  
   2013 2012
   R ‘000 R ‘000

18. Deferred income

Deferred	 income	consists	of	deferred	government	grants	and	advances	
from concession contracts.

SANRAL	is	awarded	government	grants.	These	grants	relate	to	the	capital	
and	operational	expenses	on	non-toll	national	 routes.	The	portion	spent	
on	 capital	 expenses	 are	 being	 amortised	 over	 the	 useful	 lives	 of	 the	
underlying assets. Grants for land, which is not depreciated, is treated as  

 
 
income when received. The unutilised portion of the grant at year end is 
also deferred until utilised.

SANRAL	receives	prepayments	on	concession	contracts.	These	payments	
are	deferred	over	the	life	of	the	concession	contract.	Refer	to	note	35	for	
details of the concession arrangements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Government grants

Toll projects

Non-current

Balance	brought	forward		 	 4	788	969		 -

Capital	portion	of	government	grants	received		 29.3		 -		 5	043	860

Decrease	as	result	of	increase	in	asset	base		 	 -		 (151	097)

Transferred	to	current	portion		 	 (4	788	969)		 (103	794)

Balance	at	end	of	period	-	non-current		 	 -		 4	788	969

Current

Balance	brought	forward		 	 103	794		 -

Increase	as	result	of	increase	in	asset	base		 	 -		 151	097

Amount	transferred	from	non-current		 	 4	788	969		 103	794

Amount	realised	in	profit	or	loss		 23		 (4	892	763)		 (151	097)

Balance	at	end	of	period	-	current		 	 -		 103	794

Total balance for government toll grants   -  4 892 763

Non-toll projects

Non-current

Balance	brought	forward		 	 16	922	288		 12	925	490

Capital	portion	of	government	grants	received		 29.3		 5	850	360		 4	547	433

Decrease	as	result	of	increase	in	asset	base		 	 (75	112)		 (86	764)

Transferred	to	current	portion		 23		 (538	983)		 (463	871)

Balance	at	end	of	period	-	non-current		 	 22	158	553		 16	922	288

Current

Balance	brought	forward		 	 463	871		 377	107

Increase	as	result	of	increase	in	asset	base		 	 75	112		 86	764

Amount	transferred	from	non-current		 	 538	983		 463	871

Amount	realised	in	profit	or	loss		 	 (538	983)		 (463	871)

Balance	at	end	of	period	-	current		 	 538	983		 463	871

Unutilised government grant surplus (current)

Balance	brought	forward		 	 905	787		 826	378

Amounts	deferred	/	(utilised)		 	 (446	844)		 79	409

Balance	at	end	of	the	year		 	 458	943		 905	787

Total balance for government non-toll grants   23 156 479  18 291 946 

  Note 31 March 31 March  
   2013 2012
   R ‘000 R ‘000

This amount represents a contingency fund in terms of the concession 
agreement,	with	its	main	purpose	being	to	defray	expenditure	that	will	need	

to be incurred to maintain certain infrastructure. Income is recognised 
when	the	expenditure	is	incurred.

Bakwena concession

Non-current

Proceeds	from	Bakwena	concession		 21	785		 21	785

Amount	utilised		 -		 -

Total balance for Bakwena concession  21 785  21 785
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Opening	balance		 	 5	428	760		 4	916	255

Increase	as	a	result	of	increase	in	asset	base	(additions)		 5		 734	758		 797	249

Exchange	consideration	realised	to	profit	or	loss		 24		 (336	741)		 (284	744)

  5 826 777  5 428 760

Non-current	liabilities		 	 5	478	096		 5	092	019

Current	liabilities		 	 348	682		 336	741

  5 826 777  5 428 760

20. Trade and other payables

Trade	payables		 	 923	318		 1	778	653

Accrued	interest		 	 1	688	148		 1	028	245

  2 611 466  2 806 898

21. Provision for rehabilitation costs

Reconciliation of provision for rehabilitation costs - 31 March 2013

 Opening Additional Total
 balance provision
  raised
 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000

Provision	for	rehabilitation	costs		 9	803		 3	480		 13	283

Reconciliation of provision for rehabilitation costs - 31 March 2012

 Opening Reversed Total
 balance during the
  year
 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000

Provision	for	rehabilitation	costs		 17	721		 (7	918)		 9	803

  Note 31 March 31 March  
   2013 2012
   R ‘000 R ‘000

19. Deferred exchange consideration

SANRAL	 does	 not	 have	 a	 contractual	 obligation	 towards	 the	
concessionaires.	 SANRAL	 controls	 the	 assets	 which	 are	 subject	 to	
the concession agreement, and the concessionaires have the right 
to use the assets for the concession period. The right granted to the 
concessionaires	 reflects	 income	 (exchange	 consideration)	 received	 in	
advance	of	performance.	This	is	because	SANRAL	is	receiving	an	inflow	
of resources, in the form of assets, without having delivered on its portion 

of	the	exchange	consideration	–	the	provision	of	access	to	such	assets,	
which will occur over the remainder of the period of the concession 
agreement.		 The	 liability	 is	 realised	 to	 profit	 or	 loss	 over	 the	 remaining	
concession contract period.

The	expected	depreciation	 for	 the	 following	financial	year	 is	 recognised	
as a current liability.

Sec	41(1)	of	the	Mineral	and	Petroleum	Resources	Development	Act	of	
2002	requires	an	applicant	for	a	prospecting	right,	mining	right	or	mining	
permit,	to	make	the	prescribed	financial	provision	for	the	rehabilitation	and	
management of negative environmental impacts. 

SANRAL,	as	holders	of	 the	mining	permits,	 is	ultimately	responsible	 for	
the restoration of the borrow pits. A provision was therefore raised during 
2011	year	end	for	SANRAL’s	obligation	to	rectify	environmental	damage	
caused in the construction and maintenance of the national roads through 
the use of borrow pits.

The contractual rehabilitation costs per project was utilised to determine 
the most accurate cost to restore the borrow pits back to the original 
conditions. This was calculated by engineers and project managers 
as a reasonable indication of the market related price of restoration. 
Rehabilitation	 of	 the	 borrow	 pits	 are	 performed	 on	 an	 on-going	 basis	
throughout	the	project,	therefore	the	contractual	cost	was	straight-lined	
over the remaining period of the project.

Rehabilitation	costs	pertaining	to	capital	projects	were	capitalised	at	year	
end	whereas	maintenance	projects	were	expensed	immediately.
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  Restated Restated
 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 1 April 2011
 R ‘000  R ‘000  R ‘000

Balance	brought	forward		 264	863		 316	001		 271	449

Capitalised	interest		 2	986		 2	259		 31	838

Interest	reclassified	as	sundry	interest		 -		 (70	102)		 -

Add:	Contributions	received	during	the	current	year		 420	380		 85	219		 184	185

Less:	Expenditure	incurred	during	the	current	year		 (135	887)		 (68	514)		 (171	471)

 552 342  264 863  316 001

22. Third party funding

Funds	 have	 been	 received	 from	 third	 parties	 (to	 be	 administered	 by	
SANRAL)	mainly	for	the	development	of	specific	roads	that	do	not	form	
part of the national road infrastructure.

This	balance	is	supported	by	cash	held	in	call	accounts	(refer	to	note	12).	
All	interest	received	on	cash	balances	is	capitalised	for	the	benefit	of	the	
third	party	or	SANRAL,	depending	on	the	specific	agreement.	The	funds	
are repayable as per the agreement. The effective interest rate on the cash 
held	is	4.89%	(2012:	5.25%).

The restated balances relate to the write back of third party funds as 
SANRAL	discovered	during	the	current	year	that	third	party	funds	were	
utilised	 in	 the	 past	 and	 incorrectly	 allocated	 to	 other	 expenses	 and	
therefore	the	third	party	funds	were	never	reduced	accordingly.	Refer	to	
note	37,	prior	period	errors,	for	the	detailed	effect	on	prior	year	figures.

23. Revenue

Government	 approved	 an	 extraordinary	 grant	 to	 SANRAL	 to	 reduce	
the	 overall	 debt,	 which	 includes	 funding	 acquired	 for	 phase	 1	 of	 the	
Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	Project	(GFIP).	This	was	done	to	support	
SANRAL’s	viability	after	reducing	the	tariffs	of	the	GFIP	toll	route.

As	 SANRAL	 already	 complied	 with	 the	 conditions	 attached	 to	 the	
grant	received,	by	utilising	the	cash	received	to	finance	their	operations.	
Therefore the grant will be recognised in the year in which it was received
(2012).

Toll	revenue		 	 2	101	443		 1	899	524

Government	grants	-	non-toll		 	 4	863	522		 4	488	625

Government	grants	-	toll		 	 4	892	763		 151	097

  11 857 728  6 539 246

Government grant (non-toll) included in revenue

Government	grants	received		 	 9	728	055		 8	651	596

Less:	Capital	portion	of	grants	received		 29.3		 (5	850	360)		 (4	547	433)

Add	/	(Less):	Surplus	Government	grants	deferred		 	 446	844		 (79	409)

Realised	portion	of	previously	deferred	government	grant		 18		 538	983		 463	871

  4 863 522  4 488 625

Government grant (toll) included in revenue

Government	grants	received		 	 -		 5	043	860

Less:	Capital	portion	of	grants	received		 29.3		 -		 (5	043	860)

Realised	portion	of	deferred	government	grant		 18		 4	892	763		 151	097

  4 892 763  151 097

  Note 31 March 31 March  
   2013 2012
   R ‘000 R ‘000

24. Other income

Other	concession	income		 	 11	410		 8	042

Realised	portion	of	concession	contract	revenue	(N3	extension)		 18		 47	719	 	47	719

Realised	portion	of	concession	contract	revenue	(TRAC-N4)		 18		 10	576		 10	576

Rental	income	-	investment	property		 	 27	942		 21	518

Sundry	revenue		 	 405	792		 128	786

Profit	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 -		 3	222

Realised	portion	of	previously	deferred	exchange	consideration	from	toll

concessionaires		 	 336	741		 284	745

  840 180  504 608

The sundry revenue is described in detail in the directors report.
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  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

25. Operating expenses

Operating	profit	for	the	year	is	stated	after	accounting	for	the	following	expenses:

Fees for services

Technical	and	computer	services		 	 	 	 247	475		 235	904

Administration		 	 	 	 444	605		 449	799

     692 080  685 703

Operating lease charges

Premises

•	 Straight-lined	amounts		 	 	 	 8	939		 9	581

Other expenses

Loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 	 123	600	 -

Reversal	of	impairment	loss		 	 	 	 (21	189)		 -

Amortisation	on	intangible	assets		 	 	 	 2	649		 2	702

Depreciation	on	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 	 1	609	877		 1	230	296

Depreciation	on	assets	under	concession		 	 	 	 298	769		 272	203

Employee	costs		 	 	 	 135	872		 117	209

Directors’	and	management	remuneration		 	 	 	 19	369		 12	070

Auditors	remuneration		 	 	 	 14	371		 13	978

Repairs	and	maintenance		 	 	 	 5	370	869		 4	489	401

Provision	for	rehabilitation	costs	increased	/	(reversed)		 	 	 3	480		 (955)

Expenditure	on	investment	property	(income	generating)		 	 	 874		 622

Expenditure	on	investment	property	(non-income	generating)		 	 	 7	713		 6	704

Provision	for	doubtful	debts	(rental	receivables)		 	 	 	 636		 267

Bank	charges		 	 	 	 1	822		 3	618

     7 568 712  6 148 115

Total operating expenses     8 269 732  6 843 399

*	Sundry	expenses	relate	to	office,	insurance,	legal,	stationary	and	other	ad	hoc	expenses.

26. Investment income

Gains on financial instruments
Net	change	in	fair	value	on	financial	assets	

at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 104	892		 35	815

Interest income
Interest	on	bank	deposits		 	 	 	 253	672		 293	655

Interest	income	on	repurchase	agreements		 	 	 	 146	180		 91	056

Interest	income	on	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss		 	 	 -		 23	215

     504 744  443 741

27.  Finance costs

Other	interest		 	 	 	 56	772		 60	136

Funding	derecognition	costs		 	 	 	 98	303		 806

Interest	on	financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost		 	 	 3	433	117		 3	380	879

Interest	on	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	and	loss		 	 	 254	495	 	-

Interest	on	repurchase	agreements		 	 	 	 32	342		 63	016

Borrowing	costs	capitalised	for	the	year		 (133	582)		 (84	401)

     3 741 447  3 420 436

The	weighted	average	cost	of	capital	of	9.60%	(31	March	2012:	9.60%)	was	used	as	the	capitalisation	rate	to	determine	the	amount	of	borrowing	costs	
eligible	for	capitalisation	in	the	2013	financial	year.	The	total	borrowing	costs	capitalised	to	qualifying	assets	amounted	to	R246.53	million	(31	March	2012:	
R179.52	million).

28. Taxation

SANRAL	was	exempted	from	Income	tax	 in	the	Government	Gazette	of	
22	December	2003	 in	 terms	of	S10(1)(t)(iii)	 of	 Income	Tax	Act,	1962.	 

This	exemption	was	backdated	to	the	inception	of	the	entity,	therefore	no	
provision	has	been	made	for	income	tax	or	deferred	taxation.
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  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

29. Cash generated from operations

Loss	before	taxation		 	 	 	 1	388	843		 (2	470	411)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation	and	amortisation		 	 	 	 1	911	297		 1	505	202

Loss	/	(profit)	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 123	600		 (3	222)

Investment	revenue		 	 	 	 (504	744)		 (443	741)

Finance	costs		 	 	 	 3	741	447		 3	420	436

Fair	value	adjustments	on	investment	property		 	 	 	 (197	370)		 (305	829)

Reversal	of	impairment	loss		 	 	 	 (21	189)		 -

Movements	in	operating	lease	assets	and	accruals		 	 	 	 (394)		 215

Movements	in	retirement	benefit	assets	and	liabilities			 	 	 1	589		 779

Movements	in	provisions	-	doubtful	debts		 	 	 	 (4	663)		 (267)

Movement	in	provisions	-	rehabilitation	cost	expenses			 	 	 3	480		 -

Deferred	income		 	 	 	 (5	936	884)		 (593	853)

Deferred	exchange	consideration		 	 	 	 (336	741)		 (284	744)

Changes in working capital:

Trade	and	other	receivables		 	 	 	 (326	891)		 97	732

Trade	and	other	payables		 	 	 	 (566	979)		 1	031	615

     (725 599)  1 953 912

29.1 Cash paid to suppliers and employees

Expenses	per	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 	 8	269	732		 6	843	399

Movement	in	trade	payables		 	 	 	 850	979		 (1	083	535)

Reversal	of	impairment	loss		 	 	 	 21	189		 -

Movement	in	third-party	fund	balances		 	 	 	 (287	480)		 51	139

Depreciation		 	 	 	 (1	609	877)		 (1	230	296)

Loss	on	sale	or	scrapping	of	asset		 (123	600)	 - 

Depreciation	on	assets	under	concession		 (298	769)		 (272	203)

Amortisation		 	 	 	 (2	650)	 (2	702)

Non-cash	and	separately	disclosable	items		 	 	 	 40	257		 (995)

     6 859 781  4 304 807

29.2 Cash receipts from customers

Income	per	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 	 12	697	908		 7	043	854

Movements	in	trade	receivables		 	 	 	 (326	891)		 97	732

Non-cash	and	separately	disclosable	items		 	 	 	 (6	236	835)		 (879	645)

Profit	on	sale	of	assets		 	 	 	 -		 (3	222)

     6 134 182  6 258 719

29.3 Capital portion of government grant and deferred income

N3	Concession	contract	realised	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 47	719		 47	719

TRAC	Concession	realised	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 10	576		 10	576

Government	grant	(non-toll)	charged	to	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 446	844		 (79	409)

Government	grant	(non-toll)	realised	in	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 538	983		 463	871

Government	grant	(toll)	realised	in	statement	of	comprehensive	income		 	 	 4	892	763		 151	097

Total	income	realised		 	 	 	 5	936	885		 593	854

Add:

Movement	in	deferred	income		 	 	 	 (86	525)		 8	997	439

     5 850 360  9 591 293

Summary	of	capital	portion	of	government	grant	received

Capital	portion	of	government	grant	-	non-toll	(note	18)		 	 	 5	850	360		 4	547	433

Capital	portion	of	government	grant	-	toll	(note	18)		 	 	 	 -		 5	043	860

     5 850 360  9 591 293
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  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

30. Commitments

Estimated capital expenditure

Contracts	for	capital	expenditure	authorised	-	Toll	 1	678	782		 2	720	092

Contracts	for	capital	expenditure	authorised	-	Non-toll	 8	777	193		 10	912	855

 10 455 975  13 632 947

The	expenditure	will	be	financed	from	Government	grants,	toll	income	and	financial	instruments	issued	to	the	private	sector	and	is	expected	to	be	incurred	as	
follows:
 

Within	one	year	-	Toll	 1	106	534		 1	515	915

Within	one	year	-	Non-toll	 4	976	894		 6	097	344

Thereafter	-	Toll		 572	249		 1	204	177

Thereafter	-	Non-toll		 3	800	298		 4	815	511

 10 455 975  13 632 947

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

-	within	one	year		 4	046		 8	968

-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive		 459		 4	409

-	later	than	five	years		 -		 -

 4 505  13 377

SANRAL	leases	some	of	its	offices	under	operating	leases.	The	operating	lease	rental	includes	a	charge	for	rental,	parking,	fixed	service	charges	and	

storage space. 

31. Contingencies

Claims against SANRAL due to South African National Road Agency 
Limited and National Road Act 

In	terms	of	section	61	of	the	South	African	National	Roads	Agency	Limited	
and	National	 Roads	 Act,	 1998	 (Act	 No.	 7	 of	 1998),	 legal	 proceeding	
instituted	against	the	then	South	African	Roads	Board	with	the	cause	of	
action	 arising	before	 incorporation	date	 of	SANRAL	must	 be	 instituted	
against	 the	 Minister	 of	 Transport	 as	 respondent.	 Due	 to	 the	 nature	 of	
these claims and the fact that judgements in these cases could be to the 
detriment	of	SANRAL,	it	was	agreed	(at	the	time	of	establishing	SANRAL)	
that,	 although	 the	 actions	 be	 instituted	 against	 the	 Minister,	 SANRAL	
will bear the costs and be actively involved in defending such action. 

Contingent	liabilities	estimated	at	R152	million	(2012:	R80.2	million)	exist	
regarding	possible	claims	against	SANRAL,	mainly	 resulting	 from	 road-
related	accidents.	The	outflow	of	cash	flows	is	remote	as	during	the	past	
7	years	SANRAL	has	won	the	majority	of	the	court	cases.	The	cases	that	
were	not	won	by	SANRAL	were	covered	by	the	insurance.

Claims against SANRAL due to the Municipality Property Rates Act 
Individual municipalities have discretionary powers to levy rates on 
Public	Service	 Infrastructure	 (PSI),	 including	national	 roads,	 in	 terms	of	
the	Municipal	Property	Rates	Act,	No.	6	of	2004.	Not	all	municipalities	
have	 chosen	 to	 exercise	 this	 statutory	 power	 and	 some	 have	 not	 yet	
implemented the Act. The property rates used, as well as the valuation 

amount	 of	 SANRAL’s	 infrastructure,	 has	 not	 been	 determined	 by	 the	 
municipalities. In order to arrive at an estimate of the potential rates liability, 
nationally, actual rates levied by some municipalities were applied to the 
entire	declared	national	 road	network,	arriving	at	an	estimated	figure	of	
R58.5	million	(2012:	R57.3	million).

Other claims

SANRAL	 is	 also	 exposed	 to	 possible	 pavement	 damage	 claims	 from	
concessionaires,	e.g.	overloading	damage.	No	estimate	is	available.

Non-adjustments of toll tariffs by Mozambique government

SANRAL	is	mutually	and	severally	 liable	to	TRAC	with	the	Mozambique	
government	due	to	the	non-adjustment	of	 toll	 tariffs	between	2006	and	
2013.	The	estimated	exposure,	including	interest,	is	R113.4	million	for	the	
year	ended	31	March	2013	(2012:	R100.5	million).	On	1	March	2012	
tariff	 increases	 of	 between	 10.5%	 and	 20.69%	 were	 effected	 at	 two	
plazas	that	will	slow	down	on	the	revenue	loss	per	month,	but	interest	is	
still accumulated on the outstanding debt. A repayment scheme to settle 
outstanding	debt	over	a	period	of	5	years	was	 implemented.	This	 is	an	
ongoing	dispute	between	SANRAL	and	the	Mozambique	government,	it	is	
highly likely that it is going to end up in court.

In	the	prior	period,	SANRAL	disclosed	all	the	capital	expenditure	including	
expenditure	 budgeted	 for	 but	 not	 yet	 authorised	 and	 contracted.	 The	
budgeted	expenses	do	not	 represent	 actual	 contracted	and	committed	
capital	expenditure.	Therefore,	the	estimated	capital	expenditure	disclosed	

for	 the	comparative	figure	 is	only	expenditure	 that	has	been	authorised	
and formal agreements have been signed with contractors.
 
In	addition	SANRAL	leases	office	space	at	various	shopping	malls	around	
Gauteng	to	facilitate	registration	and	selling	of	e-tags	for	the	open	road	
tolling project.

Notes to the Financial Statements



157

04SECTION 4  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

  31 March 31 March  
  2013 2012
  R ‘000 R ‘000

State controlled entities

Government grants received funding infrastructure

National	Department	of	Transport		 	 9	728	055		 13	695	456

Other services provided to related parties

Non-adjustments of Swartruggens toll-plaza tariffs
National	Department	of	Transport		 	 3	176		 -

Provision for doubtful debt

National	Department	of	Transport		 	 -		 (3	536)

Services provided by related parties

Workmen’s	compensation		 	 (1	217)		 (1	185)

Road	Traffic	Management	Corporation	(training	of	officers	for	e-tolling)		 -		 (22	243)

Airports	Company	South	Africa	(Parking	fees)		 (9)		 -

  (1 226)  (23 428)

Period end balances arising from services provided to related parties

National	Department	of	Transport		 	 3	176		 3	536

Road	Accident	Fund		 	 24	429		 23	321

  27 605  26 857

Summary of related parties balances at period end

Total	receivables	arising	from	services	provided	to	related	parties		 27	605		 26	857

Total	payables	arising	from	services	provided	by	related	parties		 -		 -

  27 605  26 857

32. Related parties

Relationships

Shareholders		 	
The	principal	shareholder	of	SANRAL	is	the	Minister	of	Transport	being	
part	of	National	Government

Members of key management 
Key	management	 personnel	 are	defined	 as	 executive	 and	nonexecutive	
management	of	SANRAL.	Key	management	personnel	compensation	 is	
detailed	in	note	33.

Related	 party	 relationships	 exist	 between	 SANRAL,	 it’s	 directors, 
key management personnel and parties within the national sphere of 
government.

Transactions with other parties within the sphere of national government 
include, but are not limited, to the following: sale and purchases of goods, 
property and other assets.

These	 transactions	 are	 conducted	 in	 the	 ordinary	 course	 of	 SANRAL	
business	on	terms	agreed	with	other	state-controlled	entities.

Having considered the potential for transactions to be impacted by 
related	 party	 relationships,	 the	 entity’s	 pricing	 strategy,	 buying	 and	
approval processes, and what information would be necessary for an 
understanding	of	 the	potential	effect	of	 the	 relationship	on	 the	financial	
statements, the directors are of the opinion that the following transactions 
require	disclosure	as	related	party	transactions.

Directors and related party transactions

At	31	March	2012,	a	contract	 to	 the	value	of	R552	540	was	awarded	
to	Datacentrix,	of	which	Ms	D	Nyamane	 is	a	member	of	 the	board.	The	
above transaction was made on commercial terms and conditions and at 
market rates.

All	 directors	 and	officers	 of	SANRAL	have	 confirmed	 that	 they	 had	 no	
interest	 in	any	contract	of	significance	with	SANRAL	which	could	have	
resulted	in	a	conflict	of	interest	during	the	current	year.
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33. Directors’ and prescribed officer’s emoluments

Executive directors 
 Salary Performance Other Pension Total    
  payments & contributions contribution 
  long service *
  awards**
Period ending 31 March 2013 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

N	Alli	(Chief	Executive	Officer)		 1	895		 679		 106		 381		 3	061

Period ending 31 March 2012
N	Alli	(Chief	Executive	Officer)		 1	563		 -		 42		 314		 1	919

*	Other	contributions	comprise	travel	allowance	and	medical	benefits
**	Public	officials	are	not	remunerated.

Non-executive directors

Period ending 31 March 2013 Directors’ Total
 fees
 R ‘000 R ‘000

D	Nyamane	(independent	member)		 622		 622

A	Julies	(public	official)		 -		 -

L	Madlala	(public	official)		 -		 -

T	Mnyaka	(independent	member)		 1	225		 1	225

P	Derman	(independent	member)		 696		 696

S	Madonsela	(independent	member)		 798		 798

R	Morar	(independent	member)		 482		 482

 3 823  3 823

Period ending 31 March 2012

L	Ndlovu	(independent	member)	-	8	months		 104		 104

Prof	F	Otieno	(independent	member)	-	8	months		 102		 102

S	Macozoma	(public	official)		 -		 -

D	Nyamane	(independent	member)		 309		 309

M	Noge	(independent	member)	-	8	months		 175		 175

A	Julies	(public	official)		 -		 -

L	Madlala	(public	official)		 -		 -

T	Mnyaka	(independent	member)	-	4	months		 467		 467

P	Derman	(independent	member)	-	4	months		 239		 239

S	Madonsela	(independent	member)	-	4	months		 239		 239

R	Morar	(independent	member)	-	4	months		 175		 175

 1 810  1 810
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33. Directors’ and prescribed officer’s emoluments (continued)

Executive members 
 Salary Performance Other Pension Total    
  payments & contributions contribution 
  long service *
  awards**

Period ending 31 March 2013 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

H	Harper	(Corporate	Service	Executive)		 788		 238		 67		 162		 1	255

I	Mulder	(Chief	Financial	Officer)		 1	188		 344		 81		 215		 1	828

JJ	Smit	(Engineering	Executive)		 1	396		 404		 102		 285		 2	187

JC	van	der	Walt	(Regional	Manager	-	Western)	 1	113		 317		 70		 225		 1	725

IN	Essa	(Regional	Manager	-	Northern)		 931		 288		 166		 209		 1	594

MS	Peterson	(Regional	Manager	-	Southern)	 927		 248		 43		 184		 1	402

L	Sewnarain	(Regional	Manager	-	Eastern)	 790		 206		 95		 150		 1	241

AA	Mathew	(Company	Secretary)		 815		 251		 27		 160		 1	253

 7 948  2 296  651  1 590  12 485

Period ending 31 March 2012

H	Harper	(Corporate	Service	Executive)		 670		 -	 	87		 148		 905

I	Mulder	(Chief	Financial	Officer)		 1	011		 -		 43		 184		 1	238

JJ	Smit	(Engineering	Executive)		 1	194		 -		 52		 244		 1	490

JC	van	der	Walt	(Regional	Manager	-	Western)	 971		 -		 43		 198		 1	212

IN	Essa	(Regional	Manager	-	Northern)		 767		 10		 174		 184		 1	135

MS	Peterson	(Regional	Manager	-	Southern)	 764		 -		 13		 152		 929

L	Sewnarain	(Regional	Manager	-	Eastern)		 440		 -		 46		 85		 571

appointed	15	August	2011	

AA	Mathew	(Company	Secretary)		 719		 -		 1		 141		 861

 6 536  10  459  1 336  8 341

*	Other	contributions	comprise	travel	allowance	and	medical	benefits

**	Public	officials	are	not	remunerated
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Terms of market-making assets

Terms	and	conditions	of	market-making	assets	(held-for-trading)	refer	to	note	9.

                                31 March 2013    31 March 2012
Non- SANRAL Bonds Coupon Year of Nominal Carrying Nominal  Carrying
 rate maturity value value value  value
   R’000 R’000 R’000  R’000

R201	(2014)		 8.75	%		 21-Dec-14		 -		 -		 100	000		 106	731

R157	(2015)		 13.50	%		 15-Sep-15	 	-		 -		 514	000		 620	267

R186	(2026)		 10.50	%		 21-Dec-26		 162	500		 205	925		 571	500		 673	512

R206	(2014)		 7.50	%		 15-Jan-14		 -		 -		 63	000		 64	822

R207	(2020)		 7.50	%		 15-Jan-20		 113	000		 118	380		 565	000		 547	201

R209	(2036)		 6.25	%		 31-Mar-36		 -		 -		 138	000		 102	802

Total Investments    275 500  324 305  1 951 500  2 115 335

Funding portfolio at amortised cost 

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms	and	conditions	of	outstanding	loans	are	reflected	in	the	table	below.	
For	further	terms	and	conditions,	refer	to	note	15.

                                31 March 2013    31 March 2012
Funding portfolio Nominal Year of Nominal Carrying Nominal  Carrying
at  amortised cost interest rate maturity value value value  value
   R’000 R’000 R’000  R’000
Guaranteed bonds
SZ	18		 12.50	%		 	 30-Sep-15		 1	285	238		 1	316	586		 1	285	238		 1	327	659

SZ	25		 9.00	%		 	 30-Sep-25		 2	432	784		 2	470	069		 2	432	784		 2	471	848

HWAY20		 9.75	%		 	 31-Jul-20		 5	292	000		 5	370	626		 5	292	000		 5	377	543

HWAY23		 5.50%	+	CPI		 07-Dec-23		 1	176	000		 2	776	431		 1	176	000		 2	663	018

HWAY24		 5.50%	+	CPI		 07-Dec-24		 211	000		 502	027		 211	000		 481	032

HWAY34		 9.25	%		 	 31-Jul-34		 2	009	500		 1	984	786	 2	009	500		 1	984	276

HWAY35		 9.25	%		 	 31-Jul-35		 647	000		 660	778		 647	000		 660	912

Unguaranteed bonds
NRA01U		 6.25%	+	CPI		 31-Mar-13		 -		 -		 304	205		 620	213

NRA13		 4.25%	+	CPI		 31-Oct-13		 1	473	131		 1	917	103		 1	473	131		 1	801	074

NRA14		 11.25	%		 	 30-Apr-14		 423	723		 436	025		 423	723		 446	354

NRA18		 12.25	%		 	 30-Nov-18		 2	466	000		 2	597	379		 2	466	000		 2	613	307

NRA22		 12.25	%		 	 31-Oct-22		 2	623	000		 2	842	024		 2	623	000		 2	854	370

NRA23		 5.00%	+	CPI		 31-May-23	 	910	000		 1	298	698		 910	000		 1	239	976

NRA28		 12.25	%		 	 30-Nov-28		 3	476	769		 3	881	759		 3	476	769		 3	891	258

   24 426 145  28 054 291  24 730 350  28 432 840 

34. Risk management

Capital risk management

SANRAL’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	SANRAL’s	
ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The	 capital	 structure	 of	 SANRAL	 consists	 of	 debt,	 which	 includes	 the	
borrowings	disclosed	in	notes	15,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	disclosed	
in	note	12,	and	equity	as	disclosed	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.

Shares	are	held	by	 the	Minister	of	Transport,	and	new	share	 issues	are	
authorised by the Minister of Transport.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 the	 company	 will	 not	 be	 able	 to	 meet	 its	
financial	obligations	as	they	fall	due.

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity	 risk	 arises	 primarily	 from	 an	 uncertainty	 in	 cash	 flows,	 as	well	
as	the	company’s	commitment	to	act	as	market-maker	in	its	own	capital	
market stock.

The	company	manages	liquidity	risk	through	the	compilation	and	monitoring	
of	cash	flow	forecasts,	as	well	as	ensuring	that	a	satisfactory	level	of	cash	
and	cash	equivalents	are	maintained.	In	addition,	the	company	maintains	
adequate	borrowing	facilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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                                31 March 2013    31 March 2012
Funding portfolio Nominal Year of Nominal Carrying Nominal  Carrying
at fair value interest rate maturity value value value  value
   R’000 R’000 R’000  R’000

Guaranteed bonds
SZ	18		 12.50	%		 30-Sep-15		 286	319		 328	568		 286	319		 332	124

SZ	25		 9.00	%		 30-Sep-25		 1	471	588	 1	595	013		 1	368	996		 1	376	952

HWAY	20	 	9.75	%		 31-Jul-20	 	1	592	870		 1	842	240		 1	033	070		 1	116	237

HWAY	34		 9.25	%		 31-Jul-34		 32	153		 33	628		 315	153		 310	565

Unguaranteed bonds
NRA	14		 11.25	%		 30-Apr-14		 592	644		 624	980		 499	644		 537	192

NRA	18		 12.25	%		 30-Nov-18		 69	100		 84	948		 69	100		 81	398

NRA	22		 12.25	%		 31-Oct-22		 255	200		 335	408		 255	200		 312	221

NRA	28		 12.25	%		 30-Nov-28		 455	023		 603	609		 103	923		 128	112  

   4 754 897  5 448 394  3 931 405  4 194 801

Market-making portfolio at fair value

Guaranteed bonds
SZ	18		 12.25	%		 30-Sep-15		 2	722		 3	124		 2	722		 3	157

SZ	25		 9.00	%		 30-Sep-25		 200	000		 216	774		 302	592		 304	350

HWAY	20	 	9.75	%		 31-Jul-20	 	60	000		 69	393		 629	096		 679	741

HWAY	34		 9.25	%		 31-Jul-34		 -		 -		 117	000		 115	297

Unguaranteed bonds
NRA	14		 11.25	%		 30-Apr-14		 22	000		 23	200		 215	000		 231	157

NRA	22		 12.25	%		 31-Oct-22		 10	500		 13	800		 10	500		 12	846

NRA	28		 12.25	%		 30-Nov-28		 69	000		 91	532		 420	100		 517	880

   364 222  417 823  1 697 010  1 864 428

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

Guaranteed financial liabilities
CPI-linked	loan	**		 3.91	%		 31-Oct-18		 777	135		 777	135		 867	342		 867	342

EIB	loan	-	Tranche	1		 8.32	%		 15-Jun-34		 572	784		 572	784		 572	784		 572	784

EIB	loan	-	Tranche	2		 9.23	%		 15-Mar-34		 573	918		 573	918		 573	918		 573	918

ECA-supported	loan	*		 1.75%+JIBAR		 15-Mar-22		 129	874		 129	874		 182	184		 182	184

Unguaranteed financial liability
Repurchase	agreements		 5.01	%		 07-Oct-12		 223	324		 223	324		 809	179		 809	179

	 	 	 2	277	035		 2	277	035		 3	005	407		 3	005	407

Total debt    31 822 299  36 197 543  33 364 172  37 497 476

*	 The	ECA-supported	loan	is	a	domestic	loan,	guaranteed	by	the	Republic	of	Austria	through	Oesterreichische	Kontrollbank	Aktiengesellschaft,	an	export		 	
 credit agency.

**	 There	is	no	nominal	rate	available	for	the	CPI-linked	loan,	therefore	the	real	rate	is	shown	above.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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34. Risk management (continued)

Maturity profile

The	following	are	the	contractual	maturities	of	financial	liabilities:

The	table	below	contains	only	cash	flows	relating	to	financial	instruments.	It	does	not	include	future	cash	flows	expected	from	the	normal	course	of	business.

Financial liabilities Carrying Cashflows Due in Due in Due after  Total 
31 March 2013 amount in 1 year  1-5 years 5-10 years 10 years 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Capital	market	loan	-	Funding		 28	054	292		 1	995	388		 1	708	961		 10	381	000		 15	741	263		 29	826	612

Capital	Market	loan	-	held-for-trading

(funding	portfolio)		 5	448	394		 -		 878	963		 1	917	170		 1	958	764		 4	754	897

Capital	Market	loan	-	held-for-trading

(market-making	portfolio)		 417	823		 -		 24	722		 70	500		 269	000		 364	222

CPI-linked	floating	secured	loan		 777	135		 84	301		 758	317		 81	626		 -		 924	244

EIB	loan		 1	146	702		 -		 95	230		 185	872		 865	600		 1	146	702

ECA	loan		 129	874		 -		 129	874		 -		 -		 129	874

Repurchase	agreements		 223	324		 223	324		 -		 -		 -		 223	324

Trade	and	other	payables		 2	611	466		 2	611	466		 -		 -		 -		 2	611	465

 38 809 010  4 914 479  3 596 067  12 636 168  18 834 627  39 981 341

  12 %  9%  32%  47 %  100 %

Financial liabilities

31 March 2012

Capital	market	loan	-	Funding		 28	432	840		 646	471		 3	724	719		 7	758	000		 18	553	700		 30	682	890

Capital	Market	loan	-	held-for-trading

(funding	portfolios)		 4	194	801		 -		 785	963		 1	102	170		 2	043	272		 3	931	405

Capital	Market	loan	-	held-for-trading

(market-making	portfolio)		 1	864	428		 -		 217	722		 629	096		 850	192		 1	697	010

CPI-linked	floating	secured	loan		 867	342		 135	853		 644	249		 279	964		 -		 1	060	066

EIB	loan		 1	146	702		 -		 66	701		 170	589		 909	412		 1	146	702

ECA	loan		 182	184	 	18	218	 	72	874	 	91	092		 -		 182	184

Repurchase	agreements		 809	179		 809	179		 -		 -		 -		 809	179

Trade	and	other	payables		 2	806	017		 2	806	017		 -		 -		 -		 2	806	017

 40 303 493  4 415 738  5 512 228  10 030 911  22 356 576  42 315 453

  10%  13%  24%  53%  100%

Market-making portfolio

SANRAL	classifies	certain	of	its	bonds	as	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss	(held-for-trading).	Included	in	the	portfolio	are	market-
making assets, consisting of government bonds with maturities similar 
to	 the	 SANRAL	 bonds	 held-for-trading.	 Liquidity	 in	 the	 market-making	
portfolio	 is	 managed	 by	 financial	 instruments	 having	 similar	 maturities	
and	the	value	of	the	financial	liabilities	and	financial	assets	being	closely	
matched.

Debt management portfolio

The	debt	management	 portfolio	 leverages	 the	differences	 in	 short-	 and	
long-term	interest	rates	through	repurchase	agreements.	The	repurchase	
investment and liability is included with other repurchase agreements as 
set	out	in	the	notes	to	Investments	and	Other	Financial	Liabilities.

Market risk

Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	
instrument	 will	 fluctuate	 because	 of	 changes	 in	 market	 prices.	 The	
company	is	exposed	to	the	following	market	risks:	price	risk	and	interest	
rate risk. 

Financial instruments affected by market risk include capital market loans 
held	at	fair	value,	CPI-linked	loans,	ECA	loans,	call	bonds	and	trade	and	other 
payables.

The	 company	 is	 exposed	 to	 price	 risk	 on	 its	 marketable	 assets	 and	
liabilities	held-for-trading.	The	company	manages	this	price	risk	exposure	
through its treasury function which is responsible for the monitoring and 
management of the price risks in terms of guidelines set out in the Treasury 
Policy	 and	 Control	 Framework	 approved	 by	 the	 Board.	 The	 treasury	
function	is	also	responsible	for	identifying	opportunities	for	the	natural	set-
off	of	market	risks	and	the	management	of	the	resultant	net	exposures	in	
the	most	cost	effective	manner	through	the	operation	of	a	market-making	
portfolio.	Price	risk	is	accepted	by	the	Board	on	the	company’s	liabilities	
in	 its	 funding	portfolio	held-for-trading	as	 these	 liabilities	 fund	 long-term	
capital	expenditure.	Price	risk	before	maturity	is	therefore	unrealised.	

Funding	 liabilities	 transferred	 from	 the	 market-making	 to	 the	 funding	
portfolios	 are	 classified	 as	 held-for-trading	 financial	 liabilities	 and	 are	
therefore	carried	at	fair	value.	The	fair	value	movements	on	these	financial	
liabilities will not be realised as these bonds form part of the funding 
portfolio and will therefore usually be held to maturity date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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34. Risk management (continued)

The interest rate re-pricing profile at 31 March 2013 is summarised as follows:

At	reporting	date	the	interest	rate	profile	of	the	company’s	interest-bearing	instruments	was	as	follows:
 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
Fixed rate instruments R’000 R’000

Financial assets
Bond	investments		 324	305		 2	115	335

Insurance	receivable		 249	303		 226	808

Financial liabilities
Capital	market	loans	(held-for-trading)		 5	866	218		 6	059	229

Capital	market	loans	(amortised	cost)		 19	153	618		 21	627	526

EIB	loan		 1	146	702		 1	146	702

 26 740 146  31 175 600

Variable rate instruments

Financial liabilities
CPI-linked	loan		 777	135		 867	342

Capital	market	loans	(amortised	cost)		 6	983	571		 6	805	314

ECA	loan		 129	874		 182	184

Repurchase	agreements		 223	324		 809	179

 8 113 904  8 664 019

Price risk sensitivity of variable rate instruments

An	increase	of	100	basis	points	(2012:	100	basis	points)	 in	 interest	rates	at	the	reporting	date	would	decrease	profit	by	the	amounts	shown	below.	A	
decrease	 in	 100	basis	 points	would	 increase	profit	 by	 the	 same	 amount.	 The	 analysis	 assumes	 that	 all	 other	 variables	 remain	 constant.	 Variable	 rate	
instruments	are	capital	market	bonds	held	in	the	funding	portfolio	and	market-making	portfolio	held-for-trading.	

100	basis	points	increase	(effect	in	profit	or	loss)		 369	198		 285	559

Credit risk

Credit	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	of	 financial	 loss	 to	 the	company	 if	 a	 customer	or	
counterparty	to	financial	instrument	fails	to	meet	its	contractual	obligations	
leading	to	financial	loss.

Credit	risk	consists	mainly	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	bond	investments	
and loans and receivables. 

Credit	 exposure	 to	 any	 counterparty	 is	managed	by	 setting	 transaction	
exposure	 limits,	 as	 authorised	 by	 the	 Asset	 and	 Liability	 Committee	 of	
SANRAL.	The	credit	 qualities	of	 counterparties	 are	 also	 reviewed	on	a	
continuous basis.

Ongoing	 credit	 evaluations	 are	 performed	 on	 the	 financial	 condition	 of	
receivable counterparties. Trade receivables are presented net of the  

allowance	 for	 impairment.	 SANRAL	 is	 exposed	 to	 credit-related	 losses	
in	 the	 event	 of	 non-performance	 by	 counterparties	 of	 capital	 market	
investments as well as a price risk in the event of the downgrading of their 
credit	rating.	Capital	market	investments	are	held	with	counterparties	who	
have	a	short-term	credit	rating	of	A1	and	above	and/or	a	long-term	credit	
rating	of	A	and	above.	SANRAL	continually	monitors	its	positions	and	the	
credit	ratings	of	its	counterparties,	and	limits	the	extent	to	which	it	enters	
into contracts with any one party.

Exposure to credit risk

The	carrying	 amount	 of	 financial	 assets	 represents	 the	maximum	credit	
exposure.	For	the	fair	values	of	the	financial	 instruments	refer	to	the	fair	
values	analysis	 in	note	34.	The	maximum	exposure	 to	credit	 risk	 at	 the	
reporting date was:

  31 March  31 March
  2013 2012
 Note(s) R’000 R’000

Market-making	investments	-	bonds		 9		 324	305	 2	115	335

Other:
Insurance	receivable		 9	 249	303		 226	808

Trade	and	other	receivable		 10		 564	858	 246	501

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 12	 4	419	333	 9	231	932

  5 557 799 11 820 576

Notes to the Financial Statements
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34. Risk management (continued)

Concentrations of credit risk

                              31 March 2013                                 31 March 2012 
  Value Percentage Value Percentage
 Note(s) R ‘000 % R ‘000 %

Market-making	investments	-	bonds		 9	 324	305	 6	%	 2	115	335	 18	%

Insurance	receivable		 9	 249	303	 4	%	 226	808	 2	%

Trade	and	other	receivables		 10	 564	858	 10	%	 246	501	 2	%

Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 12	 4	419	333	 80	%	 9	231	932	 78	%

  5 557 799 100 %  11 820 576 100 %

At	31	March	2013,	SANRAL	did	not	consider	there	to	be	any	significant	concentration	of	credit	risk	that	had	not	been	insured	or	adequately	provided	for.

Collateral	is	held	against	repurchase	investments	in	the	form	of	government	or	corporate	bonds	approved	by	the	Assets	and	Liabilities	Committee.	Repurchase	

and	bond	investments	are	held	with	counterparties	with	a	minimum	of	an	A-rating.

Property portfolio

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	relating	to	the	rental	receivables	at	the	reporting	date	by	geographic	region	was:
 31 March 31 March
 2013 2012
 R ‘000 R ‘000

Northern	Region		 294	 465 

Eastern	Region	 -	 610

Western	Region		 213		 399

Southern	Region		 268		 - 

 775  1 474

Past due analysis

The	ageing	of	property	portfolio	(rental	receivables)	at	the	reporting	date	was:

                             31 March 2013                                 31 March 2012 
  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
  R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Due	1	to	30	days		 	 262		 -		 (241)		 -

Past	due	31-60	days		 	 93		 -		 356		 -

Past	due	61-90	days		 	 -		 -		 496		 -

Past	due	91-120	days		 	 9		 -		 39		 -

More	than	120	days		 	 411		 (636)		 824		 (694)

  775  (636)  1 474  (694)

Note:	Negative	values	are	due	to	the	early	payment	of	rentals.
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34. Risk management (continued)

                                                                                                                                             31 March 2013                                           31 March 2012
 Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Toll	segment	receivables		 133	175		 -		 106	253		 -

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of rental receivables during the year was as follows:
   31 March 31 March   
   2013 2012
   R ‘000 R ‘000

Balance	at	1	April		 	 	 694	 930 

Impairment	loss	recognised		 	 	 169	 51 

Bad	debt	written	off	 	 	 (227)	 (287)		

   636 694

Security relating to amounts receivable

Securities	held	against	rental	receivables	comprises	deposits.	The	estimate	of	the	fair	value	of	the	securities	held	are	R744	652	(2012:	R670	568).

Fair value analysis

Set	out	below	is	a	comparison	by	class	of	the	carrying	amounts	and	fair	value	of	the	company’s	financial	instruments	that	are	carried	in	the	financial	statements.

                            Carrying amount                               Fair value amount
  31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
  2013 2012 2013 2012
Financial assets Note(s) R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000  

Investments	-	market-making		 9		 324	305		 2	115	335		 324	305		 2	115	335

Trade	and	other	receivables		 10		 564	858		 246	501		 564	858		 246	501

Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 12		 4	419	333		 9	231	932		 4	419	333		 9	231	932

  5 308 496  11 593 768  5 308 496  11 593 768

Financial liabilities

Capital	market	loan	-	funding	 15		 26	137	189		 28	432	840		 28	573	601		 30	456	334

Capital	market	loan	-	held-for-trading		 15		 5	866	218		 6	059	229		 5	866	218		 6	059	229

CPI-linked	loan		 15	 777	135	 867	342	 777	135		 867	342

EIB	loan		 15		 1	146	702		 1	146	702		 1	146	702		 1	146	702

ECA	loan		 15		 129	874		 182	184		 129	874		 182	184

Repurchase	agreement		 15		 223	324		 809	179		 223	324		 809	179

  34 280 442  37 497 476  36 716 854  39 520 970

Notes to the Financial Statements

The	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 financial	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 included	 at	 the	 
amount	 at	 which	 the	 instrument	 could	 be	 exchanged	 in	 a	 current	
transaction	between	willing	parties,	other	 than	 in	a	 forced	or	 liquidation	
sale.
•	 Cash	and	short-term	deposits,	trade	receivables,	trade	payables	and	 
	 other	current	liabilities	approximate	their	carrying	amounts	largely	due 
	 to	the	short-term	maturities	of	these	instruments.

•	 Fair	value	of	listed	bonds	is	based	on	quoted	prices	at	the	reporting	 
	 date.	The	fair	value	of	loans	from	banks	and	other	financial	liabilities,	is	 
	 estimated	 by	 discounting	 future	 cash	 flows	 using	 rates	 currently 
 available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value 
- 31 March 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair 
     value
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Financial assets

Investments	-	Market-making		 	 324	305		 -		 -		 324	305

Financial liabilities

Borrowings	-	capital	market	loan	-	held-for-trading		 	 5	866	218		 -		 -		 5	866	218

Borrowings	-	repurchase	agreements		 	 223	324		 -		 -		 223	324

  6 089 542  -  -  6 089 542

Financial instruments measured at fair value - 31 March 2012

Financial assets

Investments	-	market-making		 	 2	115	335		 -		 -	 	2	115	335

Financial liabilities

Borrowings	-	capital	market	loan	-	held-for-trading		 	 6	059	229		 -		 -		 6	059	229

Borrowings	-	repurchase	agreements		 	 809	179		 -		 -		 809	179

  6 868 408  -  -  6 868 408

35. Public Private Partnerships - toll collection service concession arrangements

Notes to the Financial Statements

Description of the arrangement

SANRAL	 constructively	 engages	 the	 private	 sector	 to,	 specifically,	
promote	and	implement	the	design,	financing,	construction,	operation	and	
maintenance	of	specified	portions	of:

•	 The	N3	from	Cedara	in	KwaZulu-Natal	to	Heidelberg	South	Interchange
•	 The	N4	from	Tshwane	Metropolitan	Border	to	Maputo	Harbour
•	 The	N1	/	N4	Platinum	Toll	Highway	(Bakwena)	from	Pretoria	to		
	 Lobatse	(border	with	Botswana)

This	was	achieved	by	entering	into	a	PPP	agreement	(i.e.	the	Concession	
Contract)	with	the	Concessionaires	for	this	purpose.

The	concession	contract	with	Trans	Africa	Concessions	(TRAC)	for	 the	
construction	and	maintenance	of	the	N4	Toll	highway	from	the	Gauteng-
Mpumalanga	border	to	the	Maputo	harbour	(Mozambique)	is	for	a	period	
of	30	years,	ending	February	2028.

The	concession	contract	was	extended	 from	 the	Gauteng-Mpumalanga	
border	to	the	Tshwane	Metropolitan	border.	An	amount	of	R251	million	
was	received	on	28	February	2005	and	is	amortised	over	the	remaining	
life of the concession.

During	the	financial	year	ending	31	March	2000,	SANRAL	entered	into	a	
concession	contract	with	the	N3	Toll	Concession	(N3TC)	for	the	upgrading,	 
maintenance	and	operation	of	the	N3	toll	highway.	The	contract	is	for	a	
period	of	30	years,	ending	November	2029.

During	the	financial	year	ending	31	March	2002,	SANRAL	entered	into	
a	concession	contract	with	Bakwena	TC	for	the	upgrading,	maintenance	
and	operation	of	the	N1/N4	Platinum	toll	highway.	The	contract	 is	for	a	
period	of	30	years,	ending	August	2031.

Significant terms of the arrangement

For	the	N3	Toll	route,	SANRAL	received	an	upfront	payment	of	R1	380	
million	and	an	additional	payment	of	R52	million	during	the	2008	financial	
year.	The	concessions	are	for	a	specified	period	of	30	years.	For	the	N1	
/	N4	route	no	payment	was	received	from	the	concessionaire.	Significant	
terms	that	may	affect	the	amount,	timing	or	certainty	of	future	cash	flows	
are summarised below.

The	Concessionaire	on	the	N3	and	N4	Maputo	Toll	Roads	is	also	required	
to	pay	SANRAL	a	Highway	Usage	Fee	in	certain	circumstances	(section	
2.5	 of	 the	 Concession	 Contract	 and	 Annexure	 15	 to	 the	 Concession	
Contract).	 The	 Highway	 Usage	 Fee	 is	 a	 mechanism	 for	 limiting	 the	
return	 on	 the	 Project	 which	 can	 be	 distributed	 by	 the	Concessionaire	
to	 its	shareholders.	On	the	N4	Platinum	a	revenue	share	mechanism	is	
achieving the same objective.

SANRAL	does	not	guarantee	 the	minimum	 third-party	 revenue	 that	 the	
Concessionaire	will	collect.	SANRAL	is	not	required	to	compensate	the	
Concessionaire	if	the	traffic	on	the	highway	is	less	than	expected.
 

34. Risk management (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

SANRAL	 uses	 the	 following	 hierarchy	 for	 determining	 and	 disclosing	
the	 fair	 value	of	 financial	 instruments	by	 valuation	 techniques,	 for	 those	
instruments recognised and measured at fair value:

Level	1:	Quoted	(unadjusted)	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	
or liabilities.

Level	 2:	Other	 techniques	 for	which	 all	 inputs	which	 have	 a	 significant	
effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level	3:	Techniques	which	use	inputs	that	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	
recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.
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The nature and extent of the arrangement

Rights to use specified assets

The	costs	of	acquiring	 the	site	were	borne	by	SANRAL.	Once	 the	site	
has	been	delivered	to	the	Concessionaire,	the	property	is	“under	the	care,	
custody	and	control	of	the	Concessionaire”	and	the	Concessionaire	bears	
the	 risks	associated	with	 the	property	 (section	15.5	of	 the	Concession	
Contract).

The	Concession	Contract	specifically	states	that	the	Concessionaire	has		
“no	title	to,	ownership	interest	in,	or	liens	or	leasehold	rights	or	any	other	
rights”	in	the	site	and	title	to	the	site	remains	with	SANRAL.	SANRAL	is	
required	to	ensure	that	the	Concessionaire	has	access	to	and	the	right	of	
use	in	respect	of	the	site	and	equipment	(as	necessary	for	it	to	perform	its	
obligations	in	terms	of	the	contract)	throughout	the	concession	period.
Should	the	Concessionaire	discover	any	“fossils,	coins,	articles	of	value	
or	antiquity,	and	structures	and	other	remains	or	things	of	geological	or	
archaeological	interest	or	burial	sites”	on	the	site	during	the	concession
period,	these	will	be	the	property	of	SANRAL.

SANRAL	 has	 ownership	 of	 the	 road	 and	 related	 facilities	 (e.g.	 plaza	
buildings)	throughout	the	concession	period.

Obligations to deliver or rights to receive specified assets at the 
end of the concession period

The ownership of any drawings, data, books, reports, documents, software, 
any	 other	 information	 owned	 by	 the	Concessionaire	 or	 any	 of	 the	 sub-
contractors	for	the	purpose	of	the	Project	is	required	to	be	transferred	to
SANRAL	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 concession	 period.	 Furthermore,	 the	
Concessionaire	 is	 required	 to	 hand	 over	 the	 highway	 and	 its	 rights	 or	
interest	 in	 the	developments	 to	SANRAL,	 free	of	charge.	These	assets	
are	required	to	be	free	from	any	liens,	claims,	encumbrances	and	liabilities	
and	are	required	to	be	a	specified	condition	with	a	specified	remaining	
useful life.

Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services

The	Concession	Contract	requires	the	Concessionaire	to	perform	the	following:
•	 Operation	 and	 routine	 maintenance	 activities,	 to	 ensure	 the	 proper	 
 operation and maintenance of the highway

Obligation to acquire or build items of property, plant and equipment 
(“PPE”)

•	 Initial	 construction	 works	 relating	 to	 the	 highway	 and	 associated	 
	 facilities	 (as	 specified	 in	 the	Concession	Contract	 and	 including,	 for	 
	 example	 repairs	 and	 replacements	 relating	 to	 specified	 sections	 of	 
	 the	highway	and	the	construction	/	repair	of	toll	plazas)
•	 Additional	construction	works	relating	to	the	road	and	related	facilities	 
	 (i.e;	required	construction	work	other	than	the	Initial	Construction	Works)
•	 Upgrade	works	according	to	the	provisions	in	the	contract
•	 Developments,	according	to	terms	and	conditions	pre-approved	by	SANRAL

Renewal and termination options

The	 Concession	 Rights	 will	 terminate	 if	 either	 SANRAL	 or	 the	
Concessionaire	terminates	the	Concession	Contract.

SANRAL	has	the	right	to	terminate	the	Concession	Contract	in	any	of	the	
following circumstances:
•	 There	 is	 court	 action	 for	 the	 dissolution	 and	 /	 or	 liquidation	 of	 the	 
	 Concessionaire

•	 The	Concessionaire	 receives	a	court	order	 to	be	placed	 into	 judicial 
	 management	or	to	commence	liquidation	procedures
•	 The	Concessionaire	 fails	 to	 complete	 the	 Initial	 Construction	Works	 
	 within	three	years	from	commencement	of	the	Concession	Contract
•	 The	Concessionaire	ceases	to	operate	and	maintain	the	highway
•	 All	(or	substantially	all)	of	the	Concessionaire’s	indebtedness	becomes	 
	 due	and	payable	as	a	result	of	default	by	the	Concessionaire
•	 The	Concessionaire	fails	to	report	a	material	related	party	transaction	 
	 (as	required	by	the	Concession	Contract)
•	 The	 Concessionaire	 commits	 a	 material	 breach	 of	 the	 provisions	 of	 
	 the	Concession	Contract
If	 any	 of	 the	 above-mentioned	 is	 not	 remedied	 by	 the	 Concessionaire	
within	a	specific	period,	then	SANRAL	has	the	right	to	appoint	a	substitute	
entity	in	the	place	of	the	Concessionaire.

The	Concessionaire	has	the	right	to	terminate	the	Concession	Contract	in	
any of the following circumstances:
•	 	SANRAL	commits	a	material	breach	of	the	provisions	of	the	Concession	

contract
•	 	There	is	a	material	impairment	of	the	Concession	Rights	as	a	result	of	
the	Concessionaire	being	nationalised	/	expropriated	or	the	project	
land	/	highway	being	compulsorily	acquired	from	the	Concessionaire	
by	the	State

•	 	Certain	Material	Adverse	Governmental	Action	takes	place

Other rights and obligations

The	 Concessionaire	 is	 only	 permitted	 to	 raise	 debt	 (from	 lenders)	 as	
specified	in	the	Concession	Contract.		SANRAL	is	required	to	approve	
any	 additional	 indebtedness	 of	 the	 Concessionaire.	 SANRAL	 would	
take	over	the	Concessionaire’s	indebtedness	in	the	event	of	Concessor	
(SANRAL)	default.	

Classification

SANRAL	recognises	no	revenue	from	services	provided	to	the	public	for	
these	concessions,	except	where	fees	(Highway	Usage	Fees)	are	payable	
to	SANRAL	by	the	concessionaire	according	to	the	service	concession	agreement.

SANRAL	recognises	no	operational	costs	related	to	the	operations	of	the	
public infrastructure under concession.

SANRAL	recognises	no	obligations	to	restore	infrastructure	to	a	specified	
level of serviceability.

SANRAL	recognises	 the	upfront	payment	 received	 from	operators	over	
the period of the concession arrangement.

35. Public Private Partnerships - toll collection service concession arrangements (continued)
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36. Segment information

Operating segment identification

For	 management	 purposes,	 SANRAL	 is	 currently	 organised	 into	 two	
operating	divisions	toll	operations	and	non-toll	operations.	These	business	
segments’	 operating	 results	 are	 regularly	 reviewed	by	 the	entity’s	 chief	
operating decision maker, and used to make decisions about resources 
to be allocated to the segments, as well as to assess their performance.
SANRAL	considered	the	following	factors	during	the	identification	of	the	
reportable segments:
•	 Nature	of	the	products/service	rendered	by	the	segment
•	 Nature	of	revenues	generated	by	the	segment
•	 Nature	of	expenses	incurred	by	the	segment
•	 Nature	of	the	funding	used	to	finance	the	segment	activities

Segment	results,	assets	and	liabilities	include	items	directly	attributable	
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis.	 Unallocated	 items	 comprise	 investments	 (other	 than	 investment	
properties)	 and	 related	 revenue,	 loans	 and	 borrowings	 and	 related	
expenses,	 corporate	 assets	 (primarily	 head	 office)	 and	 head	 office	
expenses.	 There	 are	 no	 transactions	 between	 the	 business	 segments.	
Segment	assets	consist	primarily	of	land,	buildings,	road	and	equipment.	

Segment	liabilities	comprise	of	deferred	income	and	long	term	liabilities.
Segment	capital	expenditure	is	the	total	cost	incurred	during	the	period	
to	acquire	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	intangible	assets	other	than	
goodwill and are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated 
to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Source of segment revenue

The toll operating segment derives its revenue from levying toll fees to 
the	users	of	the	tolled	roads	in	South	Africa,	as	well	as	from	concession	
fees arising from the concession contracts entered into with the 
concessionaires	of	certain	national	roads	in	South	Africa.	Specific	grants	
received from government for toll funding is also recognised as revenue, 
to	the	extent	it	has	been	realised.	The	balance	is	deferred.
The	 non-toll	 operating	 segment	 derives	 its	 revenue	 from	 government	
funding in the form of government grants.

Measurement of items reported in segment reporting 

The amount of each segment item reported is the measure reported to the 
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of making decisions about 
allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Statement of 
comprehensive income
           31 March 2013   31 March 2012  
 Toll Non-toll Total Toll Non-toll Total
 operations operations  operations operations
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Revenue		 6	994	206	 4	863	522	 11	857	728	 2	050	621	 4	488	625		 6	539	246 

Other	income		 388	792	 451	388	 840	180	 370	852		 133	755		 504	607

Other	expenses	*	 (1	655	807)	 (4	723	817)	 (6	379	624)	 (1	068	594)	 (4	269	604)	 (5	338	198)

EBITDA 	 5	727	191	 591	093		 6	318	284		 1	352	879		 352	776		 1	705	657

Depreciation	on	assets		 (1	040	137)		 (569	740)		 (1	609	877)		 (708	727)		 (488	909)		 (1	197	636)

Impairment	reversal	/

(impairment	loss)		 21	189	 -		 21	189		 (32	661)		 -		 (32	661)

Depreciation	on	assets

under	concession		 (298	769)	 -		 (298	769)	 (272	203)	 -		 (272	203)

Amortisation		 (33)		 (2	618)		 (2	651)		 (93)		 (2	069)		 (2	702)

Change	in	fair	value	of

investment	property	 128	357	 69	013	 197	370		 79	167		 226	662		 305	829 

Profit before finance 

income and -cost  4	537	798		 87	748		 4	625	546		 418	326		 87	920	 506	284	 

Finance	income		 494	051	 10	693		 504	744		 342	117		 101	624	 443	741

Finance	costs		 (3	741	447)	 -		 (3	741	447)	 (3	420	436)	 -		 (3	420	436)

Segment	profit	/	(loss)		 1	290	402	 98	441		 1	388	843		 (2	659	957)		 189	544		 (2	470	411)

*	Excluding	depreciation,	amortisation	&	impairment.

Material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with IAS 1:

Fees for services, other

expenditure	and	lease

payments		 (108	542)	 (617	895)		 (726	437)		 (109	071)		 (597	577)		 (706	648)

Repairs	and	maintenance		 (1	423	799)	 (3	950	551)	 (5	374	350)	 (960	677)	 (3	528	724)	 (4	489	401)

Material non-cash items (other than depreciation and amortisation)

Change	in	fair	value	of

investment	property		 128	357	 69	013	 197	370		 79	167		 226	662		 305	829

Exchange	consideration

from	toll	concessionaires		 336	741	 -		 336	741		 284	744		 -		 284	744

Revaluation	of	road

network	assets		 (51	587)	 5	074	626	 5	023	039		 16	210	060		 16	827	229		 33	037	289

Revaluation	of	land

and	/	or	road	network		 996	838	 1	065	460		 2	062	298		 1	162	790		 639	137		 1	801	927

36. Segment information (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Statement of 

financial position
   31 March 2013   31 March 2012  
 Toll Non-toll Total Toll Non-toll Total
 operations operations  operations operations
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Reportable segment assets

Non-current assets
Investments		 324	304	 249	304	 573	608	 2	115	335	 -	 2	115	335

PPE		 119	397	001	 151	208	425		 270	605	426		 121	692	334		 135	201	043	 256	893	377

	 	 119	721	305	 151	457	729		 271	179	034		 123	807	669		 135	201	043		 259	008	712

Current assets 	 4	658	941	 458	180		 5	117	121		 9	342	778	 362	201	 9	704	979

Total assets  124 380 246  151 915 909  276 296 155  133 150 447  135 563 224  268 713 691

Reportable segment liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred	income	*		 970	206	 23	156	479		 24	126	685		 5	759	178		 16	922	288		 22	681	466

Deferred	exchange

consideration	*		 5	826	777	 -		 5	826	777		 5	428	760		 -		 5	428	760

Other	non-current	liabilities**		 30	108	692	 24	272		 30	132	964		 35		887	755		 10	921		 35	898	676

	 	 36	905	675	 23	180	751		 60	086	426		 47	075	693		 16	933	209		 64	008	902

Current	liabilities		 8	695	775	 558	014		 9	253	789		 4	289	896		 1	932	255		 6	222	151

Total liabilities  45 601 450 23 738 765  69 340 215  51 365 589  18 865 464  70 231 053

*	Non-current	and	current	portion	included.

**	Excluding	deferred	income	and	deferred	exchange	consideration.

Capital expenditure

PPE	-	additions		 1	901	959	 5	869	853		 7	771	812		 3	656	620		 4	563	150		 8	219	770

PPE	-	borrowing	costs	

capitalised	to	work	in	progress		 123	675	 -		 123	675		 77	184		 -		 77	184

Intangible	-	additions		 -	 6	584	 6	584		 3	037		 12	134		 15	171

Capital expenditure - assets

under concession 	 734	758	 -		 734	758		 797	249		 -		 797	249

Capitalisation / (utilisation)

of rehabilitation costs for

borrow pits		 2	181	 36	 2	217	 (8	233)		 1	270		 (6	963)

Amendments to internal reporting organisation

No	changes	were	made	to	the	structure	of	SANRAL’s	internal	organisation	that	causes	the	composition	of	its	reportable	segments	to	change.

Entity-wide disclosures

All	of	SANRAL’s	operations	are	situated	within	South	Africa,	all	revenues	are	from	external	customers,	as	well	as	non-current	assets	are	attributable	to	

SANRAL’s	South	African	domicile.

36. Segment information (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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37. Prior period errors

The	2012	financial	statements	have	been	restated	to	correct	the	errors	below:.

37.1 Third party funding

During	 the	current	period	SANRAL	discovered	 that	some	third	party	 funds	utilised	between	2002	-	2007	were	 incorrectly	allocated	 to	other	expenses	
(repairs	and	maintenance).	SANRAL	should	have	reduced	the	third	party	funding	balance	with	the	amounts	utilised.

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follows:           R ‘000 

Statement of Financial Position

Decrease	in	third	party	funding	(Opening	balance	1	April	2011)	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (45	618)

Increase	in	opening	retained	earnings	(1	April	2011)		 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 45	618

	 	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 -	

Profit or Loss            2002 -2007

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2002	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 395

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2003	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 13	501

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2004	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 1	210	

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2005	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 -	

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2006	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 5	230	

Decrease	in	other	expenses	2007	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 25	282	

Total decrease in other expenses before 1 April 2011           45 618 
   
The	profit	or	loss	for	2008-2012	was	not	affected	by	this	error	and	remained	unchanged.	The	profit	or	loss	for	2002-2007	was	affected	(increased)	as	
shown above.

37.2 Way leave agreements

During	the	current	financial	year	SANRAL	discovered	that	they	had	accounted	incorrectly	for	the	way	leave	agreements.	The	way	leave	agreements	were	
recognised	as	land.	SANRAL	should	have	recognised	an	intangible	asset	and	amortised	it	over	the	contract	period.

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follow:
  

Statement of Financial Position effect on 31 March 2012           R ‘000

Increase	in	intangible	assets	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 6	149	

Decrease	in	land	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (5	948)	

Increase	in	land	revaluation	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 5	948	

Increase	in	land	revaluation	reserve	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (5	948)	

Decrease	in	opening	retained	earnings	(1	April	2012)	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 679	

Increase	in	payables	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (880)	

	 	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 -	

Profit or Loss            2009-2012

Increase	in	operating	expenses	2009	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 5	

Increase	in	operating	expenses	2010	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 8	

Increase	in	operating	expenses	2011	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 91	

Increase	in	operating	expenses	2012	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 575	

Other	comprehensive	income	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 	 679  

Increase	in	land	revaluation	2009	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (55)	

Increase	in	land	revaluation	2011	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (314)	

Increase	in	land	revaluation	2012	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (5	841)	

             (6 210)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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37. Prior period errors (continued)

37.3 Deferred exchange consideration

During	the	current	financial	year	SANRAL	discovered	that	the	deferred	exchange	consideration	liability	(“DEC”)	was	realised	to	profit	or	loss	over	the	useful	
life	of	the	underlying	asset.	The	DEC	should	have	been	realised	over	the	remaining	concession	contract	period.

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follow:

Statement of Financial Position effect on 31 March 2012           R ‘000

Increase	in	deferred	exchange	consideration	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (11	518)	

Decrease	in	opening	retained	earnings	(1	April	2012)	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 11	518

             - 

Profit or Loss            2009-2012

Decrease	in	other	income	years	before	1	April	2011	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 24	059	

Increase	in	other	income	2012	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (12	541)	

             11 518 
 

37.4 Reallocation of equipment to computer software
During	the	current	financial	year	SANRAL	discovered	that	a	portion	of	equipment	(property,	plant	and	equipment)	should	have	been	classified	as	software	
(intangible	assets).

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follow:

Statement of Financial Position effect on 31 March 2012           R ‘000

Increase	in	intangible	assets	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 1	196	

Increase	in	accumulated	amortisation	-	Intangible	assets	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (1	149)	

Decrease	in	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (1	196)	

Decrease	in	accumulated	depreciation	-	Property,	plant	and	equipment			 	 		 	 	 	 		 1	149	

Decrease	in	opening	retained	earnings	(1	April	2012)	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 -	

Profit or Loss   effect on 31 March 2012            - 

Increase	in	amortisation	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 110	

Decrease	in	depreciation	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (110)

             -	

 
37.5 Correction of revaluation reserve on land
During	the	current	financial	year	SANRAL	discovered	that	the	land	revaluation	was	overstated	by	R557	537	730	as	at	31	March	2012.	
This amount is the cost portion which formed part of the valuation and was added to the valuation. It was therefore duplicated.

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follow:

Statement of Financial Position effect on 31 March 2012             R ‘000

Decrease	in	revaluation	reserve	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (557	538)	

Decrease	in	opening	retained	earnings	(1	April	2012)	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 -	

Other comprehensive income effect on 31 March 2012    

Decrease	in	land	revaluation	reserve	 	 		 	 		 	 	 	 		 (557	538)	

Notes to the Financial Statements
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  31 March 2013  31 March 2012  
  R’000 R’000

Prospective	provider	database	for	recruitment	not	maintained		 -		 30

Supply	chain	policy	not	adhered	to		 -		 629

Non-competitive bidding

Additional	scope		 463	990		 -

Extension	of	contracts		 119	055		 -

Invited	(Closed)	tender	process	followed		 11	324		 -

Emergency	procurement		 36	882		 -

Procurement	model	for	Routine	Road	Maintenance	Projects		 2	441	283		 2	099	702

Supplementary	agreements	for	newly	incorporated	roads		 233	177		 -

  3 305 711  2 099 702

39. Irregular Expenditure

38. Prior year reclassification

During	the	current	year	SANRAL	modified	the	classification	of	certain	 items	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	between	current	and	non-current.	The	
reclassification	reflects	more	appropriately	the	nature	of	the	amounts	presented.	Comparative	amounts	were	restated	for	consistency.
In	the	prior	year	no	current	portions	for	the	operating	lease	liability	arising	from	equalisation	of	operating	lease	payments	or	deferred	exchange	consideration	
were	disclosed.	The	entire	amount	was	disclosed	as	non-current.	The	classification	between	non-current	and	current	for	the	investments	and	other	financial	
liabilities were also incorrect.

Equalisation of operating lease payments

The	current	portion	is	calculated	as	the	amount	that	is	going	to	be	reversed	in	the	next	financial	year.	The	amount	reclassified	as	current	in	the	prior	year	is	
R394	000.

Deferred exchange consideration

The	current	portion	is	calculated	as	the	portion	that	is	going	to	be	realised	under	the	concession	contract	in	the	next	financial	year.	The	amount	reclassified	
as	current	in	the	prior	year	is	R336	394	730.

Investments

Investments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	-	held-for-trading	were	previously	classified	as	non	current	assets.	It	is	short	term	in	nature	and	were	therefore	
reclassified	to	current	assets	in	the	prior	year.	The	amount	reclassified	in	the	prior	year	is	R2	115	335.

Other financial liabilities

Other	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	-	held-for-trading	were	previously	classified	as	non	current	liabilities.	It	is	short	term	in	nature	and	
were	therefore	reclassified	to	current	liabilities	in	the	prior	year.	The	amount	reclassified	in	the	prior	year	is	R6	059	229.
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39. Irregular Expenditure (continued)

Prospective provider database for recruitment not maintained

A database of recruitment prospective providers was not maintained at 
31	March	2012,	however	subsequent	 to	31	March	2012	 the	database	
was established.

Supply chain policy not adhered to

Two tenders were awarded to the bidders where the incorrect selection of 
the preference ration was applied. However, there was no prejudice to any 
bidder as all the bidders were evaluated on the same basis. As the lowest 
tender	prices	were	selected,	no	financial	loss	was	incurred	as	the	same	
bidder would have been awarded the tender.

Non competitive bidding

Additional Scope

The changes to scope were as a result of factors that only came to light 
and	 /	or	became	evident	during	construction	 that	could	not	 reasonably	
have	 been	 foreseen	 in	 the	 initial	 design	 stage.	 As	 90%	 of	 a	 road	 is	
below the surface and the condition thereof can only be determined on 
a sample basis, this may lead to variations in terms of the scope of a 
project.	Additionally,	external	factors	such	as	unplanned	development	of	
land,	changing	both	motorised	and	pedestrian	traffic	on	the	road	may	also	
affect these variations. All variations have been approved by the SANRAL 
Contracts	Committee,	which	is	a	Committee	of	the	Board	delegated	with	
the authority to approve such contracts. The variations were not submitted 
within	10	days	after	approval	to	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	
Auditor-General.

Extension of contracts

The	 extension	 of	 certain	 contracts	 were	 considered	 on	 a	 case	 by	
case basis, which were necessitated by issues such as delays due to 
Court	 action,	 economical	 or	 cost	 effectiveness	 considerations,	 joint	
appointments	matching	the	concession	period.	The	deviations	from	SCM
Regulations	were	approved	by	the	SANRAL	Contracts	Committee,	which	
is	a	Committee	of	the	Board	delegated	with	the	authority	to	approve	such	
contracts.	The	deviations	were	not	submitted	within	10	days	after	approval	
to	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	Auditor-General.

Invited (Closed) tender process followed

A	bridge	that	required	specialist	firms	were	let	on	invited	tender,	being	to	
15	specialist	firms	that	would	be	able	to	perform	the	work,	and	not	open	

 

public tender. This practice is acceptable in the construction industry 
to	ensure	quality	services	as	well	 as	saving	on	additional	 tender	costs.	
The	 deviation	 from	 SCM	 Regulations	 was	 approved	 by	 the	 SANRAL 
Contracts	Committee,	which	is	a	Committee	of	the	Board	delegated	with	
the authority to approve such contracts. The deviation was not submitted 
within	10	days	after	approval	to	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	
Auditor-General.

Emergency procurement

Although the correct procedures were followed in emergency cases, the 
deviations	from	SCM	Regulations	was	not	submitted	within	10	days	after	
approval	to	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	Auditor-General.

Procurement model for Routine Road Maintenance Projects

As	 part	 of	 SANRAL’s	 strategy	 to	 develop	 small	 contractors	 as	 per	
Government’s	 aims	 and	 objectives,	 SANRAL	 uses	 a	 Procurement	
model that will ensure that the prices tendered will protect and develop 
SMMEs.	 The	model	 is	 aimed	 at	 appointing	 a	Management	 Contractor	
that	will	 sublet	 80%	of	 routine	maintenance	work	 (of	which	more	 than	
90%	are	BE	companies)	 to	SMMEs.	The	work	will	go	out	on	tender	 in	
smaller	work	packages,	which	SMME’s	are	more	capable	of	undertaking	
and	 can	 be	 sustained.	 Due	 to	 the	 smaller	 economy	 of	 scale	 of	 work	
packages	the	realistic	rates	at	which	SMMEs	can	do	the	work	for	a	fair	
price	is	generally	higher	than	a	main	contractor.	SANRAL	uses	a	proven	
mathematical	 equation,	 calculated	 independently	 by	 the	 University	 of	
Pretoria,	to	determine	the	lowest	acceptable	tender	price	that	allows	the	
appointment of a contractor with the most realistic and lowest acceptable 
rates	 at	which	SMMEs	 can	 do	 the	work	 and	 be	 financially	 viable.	 The	
tender methodology and adjudication method are clearly stipulated in the
tender	 documentation	 and	 is	 fair	 and	 reasonable	 to	 SMMEs	 and	 the	
management	 contractor.	 The	 deviation	 from	 PPPFA	 has	 not	 been	
approved by the Minister of Finance.

Supplementary agreements for newly incorporated roads

SANRAL	incorporated	certain	roads	of	the	North	West	and	Eastern	Cape	
Provinces	as	national	roads,	during	the	financial	year.	In	order	to	ensure	
safety	of	the	travelling	public,	existing	routine	road	maintenance	contracts	
were	extended	to	include	these	additional	roads.	All	potholes	on	this	close	
to	4000km	were	repaired	by	January	2013.	This	 limited	possible	public	
liability	claims	due	to	unsafe	road	conditions.	The	deviations	from	SCM	
Regulations	were	approved	by	the	SANRAL	Contracts	Committee,	which	
is	a	Committee	of	the	Board	delegated	with	the	authority	to	approve	such	
contracts.	The	deviations	were	not	submitted	within	10	days	after	approval	
to	National	Treasury	and	the	Office	of	the	Auditor-General.
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ACRONYMSACRONYMS

ARC	 Audit	and	Risk	Committee

BAKWENA	 Bakwena	Platinum	Corridor	Concessionaire	

BBBEE	 Broad-based	Black Economic Empowerment

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

CBD	 Central	Business	District

CDP	 Community	Development	Project

CEO	 Chief	Executive	Officer

CCTV	 Closed	Circuit	Television	Cameras

CMS	 Community	Medical	Services

CPI	 Consumer	Price	Index

CSI	 Corporate	Social	Investment

DBSA	 Development	Bank	of	Southern	Africa

DEA	 Department	of	Environmental	Affairs

DMR	 Department	of	Mineral	Resources

DoE	 Department	of	Education

DWA	 Department	of	Water	Affairs

ECO	 Environmental	Control	Officer

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment

EMP	 Environmental	Management	Plan

EWT Endangered Wildlife Trust

FMS	 Freeway	Management	System

GCIS	 Government	Communication	and	Information	System

GDP	 Gross	Domestic	Product

GFIP	 Gauteng	Freeway	Improvement	Project

IAS	 International	Accounting	Standard

ICT	 Information	Communication	Technology

IDP	 Integrated	Development	Plan

IFRS	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards

IT Information Technology

ITS	 Intelligent	Transport	System

Km Kilometres

Acronyms
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M Metres

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

NMMU	 Nelson	Mandela	Metropolitan	University

N3TC	 N3	Toll	Concession

OCI	 Overall	Condition	Index

ORT	 Open	Road	Tolling

OUTA	 Opposition	to	Urban	Tolling	Alliance

PFMA	 Public	Finance	Management	Act

PPI	 Producer	Price	Index

PPP	 Public-private	Partnerships

RAEC	 Residential	Academic	Enrichment	Curriculum

RAF	 Road	Accident	Fund

RFP	 Request	for	Proposals	

RRM	 Routine	Road	Maintenance

RSE	 Road	Safety	Education	

RTMS	 Road	Traffic	Management	System

SANRAL	 South	African	National	Roads	Agency	SOC	Limited

SAPS	 South	African	Police	Service

SETC	 Social,	Ethics	and	Transformation	Committee

SIP	 Strategic	Infrastructure	Project

SMME	 Small,	Medium	and	Micro	Enterprise

SOC	 State-owned	Company

SOE	 State-owned	Enterprise

SOL	 School	of	Open	Learning

STEM PP	 Science	Technology	Engineering	and	Mathematics	Pipeline	Project

TMC	 Traffic	Management	Centre

TRAC	 Trans	African	Concessions

TTP	 Targeting	Talent	Programme

UFS	 University	of	the	Free	State

VMS	 Variable	Message	Signs

WITS University of the Witwatersrand
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